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This report is the property of the Indian Health Service.  The IHS 
contracted with Integritas, LLC to carry out a patient safety medical 

quality assurance review to examine how IHS can significantly improve 
the identification of, and response to complaints of patient abuse, 

especially sexual abuse of minors. The patient safety review which 
resulted in this report was an IHS medical quality assurance activity and is 

privileged and confidential pursuant to federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 
1675.  The contents of the report are exempted from disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act and may not be disclosed to any person or 

entity, except as specifically authorized by 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 
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INTRODUCTION 

The lJltimate Questions and 
Contract lVIission 

futegritas Creative Solutions, LLC, 1 was 
retained by the Department of Health and 
Human Services (HHS), fudian Health 
Service (IHS), 2 to conduct an internal 
medical quality assurance review (review) 
to investigate and dete1mine why -- using 
the case of Stanley Patrick Weber as a 
cautiona1y precedent -- the IHS failed to 
remove an employee credibly suspected of 
sexual abuse throughout a decades-long 
career. 3 All paiiies began this process with 
the understanding that serious failures -
systemic, organizational, and individual -
led to the endange1ment and abuse of young 
fudian male patients of the IHS in Montana 
and South Dakota. The company's charge 
was to discover the reasons for the lack of 
rigorous inquiiy and diligent action that 
allowed the danger posed by Weber to 
continue after suspicions of molestation had 
been repeatedly raised at at least two service 
units. 

The answers to the first question necessarily 
raise a second. Were the failures in the 
Weber case the product of individual 
dereliction limited to this one case, or were 
there more fundamental reasons why 
Weber 's sexually abusive conduct was not 
earlier addressed, and his employment 

immediately tenninated? This second 
question required the review and analysis of 
similai· cases for indications of pai·allel 
causes and similai· contributing factors. 

The review, it should be emphasized, is a 
study of historic events. It addresses what 
happened between 1986 and 2016 and 
does not evaluate, unless specifically 
noted otherwise, current conditions 
within the IHS. 

/CS appreciates that the agency has responded to 

many challenges over the years, particularly in 

response to the Weber case, but the failures and 

causes that lead to the controversy nevertheless 

serve as warnings that should not be forgotten. 

The Scope of the Contract 

The futegritas Creative contract provided: 
"The objectives of the review will be to: 

a. identify facts relating to IHS 's 
policies and procedures regarding the 
reporting of allegations of sexual 
abuse of IHS patients by clinical 
staff; 

b. identify any possible process or 
system failures and the contributing 

1 Integritas Creative Solutions may be referred to throughout this report as Integritas Creative, ICS, the contractor or 
the company. 
2 The Indian Health Service, as the contracting entity and subject of review, may be referred to as "the agency" but 
more commonly throughout the repo1t as IHS. 
3 The contract with Integritas Creative was narrowly tailored and limited to 180 days for completion. The contractor 
has endeavored to maintain project discipline to stay within the parameters of time and topic, and therefore has not 
produced a more expansive product which could have addressed a broader air ay of management and service quality 
issues. 

Disclosm-e of infom1ation pe1taining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1i shall only be 
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causes of any such process or system 
failures; 

c. make recommendations for 
improvement. "4 

The independent review sought by the 
agency was an assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal policies and 
procedures, beginning in 1986 when Weber 
entered federal service as a commissioned 
officer with the Public Health Service 
(PHS), and recommendations for the 
possible development and/or improvement 
of policies and procedures that encompass 
these areas: 

► Time~y reporting of suspected or 
known sexual abuse of IHS patients 
by IHS providers to appropriate 
authorities; 

► Supervisory or other line 
management handling of reported 
suspicion of sexual abuse; 

► Prompt action to temporarily remove 
a suspected abusive provider out of 
the work environment to facilitate an 
administrative or criminal 
investigation; 

► Providing timely and complete 
information to support internal or 
external reviewers or investigators to 
promote an effective and informative 
investigation; 

► Taking prompt and effective 
remedial action on specific 

conclusions reached in an 
investigation; and 

► Avoiding a transfer or ''passing 
around" within the agency of 
problem providers or other staff" 

l\1ethods of Investigation and 
Analysis 

The res review, including investigation, 
analysis, conclusions and recommendations, 
took approximately eight months. 5 

Consultants attempted to contact as many 
witnesses as possible who had knowledge of 
Weber 's conduct at his various PHS 
assignments and/or the administrative 
protocols and practices existing during the 
period 1986 - 2016. res interviewed 
leadership of the agency at the Headquaiiers 
level (Rockville), at the Area level 
(Oklahoma City, Albuquerque, Billings and 
Aberdeen), and at the Unit level6 (Browning 
and Pine Ridge) regardless of whether they 
had specific knowledge of the Weber case. 
In its inquny, res evaluated info1m ation 
about what should have be done (to deal 
appropriately with serious allegations of 
patient abuse) and what could have been 
done as much as what was done in the 
context of the Weber histo1y. 

During much oftime allotted for this review, 
Weber was scheduled for trial in Rapid City, 
South Dakota on September 23, 2019. In 
consultation with the Office of Inspector 
General (OrG) and the U.S. Attorney's 

4 SECTION C - DESCRIPTION/SPECIFICATIONS/PERFORMANCE WORK STATEMENT, IHS Intemal 
Medical Quality Assmance Review, Contract Reference: 75H70419P00042 
5 A contract modification in September 2019 extended the original deadlines by three weeks to afford the company 
time to include investigation of Weber's tenme at the University of New Mexico in Albuquerque. It allowed ICS to 
develop the complete history of Weber's service in the PHS and determine whether there were any possible flags or 
indicators that should have been part of his employment history as he transitioned to IHS service units in Montana 
and South Dakota. A second contract modification in December 2019 extended the contract deadline February 28, 
2020. 
6 ICS intended to visit the Chickasaw Nation Medical Center, formerly the Carl Albert Service Center, in Ada, 
Oklahoma, but were advised that om inquiry would not be welcomed and that neither the leadership of the facility 
nor any potential witness to the Weber' s tenme (1985-1987) would have anything to contribute. 

Disclosme of information pertaining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this report shall only be 
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Office (USAO) in Rapid City, ICS 
consultants agreed to avoid any work that 
might impact the prosecution by creating 
additional discoverable material, unsettling 
witnesses, or taking any steps which might 
delay or interfere with their trial schedule. 
The inte1view of any potential witnesses in 
the South Dakota criminal case was 
coordinated with the OIG and the USAO. As 
a result of this agreement, ICS was 
significantly limited as to any active inqui1y 
into Weber's histo1y at Pine Ridge (1995-
2016), until after September 27, 2019. Prior 
to September 27, the South Dakota po1i ion 
of the review was developed from extant 
documents (such as Weber's Official 
Personnel File, IHS credentialing files, 
internal memoranda, and emails) and public 
record comments made by witnesses, until 
after the jmy had returned its verdict in 
Rapid City. During that period of the 
contract, ICS focused its active investigation 
on Oklahoma and Montana. 

Total Number of Inte1views ............ 97 

Number of Witnesses ......... .... 94 

Number of Cunent and 
Fonner Staff and Managers 

at the Area Level ......... ... 30 

Number of Cunent and 
Fonner Members of 

Leadership at the 
Headquaiters Level ............ .. 9 

Number of Locations 
Where Inte1views Were 

Conducted ........... . 21 

Many cmTent and fonner IHS employees 
were inte1viewed. Non-IHS witnesses and 
affected paii ies, such as tribal members, 
tribal leaders, law enforcement, and 
licensing authorities were also inte1viewed 

or consulted. Some witnesses were 
approached and elected not to pa1iicipate in 
the review. Unless anonymity was 
requested, witnesses are identified by name 
and position, either cmTent or fonner. ICS 
consultants reviewed the available trial 
transcripts of the Montana trial, and an ICS 
consultant attended Weber's trial in South 
Dakota. Media accounts included an in­
depth documentary of the Weber case 
produced by the Wall Street Journal and the 
Public Broadcasting Se1vice (PBS). This 
documenta1y - FRONTLINE: Predator on 
the Reservation - included numerous on-air 
inte1views of percipient witnesses which 
ICS also used to complete the investigato1y 
po1iion of the repo1i. Many of those 
witnesses were re-inte1viewed by ICS 
consultants. Limited by time and access, ICS 
was compelled to eliminate several potential 
witnesses that, under different 
circmnstances, would have been developed 
as sources of infonnation. 

ICS compiled a documents file consisting of 
several thousand records, memoranda, 
emails, research sources, comi records, and 
media accounts. The documents relied upon 
for factual suppo1i for the repo1i ai·e 
identified in footnotes. All sources of 
infonnation constitute "statements" in the 
broader sense of the te1m and identify IHS 
employees by name. ICS has taken no steps 
to conceal identities of persons making the 
statement, or those that are subject of the 
statement made, other than those of victims 
or inte1viewed sources who requested 
anonymity. 

Although this caveat appeai·s in Part I: 
Investigation, it bears emphasis here. Media 
repo1is are generally considered less reliable 
in the development of a factual record 
because they are secondaiy sources -
info1mation provided to the repo1ier is then 
passed on to the consumer. Because the 
info1mation does not come directly from the 

Disclosme of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
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original source, the chances for eITor, 
interpretation, or lack of context is increased 
because there is an additional interlocutor 
asse1i ing the tmth of the repo1i . In many 
cases, however, the media repoli was the 
only source available - paiiicularly as res 
researched related cases in its endeavor to 
ensure that its conclusions were not based 
entirely on the events of the Weber case. In 
evaluating this repo1i submitted by res, 
individual factual asse1iions by witnesses 
should be appraised for possible bias or 
personal agenda, accuracy of recollection, 
and whether their infonnation has been 
filtered through an inte1media1y . The IHS 
should be assured, however, that all 
significant conclusions reached in the 
report were supported by multiple 
sources of information. 

Finally, res included in its review an 
assessment of agency actions and 
improvements to procedures adopted during 
and after Weber 's te1m of se1v ice. This 
appraisal was necessaiy not only to credit 
the agency for taking remedial steps to 
respond to criticisms and inequities (and 
thereby offering an appropriately balanced 
view of the agency's perfo1mance) but also 
to ensure that the company 's conclusions 
and recommendations were timely and 
appropriate to the cmTent state of 
administrative practice. In sum, what may 
have been an organizational failure in 1995 
would not have occmTed had the same 
circmnstances unfolded in 2019. 

The background portion of this repo1i - Part 
I: Investigation -- is not a complete 
naITation of the agency's histo1y with Dr. 
Stanley Patrick Weber. Moreover, it could 
not be made complete. As noted above, time 
and access limitations kept res consultants 
from developing witness accounts into 
Weber 's 20-year career at Pine Ridge until 
after September 27, 2019. Although res is 
confident that the details included in this 

report ai·e reliable and accurate, an 
oppo11unity to be more thorough may have 
added factual context or weight. Secondly, 
and most impo1iantly, it contains no 
info1mation from a prima1y source - Weber 
himself. Because Weber has been a criminal 
defendant for the entire te1m of the 
contract, and will be litigating his 
prosecution for several yeai·s, res did not 
inte1v iew him or request any documents he 
may have possessed. The repo1i therefore 
does not include Weber's version of events 
or potential rebuttal to the asse1i ions made 
by other witnesses; it does not include any 
illumination he may have been able to 
provide on the process issues which ai·e the 
primaiy interest of the agency now that the 
criminal proceedings have been largely 
concluded. 

Finally, there are significant gaps in the 
extant written record. While res reviewed 
what appeared to be an extensive record of 
email traffic concerning Weber between 
2008 and 2010, the same cannot be said of 
any other period of Weber 's se1v ice with the 
Commissioned C01p s or the IHS. For 
example, res had access to no emails or 
other relevant documents concerning Weber 
between July 9, 2015, when the Office of 
General Counsel (OGC) recommended to 
the Great Plains Area Director that Weber 
be smnmai·ily suspended from patient care, 
and October 30, 2015, when the Acting 
Deputy Area Director actually suspended 
Weber from patient cai·e. It strains credulity 
to assume that there were no documented 
discussions about Weber in the inte1vening 
four months. res also requested emails 
leading up to the July 2015 exchange and 
received no emails for the five years prior 
(August 2010 - July 2015). 

The absence of evidence, where these gaps 
occur, is not evidence that nothing material 
was occuITing. Impo1i ant paii s of the 
administrative sto1y - such as the 

Disclosme of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
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management discussions occmTing in the 
final months of Weber 's tenure in Browning 
in 1995 - were either never documented or 
were documented and the records 
subsequently lost to hist01y. 

With that disclaimer, ICS can represent that 
the factual recitation included in this repo1i 
is an accurate rendering of the reliable 
evidence made available to ICS, discovered 
by ICS, and obtained by ICS through 
extensive interviews of percipient 
witnesses. 

Construction of the Report 

This repo1i utilizes a simple progressive 
structure - what happened, why did it 
happen, and what can be done to keep it 
from happening again. 

Following this introduction, the repo1i is 
comprised of three sections: 

► Part I: Investigation presents a 
factual record detailing the relevant 
evidence for the periods 1986 to 
2016. 

► Part II: Analysis and Conclusions 
uses the factual record to info1m the 
analysis of critical issues; 
dete1mining the root causes for the 
failures in the Weber case and using 
comparative analysis to establish 
patterns. 

► Part III: Recommendations builds on 
the two previous paiis to link 
conclusions to recommendations 
designed to assist the agency going 
fo1ward to protect the health and 
safety of its ti-ibal consumers. 

Disclosme of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 
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PART I: INVESTIGATION 

Chapter 1: 
The Case of 

Stanley Patrick Weber 

Education and Pre-IHS 
Employment 

Stanley Patrick Weber joined the federal 
workforce through the Commissioned Co1p s 
of the U.S. Public Health Se1v ice (PHS) on 
July 9, 1986. 7 The United States Public 
Health Se1vice Commissioned Co1ps 
(PHSCC) is the federal unifo1med se1vice of 
the Public Health Se1vice (PHS). The 
PHSCC provides officers (Medical Officers, 
Dental Officers, Therapists, Environmental 
Health Officers, etc.) to other unifo1med 
se1vices, and may be detailed to other 
federal agencies. A mission of the PHSCC is 
to assist in the provision of healthcare 
se1vices to medically underse1ved 
populations, such as American Indians, 
Alaska Natives, and to other population 
groups with special socio-economic needs. 8 

Born December 11, 1948, and raised in 
Dickinson, No1th Dakota, Weber received 
his medical degree from the University of 
North Dakota in 1982 and became a 
Commissioned Co1ps Officer after se1v ing a 
surgical residency at the University ofN01th 
Dakota (1982-1983) and a pediatric 
residency (1983-1986) at the Children's 
Hospital of Los Angeles. Prior to medical 

school and obtaining an undergraduate 
degree from the University of No1th Dakota, 
Weber served in the U.S. Anny from 1972 
to 1977. According to his personnel file, he 
also earned a degree from the University of 
Texas in Austin in 1972.9 

Oklahoma 

IHS 

••• ---

Once commissioned, Weber was assigned to 
the Carl Albeit Se1vice Hospital, a medical 
facility then operated by the IHS se1ving the 
Chickasaw Indian community in Ada, 
Oklahoma. 1° From July 9, 1986 to June 
1989, Weber se1ved as a Medical 
Officer/Pediatrician and from July 1987 to 

7 Official Personnel File (OPF), Weber Cwriculum Vitae (CV) attached to OPF. 
8 Public Health Service Commissioned Corps website. 
9 Official Personnel File (OPF), Weber Applications and Cwriculum Vitae (CV), dated February 13, 1989 and 
December 14, 1990. 
10 Official Personnel File (0PF), Personnel Order No. 6080.009, dated March 21 , 1986. 

Disclosme of infomiation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
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June 1989 was Chief of Pediatrics at the 
facility. 11 

There are few records available to res 
relating to Weber's tenure at Ada but for 
those from his personnel file. No relevant 
emails or memoranda have been preserved. 
Additionally, as Weber's work at Ada was 
over 30 years ago, there are few available 
witnesses to his sho1i time in Oklahoma. 

I · · I · I I I · I I · I · 

(b) (6) (b) (6) 

1t was e 1eve , was one o t e on y 
physicians still available who would have 
worked with Weber at the facility when it 
was operated by the rHS as the Carl Albeit 
Service Center. 12 res intended to astll 
- in the event he had no recollect10n 
of Weber, whether he might know of others 
that would. 13 

However, the Secre~the 
Chickasaw Nation,_ 
th rough the Area Director, info1m ed res 
that "under no circumstances" would the 
consultants be allowed to interviewlll 
- · As with any potential witness it 
may well have been the case thatte)ig 

would have no recollection of Weber, but a 
thorough investigation would require that he 
be asked. 

res also requested the oppo1iunity to 
interview Dr. Grim himself to learn about 
the protocols and processes of the tribally 
operated facility, which the IHS Area 
Director considers a premier medical 
provider within the Oklahoma IHS network 
of Public Law 93-638 facilities, 14 in dealing 
with allegations of employee misconduct. 
Dr. Grim would have had a unique 
perspective since not only has he se1ved as 
the Chief Executive for the Chickasaw 
Nation Medical Center, but had also se1ved 
as an IHS Area Director for the Oklahoma 
City Area and as Director of the Indian 
Health Se1vice from 2002 to 2007. 15 

However, after indicating he would give the 
company's request fmiher consideration, he 
never indicated any willingness to assist in 
the rHS contracted review. 

res had also been refe1Ted to Ill 
an Oklahoma Board of 

Medical Licensure and Supe1vision 
(OBMLS) investigator identified as a person 
having knowledge of Weber's professional 

11 Id. Also see, Weber Applications dated Februruy 13, 1989 and December 14, 1990. 
12 According to RADM Travis Watts, the Tribe assumed responsibility for the provision of medical services under 
Public Law 93-638 sometime in the mid-1990s. ICS interview of RADM Travis Watts, Area Director and Assistant 
Surgeon General, Oklahoma City Area, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, August 6, 2019. P.L. 93-638 is the Indian Self 
Detennination and Education Assistance Act (ISDEAA) which authorizes Indian Tribes and Tribal Organizations to 
contract for the administration and operation of certain Federal progrruns which provide services to Indian Tribes 
and their members. Under the ISDEAA, Tribes and Tribal Organizations have the option to either (1) administer 
progrruns and services the IHS would otherv.•ise provide (refeITed to as Title I Self-Detennination Contracting) or 
(2) assume control over health care programs and services that the IHS would otherwise provide (refeITed to as Title 
V Self-Govemance Compacting or the TSGP). These options are not exclusive; Tribes may choose to combine them 
based on their individual needs and circumstances. IHS website, 2019. 
13 Since ICS determined that Weber engaged in predato1y behaviors while in New Mexico similar to those 
uncovered in Montana and South Dakota, there is substantial reason to believe that someone may have observed 
something that could have established or at least suggested that his abuse, while serving as an IHS provider, started 
in 1986 in Ada rather than 1992 in Browning. This is particularly trne if, as suggested, he was the subject of an 
OBMLS investigation. 
14 ICS interview of RADM Travis Watts, Area Director and Assistant Surgeon General, Oklahoma City Area 
Office, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, August 6, 2019. 
15"Dr. Charles Grim Appointed Secreta1y of Health for the Chickasaw Nation", Chickasaw Nation Media Relations 
Office, Chickasaw Nation New Release, dated December 13, 2018. 

Disclosure of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
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conduct during his time at Ada. 16 ICS 
sought to detennine whether there was an 
Oklahoma investigation or at least whether 
(b) (6) or anyone in his office, had 
indeed indicated to Dr. Mark Butterbrodt 
that Weber 's professional conduct had been 
the subject of inqui1y . Accord~ 
Butterbrodt, he had contacted~ 
in 2008 and had later been called by 
someone he believed to have been another 
investigator from the OBMLS who said that 
Weber had left Ada under suspicion of being 
a pedophile. The caller said that there had 
been a separate investigation involving a 
different doctor suspected of sexual assault 
on children and that Weber 's name had 
surfaced during that investigation. 17 

ICS recognized that the OBMLS would be 
reluctant to discuss, if not prohibited from 
discussing, the actual details of an 
investigation without a subpoena or court 
order but would have prefe1Ted, in the 
interests of diligence, to have that position 
stated for the record. ICS also sought 
(b) (6) assistance in describing the 
process of intake, investigation, and 
resolution of allegations made against 
licensed physicians -- those matters being 
useful to a determination of the extent to 
which the IHS, or any other employer of a 
physician under investigation, would be kept 
info1med about the progress of an OBMLS 
inquiiy . In tum, this infonnation would 
assist ICS consultants in making practical 
recollllllendations to IHS about the degree to 
which licensing boards can be relied upon in 
resolving questions of professional conduct 
in the context of internal personnel 
decisions. 

Although the OBMLS agreed to allow ICS 
to copy any publicly available documents 
relating to Weber - none of which related to 
any "investigation" that Dr. Butterbrodt 
implied had occmTed - the a enc did not 
pennit an inte1view with or 

ii 
else. The executive director, 
"did not think it was necessaiy." 8 

The refusal of persons and entities to assist 
in the consultants' effo1t to fully recreate the 
factual traj ecto1y of the Weber case, and 
assess the process associated with claims of 
physician misconduct, is illustrative of the 
many obstacles to enforcing physician 
accountability in the workplace. The 
"process" refeITed to here not only includes 
how the IHS responds internally to claims 
that patient well-being is threatened by 
rogue actors in their organization, but the 
confidence the IHS puts in law enforcement, 
regulators, and licensing agencies to 
satisfactorily perfonn theii· investigato1y and 
decision-making functions -- which the IHS 
may use as a justification for a personnel 
action. The confidentiality of individual 
investigations may be entii·ely legitimate -­
whether refusal to disclose info1mation is 
predicated on witness privacy concerns, 
liability concerns, concerns for the integrity 
of the inqui1y, sta.tuto1y or mle restrictions, 
concerns for reputational dam age being 
done by a false accusation, or simply a 
desire to avoid getting involved in the 
personnel decisions of a third-paity. 

16 See Butterbrodt complaint to the South Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic Exailllllers (SDBMOE), dated 
December 2, 2008. Listed under individuals with knowledge of Weber' s conduct Dr. Butterbrodt wrote "contact 
Steve Washurn (sic) - Oklahoma Medical Board" .. . ) . 
17 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
18 ICS contact with Lany Rhodes, Director of Investigations, OBMLS, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, August 9, 2019. 

Disclosm-e of info1mation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
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Secrecy, however, frustrates the employer's fact­

finding missions, makes it difficult to resolve 

complaints and protect patients, provides a 

certain degree of "cover" for the doctor engaged 

in abusive conduct, and discourages victims and 

whistleblowers who believe that nothing ever 

happens so disclosure is a fruitless endeavor. As 

will be seen in this report, any investigation 

without outcome can be used by managers to 

avoid any further involvement or disciplinary 

action. 

fu July 1989, Weber left the Carl Albeit 
Service Hospital to participate in an 
Adolescent Medicine Fellowship at the 
University of New Mexico in Albuquerque. 
Weber remained an officer in the 
Commissioned C01ps; this was an official 
transfer with the PHS. 19 

New Mexico 

Between 1989 and 1992, Weber pursued a 
Fellowship in Adolescent Medicine at the 
University of New Mexico (UNM) School 

of Medicine (SOM) in Albuquerque, New 
Mexico.20 

ICS encountered some of the same 
challenges in New Mexico that it had in 
Oklahoma. Weber 's tenure at UNM was 
brief - only three years - and was 30 years 
ago. Documents and witnesses were scant. 
However, due diligence required that this 
piece of Weber's histo1y with the PHS be 
explored and included in the review 
regardless of whether it yielded an 
abundance of info1mation. 

Weber had gone through a standard vetting 
process prior to being accepted at the UNM 
SOM as a trainee. There was no apparent 
negative info1mation discovered during that 
vetting process or, logically, he would have 
been denied a position as a Fellow in 
Pediatric Medicine. said 
that Weber would not have gone through the 
regular physician credentialing process, due 
to the restrictions on Weber's actions and 
authority while in an educational status. As 
such, there was no credentialing file created 
for the period oftime that Weber was at the 
SOM. There was, however, an "educational 
file" created for Weber and the other 
trainees. 21 [tiJJl;J• told ICS that access to 
this file is limited due to New Mexico 
privacy laws regarding education records. 
While the UNM could not release the file for 
review by ICS, ~ advised that he 
and another SOM empoyee had reviewed 
the file based on the document request 
provided to him by ICS, through the IHS 
Area Office, and related that there was no 
negative info1mation relating to Weber's 
conduct while at UNM. 

On December 14, 1990, as his two-year 
study was ending, Weber applied for a third 

19 Official Personnel File (OPF), Personnel Order Number 9159.004, dated June 8, 1989. 
20 Id. 
21 ICS interview of University of New Mexico School (b) (6) 
of Medicine, Albuquerque, New Mexico, December 5, 2019. 
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year at UNM with the Commissioned 
Corps.22 In requesting a third year , Weber 
indicated in his application materials that his 
objectives were to "[ o ]btain more fo1mal 
clinical training in the following areas: 

a) individual and group counseling with 
Native American adolescents; 

b) psychiatric evaluations of 
adolescents and adolescent 
psychiatric phaim acology; 

c) working with adolescents that have 
special needs such as adolescents on 
probation, th at are physically 
disabled, learning disabled and 
interacting with schools and 
communities of th ese students; 

d) substance abuse interventions . 23
" 

While in New Mexico, Weber volunteered 
at two Teen Centers, a school-based health 
program in partnership with the Pueblos of 
Laguna an d Acoma an d the Navajo 
community of To' Hajallii (Canoncito). The 
program was one of the first school-based 
health centers in the country , designed to 
address concerns about the rate of suicides 
and teen pregnancies. They were called 
Teen Centers to remove any perceived 
stigma for going to a clinic. They were 
operated from 1983 until 2018 with money 
from vai·ious grants and conti·acts including 
IHS.24 

After working with Weber for a period of 
time, . had a "constant feeling" that 
Weber spent too much time with adolescent 
Native American boys, both individually 
and in groups. Weber had boys visiting his 
home on a regular basis. He regularly gave 
gifts to boys. The boys were riding ai·ound 

with Weber in his vehicle and even ii 
his vehicle. All of these issues made • • 
"uncomfo1i able." tilm stated that she had 
no "proof' of ille~ avior, but Weber 's 
contact with the adolescent boys did not 
"seem professional." 

- recounted an example of one 
~ ularly egregious episode. Weber told 
1f11 that he was going to take a trip to 
Emope and that he planned to take a sixteen­
year-old Native American boy with him on 
the ti·ip in order to expose him to 
Emope. - stated that she said this was a 
bad idea and registered her concerns with 
Weber's supervisor . After Weber returned 
from the ti-ip, he told- that he had told 
the boy that the boy could not go on the ti·ip 
but he showed up at the ai1port when Weber 
was leaving and Weber felt he could not 
leave the boy behind so the boy 
accompanied Weber on the ti-ip. 

When contacted by IHS for a professional 
reference at the conclusion of Weber's 
fellowship, te>JGJJ said, according to 
the IHS notes, that Weber "worked 

22 Official Personnel File (OPF), Application for Training, attachments, dated December 14, 1990. 
23 Id. This document was revealing for several reasons. ICS consultants concluded this was an early indication that 
Weber was flying to fold elements of counseling and psychiatly into his pediatric practice. Stepping outside the 
n·aditional bounds of pedian·ics allowed Weber to justify more familiar and intimate relationships with young Indian 
males in settings other than the confines of an examination room. The pursuit of an expanded specialty - more 
psychologist than pediatrician - would continue throughout his career as he took steps to increase his access to 
vulnerable adolescents reoardless of their h sical health or need for medical n·eatment. 
24 ICS interview o (b) (6) 
- University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, Albuquerque, New Mexico, Janua1y 14, 2020. Also, 
email exchange withWJim■ Januaiy 13, 2020. 
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tirelessly, ie spent evenings & weekends 
[with] the kids [at] the center."25 

- recalled•r contacted by the IHS as 
a reference. 26 • • confirmed that she told 
the caller that Weber worked hard in his 
position and completed work at the teen 
centers, to include work at night and on the 
weekends. However, she also told the caller 
that she had concerns about Weber based on 
the amount of time that he spent with 
adolescent boys, and the fact that Weber had 
boys visiting his home, driving his car, 
etc .• told the caller that Weber 's 
behavior made her uncomfortable although 
she had no proof of misconduct. 27 

While Weber's IHS file reflects the 
positive comments regarding Weber's 
work at nights and on the weekends, it is 
completely devoid of any of the critical 
information provided b.:i.tllm As such, 
the concerns voiced by _-;vere not 
documented or acted upon by the agency. 

After two and a half years at UNM, Weber 
applied for a position in pediatrics at the 
Blackfeet Service Unit, also known as the 
Blackfeet Community Hospital, in 
Browning, Montana. 28 On May 4, 1992, 
Weber was assigned to the Blackfeet 
CoIIllllunity Hospital.29 

Montana 

On July 1, 1992, Weber began his service as 
a pediati·ician at the Blackfeet Community 
Hospital, an IHS facility serving the 
Blackfeet Indian Reservation and members 
of the Blackfeet Tribe. 30 

Blackfeet Community Hospital Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) Ma1y Ellen 
LaFromboise welcomed Weber's 
enthusiasm to be more involved with Indian 
teenagers. Weber appeared to her to be 
"genuinely interested in our young 
people." 31 Weber energized the "youth 
outi·each program" and proposed "evening 
clinics as a more user friendly" opportunity 
for the community to get health care 
services. "I just thought that ' Wow' here 's 
something that the hospital can offer the 

25 Official Personnel File (OPF), Reference Check, handwritten notes on Weber CV, date uncertain but likely 
February 1992. Bracketed material reflects that symbols were used instead of the words shown here. 
26 These comments are found on a 1992 CV. Based on the timing. and the experience of seeking references from the 
most c1ment sow-ces, ICS concluded that the official making inquiries was likely from the Billings Area Office or 
the Browning Service Unit. 

(b) (6) 

-

27 rview of 
Universi 

Q aterial taken from email con-espondence with[UJIUJI 
0. 

28 Official Personnel File (OPF), Billings Area Indian Health Service Medical Staff Application, December 12, 
1991. 
29 Official Personnel File (OPF), Personnel Order No. 2125.028, dated May 4, 1992. 
30 Browning, the headqua1t ers of the Blackfeet Tribe, is a remote community 45 miles south of the Canadian border 
in north central Montana. Adjacent to Glacier National Park, the Blackfeet Reservation is extremely mral. 
Browning, with a population of 1026 people, is 126 miles no1thwest of Great Falls, Montana, and 98 miles south of 
Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. 
31"FRONTLINE Predator on the Reservation", Public Broadcasting Service (PBS), Dan Frosch and Christopher 
Weaver (Con-espondents), Frank Koughan (Senior Producer), Raney Aronson-Rath (Executive Producer of 
Frontline), aired Febmary 12, 2019 (hereinafter Frontline). Interview of Mary Ellen Lafromboise. 
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community. We 'll put Dr. Weber out in the 
community." 32 

Clinical Director (CD) and Chief Medical 
Officer (CMO) Randy Rottenbiller33 also 
saw Weber's first year in Browning as ve1y 
positive. There was, at the time, an emphasis 
on community engagement to integrate the 
IHS Inission into a closer relationship with 
tribal consumers. 34 Although Rottenbiller 
saw Weber as a "loner" who did not engage 
socially with his colleagues, as Weber's 
supervisor, he gave him a good to excellent 
evaluation for his peiformance the first year 
in Browning. 35 Weber was on probation for 
that first year. Most employees are on their 
best behavior during a probationaiy period 
knowing that any Inisconduct or 
peif onnance issues can more easily lead to 
disinissal. 36 

Weber made it known to his colleagues that 
he prefe1Ted to treat adolescent children, as 
opposed to infants and toddlers, and that he 
prefeITed to treat male patients over female 
patients. 37 In an effo1i to control his patient 
load composition, Weber "shut out" the 
nurse responsible for patient scheduling. 38 

Weber was known to conduct patient visits 
after-hours and on at least one occasion was 

32 Id. 

seen by maintenance staff with a small pre­
teen boy, after hours, dragging a couch into 
his office from the waiting area and shutting 
the door afte1ward39; a couch that was 
removed from his office after his 
depa1iure. 40 The staff member who 
witnessed Weber talcing the unaccompanied 
~ office after hours.BPU 
_ , thought that what he had 
witnessed was unusual and suspicious. He 
filed a written repo1i regarding the incident 
with the Head Supervisor for the 
Housekeeping Depaiiment. 41 ICS 
consultants were not provided, and could not 
loc:many memorandum authored by 
(ti>FI 
The Director of Behavioral Health/Chief of 
Psychology at the Blackfeet facility, Dr. Dan 
Foster, became concerned about Weber's 
practices "within two months" of his, 
Foster's, aiTival in 1994.42 Dr. Foster had a 
background in criminal sexual behavior, 
having been a psychologist at the Bureau of 
Prisons facility in Rochester, Minnesota, 
where he took paii in a prograin for sexual 
offender rehabilitation. Foster noticed that 
Weber maintained a list of at-risk 
prepubescent and adolescent males with 

33 At the time, Dr. Rottenbiller' s position was that of Clinical Director, but his responsibilities were those of what is 
now refen-ed to as the Chief Medical Officer, and Rottenbiller generally refen-ed to himself as Chief Medical 
Officer. The titles may be used interchangeably throughout this repo1t . 
34 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September IO, 2019. 
35 IHS Blackfeet Service Unit, Credentialing File, Personal Reference Questionnaire, dated May 16, 1993. 
36 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September IO, 2019. 
31 United States v. Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 134. Testimony of Dr. Daniel Foster, September 5, 2018 
38 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September IO, 2019. 
39 ICS Interview o~ , fo1mer housekeeper at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Browning, Montana, 
September 18, 2019. 
40 ICS Interview of Tim Davis, Tribal Chairman of the Blackfeet Tribe, Browning, Montana, July 2019. Before 
being elected Chairman of the Blackfeet Tribal Business Council, Davis spent his career at IHS. In 1995, Davis was 
in the Facilities De~rowning Community Hospital. 
41 ICS Interview ot __ , fo1mer housekeeper at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Browning, Montana, 
September 18, 2019. 
42 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 134. Testimony of Dr. Daniel Foster, September 5, 2018. 
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whom he spent time. 43 He had also 
encountered Weber, dressed in clothes 
appropriate to a middle school youth, with a 
group of young fudian boys at a pizza 
restaurant in Shelby (a town off the 
reservation 53 miles east of Browning). No 
parents of the boys were present. Foster was 
concerned about this encounter, and the fact 
that Weber had taken kids shopping in Great 
Falls and to basketball tournaments. 44 

According to Dr. Foster, Weber may have 
been hying to create "[t]he implication of 
parental pennission;" getting the community 
used to seeing Weber in the company of a 
group of young boys so that when 
unsupervised activities with the Blackfeet 
boys continued to occm it would not apperu· 
unusual or raise concerns. Dr. Becky Foster 
(PhD Psychology) described Weber's 
interactions with young boys at high risk -
- from poverty and difficult family 
circumstances who are offered food, new 
clothes, security -- as "grooming 
behavior" typical of pedophiles. 45 

While Lafromboise saw Weber 's 
willingness to have evening clinic homs and 
a Teen Clinic Area as a demonstrntion of 
Weber 's sincere desire to care for Blackfeet 

children, 46 the Fosters saw the same activity 
as more sinister; they were concerned about 
the "after-homs" clinical practice because 
many of Weber's adolescent male patients 
were being seen without any adult 
accompanying the child. ''No1mally if you 
bring yow- child to the pediati-ician a parent 
is with them, or, if a social worker brings the 
child to the pediati-ician, the social worker is 
with them ... but these boys were going in 
there alone. "47 

Weber- not a psychologist or a licensed 
counselor - agreed to provide counseling 
sessions for middle school students who got 
into trouble at the local middle school. At 
this time, the Browning facility had 
professional clinical psychologists, like the 
Fosters, available to provide counseling and 
psychological care to fudian children. There 
was no apparent need for any other IHS 
physician to step into this role. 

Yet Weber expanded his pediatric 
responsibilities to include social and 
psychological interactions with juveniles. 
He joined the Blackfeet Tribe's Child 
Protection Team48 and requested Continuing 
Medical Education (CME) that did not se1ve 
to develop professional expe1tise in the field 

43 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, fonner IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. Also, Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 134. Testimony of Dr. Daniel 
Foster, September 5, 2018. 
44 Frontline interview of Dr. Dan Foster, aired Febma1y 12, 2019. 
45 Frontline interview of Dr. Becky Foster, aired Febma1y 12, 2019. "Grooming' is the progressive process where 
an abuser uses manipulative behaviors to gain the confidence of a child [;] [b ]efriending and establishing an 
emotional connection with a child or child' s family member, with the aim oflowering the child's inhibitions and the 
objective of sexual abuse. [ or;] [a] gradual process by which an offender draws a victim into a sexual relationship 
and maintains that relationship in secrecy. Not only is the targeted child manipulated in this process, but the 
manipulation can also include the child' s family/support system and the abuser 's co-workers and professional 
organizations.' Protecting Children from Sexual Abuse In Health Care Settings - Supporting a Culture of 
Community Safety, IHS Training Materials (2019), citing Ulrich, B., & Kear, T. (2014). Patient Safety and Patient 
Safety Culture: Foundations of Excellent Health Care Delive1y. Nephrology Nursing Journal, .41(5), 447--457. 
46 Frontline interview ofMa1y Ellen LaFromboise, aired Febma1y 12, 2019. 
41 Frontline interview of Dr. Becky Foster, aired Febma1y 12, 2019. 
48 Official Personnel File (OPF), Training Nomination and Authorization, dated September and October 1992. An 
Indian tribe operating a Child Protection Team designates members who are responsible (1) for the investigation of 
repo1ted cases of child abuse and child neglect, (2) for the treatment and prevention of incidents of family violence, 
and (3) for the provision of immediate shelter and related assistance for victims of family violence and their 
dependents. Title 25 USC §3210(c). Indian Child Protection and Family Violence Prevention Act (1990). 
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of pediatrics. 49 At the request of res 
consultants, a credentialing specialist in the 
Billings Area Office reviewed Weber's 
training courses and "red flagged" several as 
seemingly unrelated to pediatrics - namely 
those involving psychology or 
psychiatry. 50 She told res that she asked 
herself "is he a pediatrician or is he a 
psychiatrist?" Weber endeavored from the 
ve1y beginning of his PHS/IHS career to 
maneuver himself into a position where he 
would have unfettered access to a paiiicular 
type of patient - adolescent Indian males 
who display mental or emotional 
vulnerability. 

~ arent, fo1mer IHS employeetmJGE 
- discovered that Weber was 

~he.jttDIGJ)for hed-
_ _ 51 • • confronted Weber that 
he had no authority to prescribe medicine to 
her son without pai·ental consent. 

The distribution of pharmaceutical drugs by 

Weber to teenagers is a recurring concern that 

marked his /HS career. Witnesses would later 

disclose that Weber gave opioids, Zithromax (an 

STD medication), and other drugs to his teenage 

patients and victims without a prescription. 

In 1994, his expansion of his IHS pediatric 
responsibilities was fonnally inco1porated 
into his job description. A Janua1y 1, 1994, 
Memorandum of Assignment signed by Dr. 
Rottenbiller clarified Weber 's "special 

duties" -- to be perfo1med "in addition to 
official duties as described in his billet." 52 

This was a memorandum designed and 
drafted by Weber; he selected the scope 
and language of his non-pediatric duties 
and presented them to Rottenbiller to 
sign.53 Weber's duties would include 
"counseling services which include 
individual and group sessions"; group 
counseling sessions "may involve after 
school, weekend or summer events" and 
may include "day ti·ips (e.g., fishing or 
hiking ti·ips) or overnight/ extended ti·ips 
(e.g., camping ti·ips)."54 

. .... -.. , ( l DEPARTMENT Of HEALTH a HUMAN SERVICES 

'-1 __ s, ... ~ 
....... -59'417 

MEMORANDUM OF ASSIGNMENT 
JANUARY l, 1994 

This memorandum IS to clarify spedal oflldal dutles of S. Patr1cl< 
Weber, M.D., wh.Uc Ol<$lgu<:d u, Olli..;kkct CuinmUJllty Hoopii.al. In 

add!Uoo. to ofllelal duties as dcsalbed In bis billet, Or. Weber will also 
perform the following: 

1. Or. Weber will provide school based selVlces Within the Browning 
am! Heart Butte scllool dlstrlcts. These duties will ID.Cludc: 

•clinical ocrviccs wblcb Include dJagnosts and trea1Jnent of 
illness and Injuries; 

•preventative hea.ltb care scmces; 
'assistance with health educauon plannJng or tmtrucuon; 
•counselling services wblch Include indJvtdual and ~oup 

sessions; 
•to assist In the evaluation of such condttlons as ADHD, lcamlng 

disorders and other conditions wblch tntemre with the 
1'!o.rot.ng process: 

♦to asslst the school districts In deelstons whlch Involve the 
health, sa!ct;y a.od. wdl being of lhdr students and 
teachers. 

Although the memo indicated that pai·ental 
approval was required for both school and 
out-of-school activities sponsored by Weber, 
testimony and ai·gument at the Montana ti-ial 
made clear that Weber targeted, or appeared 
to tai·get, teenage Indian males who did not 
have significant parental or family suppo1i. 55 

These boys ai·e the most likely to be deemed 

49 See, for example, an October 1992 trainin in Helena, Montana, titled "Children Who Molest Other Children" 
50 ICS interview of at Billings Area Office, Billings, Montana, July 
2019. 
51 ICS interview o~ , fo1mer IHS administrative employee at the Browning Service Unit, Browning, 
Montana, August 28, 2019. 
52 Memorandum of Assignment dated Janua1y 1, 1994. 
53 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. 
54 Id. 
55 Frontline interview of Dr. Dan Foster, aired Febmaiy 12, 2019, using the tenn " at-risk" . 
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in need of "counseling" and the ve1y 
adolescents whose parents or guardians 
would be unlikely to object to any field trips 
or counseling sessions organized by a 
physician. 56 Dming his tenme in Browning, 
Weber took groups of boys on overnight 
trips to Missoula and Kalispell (both cities 
over a hundred miles west of Browning), for 
pizza in Shelby and Cut Bank (a town 35 
miles east of Browning), and on extended 
outings for hiking and swimming in areas 
around the Blackfeet fudian Reservation. 57 

The 1994 memorandlllll expanding Weber 's 
duties beyond pediatrics was shown to 
fo1m er Deputy Area Director Charles Lewis. 
Lewis had "never seen anything like that 
before" and was certain that the 
memorandum "never crossed my desk" but, 
he added, "it should have."58 Lewis insisted 
to ICS that it was ''ve1y unusual" to have 
this type of change to a provider 's duties 
done fonnally with a memorandlllll. Dr. 
Foster's reaction to the 1994 Rottenbiller 
Memo was that it was "just plain nuts" for 
CMO Rottenbiller to authorize the activities 
outlined in Weber's memo. 59 Dr. Foster said 
the memo was "completely offensive" to 
him and suggested that Rottenbiller 's 
issuance of this memo was "beyond 
neglect"; evidence of "impaired judgment" 
on the paii of the CMO. 

At this point, Weber was displaying a host 
of pedophile markers which were apparent 
to professionals like the Drs. Foster who 
were trained to identify them. 

"The pedophile often seeks out shy, 
handicapped, and withdrawn 
children, or those who come from 
troubled homes or underprivileged 
homes. He then showers them with 
attention, gifts, taunting them with 
trips to desirable places like 
amusement parks, zoos, concerts, the 
beach, and other such places. 

Pedophiles work to master their 
manipulative skills and often unleash 
them on troubled children by first 
becoming their friend, building the 
child's self-esteem. They may refer to 
the child as special or mature, 
appealing to their need to be heard 
and understood, to then entice them 
with adult activities with sexual 
content like x-rated movies or 
pictures. Grooming like this often 
goes along with consumption of 
alcohol or drugs to hamper the 
ability to resist or recall events that 
occurred. Minor children cannot 
consent, and sex without consent is 
rape. "60 

Compare these characteristics to Weber's 
Commissioned Co1ps application for a third 
year of training at UNM in which he plainly 
stated that his interest was in "a) individual 
and group counseling with Native American 
adolescents; b) psychiatric evaluations of 
adolescents and adolescent psychiatric 
phannacology; c) working with adolescents 
that have special needs such as adolescents 
on probation, that are physically disabled, 

56 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM. Dk. No. 142. Prosecution ' s Closing and Rebuttal Argument, September 6, 2018.See 
also Frontline interview of- aired ftiim1 12, 2019. "I had nothin' and nobody" . 
57 Id. also see Dk. No. 132, Testimony of • • ., September 5, 2016, and Frontline interview of Dr. Dan Foster, 
aired February 12, 2019. 
58 ICS interview of Charles Lewis, former Deputy Area Director, Billings Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
59 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, fonner IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. 
60 Charles Montaldo, "Profile and Common Characteristics of a Pedophile", Thought.com, Updated, July 6, 2019. 
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learning disabled and interacting with 
schools and communities of these students; 
d) substance abuse interventions". 61 

On one excursion to Missoula to attend the 
Kyiyo Pow Wow, a Native American 
celebration, Weber waited for a teenage boy 
to come out of a motel shower and then 
touched the naked boy's penis. 62 A 
Browning law enforcement officer related 
that at an unidentified Missoula event, 
Weber was allegedly smTeptitiously looking 
at one of the boys taking a shower at a 
motel. Weber was seen by a third person 
who told the boys' relatives who were also 
attending the Missoula function. The boys' 
family members confronted and assaulted 
Weber. 63 The boys then left with various 
family members and ultimately traveled 
back to Browning with those family 
members; leaving Weber alone. The official 
was not aware of any report to Missoula law 
enforcement regarding the "peeping tom" 
incident or the assault. The Browning officer 
knew of at least one of the family members 
who paiiicipated in the assault of Weber and 
asked if he would be willing to be 
interviewed to confnm the assault. Through 
the officer, the request for an interview was 
declined. 64 Although the facts of the 
incident cannot be confirmed, it is included 
in the report as additional evidence of 
Weber 's reputation in the community, and 
what likely contributed to his 
announcement, after just over 2 years in 
Browning, that he planned to leave. "Dr. 
Weber will be transfeITing and has accepted 

another position. His file will be inactivated 
at the time of ti·ansfer. As a commissioned 
officer he will be here until we get another 
pediati-ician hired." 65 

Another incident involved Weber 's alcohol 
abuse. Fo1mer Administi·ative Officer (AO) 
mmJIII recalled an incident in which 
Weber was visibly intoxicated at work and 
that this incident was documented at the 
time by ~ No1mally, 
incident~ s would have 
come to him as the AO, but- believed 
that~ repo1i went directly to 
LaFromboise. ICS consultants were not 
provided, and could not loc3i 
memorandum authored by [«g_ ?■ 
During his tenure in Browning, Weber was 
paii of a Child Protection Team. Just prior to 
his depa1iure in 1995, Weber was called to 
the Emergency Room by Dr. Rottenbiller 
because a young boy, brought in by his 
grandmother, may have been a victim of 
abuse. Weber was off-duty and at home 
when he was called. During their telephone 
conversation, Dr. Rottenbiller suspected that 
Weber was intoxicated and cautioned Weber 
that he should not come in if he had been 
drinking.67 But Weber, obviously inebriated 
and impaired, came in anyway. Soon after 
Weber aITived, the patient 's grandmother 
complained to the hospital staff that Weber 
was dmnk and insisted that Weber not be 
involved in the care of her grandson. Weber 
became belligerent and had to be forcibly 
removed by hospital secm-ity. 

61 Official Personnel File (OPF), Application for Training, attachments, dated December 14, 1990. 
62 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 170, Testimony ofla (pp. 9-10, 21), September 5, 2018. 
63 ICS interview of Browning Law Enforcement Officer (identity withheld at the witness's request), Browning, 
Montana, July 15, 2019, and September 18, 2019. These two incidents - the assault onlJil and the assault on 
Weber for "peeping" -- may have been separate incidents or versions of the same incident. 
64 Id. 
65 Minutes, Blackfeet Community Hospital Medical Staff Credentials Task Force, December 19, 1994, p. 2 . 
66 ICS interview of_ , fonner Administrative Officer at the Browning Service Unit, East Glacier, Montana, 
September 18, 2019. 
67 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. 
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As Weber had not been on-call, Rottenbiller 
made a "judgment call" and did not file a 
Quality of Care complaint on the incident 
although he would have been justified in 
filing the complaint as "physician 
impai1ment."68 ICS noted that this would 
have been after the earlier alcohol related 
incident, either of which, but certainly 
both, would have informed future 
~ent decisions. fu the first case,ill 
- written repo1i cannot be located. fu 
the second case, Dr. Rottenbiller made no 
record. 

A criminal investigation of Weber by the 
Office offuspector General (OIG) for HHS 
was initiated in the fall of2015 when agents 
joined a Bureau of fudian Affairs (BIA) 
investigation aheady under way in South 
Dakota. 69 The OIG investigation into 
allegations of abuse by Weber at the Pine 
Ridge IHS facility was later expanded to 
include possible crimes occmTing during 
Weber 's time at Browning. Agents 
developed leads that led to several potential 
Montana victims. 

At the time he was interviewed b 
Fred Bennett 

omm ad 
been raised by his mother and father-

68 Id. 

parents divorced, and his mother moved to 
Broiiiit 71 When • . fm;t met Weber, 
he, • • ., was staying at the Nmiuring 
Center ecause his parents were unable to 
care for him; he and his siblings had been 
removed from his mother 's custody. 

During the inte1v iew, an emotional • . 
detailed how when he was in placement, 
after being removed from his parent's 
custody, Weber would examine him at the 
Nurturing Center and the hospital. • . 
stated that all he wanted was to be back with 
his parents and Weber promised him he 
would help but expected sexual favors. 73 fu 
their early encounters Weber kissedW>D, 
touch[mpenis and had[-tOl~ 
his. 74 

• • told Bennett about hand to 
penis abuse, oral sexual abuse, and Weber's 
attempts to penetrate his anus. He stated it 
happened on "quite a few occasions" but 
that he did not want to guess the number of 
times incon ectly. 75 When • . wanted to 
stop the abuse Weber would remind him not 
to tell anyone. Weber would always use 
- •s desire to be with his parents as 
motivation. "He told me he would help me 
to see my mom, get visits from my mom, 

69 In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dak.ota, 5:17 mj-20 (DSD), Search Wan-ant 
Application and Affidavit of Out Muller, Dk. No. 2, p. 23. 
70 The Blackfoot Nation is a confederation of several distinct tribes, including the Piegan ( or Pikuni), the Blood ( or 
Kainai), the North Blackfoot (or Siksika). The Blood Reserve in Alberta, Canada, and the Blackfeet Reservation in 
Montana share a common border. Dempsey, Hugh A. "Blackfoot Confederacy". The Canadian Encyclopedia. Last 
edited July 18, 2019. 
71 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 127. Testimony oflll,, September 4, 2018. 
72 The Blackfeet Tribe's Nurturing Center is a short-term residential shelter and provides care to children 
experiencing crisis and in need of a safe, neutral, and healthy environment to alleviate the effects of the crisis. 
Children served include those who appear to be homeless, abused, neglected, pushed out of the home, wards of the 
State, Blackfeet Tribe, or comts, and those awaiting comt hearings or altemative living arrangements . 
https://www.fastblackfeet.org/resow-ces/blackfeet-nmtw-ing-center/ 
13/n the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dak.ota, Dk. No. 2, p. 23. 
74 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 127. Testimony ofmlJ, September 4-5, 2018. 
15 Jn the Matter of the Search of2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dak.ota, Dk. No. 2, p. 23.■• testified at the 
Montana trial to these same details. Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 127. Testimony of • • , September 4-5, 
2018. 
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and tiy to help me to get back to her so she 
could get c- me again."76 

- · was • • old when his father 
committed suicide in- Sho1i ly after, 
rml(i moved off the rese1v ation with his 
~ rand siblings. 

Under cross-examination,_ gave 
powerful and emotional testimony that made 
clear why so many victims fail to repo1i 
their abuse: 

"I didn't rea!Zv want to talk about it. I 
still don't want to talk about it. I don't want 
to talk about being molested. I don't want 
to tell everybody about that. I 'm not going 
to volunteer no h1formatio11 about none of 
that. ... 

I used to think about U eve1:v day. It's in 
111y 111ind eve,:v day. I got molested. I got -­
I was a little boy. That's not something you 
want to talk about and brag about. ·who do 
I talk to about that? ... 

HonestZv, the reason -- when he [the 
federal investigatorl asked me if I 
re111ember him [Weber], I said, "No, " 
because I didn't !mow where this was 
going. I didn't !mow what was going on. 
And I had been saying no . ... 

Every ti111e somebody asked 111e about 
being molested, being touched, and 
sexua!Zv assaulted, I always said no. And 
even when I leave here and anybody ask 
111e, I am still going to say no. That's not 
something I want to admit. nwt's not 
something I want to let everybody !mow. I 
got 111olested as a little kid. Man, I don't 
want to talk about that. ... 

But when you 're saying that I was 
[111olested}, I started to talk about that. All 
right. I'll tell you the truth. n,ose pieces of 
shit, those fucking child molesters, they 
deserve to be in prison. Thev don't deserve 
to be 011 the street. They deserve to get 
fucking fucked up and killed in fucking 
prison, and that's what's going to happen. 
I hope to fucking God that he comes to 
prison in the USP. "77 

Another witness at Weber's Montana ti·ial, 
_ , testified that when he was a 
teenager in Browning, he and his friends 
would "hang-out" at Weber's house near the 
hospital. "They'd go up there and play video 
games and stuff like that. He was taking 
them to eat pizza and taking them hiking and 
stuff like that."78 Weber kept his home 
stocked with snacks, ice cream, pop, 
alcohol, games, music, and videos. "He had 
a lot of wine around. Vodka. That's what we 
wanted" and "It was just a place to hang out 
and get drnnk and get what we wanted." 
Weber was also a ready source for money. 79 

Like • . , tmJGJ] testified that the 
molestation that took place at Weber 's home 
is "not something you talk about." "It's not 
something you talk about in Browning?" 
asked the prosecutor. "Anywhere" answered 
te>JGJJ 80 fu their first encounter of a 
sexual nature, an intoxicated Weber asked 
tmlGJ] for oral sex whichtmJGJ] refused 
and left the house. On another occasion, 
rffl'l'ffll - at Weber 's home after 
~ - • • awoke to find Weber, 
naked from the waist down, rnbbing his 
[GJIGJII penis while also fondling his 
~ s) own. At his first oppo1iunity, 
lVl.lWJ fled the house and never returned. 

76 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 127. Testimony oflll., September 4, 2018. 
77 Id. 
78 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 132. Testimony of[liJIOJI September 5, 2018. 
79 Id. "Everybody asked him because he would give them money all of the time." 
80 Id. 

Disclosm-e of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 

18 )---------



THE WEBER REPORT 

When interviewed in May of 2016, Weber 
admitted that he had allowed Indian boys 
that "didn't have any place to stay" to spend 
the night at his home near the hospital in 
Browning. 81 Weber told agents that there 
had been an internal investigation into 
drinking at his home but insisted that the 
concern was not the presence of underage 
boys.82 

During his time at Browning, Weber lived in 
IHS housing. Government housing was 
inspected on an annual or semi-annual basis 
to check on the condition of the house, 
change air filters, document damage, assess 
the need for repairs, etc. During a home 
inspection in the ead y pa1t of 1995, Tim 
Davis, then an IHS employee from the IHS 
Facilities Depaitment, was "floored;" 
disturbed by the amount of child or teenager 
related items in Weber 's basement. There 
was an abundance of food, candy, pop, 
cookies, dozens of VHS movies, kids 
games, and other items that suggested the 
basement was regularly frequented by 
children or adolescents. 83 Davis told ICS 

that "you didn't see that much stuff for kids 
in the homes of people that actually had 
kids" on the reservation. He was sufficiently 
concerned that he immediately told both 
Lafromboise and Rottenbiller of his 
concerns. 84 Davis told Frontline that 
LaFromboise did not see it as cause for 
"alai1n." 85 

Foster regulai·ly expressed his warnings to 
LaFromboise and Rottenbiller. 86 

LaFromboise was not convinced that the 
concerns of Foster and his wife, 
psychologist Becky Foster, were justified. 
Foster told ICS that one of his biggest 
fmstrations was how easily some of Weber 's 
abuse could have been prevented by 
assigning a nurse to "chaperone" Weber 's 
examinations of teenage boys. Although 
Weber 's abuse of teenage boys also took 
place at his home, numerous victims 
described the first acts of abuse as occmTing 
in exainination rooms of Browning and Pine 
Ridge. His recommendation was never 
adopted. 87 It seemed to Foster that the 
more he and his wife raised the alarm 
about Weber, the more ostracized they 
became by others on the medical staff. 
They were accused of being homophobic. 
LaFromboise removed Foster from service 
on the multi-disciplinaiy team, ejected him 
from government housing for having "too 

81 United States 11. Weber, CR 17-50033, (DSD, Western Division), Transcript of May 19, 2016, Interview with 
Patrick Weber, Dk. No. 50, p. 53. 
82 Id., at pp. 56-57. 
83 Frontline Interview of Tim Davis, aired Februaiy 12, 2019. "Stacks of stuff. I mean stacks" .. . "to me this 
signaled that there was something wrong with this guy." 
84 ICS Interview of Ti.tu Davis, Blackfeet Tribal Offices, Browning, Montana, July 25, 2019. Davis is cwTently the 
Tribal Chainnan of the Blackfeet Tribe but spent his career at IHS. In 1995, Davis was in the Facilities Department 
of the Browning Community Hospital. 
85 Frontline Interview of Tim Davis, aired Februaiy 12, 2019. 
86 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, fonner IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. Also, Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 134. Testimony of Dr. Daniel 
Foster, September 5, 2018. 
87 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, former IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. 
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many pets" (December 1994)88, and 
relocated his office. 

Dr. Foster also repoited his concerns to 
Margene Tower, Director of Behavioral 
Health, and his supervisor in the Billings 
Area Office. Tower ti·ied to handle the 
situation "diplomatically" but did nothing to 
address his concerns. Foster repo1ied his 
allegations to the Montana Board of Medical 
Examiners who "wouldn't even look into the 
complaint". 89 fu fairness to the MBME, 
they had no jmisdiction over Weber 's 
medical license because he had no Montana 
license. 

UndeteITed, Foster repo1ied his concerns to 
BIA Criminal fuvesti ator 
According to Foster, 
several teenage pati t'J!lllWA'I one 
disclosed any abuse. 
investigation "took 
fell ill and to Foster 's kno 
completed the investigation. 

As soon as Dr. Foster learned that Weber 
was in Pine Ridge - August or September of 
1995 - he made several calls to the Pine 
Ridge Service Unit and asked to speak to the 
CEO. Although Foster was never put in 
contact with the CEO, he did relate his 
concerns to the Deputy CEO on two 
occasions. 90 Some years later he also shared 
his concerns with Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, an 

IHS pediatrician at the Pine Ridge facility. 91 

Dr. Butterbrodt confnms that he contacted 
Dr. Foster in 2008, prior to filing a 
complaint against Weber with the South 
Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic 
Examiners (SDBMOE). 92 

LaFromboise acknowledged that there were 
"comments coming from maintenance" 
about the amount of traffic of young people 
coming in and out of Weber's quaiiers.93 

She also received infonnation about 
Weber 's interactions with young fudian 
boys from a fainily member of one of the 
boys who had stayed the night at Weber's 
house. A family member of one of the boys 
assaulted Weber, breakin his lasses and 
giving him a black eye. told 
Lafromboise of seeing We er at a Pizza Hut 
in Cut Bank with a group of teenage boys 
"with new clothes" and expressed concern 
over Weber 's behavior. 94 While at 
LaFromboise's office, . encountered Dr. 
Foster who was telling LaFromboise about a 
paiiy at Weber's home with young boys. 
She recalled Foster telling her that he and 
other physicians in the compound had 
witnessed the boys coming and going from 
Weber 's residence. 

By this time in the timeline of events, 
LaFromboise was well awai·e young 
Blackfeet boys were spending nights at 
Weber 's home and that he was hosting 

88 Id. Foster had been at Browning for only five months before being ejected from govemment housing. 
89 Id. As a federally employed physician, Weber was required to have a state license (which he did in CA, OK, MN 
and SD) but was not required to be licensed in the state in which he practiced medicine. PHS employment as a 
physician requires only that the applicant have a "[ c ]wTent, unrestricted, and valid medical license from one of the 
50 States; Washington, DC; the Commonwealth of Pue1to Rico; the U.S. Virgin Islands; or Guam." 
https://www.usphs.gov/profession/physician/requirements.aspx 
9°ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, fonner IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. 
91 Frontline interview of Dr. Dan Foster, aired Febmaiy 12, 2019. 
92 ICS interview of Dr. Mai·k Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
93 ICS interview of Mary Ellen LaFromboise, fo1mer CEO of the Blackfeet Community Hospital, Browning, 
Montana, August 27, 2019. 
94 ICS interview of_ , fonner IHS administrative employee at the Browning Service Unit, Browning, 
Montana, August 28, 2019. 
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"drinking parties". Even though he had 
been at the Browning Hospital for a sho1i 
time, staff had confided in Dr. Foster. A 

iicted Blackfeet elder 
was on the 

Foster that Weber a a owe young boys 
to spend the night inside of his house and 
there were mmors that the young boys were 
allowed to drink alcohol at Weber 's house.95 

Tim Davis had confomed what Foster had 
been told b~ a third 
employee, f!:J'-- had personally 
witnessed the house pa1iies at Weber's 
home. All of this, Foster reported to 
LaFromboise and Rottenbiller, and by her 
own admission, Lafromboise had received 
much of the same infonnation directly from 
the maintenance crew. 

LaFromboise recalled reviewing the 1994 
Rottenbiller memo giving Weber license to 
spend time with Blackfeet boys outside the 
examination room and outside the hospital. 96 

She discussed the memo's contents with Dr. 
Rottenbiller and was in favor of the extra 
duties being assigned to Weber. As she had 
told the Frontline repo1iers, Lafromboise 
told ICS that she was grateful that Weber 
was involved in the Browning community 
and thought the memo was consistent with 
the "Health Promotion / Disease Prevention" 
initiative then being promoted by the IHS. 

According to LaFromboise, "Doctors are 
next to God - was the filter within IHS."97 

Years later, in her inte1view with Frontline, 
Lafromboise admitted that " [it]t was on my 

watch that that happened. I should have 
known better. But I didn' t." 98 

The CEO's previously positive impressions 
of Weber were now disabused by events 
which caused her concern over his conduct. 
LaFromboise said that she and the other 
senior medical staff received pressm e from 
the other doctors to investigate the situation. 
She added there were a myriad of 
jmisdictional issues on the Indian 
rese1vation that required coordination with 
the Blackfeet Tribe, IHS, the Commissioned 
Corps, and the FBI whenever there were 
allegations that "a white man was 
committing a crime against a Native 
American ." But Lafromboise did nothing at 
the Unit level to either investigate internally, 
refer to law enforcement, or suspend or 
remove Weber. "Who is the responsible 
person to come in and do something?" 
She concluded that the Weber issue was 
complicated by the fact he was 
Commissioned Co1ps, because "they 
couldn' t be supe1vised or disciplined."99 

According to LaFromboise, she related these 
facts , and the concerns related to her by 
other somces, to the Area Director (. in 
Billings, Duane Jeanotte. Similarly, • • 
recalled that, after her meeting with 
Lafromboise and Foster, the three of them 
called the Billings Area Office and spoke to 
one of the two Billings Area deputy 
directors, Charlie Lewis or Ke1mit Sinith . 
Lafromboise and Foster both assm ed ICS 
that the call was to Lewis. The three of them 
relayed their concerns and- told the 

95 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, former IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. 
96 ICS interview of Mary Ellen Lafromboise, fo1mer CEO of the Blackfeet Community Hospital, Browning, 
Montana, August 27, 2019. 
97 Id. 
98 Frontline interview of Mary Ellen Lafromboise, aired February 12, 2019. 
99 Id. ICS appreciated LaFromboise's perspective. Criminal jurisdiction in Indian Country can be a morass of 
te1ritorial uncertainty and is often, in the experience of ICS consultants, used as an excuse for deflecting 
responsibility. That difficulty, however, neither explains nor excuses the failure of managers to conduct credible and 
serious administrative inquiries such that personnel decisions that affect patient safety can be made. 
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group that if something was not done 
regarding Weber, she would go to the 
Blackfeet Tribal Council and attempt to 
have Weber "resolutioned off' the 
reservation. 100 

Lewis, now retired, told ICS that he had no 
recollection of a call from Lafromboise, 
Foster and- but stated that ifhe had 
received this type of call, he would have 
gone immediately to Jeanotte and the Area 
Office Chief Medical Officer with the 
infonnation due to the allegations involving 
a physician. 101 Lewis told ICS that he 
" thinks" that some of the other doctors in 
Browning approached Jeanotte and 
complained about Weber and that Jeanotte 
told the doctors that they could remove 
Weber 's privileges locally and then the Area 
Office could take action. Lewis does not 
recall ever seeing any documents with any 
type of allegations involving Weber. 

Lewis felt that there were always 
communications problems with the se1vice 
units ; that they "conceal, conceal, conceal 
until it's out of the bag." 102 The se1vice 
units did not see the area office as a resource 
or an ally, but, Lewis conceded, the area 
office also felt the same way about IHS 
Headquarters. Headquarters made no effo1t 
to visit the area offices or help them solve 
problems. 

Rottenbiller was already in Billings for a 
quaiterly meeting of CMOs in the spring of 
1995 when he was told to report to the office 
of AD Jeanotte. 103 Jeanotte told 
Rottenbiller that he had conducted his own 
review of Weber's patient load and 
confnmed it consisted mainly of male 
patients. Jeanotte also said that he had 
received a direct complaint from the pai·ent 
of one of the patients. The parent repo1ted 
that the young boy had stayed at Weber 's 
house overnight. 

Jeanotte told Dr. Rottenbiller that "I'm 

concerned you have a pedophile on your staff, 

and you need to get rid of him." 
!CS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, former CMO at Blackfeet 

Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, September 10, 2019. 

Lewis did not recall ever hearing about this 
complaint from Jeanotte, however, Lewis 
stated, it is common for a complainant to 
contact the se1vice unit director locally and 
then complain directly to the ai·ea office. 104 

Jeanotte refused a request for a fonnal 
inte1v iew by ICS consultants, but in refusing 
an inte1view made several asse1tions 
relevant to this repo1t. Jeanotte told ICS that 
he definitely was not involved with, or 
aware of, the allegations against Weber at 

100 ICS interview o_ , fo1mer IHS administrative empii at the Browning Service Unit, Brov.rning, 
Montana, August 28, 2019. Had Weber been "resolutioned off' as ' ' had threatened, IHS policy would have 
required an inquity. "Upon notice or receipt of such a resolution or directive, [IHS management officials shall] take 
action to establish a fact-finding team to asce1tain all relevant facts. The findings of this team will be reported to 
IHS management within 30 days." Section 3 (c), INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE CIRCULAR NO. 95-17, TRIBAL 
RESOLUTIONS EXCLUDING INDIAN HEAL TH SERVICE EMPLOYEES FROM RESERVATIONS WHERE 
ASSIGNED, October 17, 1995. 
101 ICS interview of Charles Lewis, fonner Deputy Area Director, Billings Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
102 Id. 
103 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billmgs, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. 
104 ICS interview of Charles Lewis, fonner Deputy Area Director, Billmgs Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
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the time they were made (1994-1995). 105 

Jeanotte did not recall having a meeting with 
Dr. Rottenbiller to address issues and 
allegations involving Weber and continued 
to asse1t absolute ignorance of the 
allegations; the infonnation "never got to 
me." Jeanotte insisted that he was "ve1y 
sensitive to any allegations" alleging sexual 
misconduct. 106 Lewis also disclaimed any 
knowledge of the allegations against Weber 
and was adamant that any allegations 
regarding pedophilia should have been 
immediately reported to the area office. 107 

fu addition to categorically denying any 
knowledge of the allegations against Weber, 
Jeanotte had no recollection of having any 
involvement with his transfer to Pine 
Ridge. 108 Dr. Rottenbiller, on the other hand, 
told ICS that he also thought that Jeanotte 
would have "greased the skids" on any 
transfer of Weber to the Pine Rid 

in Rapid City, worked at Pine Ridge for 22 
years between 1989 and 2012, and told ICS 
that during that time, circa 1995, it was 
common for a medical provider (physician) 
to personally call either the Service Unit 
Director or the Clinical Director directly and 
lobby for their transfer. 110 Either of those 
senior managers could have "easily 
streamlined" Weber's transfer to Pine Ridge. 

As Dr. Rottenbiller told Frontline "I guess 
the better response would be launch an 
investigation, and yet the IHS response is, 
typically, to sweep it under the rug or to, 
you know, pass it along to another 
place".11 1 During his interview with ICS, 
Rottenbiller snuggled to articulate how 
allegations such as those made against 
Weber should have been repo1ted --"[w]here 
do you refer him to, Tribal cops? The FBI? 
Maybe the CEO or the Medical Review 
Committee?" 112 

By the end of 1994, Weber had already 
decided to move on. He had announced in 
December that he had applied for and 
accepted another position, and that he was 
leaving the Blackfeet IHS Service Unit. 
Weber had not yet been tl'ansfeITed when 
Rottenbiller returned to Browning and 
summoned Weber to his office. Rottenbiller 
told Weber "I've been told you need to 
leave." During this meeting, Weber admitted 
that the boy referenced by Jeanotte had 
indeed spent the night at his house but 
maintained that the boy had been abandoned 
and that he had nowhere else to go. Weber 
told Dr. Rottenbiller that he had received 
threats of physical haim and that he had 
aheady decided to leave Browning. 113 

Rottenbiller recalled that Weber packed up 
and left Browning the day after their 
meeting. 

105 Telephonic discussion with Duane Jeanotte, former Area Director, Billings Area Office, September 2019. 
106 Id. 
107 ICS interview of Charles Lewis, fonner Deputy Area Director, Billings Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
108 Telephonic discussion with Duane Jeanotte, former Area Director, Billings Area Office, September 2019 
109 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. 
110 ICS interview o Rapid City, South Dakota, October 
23, 2019. 
111 Frontline Inte1view of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, aired Febmary 12, 2019. 
112 ICS inte1v iew of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. 
113 Frontline Inte1view of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, aired Febmary 12, 2019. Rottenbiller did not recall, when 
interviewed, that Weber had expressed that intention the previous December. ICS interview of Dr. Randy 
Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, September 2019. 
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ill May of 1995 Weber was fo1mally 
transferred to Pine Ridge. 114 

South Dakota 

Weber began his se1v ice as a pediatrician at 
the Pine Ridge Hospital, se1v ing the Oglala 
Sioux tribal members of the Pine Ridge 
Rese1vation, on June 10, 1995. 115 

~ e Unit Chief of Pediatrics 
- recorded on the 
"Recommendations" page of Weber's 
transfer that Weber "comes highly 
recommended" from Browning. ill fairness 
torffl'lfiJII however Weber 's references 
fr~ ckfeet Se;v ice Unit included no 
one who would speak unfavorably of 
Weber. 

ill August 1995, there was a complaint made 
by a parent against Weber for giving an 
adolescent male patient "too thorough of an 
examination." It was alleged that Weber 
examined the patient 's genitals although her 
son was at the doctor 's office in connection 

'th t f ld / fl 116 The -II I 

showed 
(b) (6) cuments 
related to "patient issues" involving Weber 
during his tenure at the Blackfeet 
Hospital. After reviewing these written 
~ s and discussing the situation further, 
11111 and- agreed that the complaint 
should be refen ed to law enforcement for a 
criminal sexual assault investigation. II 
- refened the matter to the Federal 
Bureau of illVestigation (FBI). ICS 
consultants were not provided, and could not 
locate, any documents or extant records 
collected by Dr. Dixon and refen ed to by --As referenced earlier, when Dr. Foster 
learned that Weber had transfen ed, he called 
Pine Ridge several times to waim them 
about Weber. 117 

Each time he called, Foster identified 
himself and asked to speak with the Se1vice 
Unit Director. Dr. Foster told ICS that he 
spoke with the Deputy CEO on at least two 
occasions, although he could not recall her 
nam e. The Deputy CEO at the time, who 

114 Official Personnel File (OPF), Personnel Order Number 5139.015, dated May 19, 1995. The exact date of 
Weber's departure is unclear. It was not unusual for IHS employees to leave their cw1·ent post of duty and go to the 
Area office until their reassignment becomes final. It is not uncommon, at any given time, for several IHS 
employees to be temporarily detailed to the area office awaiting a time to post to a new duty station. ICS interview 
of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Communi Hospital, Billings, Montana, September 10, 2019. 
115 Id. Pine Ridge Service Unit Chief of Pediatrics recorded on the "Recommendations" page of 
Weber's transfer that Weber "comes hi ly recommen e " ·om Browning. OPF, Recommendations and Approvals, 
June 15, 1995. In faimess to • however, Weber' s references from the Blackfeet Service Unit included no 
one who would not speak of We er avorably. Although a competent and reliable background inquity would have 
included contact with colleagues not cited by the applicant who may or may not have "highly recommended" 
Weber. 
116 ICS interview of , Rapid City, South Dakota, October (b) (6) 
23, 2019. 
117 ICS interview of Dr. Daniel Foster, fonner IHS psychologist at the Browning Community Hospital in Browning, 
Harlem, Montana, November 5, 2019. 
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have had supeivispionsibility with 
regard to Weber. • • was contacted by 
ICS and declined t e company's request for 
an interview. Among other is[-S 
sought to detennine whether • • was 
the somce of the infonnation from 
Browning that rffl'l'ffllll reviewed before 
the case was g~ FBI. 

According to [tiJJM Weber was placed 
on non-duty status for a brief period but was 
soon reinstated because the allegation could 
not be substantiated. 118 Weber's OPF 
makes no reference to his being placed on 
non-duty status in 1995. The FBI 
interviewed the alleged victim who either 
failed to confmn the accusation or changed 
details of the initial allegation. The case was 
presented to the U.S. Attorney's Office for a 
prosecutorial decision and the case was 
declined. 119 

While the matter was under investigation, 
rffl'l'ffllll was confronted by Weber - who 
~nied the allegation - and was also 
confronted by other doctors, one of which 
told- that "you don't know that he did 
any of this" and thattmJD should "just 
leave him alone." Relationships were 
strnined after the incident. 120 Pine Ridge IHS 

118 ICS interview o 
23, 2019. See also Po 
119ICS interview o 
Dakota, October 1, 2019. 
recollection on what he was to 
120 ICS interview o 
23, 2019. 

(b) (6) was also 
warned, within 3 months of her atTival in 
2005, to stay quiet about Weber -- "Shut­
up." "Don't gossip." "It's none of your 
business". 121 

(b) (6) 

At Pine Ridge, Weber initiated the kinds of 
preferences and practice innovations that 
had led first to accolades and then to 
concerns in Browning. [QJJq wrote on 
May 22, 1997, that: 

"Dr. Weber has infused a new 
energy into the pediatric department 
[with} good ideas on how to improve 
the delive1y of care in the outpatient 
clinic and the rapport [with J co­
workers to slowly get things 
implemented. He likes working with 
adolescent and older p ediatric 
patients which adds a new, much 
needed, dimension to our 
department. Adolescents have 
received no consistent care until 
now. His supports and efforts in 
implementing the ex.tended hours 
clinic has improved our ability to 
provide care to a greater number of 
patients [with} more efficiency and 
has been well received by the 
community. (Many others' efforts 
were involved as well). "122 

, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 

, Rapid City, South 
1999 and bases his 

original FBI file . 
apid City, South Dakota, October 

121 ICS interview o at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, September 30, 2019. (b) (6) 
122 IHS Pine Ridoe Service Unit Credentialing file, IHS Medical Staff Professional Reference Checklist, signed by 
(b) (6) dated May 26, 1996 (ICS emphasis added) . Credentialing is required for HHS facilities and 
facilities who benefit from federal programs, such as Medicare or Medicaid, by 42 CFR § 482.22. "The medical staff 
must examine the credentials of all eligible candidates for medical staff membership and make recommendations to 
the goveming body on the appointment of these candidates in accordance with State law, including scope-of­
practice laws, and the medical staff bylaws, rules, and regulations. A candidate who has been recommended by the 
medical staff and who has been appointed by the goveming body is subject to all medical staff bylaws, rules, and 
regulations, in addition to the requirements contained in this section." 42 CFR § 482.22(a)(2) . 
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Another pattern that re-emerged at Pine 
Ridge, that had generated suspicions at 
Browning, was Weber's penchant for hiring 
boys - lots of boys - to work in the garden at 
his house. 

Weber's Pine Ridge colleagues took notice 
of the unusually high trnffic of adolescent 
fudian boys at Weber 's new quaiiers on Pine 
Ridge. His neighbor from across the street, 
fo1mer IHS nurse Kelly Brewer, told 
Frontline that there were always boys over 
at Weber 's house working in his garden. 
"He hired kids to work in it all the time and 
they were always young Native American 
boys ... lOish to 12ish years in age." 123 

Years later, in May 2016, Weber told law 
enforcement that he hired boys to work at 
his home in Pine Ridge, but denied that any 
ever stayed the night and alleged that they 
rarely entered the house. 124 However, 
another neighbor, IHS nurse Jacklyn Miller, 
testified that the aITival of young boys to 
Weber 's house was "frequent" and typically 

ranged from daytime into the night and often 
throughout the night into the late evening 
hours. She recalled often seeing young boys 
going into and out of Weber's house after 
~ 125 Another neighbor,W>IIJ 
- told ICS that she and ~ sband 
called security over 200 times between 2006 
and 2016. Boys came to Weber's house "at 
all hours of the day and night" and would 
come sober and several hours later be 
totally inebriated, causing vandalism and 
burglary. 126 Miller also called hospital 
security -- "Couldn't tell you how many 
times; it was a lot" -- to repo1i a lot of cars 
being parked at Weber 's house. Weber 
"confronted her" (Miller) one time about her 
calling security on him and she told him that 
she called security because it was a safety 
issue around the neighborhood; some of the 
boys he had at his house were "known to 
break into cars." 127 

Others in Weber 's housing cul-de-sac also 
recalled the traffic of young boys to Weber 's 
house. 128 Weber's neighbors also included 
his supervisors, CEO William Pourier and 
CEO Wehnona Stabler, who would have 
been witness to the same activity. 129 

Medical Suppo1i Assistant (b) (6) 
was raised in Pine Ridge and recalled going 
to Weber 's house for "pa1iying" money. 130 

She and two boys with whom she socialized 
~ proximately 15-17 years old. 
lll&VIJ recalled that she always waited in 
the car when one of the two boys - never 

(b) (6) 123 Frontline interview of Kelly Brewer, aired Febrnary 12, 2019. See also, ICS interview o 
former IHS credentialing specialist at Pine Ridge Hospital, Sheridan, Wyoming, August 1, 2019. 
124 Weber, CR 17-50033, Dk. No. 50, pp. 10-12, 35 . 
125 Weber, CR 17-50033, Trial testimony of Jacklyn Miller, IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, September 25, 2019. From 
notes ofICS consultant. 
126 ICS interview o~ IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, September 30, 2019. 
127 ICS interview of Jac~nurse at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 19, 2019. 
128 See, ICS interview ot~ Registered Nurse at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, November 12. 2019. 
129 ICS interview o 
130 ICS interview o 

(b) (6) 
(b) (b) 

South Dakota, November 27, 2019. 

irector of Security at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, October 24, 2019. 
former Medical Suppo1t Assistant at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Rapid City, 
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both at the same time -- went into Weber's 
house to get the "pa1ty money." Each time 
the boy would be in the house for 20-25 
minutes. This always occmTed late at night, 
~ between 11 p.m. and midnight. 
BV1J told ICS that she remembered the 
incidents so clearly because she used to 
"tease [] about abuse and getting money 
from Dr. Weber." 131 

As in Browning, Weber's pediatric focus on 
prepubescent and adolescent males 
~umors and speculation . ..,[tiJ_l_""m-~ 
- began her career with IHS at 
the Pine Ridge Hospital in 1997 as a 

(b) (6) receptionist. According to "[i]t 
was the first thing I heard from the 
nurses - keep track of how long he 
[Weber] is in the room with a boy 
patient."132 told ICS that 
when she first started working at the Pine 
Ridge Service Unit, nurses would say to her, 
"there goes Dr. Weber admitting another 
boy; you will s-t watch, he admits 
boys only." 133 • • said when she worked 
directly with Weber, she would not leave 
patients alone with him because of "all the 
1umors swirling around" about him. 
"[E]verybody knew about the suspicions" 
regarding Weber. 134 

Fo1mer IHS nurse Evelyn (Eve) Weston 
testified in the South Dakota trial that Weber 
prefeITed to see boys whose ages ranged 
from 8 years of age to mid-teenagers 
although he would occasionally see older 

13! Id. Brackets indicate names not disclosed. 

teenage boys.135 Weston had been a nurse 
for eight years of Weber's tenure at Pine 
Ridge, and had served as Team Lead for the 
nurses in the Pediatrics Department, where 
she screened patients and oversaw the 
nursing staff. According to Weston, young 
boys would come into the hospital 
specifically to visit with Weber "all the time 
- on a daily basis". Young unaccompanied 
boys who did not have a medical 
appointment would come to the hospital 
"asking for Patrick". 136 Nurse Weston 
witnessed Weber giving cash to at least one 
boy "on a daily basis."137 

tmJa herself a pediatrician, told /CS the 

protocol dictates that a doctor should never see a 

patient under 18 years of age without a parent or 

a chaperone - and the nursing staff attempted to 

curtail Weber's behavior by reminding him that 

he needed a chaperone when seeing his patients 

- but Weber routinely violated this policy. 

!CS Interview o~ , Clinical Director of Sioux San 
Hospital, Rapid City, South, Dakota, October 23, 2019 

Fo1mer Medical Suppo1t Assistant (MSA) 
recalled an instance when she 

andherWJQ 
to the Pediatric (PEDS) Clinic 

at t e Pme Ridge Hospital. The PEDS MSA 
asked[QJUif she had a doctor preference 
for her son to see and-replied "not 
Dr. Weber." 138 Her son was then scheduled 

132 ICS interview o at Pine Ridge Hospital, Sheridan, (b) (6) 
Wyoming, August 1, 2019. 
133 ICS interview o~WJIGJI at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 19, 2019 . 
134 Id. 
135 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of Eve Weston, fonner IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, September 25, 2019. 
From notes of ICS consultant. 
136 ICS interview of (mIUJI at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, September 30, 2019. 
137 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of Eve Weston, former IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, September 25, 2019. 
From notes of ICS consultant. 
138 ICS interview 01@@:JJGlllli at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 15, 
2019. 
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to see a Physician's Assistant (PA). While 
- was waiting with her son, her son 
was paged to the front window where she 
heard Nurse talking to Weber. 
Weber had pulled son's medical 
cha1i and he wante to ow iwr boy 
was seeing a PA and not him. • • pulled 
the chart away from Weber and said the boy 
was seeing the PA. Weber tried again to pull 
the chaii away fi~ so he could see 
[tiJIUJ] son, but~ not give it to 
him. 

- told ICS that ,. had my back 
that day." 139 

Weber would often come to the hospital in 
the evenings (7 p.m. and after) to visit the 
rooms of the young male patients even 
though he was not the on-call doctor when 
he made these visits.140 No other doctors 
made nighttime visits, but Weber did it so 
regulai·ly that nurses came to expect him to 
show up. He visited the patients in their 
rooms alone and after the clinic was 
closed. 141

- recalled a paiiicular 
instance when, according to a nurse, Weber 
made one of his evening visits to see a 
~ in his hospital room. The nurse told 
- that she had gone to check on the 
patient because "she knew the mmors about 
Dr. Weber" .142 When the nurse entered the 
patient's room, Weber was sitting at the foot 
of the bed and the patient, a young male 
about 14 or 15, was c1y ing. When the nurse 

139 Id. 
(b) (6) 140 ICS interview o 

November 12, 2019. 
141 Id. 
142 ICS interview o (b) (6) 
2019. 
143 Id. 

entered the room, Weber "quickly" stood up 
from the bed and left the room. The nurse 
told- that she asked the bot. was 
wrong, but he refused to tell her. • • was 
not sure if the nurse repo1ied to the nursing 
supervisor what she saw. 143 ICS recognizes 
that this anecdote is a third hand rendering 
of events and is therefore more susceptible 
to inaccuracy. The information is valuable 
regai·dless of accuracy, however, because it 
reflects Weber 's reputation amongst the 
nurses at Pine Ridge -- a reputation that 
should have, and may have, gain ered greater 
management attention if it had been 
translated into a series of prompt, consistent 
and fonnal complaints. 

This incident, or others akin to it- was 
widely discussed at Pine Ridge. 
- recalled speaking with a nurse on the 
Acute Cai·e wing who told her she found 
Weber in a patient's bed playing video 
games on the game console. The nurse filed 
a complaint against Weber for the incident, 
but no action was taken against Weber. 144 

(b) (6) also recalled the "mmor" 
that Weber had been discovered in the 
hospital bed of one of his patients on the 
Acute Cai·e ward. She understood that a 
nurse had discovered and repo1ied this, but 
there was no action t~ 
Weber.145 IHS nurse­
also recalled this or a similai· incident. 

Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 

, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 15, 

144ICS interview o~ , Acting Chief of Pediatrics at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, November 25, 2019. 
145 ICS interview o , Rapid City, South Dakota, October 
23, 2019. 
146 ICS interview o , November 15, (b) (6) 
2019. All these witnesses were interviewed independently and therefore recounted the episode without knowing that 
others had disclosed the same episode. 
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It is important to note that the suspicions about 

Weber, with the possible exception of the 

August 1995 accusation, were not generated by 

actual victim disclosures - but by the 

deductions of adults - making verification of 

abuse extremely difficult without a rigorous 

investigation. 

Even though several nurses and other 
providers were aware of the rumors or 
complained directly, there was no action 
taken to document or act upon this 
information. This inaction would later be 
used as an affirmation that accusations 
against Weber were unfounded.147 During 
his tenure at Pine Ridge, Weber was 
repeatedly suspected of misconduct, but 
his victims did not disclose or confirm the 
abuse, so he continued to practice 
medicine. 

According to expe1is, a major problem with 
relying on children's statements in forensic 
investigations is that many sexually abused 
children remain silent about abuse; they may 
deny that abuse ever occmTed, or they may 
produce a series of disclosures of abuse 
followed by recantations of these 
disclosures. 148 

Weber's effo1is to ingratiate himself with 
young boys manifested itself in numerous 
ways, in addition to cash payments. Miller 
testified that Weber routinely delivered a 
pushcaii into the hospital room of adolescent 
male patients who had been admitted to the 
hospital. The pushcaii contained a TV set 
and a game console, like a PS-3 or X-Box 
console, for the boys to play gaines on. 
Weber never delivered the game console 
cali to any patients who were young girls. 149 

Once, Miller asked Weber if the pushcaii 
could be delivered to one of the young 
female patient's room, but Weber refused 
the request claiming the gaine console was 
broken. The next day, Weber admitted a 
male patient and he brought the gaine 
console to the patient in his room. 150 

One of Weber's colleagues, Dr. Mark 
Butterbrodt, had aiTived at Pine Ridge in 
1999 or 2000. 151 Weber's abuse of teenage 
male patients did not become elem· to 
Butterbrodt for several yeai·s after his 
anival. His early years as Weber's colleague 
were generally collegial and he thought well 
of Weber's perfonnance as a doctor. By 
2006 that had changed. Dr. Butterbrodt 
brought the suspicions of Weber 's 
molestation directly to Dr. Ro1y SUlllllers, 
then the Clinical Director. Butterbrodt 
observed Weber going through patient 
cha1is "cheny-picking the cute teenage 

147 "Apparently, the accusing officer is still up to no good and even though there have been no patient complaints or 
any other complaints for that matter (nursing staff), the accusing officer is pushing this issue." Keats email to 
Bi.mey and McShen-y dated June 11 , 2009. 
148 In 1983, Dr. Roland Summit, a psychiatrist, published a fonnal description of how sexually abused children 
disclose abuse. The pwpose of this model, tenned child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome (CSAAS), was to 
outline for clinicians why child victims of abuse may be reluctant to disclose abuse. Summit's model included five 
components: (a) secrecy; (b) helplessness; (c) entrapment and accommodation; (d) delayed, conflicted, and 
unconvincing disclosmes; and (e) retraction of disclosme. Summit argued that "children who have been sexually 
abused may respond with self-blame and self-doubt. They may fear the pe1petrator and the possible consequences of 
disclosme." DISCLOSURE OF CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE, Psychology, Public Policy, and Law 2005, Vol. 11 , No. 
1, p. 195. See also Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk. No. 127. Testimony of'III., September 4, 2018, pp. 39-41. 
149 Weber, CR 17-50033, Trial testimony of Jacklyn Miller, September 25, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
150 ICS interview of Jacklyn Miller, IHS nmse at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 19, 2019. 
151 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
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boys".152 "He didn't like seeing babies. He 
didn't like seeing toddlers. He didn't like 
seeing girls. Didn't like seeing teenage 
girls." Dr. Butterbrodt told Frontline that "I 
couldn't get anybody on the medical staff to 
listen to me."153 

First Butterbrodt Complaint 
August 2006 

On August 20, 2006, Dr. Butterbrodt sent an 
email, titled "Regarding School Clinics," to 
Dr. Sumners, with a copy to CEO Bill 
Pourier. 154 At the end of the email, most of 
which had nothing to do with Weber, Dr. 
Butterbrodt wrote, 

"Now I have one request to make of 
you, and that is to familiarize 
yourself with the reasons Dr. Patrick 
Weber is out of step with the 
American Academy of Pediatrics, the 
Indian Health Service, the CDC and 
NIH, and most importantly our own 
Pine Ridge families and school 
clinics in a high risk population 
(arguably the highest risk in the 
United States). I'd like you to 
familiarize yourself with why he left 
Montana and why, for 10 years, he 
has cast a negative eye on virtually 
every community-based health 
initiative people have tried to get 
going on the Pine Ridge reservation. 
Kelly Moore, the senior pediatrician 
in Indian Health might be the person 
to begin with, although she was not 
the Chief Medical Officer in the 

Billings Area at the time Patrick left, 
that being before her time." 155 

There is no indication from the records 
provided ICS that Dr. Butterbrodt's 
superiors took any action at that time to 
address the physician's concerns about 
Weber 's practice except, at some point, to 
search a database for a histo1y of adverse 
professional findings. 156 

As had happened in Browning, Weber 's 
sexual abuse of Indian boys led to him being 
attacked and beaten on November 13, 2006. 
This was the second time Weber was 
victiinized by one of his victims. - or ill had robbed him of his wallet on 
Januaiy 15, 2005 and fled, only to be 
aiTested later by Tribal Police. 157 

A tribal member, Herny Red Cloud, knew of 
several boys that would get money from 
Weber. 158 Red Cloud told Frontline that he 
and two friends, including- assaulted 
and robbed Weber at Weber 's home. 
According to Red Cloud, ill told his two 
friends that Weber was a child molester. The 
third assailant was another Weber victim, 

II although at the time,_ and 
had not disclosed to each other what 
had done to them. 159 Hospital 

security records reflect that Weber called 
security at 11 :34 p.m. and that security 
aiTived at his house two minutes later. 
Weber told the security officer that three 
young men pounded on his door and when 
he opened it, they mshed in, knocking him 
to the floor, hitting him while demanding 

152 Frontline interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. 
153 Id. 
154 Butterbrodt email to Sumners and Pourier, dated August 20, 2006. 
155 Id. 
156 Butterbrodt complaint to South Dakota Board of Medical Examiners, dated December 2, 2008. 
151 Frontline interview (telephonic) oftilm aired Febrna1y 12, 2019. Also, Frontline interview of Dan Hudspeth, 
former Oglala Sioux Tribe police officer, aired Febrnaiy 12, 2019. 
158 Frontline interview of Herny Red Cloud, aired Febrnaiy 12, 2019. 
159 Trial testimony oflll andmmJ September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
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money. Weber said he gave them $80 and 
they left. 

Weber was treated at the Pine Ridge hospital 
Emergency Room for significant injmies 
received as a result of the beating. Hospital 
security called Pourier. Pourier confronted 
Weber at the emergency room and asked 
him what happened to him. Weber would 
not respond. 160 Dr. Butterbrodt told res 
that he spoke with Pourier the day after 
Weber was assaulted. Pomier told 
Butterbrodt - "yeah, it was probably one of 
his boyfriends." 161 According to Pourier, he 
relayed the incident to his Regional 
Supervisor~ happened. Director 
of SecuritylVl&walll was told that 
Weber 's physical assault was an "isolated 
incident" and that no increased security 
measures were needed. Pourier did not 
consider the issue a "public risk."­
advised res that rnmors began to circulate 
that Weber was a pedophile and that he had 
been physically assaulted b one or more of 
his teenage victims. 162 boss at the 
time, Director of Security 
told him to "stay away from Weber". 
Pourier took no fmt her action for fear he 
would be suspended or fired - "They can do 
what they want with you."163 

D\VI/A\VOL 
FebntaJJ' 2008 

On Febrnaiy 26, 2008, Weber was aiTested 
and temporai·ily incarcerated in Rapid City, 
SD for driving while intoxicated (DWI). 164 

The incai·ceration prompted an 
administrative disciplinaiy charge of Absent 
With Out Leave (AWOL), which was 
required, but not applied due to intentional 
inaction on the pali of Weber's supe1v isors. 

On Febrnaiy 28, 2008, Dr. Sumners sent an 
email to Ronald Keats, the Commissioned 
Corps Liaison for the Great Plains Area in 
Aberdeen, writing in pa.it "Patrick Weber, 
MD, was cited for a DUI offense on the 
evening of 212612008, while driving towards 
Rapid City, SD, on the way back from the 
Rapid City Regional Ailport following a 
vacation on his own time. He stated that his 
breathalyzer showed a 0.2 and that a blood 
test is pending. He came to my office around 
noon yesterday, 2127/08, to tell me this ... 
have spoke [sic] with Bill Pourier about it, 
and he recommend I make sure you were 
notified." 165 

On March 2, 2008, Weber sent an email to 
Keats, with a copy to Dr. Sumners, wherein 
he wrote " ... When I got to Rapid City I 
started driving to the hotel I was to stay at 
for the night. I had the following day off and 

160 Frontline interview of William Pourier, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. 
161 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 

(b) (6) 162 ICS interview o~ , Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
October 24, 2019. 
163 Frontline interview of William Pourier, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. It is unclear from the information available to 
ICS what exactly Pourier told his superiors about the incident or whether he indicated that it was at all related to 
Weber's relationships with young Indian males. No extant written or electronic communications (relating to the 
assault of Weber in November 2006) were provided or discovered during this inquity. His actions in 2009-2010 
suggest that Pourier was never rigorous in addressing concems that suggested that Weber was molesting his patients. 
His comments during the Frontline interview may have been cast in the best possible light with the benefit of 
hindsight. 
164 Official Personnel File (OPF), Credentialing docs. dated April 29, 2009. See also emails below wherein Weber 
describes the events leading up to his an-est and incarceration on the drunk driving charge. 
165 Sumners email to Keats dated Febmary 28, 2008. 
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was then going to return to Pine Ridge in 
the morning. After getting into town I was 
pulled over and a police officer asked to see 
my registration, as my auto tags had 
expired. After looking at them he asked me 
to get out of the car and did some sobriety 
tests on me. He said he was going to charge 
me with DWI and took me to the jail, where 
I was booked .. . " 

ill pleading his case Weber pointed to the 
fact that "as for my ability to work with 
peers and patients, I think my record here 
speaks for itself. I have been elected Chief of 
Sta.ff three times ... " 166 ICS noted that one 
year later an ad hoc committee, made up of 
his colleagues at Pine Ridge, would be 
assembled to investigate misconduct 
allegations against Weber. The same staff 
had elected him Chief of Staff three times. 

On March 14, 2008, Keats sent a 
memorandum to Sumners regarding 
Weber 's Febrnaiy 26 DWI. The 
memorandum recommended that Weber "be 
either formally counseled regarding his 
actions or given a Letter of Reproval to be 
maintained in his local Service Unit for up 
to 2 years."167 Sumners signed the 
memorandum approving Fo1mal Counseling 
as the appropriate discipline. Sumners also 
initialed the memorandum to reflect that a 
Letter of Reproval should not be entered. 

During this period, Commissioned Corps 
headquaiiers insisted that Weber be charged 
with, and disciplined for, being AWOL. 
Keats insisted that the service unit did not 
want to cite Weber for AWOL or punish 
him further for the DUI aITest. 
Commissioned Co1ps headquaiiers 
continued to press the AWOL issue. 

166 Id. 

On April 30, 2008, Captain David Birney, a 
PHS personnel officer, sent an email to 
Keats and Paul McSheny, the Deputy 
Director of the Division of Commissioned 
Personnel Suppo1i (DCPS), saying, "We 
have not issued an AWOL order/or CAPT 
Weber. The dates are not 100% clear. Can 
you shed some light?" to which Keats 
replied "CAPT Weber was not put in for an 
A WOL and an AWOL should not be 
submitted (I believe). 168 Keats argued that 
Weber had not been AWOL because he did 
not go to jail. 

On the following day, May 1, 2008, Birney 
continued the email conversation. "Are you 
sure? I have a copy of a statement by CAPT 
Weber that says in part ' ... I posted bail and 
got out of jail"' to which Keats replied "You 
are correct about the statement below, but 
the arrest and release happened on the same 
day when the officer was traveling home, 
and the officer reported for duty on time the 
next day. I discussed this with his 
supervisor and there was no AWOL 
requested." 169 

Based on the records available, the 
discussion of the mandato1y AWOL citation 
was not continued after May 1, 2008. Later 
conversations reflect that Keats was told that 
the AWOL was not discretionaiy and must 
be imposed. Keats stalled until the matter 
went away, only to be resunected in March 
2009. 

ill a March 12, 2009 email, Keats admitted 
to Birney and McSheny that "I guess you 
are correct then, this is the same officer, but 
the Service Unit wanted to handle the 
previous issue (the AWOL) local~y because 
of his excellent history as both an employee 

167 Keats memo to Sumners, dated March 14, 2008. This is a long memorandum that outlines Weber' s service 
history at IHS and lists mitigating factors. 
168Bimey email to Keats and McSheny dated April 30, 2008, and response. ICS emphasis added. 
169 Id., email string continued May 1, 2008. 
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and officer. I am sending the PHS 1662 
through Mary Muir this morning." 170 

Birney advised Keats that "[t}he policy does 
not allow for the service unit to handle the 
situation (the AWOL) locally." 

Keats then sent an email to Maiy Muir, then 
a Militaiy Human Resources Specialist with 
the Division of Commissioned Personnel 
Suppo1t, attaching the PHS-1662 for Weber 
and writing that "CAPT Weber was arrested 
for a DUI on February 26, 2008 and by 
policy (CAPT Birney) must be placed on 
AWOL status for his incarceration. The 
effective date of his AWOL will be 
02/26/2008." 171 Keats fo1warded this email 
to Birney 

Birney responded that "[a}n AWOL request 
is usually in memo format requesting the 
OCCO Director to place an officer on 
AWOL for a reason - in this case it might be 
incarceration due to a DUI arrest. The 
AWOL request should include any 
appropriate documentation so that the 
Director can assess the validity of the 
request." 172 Keats replied "Jeesh you 're 
picky" and "Ok, the memo may take me a 
little bit longer as I mentioned the Service 
Unit did not want to punish the officer at 
that time. I will write a memo and have the 
Area Director sign it and then forward it to 
you." 113 

The AWOL disciplinaiy action languished 
without resolution for another three months. 

On June 11, 2009, Keats sent an email to 
Birney, copying McSheny, saying "[t}hank 
youfor the opportunity to ask you a question 
pertaining to CAPT S. Patrick Weber and 
his AWOL issue from 2008. The /HS Pine 

Ridge Service Unit and the Aberdeen Area 
Office requested that no A WOL be charged 
concerning this officer subsequent to the 
DUI issue in 2008 based on past 
performance, mitigating circumstances and 
because no time was lost to the service unit. 
To date, there has not been a response from 
OCCO concerning whether this issue is 
closed or still under review. "174 

On August 21, 2009, Keats sent an email to 
Birney, copying McShen y, wherein Keats 
relates that " .. .I learned that the Special 
Pays are being held due to an adverse 
action pending in the officers file. I am 
assuming this is the AWOL situation from 
the DUI last year. In the past, I believe I 
sent you /HS support requesting that the 
A WOL be dismissed due to mitigating 
circumstances, but there has been no 
correspondence concerning this request and 
an A WOL p ersonnel order has not been 
processed." 175 

Apparently defeated by Keats' total 
resistance over the previous 21 months to 
properly disciplining Weber for the AWOL, 
Birney smTendered on November 9, 2009. fu 
an email to Keats, Birney wrote, in part, that 
" .. .[t}echnically speaking and (sic) AWOL 
order remains in an officer's OP F for their 
entire career as do all orders. However, 
based on an incident that occurred in the 
IHS regarding the promotion of an officer 
who just came off AWOL, it was decided by 
RADM Furman that AWOL would be treated 
as misconduct for all administrative issues 
for a period of 1 year after the AWOL order 
was issues (sic) (as well as for the time 
period of AWOL) . Given that the officer has 
not been issued AWOL orders (for a number 

17° First Keats email to Birney and McSheny dated March 12, 2009. 
171 Keats email to Muir dated March 12, 2009. 
172 Birney email to Keats dated March 12, 2009. 
173 Keats email to Bimey dated March 12, 2009. ICS emphasis added. 
174 Keats email to Bimey, dated June 11, 2009. ICS emphasis added. 
175 Keats email to Bimey and McSheny, dated August 21 , 2009. ICS emphasis added. 
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of reasons) and the incident occurred about 
1.5 years ago - it would not be reasonable 
to hold in limbo for a year if the AWOL 
order are issued - the decision (sic) to issue 
are for the Director, OCCO. " 176 

Weber had escaped the consequences of 
being AWOL thanks to the unrelenting 
support of the Commissioned Co1ps Liaison. 
After the extensive campaign over the DWI 
and AWOL issue, no adverse personnel 
action was taken on the AWOL. Only the 
most minimal action of verbal counseling 
was taken on the DWI. The extensive delay 
and calculated evasion successfully 
shielded Weber from any substantial 
professional consequence for the AWOL 
violation. 

An Anonymous Fo1mer IHS Employee 
(AFE) concluded that the DWI/AWOL 
incident involving Weber was mishandled at 
all levels within the Commissioned Co1ps, 
staii ing with Keats and then all the way up 
to Commissioned Co1ps Liaison at 
Commissioned Co1ps Headquaiiers.177 AFE 
noted that it was ultimately CEO Pourier 's 
decision not to give Weber any discipline 
regai·ding the AWOL, but that policy 
required that Keats draft a memo 
recommending discipline which would go to 
the Service Unit CEO and to the Great 
Plains Area (Aberdeen) Area Director and 
finally to McSheny , the Commissioned 
Co1ps Headqua1iers Liaison. 178 

(b) (6) (b) (6) 

I I I 

Reprimand for the DWI he received because 

176 Birney email to Keats, dated November 9, 2009. 

he was AWOL, 179 but the Commissioned 
Co1ps Liaison cannot take action against the 
officer without the supervisor 's - in this 
case CEO Pourier 's -- concmTence. The 
unusual supervision stm cture that exists in 
the IHS between the Commissioned Co1ps 
and the agency leads some physicians to 
consider their "boss" to be the PHSCC and 
not the IHS, thereby creating, if not a 
divided loyalty, at least unce1iainty about to 
whom they answer. 180 

It appears that the Weber AWOL issue was 

allowed to expire through a course of intentional 

delay and inaction, not through any sort of 

affirmative decision to close the matter with a 

suitable resolution. This was a consistent 

pattern throughout Weber's career- for 25 

years he benefited from management's 

willingness to ignore problems rather than 

address them. 
This issue is discussed extensively under Leadership Failures in Part II 

Analysis and Conclusions. 

South Dakota Board of ~ledical 
and Osteopathic Examiners 

December 2008 

Between 2006 and 2008, Dr. Butterbrodt's 
feai·s about Weber were not addressed, nor 
did it appeai· that IHS management had any 
intention to take them seriously. By late 
2008, Butterbrodt had transfened to the IHS 

177 ICS interview of Anonymous Fonner IHS Employee (APE), November 13, 2019. This witness requested 
anonymity for fear of family retaliation. 
118 Id. 
179 ICS interview o , Rapid City, South (b) (6) 
Dakota, November 27. 2019. 
180 ICS interview o , East Glacier, (b) (6) 
Montana, September 18, 2019. 
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facility in Wanblee. 181 The CEO of the 
Wanblee Se1v ice Unit, Francine Red 
Willow, told Dr. Butterbrodt about a 
psychologist who had worked with Weber 
on the Blackfeet rese1vation, Dan Foster. 
Butterbrodt called Dr. Foster and learned of 
Foster's suspicions involving Weber and 
several of his adolescent male patients in 
Montana. 

In subsequent conversations with Red 
Willow, Butterbrodt was told that it 
appeared Weber was being "protected" by 
someone in the Aberdeen 182 Area Office. 183 

Rumors about Weber at Pine Ridge persisted 

and expanded to include adolescent boys 

spending the night at Weber's government 

house. Dr. Butterbrodt understood that the 

new nurses' orientation included standard 

admonitions that Weber should not be left 

alone with male patients. 
!CS Interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, former pediatrician at Pine 

Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 2019 

On December 2, 2008, Dr. Butterbrodt 
lodged a fonnal complaint against Weber 
with the SDBMOE. 184 Butterbrodt related in 
the complaint that he had previously 
expressed his concerns to his then 
supe1visor, Dr. Sumners, and Sumners' only 

response was to check the National 
Practitioner Data Bank for fo1m al findings 
of misconduct, note no convictions, and do 
nothing fmther to investigate Butterbrodt 's 
allegations. 185 In the complaint, Butterbrodt 
asse1ted that the "MD in question was 
assaulted 11/14/06 by 3 young men, one of 
whom he 'd loaned money to earlier in the 
day. MD in question did not file criminal 
charges against the ~ tly 
investigating (agent~­
- · MD in question selectively 'cherry 
picks ' young teenage boys in clinic, there 
are questions of conduct problems in his 
previous places of employment - Browning, 
MT (app 1992-95) and Ada, OK (1986-89)." 
Dr. Butterbrodt identified persons he 
believed would have infonnation about 
Weber 's histo1y in Montana (Dr. Daniel 
- ~ahoma (Investigator_ 

On March 12, 2009, Keats emailed Birney 
and McSheny that "[t}he South Dakota 
State Medical Board has been notified and 
is doing a check of their own. They have 
notified the officer that he needs to undergo 
some Psychological Evaluation and I 
assume they are also checking on other 
issues. The office (sic) that started this 
whole thing has been directed to stop 
sending out the emails with these 
allegations. I have not heard from Pine 

181 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. The Pine Ridge Hospital serves the Lakota Indian population and is the largest in the Great Plains Area. The 
medical staff sees medical, obstetrical, pediatric, and surgical patients. The facility located in Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, includes full service general surge1y, an obstetrical ward, and dental. Kyle and Wanblee Health Centers and 
tv.•o health stations (Manderson and Lacreek ) operate within the Pine Ridge Service Unit. IHS website, 
www.ihs.gov/greatplains/healthcarefacilities/pineridge/. 
182 The Aberdeen Area Office later became the Great Plains Area Office. References throughout this repo1t are used 
interchangeably. 
183 Id. Fonner Deputy Area Director Shelly Han-is told ICS that Weber was "ve1y friendly" with the Area Director, 
Charlene Red Thunder. ICS interview of Shelly Han-is, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial 
Hospital, Belcowt, North Dakota, October 29, 2019. 
184 Butterbrodt complaint to South Dakota Board of Medical Examiners, dated December 2, 2008. 
185 Id. See also, Frontline interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, aired Febrna1y 12, 2019. "We've looked at the data 
bank. There' s no complaints on him. He's clean" . 
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Ridge of anyone in particular that is doing 
. . . . b t ·11 k" 186 an znvestzgatzon, u wz , as . 

• ti Dr. Butterbrodt submitted 
, (b) (6) -in Sioux Falls. In the 

etter Butter ro t requested that additional 
infonnation be added to his original 
complaint. He noted his concern the 
infonnation had not been provided to 
SDBMOE "by the medical staff or 
administration at Pine Ridge." Butterbrodt 
attached seven emails he had exchanged 
with CEO Pourier and Clinical Director Jan 
Colton in connection with possible 
misconduct by Weber. 

"I have learned that Dr. Patrick 
Weber is being taken off 
administrative leave and will be 
resuming his practice in Pine Ridge 
as of today. This is not exactly a 
swprise. I certainly have no ill will 
towards the SD Board. From the 
beginning I've felt this situation was 
allowed to fester because of a weak 
medical staff here at Pine Ridge. I'm 
very confident that his practice 
preference would not have been 
tolerated for a single day at a strong 
institution, say for instance Black 
Hill Pediatrics. I would like these 
emails added to the file of Dr. Weber 
if that's alright with you and the 
Board. I regret I'd inadvertently 
erased the e-mail regarding the 
number of males and females he sees 
in his practice and the statistical 
odds of that happening by chance 
(two out of a trillion) but I could get 

you that raw data and statistical 
analysis if that would be helpful. I 
am ~urious if the Board investigators 
were given that information by the 
medical staff or administration at 
Pine Ridge. Why do I have a feeling 
that they were not? I think situations 
like thi; would be less apt to happen 
in South Dakota were all Indian 
Health Service physicians active in 
the State AMA and in local medical 
societies. My pleas to my Indian 
Health Service colleagues about 
getting involved in the private 
medical community in South Dakota 
fall on deaf ears. "187 

issued two letters - one to the 
Pine Ridge Service Unit and the other to the 
"PHS Indian Hospital" in Browning -
requesting, from Pine Ridge, "infonnation 
regarding any complaints, concerns, and/or 
con ective actions, if any, (written and/or 
verbal, fo1mal and/or info1mal), regarding 
his [Weber 's] medical practice and _his 
interpersonal relationships with patients, 
patients' families, and other medical 
staff." 188 Attached to each letter was an 
Authorization for Release of Info1mation 
signed by Weber which, in the case of Pine 
Ridge, pe1mitted "the release and full 
written and verbal disclosure of any 
info1mation that PHS/IHS Pine Ridge has 
concerning my professionalism, 
competence, and fitness to practice 
medicine." 189 

186 SecondKeats email~~ 
187 Butterbrodt letter toLW&Vl.allllllllLW.lllallllllll, ?ated M~y 5, 2009. . 
t88tllm letter to Pourier Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge PHS Indian Hospital, dated June~• 2009. The letter 
to Browning was similar but more expansive, also asking for " investigations'. perfoni_i~nce evaluations, : . . any 
difficulties or concerns with his inteipersonal relationships with patients, - fam1hes, or other_ hospital _staff, and 
any other infoimation that you feel would assist us in the investigation." • • letter to PHS Indian Hospital, 
Browning, Montana, dated June 5, 2009. 
189 

Id. Attached waivers. . · . h ll tl b 
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- closes her letters by noting that 
" [t]he Board has a duty to protect the 
citizens of South Dakota by ensming that 
only qualified, safe and competent 
practitioners are licensed to practice." 

ill his June 18, 2009 response to[t;JIGI] 
letter, Pomier wrote "Dr. Butterbrodt has 
raised issues concerning Dr. Weber twice; 
once in 2006 and now in 2008-2009. ill each 
instance the concerns raised by Dr. 
Butterbrodt dealt with inappropriate 
behavior with adolescent males. An 
investigation was conducted in both 
instances. Allegations and innuendos were 
found, but no concrete evidence. We had 
placed Dr. Weber on leave dming our 
investigation and many members of the 
Oglala Sioux Tribe requested his return."190 

Pourier concluded that "Dr. Weber is an 
excellent [] clinician who is generally well­
respected by patients, their families, and his 
peers." 

ICS was unable to locate any response to 
te>Jm] letter by IHS officials at 
Browning. 191 

When Weber was interviewed in May 2016 
by the OIG, Weber admitted that part of the 
SDBMOE's investigation included a 
polygraph examination, which he 
failed.192 

Publicly available records of the SDBMOE 
reflect no action involving Weber in 2009; 
no complaint, no investigation, no 
conclusion. The only record available for 
public review references Board action taken 
in 2017. 193 According to the December 14, 
2017 Final Order of the Board, Weber was 
under investigation struting in Janmuy 2017 
and subsequently "failed to renew his South 
Dakota. medical license prior to March 1, 
2017, as required by state law." The Board 
ordered "that Dr. Weber's medical license be 
deemed 'Withdrawn under 
illVestigation' ." 194 

The South Dakota grand jmy indictment 
charging Weber with Aggravated Sexual 
Abuse had been public since Febmaiy 26, 
2017. Weber was a charged criminal 
defendant - fonnally accused of sex crimes 
against children -- for 10 months before his 
license was deemed ''withdrawn". 

There is no suggestion in Pourier's letter that he was complying with the licensing boards' request for 

detailed information, but instead it appears Pourier attempted to dissuade the licensing board from any 

further action. To that end, Pourier did not reference the August 1995 a/legation against Weber 

referred to the FBI, he did not include any of the emails or memoranda prepared by Butterbrodt, he did 

not address the November 2006 physical assault of Weber, and he makes no reference to Weber's DWI 

arrest in 2008, all of which would have been responsive to the SDBMOE request for information. 

190 Pourier letter to ttlm dated June 19, 2009. 
191 Because the SDBMOE denied an IHS request to cooperate with the ICS inquiiy, ICS did not have access to 
documents in the licensing board's files to verify if the Blackfeet Community Hospital had complied with the 
request. There were no relevant documents made available or discovered in Browning. 
192 Id., at pp. 69-70. 
193 South Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic Examiners, Prima1y Source Verification, retrieved August 16, 
2019. 
194 South Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic Examiners, Final Order, dated December 14, 2017, signed by 
Walter 0 . Carlson, MD, MBA. The South Dakota grand jmy indictment charging Weber with Aggravated Sexual 
Abuse had been public since Februa1y 26, 2017. 
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The ad hoc Investigation 
Committee 
1\f arch 2009 

fu Febrnaiy 2009, Dr. Butterbrodt sent an 
email titled "male versus female" to Dr. Jan 
Colton and copied CEOs Pomier and Red 
Willow. Colton was, at the time, the Clinical 
Director at the Pine Ridge facility. fu his 
email, Butterbrodt wrote, in pa.ii, "Look at 
the last 40 STD screens done on Dr. 
Weber 's patients. Dr Weber does STD 
screens on all teenagers regardless of the 
chief complaint. That practice is not why I 
bring this to your attention. It is the ratio of 
teenage females to males seen by Dr. Weber 
in general that is problematic. Only 6 of the 
40 patients were females. This would be 
hard to achieve statistically other than 
preferential selection of males over females 
(going to Dr. Weber) at some point in the 
OPD process." 195 

Marjorie Schmidt, a Physician's Assistant 
who initially worked at Pine Ridge from 
2007 through mid- 2011 personally 
observed that Weber prefe1Ted to treat young 
adolescent male patients. She disclosed to 
ICS that "everybody knew" that Weber 
was intentionally structuring his patient 
load to see adolescent male patients. 196 

IHS nmse confiimed (b) (6) 
that Weber ordered STD tests on all male 
~ when a test was not needed. 
LVl&W.11111111 said she felt that Weber 
ordered these tests, when he was Acting 
Clinical Director and not officially seeing 

patients, as a "disgu~ s. 197 

Fellow pediatrician- was 
awai·e that Weber perfo1med a STD 
examination on eve1y patient he saw. She 
did not think this examination was needed 
and it was not standard practice at the 
hospital. 198 Nm se Nicole Wai·d recalled that 
Weber ordered STD tests on eve1y 
adolescent male he saw for a spo1is 
physical. 199 

(b) (6) told her supervisor, Mary 
Ame1ican Horse, that she thought it odd that 
Weber would order these tests (STD) on so 
many male patients because the tests he 
ordered did not pe1iain to a STD complaint 
by the patient or a diagnosis by a 
doctor. She said that American Horse told 
her that ~eber suspects 
abuse." LVl&W.11111111 said she told 
Ame1ican Horse that "there's something not 
right" about these tests and that "not 
eve1 bod was abused." Ame1ican Horse 
told she would look into this 
issue, but to knowledge it 
went no fiuiher. While may 
have been correct that this was used as a 
"disguise" so he could keep seeing 
adolescent males when he was officially not 
doing patient care, the fact that the practice 
dated back to at least 2009 suggests that it 
also offered him the opportunity to examine 
the genitalia of young boys under the pretext 
of an STD exam. 

On Febrnaiy 27, 2009, Dr. Butterbrodt sent 
a second email to Colton, with a copy to 
Pomier and Red Willow. fu this email, 
Butterbrodt wrote that "[a} statistician 

195 First Butterbrodt email to Colton, Pourier and Red Willow, dated Febmary 27, 2009. 
196 ICS interview of Marjorie Schmidt, fonner Deputy Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Gordon, 
Nebraska, November 26, 2019. 
197 Id. ICS interview of IHS nurse at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South (b) (6) 
Dakota, November 27, 2019. 

(b) (6) 198 ICS interview of Acting Chief of Pediatrics at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, November 25, 2019. 
199 ICS interview of Nicole Ward, Assistant Director of Nursing at the Pine Ridge Se1vice Center, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, October 22, 2019. 

Disclosure of infomiation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 

38 )---------



THE WEBER REPORT 

friend ran the numbers on the probability of 
seeing as few female patients as Dr. Weber 
saw in the 90-dd patient surveyed. The odds 
are 2 out of a trillion. He (Weber) is 
specializing in adolescent boys. Because of 
his conduct at Pine Ridge, along with 
questions of conduct at Browning and Ada I 
request information from youfrom our 
medical staff bylaws regarding how to 
proceed, as a member of the medical staff, 
with a motion to suspend his clinic 
privileges. "200 

On March 2, 2009, there were a series of 
emails and replies concerning Weber. 
Butterbrodt sent an email to Colton, Pourier, 
and Dr. Frankie Delgado, Medical Director 
at the Pine Ridge IHS Hospital, regarding 
"revoking Privileges."201 Butterbrodt 
info1med his colleagues that "I'm emailing 
the list of recent encounters so you can look 
them over. It 's not enough that he (Weber) 
resign. I'm asking for a roll call vote of the 
medical staff on revoking his privileges, so 
he never comes back here again." 

In her response, which included Delgado 
and Pourier, Colton advised "[y}ou may 
request a Profession Review Action. The 
specifks of what, when and how issues are 
dealt with are clearly specified in the 
Medical Staff Bylaws, pages 20-34." 
Butterbrodt immediately replied to all with a 
request for a Professional Review Action 
and added "{i}n the meantime, what 
specifically are you going to do to address 
the fact that his practice consists 
overwhelming~y of adolescent boys and 
young men? I faxed that information to you 
today." 

To fmt her emphasize the gender disparity in 
Weber 's patient population, Butterbrodt 
advised Colton, Delgado, Pourier, and Red 
Willow that "[w J e pulled 160 of my patients 
between the ages of 14 and 22 for the last 
few weeks. 81 were females, despite the fact 
that the other two providers here are women 
and one would expect a tendency for all the 
teenage girls and young women to choose a 
female provider. "202 

Dr. Colton was the Acting Clinical Director 
at Pine Ridge in 2009 for approximately one 
year. 203 Being new to the position of 
Clinical Director, Colton sought the advice 
of the Office of General Couns,mGC). On 
March 6, 2009, Colton emailed • • 
- and included Keats 
~ il, Colton said "!just 
wanted to let you know that I have been in 
contact with CDR. Keats, the Commissioned 
Corps Liaison for our Area regarding the 
officer who was recent~y placed on 
administrative leave. At this point in time I 
do not have specific guidance, but will keep 
you apprised as I receive such 
information. "204 mI(D] then advised Colton 
to f 01m an ad hoc Investigation Committee 
to fo1mally investigate the allegations by Dr 
Butterbrodt. In addition, Colton was advised 
that Weber should be placed on 
administrative leave during the 
investigation. 205 

Colton told ICS that attempts to obtain 
info1mation regarding Weber from the 
Blackfeet Hospital were rebuffed on the 
grounds that the info1mation was 
"privileged". "Communication within IHS 
leaves much to be desired. They protect 

200 Second Butterbrodt email to Colton, Pourier, and Red Willow, dated Febmary 27, 2009. 
201 Butterbrodt email to Colton, Pourier, and Delgado, dated March 2, 2009. 
202 Second Butterbrodt email to Colton dated March 2, 2009. 
203 ICS interview of Dr. Jan Colton, fonner Pediatric Dentist and former Acting Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge 
Service Unit, Phoenix, Arizona, November 25, 2019. 
204 Colton email to[GJIG>IIIIWJI(;J] Keats, and Pourier, dated March 6, 2009. 
205 ICS interview of D. Jan Colton, November 25, 2019. 
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their own."206 In addition, the Committee 
was unable to obtain police repo1is they 
thought were relevant to their investigation. 

March 11, 2009, saw a fluny of emails 
about Weber. Keats sent an email to Birney 
and McSheny, writing that "I have received 
information from the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit that there is current~y an officer issue. 
The officer has been accused of 
unprofessional conduct at work by another 
corps officer, but there has been no official 
complaint by a patient or any other co­
worker at the facility. The Aberdeen Area 
has temporarily placed this officer (Weber) 
on Administrative Leave with pay while 
there is an investigation being done. My 
question: Is there anything we should be 
doing from a corps perspective, or are our 
hands tied until there is a formal 
complaint?" 207 

Birney responded to Keats' email: "With 
respect to the officer (Weber) - the officer 
should be placed on Non-Duty with Pay 
pending the outcome of the investigation -
not admin leave - this requires a 1662 . ... 
Also, this is the officer who owes was 
supposed to have been placed on AWOL in 
Feb 2008. We never received the 
request. "208 

While these discussions were occuning, 
Pourier sent an email to Dr. Butterbrodt in 
which he wrote "[i}n reference to your 
complaints and concerns on a local 
provider, I have been advised by our Office 
of General Counsel that you are to turn in 
all information you have collected on this 
provider to me. Further, I am directing you 
to cease your individual investigation of this 
matter, your emails concerning this issue, 
and your discussions on this matter. We 

206 Id. 
207 Keats email to Bimey, dated March 11, 2009. 

need to allow for the normal judicial 
process, e.g. South Dakota Board to occur 
without the possibility of it being 
compromised. "209 

Butterbrodt responded to Pourier 's email, 
and added Red Willow to the conversation, 
writing: 

"I have not withheld any information 
from you regarding this matter. Both 
you and Dr. Colton (and before her, 
Dr. Sumners) have been given all the 
information I have on this provider. I 
have been giving you this 
information for at least three years. 
I intend to proceed with a motion to 
the medical staff to suspend his 
clinical privileges. His peers are in a 
much better position to make a 
decision on his fitness to practice 
than is the State Board. It is our 
responsibility as a medical staff to 
protect Oglala Lakota families from 
physicians with conduct issues. I 
have been hearing virtually every 
member of the medical staff- in 
private - snicker or deride this 
physician 's preference for seeing 
teenage boys. I have offered 
Francine my resignation in the past 
to demonstrate my own culpability in 
this sorry business."210 

That same day, Dr. Butterbrodt also sent a 
separate email to Pourier, with a copy to 
Red Willow, stating in relevant pali: 

"Bill, I'm assuming the physician in 
question has been reinstated to 
clinical privileges pending the State 
Board investigation. That doesn't 
leave me any choice. I'd already 

208 Keats email to Bimey, dated March 11 , 2009. Bimey reply to Keats, part of same email string. 
209 Pourier email to Butterbrodt, dated March 11 , 2009. 
210 Butterbrodt email to Pourier and Red Willow, dated March 11, 2009. ICS emphasis added. 
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decided that if he continued to 
practice here, my conscience would 
dictate that I would have to resign. 
I 've informed Francine ofmy 
resignationfrom Wanblee. You may 
take this as my resignation from the 
Pine Ridge medical staff ... We've 
been friends a long time. I'm sorry 
we 've reached an impasse on this 
matter. I'm not going to pursue a 
medical staff action on this as I'd 
suggested in today 's email. I'll 
finish my career in the Indian Health 
Service elsewhere. There 's no fight 
left in me on this matter. "211 

According to subsequent email evidence, 
Butterbrodt was, at that time, mistaken that 
Weber was reinstated to clinical privileges. 
He had been placed on leave on March 3, 
not because of the SDBMOE refeITal, but 
based on Butterbrodt's allegations and 
Request for Professional Review Action. 212 

Dr. Butterbrodt changed his mind about 
resigning and remained at W anblee for 
another year, before an involuntaiy 
reassignment to an IHS facility in No1t h 
Dakota on the Canadian border. 

On March 12, 2009, Keats, in an email to 
Pourier and Colton, asked to be brought up 
to date "concerning what is taking place 
with CAPT Weber? In addition, I need to 
know the exact date the officer was put on 
Administrative Leave so I can have a 
personnel order cut for the period of time he 
was on "Non-duty with Pay Status."213 Dr. 
Colton responded to Keats and Pourier, with 

a copy to ~ng, (b) (6 ) 
"[a]fter discussion with [t.DEJII I 
presented the informal allegation to the 
Medical Exec staff. We then selected a 3 
member ad hoc committee who will 
investigate and determine the validity of the 
allegation and whether or not it should be 
pursued. This decision will be made within 
14 ( days) in accord with our Medical Sta.ff 
Bylaws. Dr. Weber continue on Nonduty 
with Pay Status. He was placed in Nonduty 
with pay status Tuesday afternoon, March 3, 
2009. "214 

On March 20, 2009, Keats emailed Colton 
to advise her that "I have submitted the 
paperwork to place CAPT Weber official~y 
on Non-Duty with Pay (NDWP) status with 
the Commissioned Corps. I expect the 
personnel orders to be completed in a 
couple of days. He is by policy placed on 
ND WP status for a maximum of 60 days. If 
your investigation comes back in his favor 
with nothing proved, please let me know that 
date so I can do personnel orders removing 
him from this status in order to put him back 
to work. "215 

ICS detennined that the 60-day mle 
referenced by Keats, and set out in 
Commissioned Co1ps policies, is not 
without exceptions. While it appeared to be 
used as a predicate for mshing this process 
through with as little scmtiny as possible, 
under Commissioned Co1ps policy 
extensions of the 60 days, if recommended, 
and other options - such as a detail to an 
administrative office away from Pine Ridge 
- were available. 216 At no time did Keats, as 

211 Butterbrodt email to Pourier, dated March 11 , 2009. There is a handwritten note on the copy of the email 
provided to ICS: "I ended up not resigning. Mark." 
212Colton email response to Keats and Pourier, dated March 12, 2009. 
213 Keats email to Pourier and Colton dated March 12, 2009. 
214 Colton email response to Keats and Pourier, dated March 12, 2009. ICS emphasis added. 
215 Keats email to Colton, dated March 20, 2009. 
216 "Requests for extensions beyond the initial 60 calendar days on nonduty with pay stat.us, if recommended by the 
OPDIV or Program' s SGPAC Representative and approved by the Director, DCP, will be announced as an 
amendment(s) to the initial personnel order which placed the officer in nonduty with pay status." Commissioned 
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the Commissioned Corps Liaison, advise Dr. 
Colton that she had alternatives. 

Colton responded to Keats that "[o}ur 
medical executive committee has assigned 
an ad hoc committee to investigate this 
issue. They are due to have the investigation 
completed next Friday (the 27th) . I have 
several things I would like to discuss with 
you regarding this matter." While Colton 
indicated that the investigation was due for 
completion on March 27th

, no one from this 
ad hoc committee had ever contacted Dr. 
Butterbrodt. 217 

In fact, it appears that the ad hoc 
committee did absolutely nothing to 
investigate the allegations. While Dr. 
Colton considered the committee an 
investigative mechanism, Dr. Hector 
Burgos, a member of the Medical Executive 
Committee (MEC), saw the ad hoc 
committee as a jmy to whom evidence 
needed to be presented. 218 

Dr. Burgos could only recall one meeting 
being held by the ad hoc committee. There 
were no police reports, no victim 
statements or patient complaints to 
review and discuss. There were no 
witnesses called; no interviews conducted. 
No nurses were interviewed. Neither Dr. 
Butterbrodt nor Weber were interviewed, 

nor were they asked to appear before the ad 
hoc committee to make any allegation or to 
defend against it. Dr. Burgos understood that 
the ad hoc committee was specifically 
prohibited from contacting any of Weber 's 
patients and concluded that it was unable to 
proceed with an investigation because it had 
no evidence. 219 Although Burgos 
mistakenly believed he was a member of the 
ad hoc committee; his observation is 
consistent with the infonnation provided by 
Dr. Colton. 

This type of circular inaction was prevalent in the 

handling of the Weber accusations: No evidence 

relating to the a/legation is sought- leads to no 

evidence obtained - leads to no evidence 

considered - leading to the conclusion that there 

is no evidence to support the allegation. 
See Part 11 Analysis and Conclusions, Finding #3, Failure to Investigate 

ill a March 26, 2009, personnel order, 
Weber was fo1mally placed on Non-Duty 
with Pay Status. ill the Remarks section of 
the document Keats indicated that 
" [o]fficer's assignment to Non-Duty with 
Pay Status at Officer's residence not to 
exceed: 5/2/2009. This status will not 

C01ps Personnel Manual, Part 2--Commissioned Corps Personnel Administration, CC 23.6, Section D (6) . While 
"[ s ]uch requests must include a plan of action for either retuming officers to duty or separating officers" certainly 
the time required for the active investigation of alleged sexual abuse would have justified an extension. Weber could 
also have been detailed to the Aberdeen Area Office until a full investigation was conducted. See, ICS interview of 
(b) (6) Northem Plains Regional Commissioned C01ps Liaison, Rapid City, South Dakota, November 27, 
2019. 
217 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
218 Dr. Bur os recalled that he was a member of the ad hoc committee. ICS interview o (b) (6) 

, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. But Dr. Colton, who was 
, t ld I S that the ad hoc committe.e members were , 

and . ICS interview of Dr. Jan Colton, 
fo1mer Pediatric Dentist and former Acting Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Phoenix, Arizona, 
November 25, 2019. 
219 ICS interview of Dr. Hector Burgos, General Surgeon at the Pine Ridge service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 14, 2019. 
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exceed 60 calendar days unless extended or 
removed via another personnel order. "220 

On April 10, 2009, Colton info1med Keats 
that "I sent a letter to (with 
a copy to Mr. Pourier and Ms. Shelly 
Harris) stating that the Medical Executive 
committee was not, in my opinion, the 
appropriate body to investigate such 
allegations. We have no legal authority to 
gain access to a variety of information 
(tribal police reports, results of previous 
investigations and so on) . To date I have 
heard nothing. I am a bit concerned that we 
may reach the 60 day mark with no 
resolution. "221 

Keats replied to Colton's concerns. "Thank 
you, I will pass this information on to both 
CAPT Paul McSherry and (b) (6) 
Have. I know this is difficult, but if there is 
no resolution within 60 days, he may be 
returned to duty. If that is a problem for 
either the Service Unit or the officer, we 
may need to start making appropriate 
plans." 

Colton responded to Keats, now adding 
Shelly Hanis, then the Deputy Area Director 
for the Aberdeen Area Office, to the 
conversation, saying, "I don't believe it 
would be a problem for the officer. I believe 
AAO {Aberdeen Area Office} would have a 
problem with such a move. I have forwarded 
this to Ms. Harris for her input as well. " 
HaiTis told ICS that she does not recall 
anyone ever advising her of the allegations 
of child sexual abuse against Weber. She 

insisted she would have remembered it if 
she had been told about such allegations. 
HaiTis faulted the Service Unit for not 
advising the Area Office. She speculated 
that the reason the Se1v ice Unit may not 
have repo1ied such serious allegations to the 
Area Office was because "they did not want 
to lose a provider". 

As Colton had forecast, the 60-day 
suspension caine and went without 
satisfacto1y resolution, at least to the extent 
the outcome was the product of a thorough 
and credible inquiiy. No ad hoc committee 
report was ever provided to, or found by 
ICS, although Dr. Colton recalled that a 
report was written, filed with the MEC 
and maintained in the office of the 
Clinical Director, with a copy sent to the 
Aberdeen Area Office. 222 The repo1i, 
based on Dr. Colton's recollection, 
concluded that there were significant 
allegations, and some unsuppo1ied rnmors, 
but no definitive proof that Weber had 
engaged in inappropriate behavior. Dr. 
Colton noted that when she left the position 
of Acting Clinical Director ai·ound eai·ly 
2010, Dr. Fernando Cosme was nained the 
Acting Clinical Director. After Dr. Cosme, 
Weber was named the Acting Clinical 
Dii·ector. 

Dr. Colton opined that the Committee's 
report has been destroyed. 223 . One witness, 
who caine into the Administrative Offices 
on a Sunday afternoon in May 2016, found 
Weber shredding documents.224 

220 Official Personnel File (OPF), PHS Fo1m 7063, Personnel Order (PO) 2009085.027, issued with an effective date 
of3/3/2009, dated March 26, 2009. 
221 Keats email to Colton, and response, dated April 10, 2009. ICS noted that by April 10 Weber was over 30 days 
into a 60-day suspension before Dr. Colton concluded that the intemal process she had convened could not perform 
as intended and, in any event, could not complete any inqui1y in the time remaining. 
222 ICS interview of Dr. Jan Colton, fonner Pediatric Dentist and fo1mer Acting Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge 
Service Unit, Phoenix, Arizona, November 25, 2019. 
223 Id. 
224 ICS interview of{l!JIGJ■ Administrative Assistant to the CEO and Deputy CEO at the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. 
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On November 10, 2009, Keats prepared and 
submitted a request that Weber be removed 
from Non-Duty with Pay status effective 
May 2, 2009.225 A personnel order was 
signed (electronically) on November 18, 
2009, removing Weber from a Non-Duty 
with Pay Status. 

It should be noted that despite the fact that 
they are all required to repo1i allegations of 
criminal conduct an d allegations that 
constitute a risk to public safety, none of the 
individuals involved made a repo1i to the 
OIG. 

\Yeber Application for 
Reappointment 

Apr;/ 2009 

On April 29, 2009 while on Non-Duty with 
Pay status in connection with the ad hoc 
investigation, Weber prepared an d subinitted 
an Application for Reappointment to the 
Pine Ridge Medical Staff. Weber answered 
"Yes" to two questions which required he 
provide a nan ative response explaining his 
answers. 

Question #1 - "Have any civil or criminal 
charges ever been filed against you, or are 
you under investigation which might lead to 
such charges?" and 

Question #2 - "Are you cunently involved 
in or have knowledge of a pending 
investigation review, or surveillance of your 
professional practice or conduct that could 
result in an adverse action concerning your 
narcotics registration, ability to bill and 
collect from Medicare or Medicaid 
programs, professional license, registration 
or ce1iification, or medical staff membership 
or privileges?" 

Weber attached a typed statement explaining 
his answers. 226 

Regarding th e first question, Weber wrote "I 
received a DWI while I was in Rapid City. 
This occmrnd after my flight into Rapid City 
after a meeting. I was driving to a hotel 
when I was stopped with out my lights on 
and eventually charged with a DWI. This 
event was repo1ied to Dr. Sumners, the 
Clinical Director then, the next day. The 
Cominission Co1ps was also notified. I was 
allowed to continue to work. All three of my 
license boards were notified. All three have 
renewed my license for the cunent year." 

Regarding the second question, Weber 
explained that "Dr. Butterbrodt has filed a 
complaint against me both with the hospital 
here and with the South Dakota. Medical 
Board. I have not seen the complaint. I met 
with the South Dakota. Medical Board on 
2/19/09 when they infon ned me of a 
complaint th ey received. One of the 
complaints if (sic) that I am child 
molester. There are no specific names 
mentioned in the complaint, but that I have 
molested children here and in Browning, 
where I worked before coming here. 
There (sic) accusations are completely false 
and any investigation into this will prove 
this. There were other details in the 
complaint such as I have been "treating" 
children in my home, which is also false .... 
[t]here was also an accusation that I was 
selecting out teenage male patients to see 
in clinic. I would like to point out that I 
have completed Adolescent Fellowship 
more than 15 years ago an d have felt ve1y 
competent with teenage patients, both males 
and females." Weber continued that, " [i]n 
the complaint was also that I have kids 
working for me on the compound and that I 
pay them for this . This was though (sic) to 

225 Official Personnel File (OPF), PHS Fo1m 1662, Request for Personnel Action retroactively effective to May 2, 
2009, dated November 10, 2009. 
226 IHS Pine Ridge Service Unit Credentialing File, Application for Reappointment, April 2009. 
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be a conflict of interest since some of these 
kids were also seen by me at the hospital. I 
do have people, both adults and children do 
outdoor work such as cutting the grass and 
work in my garden. When someone comes 
by my house and asks for work, if there is 
work to be done I will have them do it." 
Weber claimed the accusations were 
vindictive and cited an incident that 
occmTed in approximately 2007 wherein he 
reported Dr. Butterbrodt for substandard 
patient care. 227 

At that time, in the summer of 2009, the 
credentialing application went through a 
two-step review by the Credentialing 
Committee and then the Medical Executive 
Committee at the Service Unit level. The 
Application was then fo1warded to the Area 
Office for a third review and ratification. 228 

The Recommendation & Approval section 
of Weber's Application for Reappointment 
was signed and approved by the following 
supervisors. Each of the individuals listed 
below checked the line that said "I do 
recommend appointment to the Medical 
Staff': 

► Supervisor/Consultant: Fernando 
Cosme on May 5, 2009 

► Credentialing Committee: Hector 
Burgos on May 5, 2009 

► Medical Executive Committee: Jose 
Carlos Rodriguez, on May 18, 2009 

227 Id. ICS emphasis added. 

► Medical Director: F. Delgado on 
May 19, 2009229 

► Chief Executive Officer: Bill 
Pourier on May 21, 2009 

► Chief Medical Officer: Vickie 
Claymore-Lahammer on June 11, 
2009 

► Governing Body: Charlene Red 
Thunder on June 15, 2009230 

Dr. Cosme admitted to ICS that he signed 
Weber 's application without reviewing the 
infonnation on the 'attachment page' that 
Weber had provided. "I just signed it -
didn't review it thoroughly". Dr. Cosme had 
no recollection of any discussion during the 
MEC meeting that Weber had self-reported 
on his application that he was being 
investigated for allegations he was "a child 
molester."23 1 

Dr. Burgos recalled there was a discussion 
by the MEC on how to proceed with this 
application because Weber had answered 
yes to the question on the application on 
whether he was under investigation. 
According to Dr. Burgos, the MEC needed 
more evidence than just Dr Butterbrodt's 
allegation against Weber and without any 
evidence suppo1ting the allegations, the 
MEC voted to recommend Weber's 
reappointment to the medical staff. 232 

228 The process has been changed to require both S · · · · · 
• r and approval rocess. ICS interview 

, 019. See also, ICS interview o 
, Sheridan, Wyoming, August 1, 2019. 

In December 2011, Delgado was indicted by a federal grand jwy in South Dakota, charged with three counts of 
Aggravated Sexual Contact. U.S. v. Delgado, CR. 11-30162-RAL, Dk. No. 1 (DSD 2011). On May 8, 2007, 
Delgado had "highly" recommended Weber and indicated that the two had been colleagues since 2002. IHS Pine 
Ridge Service Unit Credentialing file, IHS Medical Staff Professional Reference Checklist, May 2007. 
230 IHS Pine Ridge Service Unit Credentialing File, Application for Reappointment and Credentialing File, April 
2009.,. 
231 ICS interview of Dr. Fernando Cosme, Pediatrician at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 14, 2019. 
232 ICS interview of Dr. Hector Bmgos, General Smgeon at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 14, 2019. 
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On May 21, 2009, CEO Pourier also 
recommended that Weber be reappointed to 
the Medical Staff. 233 The Application was 
then mailed to the Aberdeen Area Office for 
review by the Governing Body. Pourier was 
well aware of the active SDBMOE 
investigation prior to recommending that 
Weber be reappointed to the medical staff, 
as evidenced by Pourier 's email of March 
11 , 2009 to Dr Butterbrodt directing 
Butterbrodt to "cease your individual 
investigation" and allow the investigation of 
the "South Dakota Board to occur without 
the possibility of it being compromised." 

Weber 's Application was logged in at the 
AAO on May 29, 2009 by Carol Slaba, 
Office of Medical Care Evaluation. Slaba 
reviewed Weber 's Application and recorded 
her observations, one of which was "New 
liability issues - (See Orange tab)" The file 
was then forwarded to Dr. Vickie Claymore, 
the Acting Chief Medical Officer, before 
ending up with Area Director Charlene Red 
Thunder, who served as the Head of the 
Governing Body. 

ore served on the_ 
the entire time she was 

stat1one m AAO (2006 - 2015). Dr. 
Claymore did not recall any specific issue 
with respect to the application for 
reappointment submitted by Weber. 
Claymore said she was unaware that 
Butterbrodt filed a fo1mal complaint against 
Weber with Dr. Colton in Febrnaiy 2009. 
Similai·ly, Claymore does not recall being 
info1med that an ad hoc Investigation 
Committee was fo1med to investigate Dr. 
Butterbrodt's complaint. 

Claymore was shown a copy of Weber's 
April 2009 application for reappointment 

and confnmed that her initials and the 
handwritten notation "need to discuss before 
signature / discussed with Carol Slaba 
6/7 /09" appear on page 2 of this document. 

Claymore could not recall the details of the 
notation. After some reflection, Claymore 
believed the conversation likely would have 
focused on the infonnation provided by 
Weber which detailed his DWI aiTest in 
Febrnaiy 2008, and the fo1mal complaints 
filed against him by Dr. Butterbrodt that 
resulted in two sepai·ate investigations (ad 
hoc and SDBMOE). Claymore confnmed 
that she signed Weber's Application 
recommending that he be reappointed to the 
Pine Ridge medical staff on June 11, 2009 
and that AD Red Thunder granted the 
reappointment on June 15, 2009. 

After reviewing page 8 of the application, 
Claymore stated that Weber's application 
should never have been forwarded to the 
Governing Body. She explained that the 
Pine Ridge Medical Executive Committee 
should not have recommended Weber's 
reappointment because of the active pending 
investigations by the ad hoc and SDBMOE. 
When asked whether, in light of this 
info1mation, the Governing Body should 
have approved Weber's rea 
Claymore said the 
final step in the process, an un ess the 
Governing Body received specific 
info1mation that both investigations had 
cleai·ed Weber, then the Governing Body 
should not have approved Weber 's 
application for reappointment. 234 

Claymore thought that it was possible that 
the Area Office received notice that the 

233 IHS Credentialing File, Pine Ridge Service Unit, April-May 2009. Signed off by Pomier on May 21 , 2009. 
234 ICS interview of Dr. Vickie Claymore, Clinical Psychologist, fo1mer Acting Chief Medical Officer at Aberdeen 
Area Office, and ctmently the Director of Field Operations, Nashville Area Office, Nashville, Tennessee, December 
13, 2019. 
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investigations had resolved the issues. 235 As 
noted in the previous section, Pourier 
received a letter from SDBMOE investigator 
mmJIII on or about June 05, 2009. This 
letter requested specific infonnation about 
Weber and confiimed that there was an 
active investigation of Weber by SDBMOE 
contemporaneous to Weber's reappointment. 

When shown a copy of CEO Pourier's June 
18, 2009 letter to the SDBMOE which 
clearly indicates that the licensing agency 
investigation is still ongoing, Claymore was 
at a loss to explain the discrepancy. She 
suggested that Pourier had not been 
forthright with the Governing Body on 
whether Weber should have been 
reappointed to the medical staff. 236 

On June 19, 2009, the day after Pourier's 
aforementioned letter to the SDBMOE 
regarding their ongoing investigation, 
Weber was advised that the "Medical 
Executive Committee met on May 18, 2009 
and approved your Reappointment 
application to the Medical Staff and 
requested Clinical Privileges. The Aberdeen 
Area Governing Body for the Pine Ridge 
IHS also approved your application and 
re uested rivile es on June 15, 2009."237 

eber's reappointment] 
added, "Bill Pourier 

was so concerne a out losing his job that 
he neglected to do his job_,ms 

fu his interview with Frontline, Pourier 
blames his superiors; placing responsibility 
for the failure to squarely address the Weber 
allegations at the feet of unnamed superiors 
in Aberdeen. Although he thought there was 
reason to believe Weber was in fact a 
predato1y pedophile, he was powerless to do 
anything.239 "Well at that time, you think of 
your career and job and your livelihood so I 
would have probably got fired. I guess that 
was the risk I would've took. I couldn't 
afford to take the risk at that time. To lose 
my job." Nothing in the email traffic or 
other documents generated at the time, 
including the letter to rffl'lfflllll of the 
SDBMOE, suggests ~ er than 
Pourier was a vocal defender of Weber, and 
an equally vocal critic of Dr. Butterbrodt. 
The record suggests that Pourier did 
everything in his power to protect Weber 
and to continue his employment at Pine 
Ridge. 

Fo1mer Deputy Area Director Shelly Han-is 
recalled that it would not be unusual "to 
have 10-12" credentialing files wheeled 
around on a cart at the same time" in the 
AAO for the Area Director and the Chief 
Medical Officer to review and sign. 
According to Harris, the AAO Governing 
Body did not sit down as a ~roup to 
review the credentialing files. 240 Her 
recollection was echoed by another fonner 
career employee that told ICS that the 
process in place in 2009 was for the 
credentialing and privileging files to be 
mailed by the service units to the Area 
Office for the signatures of the Area 

235 ICS interview of Dr. Vickie Claymore, Clinical Psychologist, fo1mer Acting Chief Medical Officer at Aberdeen 
Area Office, and cwTently the Director of Field Operations, Nashville Area Office, Nashville, Tennessee, December 
13, 2019. A copy of the ad hoc Investigation Committee repo1t has never been found. 
236 ICS interview of Dr. Vickie Claymore, December 13, 2019. 
237 IHS Pine Ridge Service Unit Credentialin file, A ril - June 2009. 
238 ICS interview o Hospital, Sheridan, 
Wyoming, August 1, 2019. 
239 Frontline interview of William Pourier, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. 
240 ICS interview of Shelly HatTis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, Belcowt , 
North Dakota, October 29, 2019. 
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Director and the Area CMO. Like Harris, 
the Anonymous Fo1mer Employee 
emphasized that the Governing Body did 
not convene for discussions and any 
substantive review of the applications. 
This process (mailing the files without a 
fo1mal Governing Body meeting) was set up 
by Dr. Sara Dye when she was the Area 
CMO and this practice remained in effect 
until September 2016 when Dr. Lee 
Lawrence became Area CMO.241 

During the 2009 period when Weber was 

reappointed to Pine Ridge medical staff under a 

cloud of accusation and active pending 

investigation, the Governing Board served no 

useful purpose. Weber was granted continued 

unrestricted privileges without objective review 

or thorough analysis of the facts. Due diligence 

was required for them to discharge their 

oversight responsibilities properly informed. The 

Governing Body, Medical Executive Committee, 

Credentialing Committee and senior 

management officials had enough facts placed 

before them to require further inquiry into 

Weber's fitness for continued privileges, rather 

than granting him automatic approval of them. 

It should be noted that despite the fact that 
they are all required to report allegations of 
criminal conduct and allegations that 
constitute a risk to public safety, none of the 
individuals involved made a report to the 
OIG. 

Second Butterbrodt Complaint 
~\fay 2009 

Dr. Butterbrodt, having never been 
interviewed by the SDBMOE, receiving no 
response to his complaint, and believing that 
the SDBMOE investigation had been 
concluded without consequence for 
Weber,242 wrote a letter to Dr. Colton. In 
his May 25, 2009 letter, Butterbrodt 
reiterated his concerns about Weber 
selecting adolescent boys - and avoiding 
female patients -- and made another request 
for "a professional review action".243 

Butterbrodt claimed that Weber had a 
"criminal conduct disorder" and indicated 
that he had "strong reason to think Dr. 
Weber left Ada, Oklahoma, and Browning, 
Montana because of the same conduct 
issue." 

Butterbrodt wrote: 

"I think his clinical privileges should 
be revoked because his actions in his 
clinical practice are in violation of 
Pine Ridge IHS staff bylaws (see B, 
page IO of bylaws regarding ethics 
and conduct" "I have first hand 
knowledge, based upon my years of 
association with this individual, that 
he preferential~y chooses skinny or 
normal weight teenage boys and 
young men in his practice and I have 
observed him on many occasions 
picking the charts of those patients 
out of my own box. " 

Butterbrodt never received a response from 
Colton. Butterbrodt told ICS that, with this 
letter, he "was tiying to go through the 
proper process and work within the system" 

241 ICS interview of Anonymous Fonner IHS Employee (AFE), November 13, 2019. This witness requested 
anonymity for fear of retaliation against family members. 
242 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. ICS could locate no witness who indicated that they were contacted by the SDBMOE investigators. 
243 Butterbrodt letter to Colton, dated May 25, 2009. This letter indicates it was copied to Pourier. 
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to have a proper review of his complaints. 
He concluded that the Medical Executive 
Committee was the proper authority to take 
action against Weber. 244 

Colton told ICS that she does not recall ever 
receiving the May 25, 2009 letter from 
Butterbrodt. While her memo1y may be 
failing in that regard, emails reflect that she 
confided in Keats the situation. Review of 
emails from Keats, Birney and McSheny 
reveal a change in strategy and tactics by 
Keats, a movement away from simply 
defending Weber from disciplinary action 
into an active campaign to completely 
discredit Butterbrodt and then have 
adverse administrative disciplinary 
actions initiated against him. 

In June 2009, Keats wrote: "Coincidentally, 
I've been on the phone with the Clinical 
Director [Colton] today. Apparently, the 
accusing officer [Butterbrodt] is still up to 
no good and even though there have been no 
patient complaints or any other complaints 
f or that matter (nursing staff), the accusing 
officer is pushing this issue. CAPT Weber 
has had a rough 3-4 months and the clinical 
director says he looks used, old and beaten 
up from this experience. He has stated that 
he wants to retire from the C01ps even 
though he will lose everything by breaking 
his Special Pay contracts, just to get away 
from the situation and stop the stress, We 
are encouraging against this action and 
have discussed both disciplinary action 
against the other officer [Butterbrodt] / or 

these problems and/or transferring CAPT 
Weber to Sioux San in Rapid City until he 
can retire at the end of his contracts (about 
18 months) ."245 McSheny responded to 
Keats and Birney saying, "How about two 
things ... just to consider ... . Move CAPT 
Weber to restore him. Move the other guy 
too so there is no implication that his 
actions or accusations have merit. The sun 
is shining in Kotzebue this time of year." 246 

Keats, replying to McSheny's comments, 
wrote "There seems to be a block wall in 
regards to the "other" officer [Butterbrodt] 
at the CEO level [Red Willow] who is 
blocking any disciplinary action. I have 
suggested a LOR/ or this file for initiating 
this problem based on his "opinions" and 
no substantiated evidence, but the CEO does 
not want to push this issue and lose a 
"good" medical officer. This is a problem 
out here where the staffing shortage is so 
acute." McSheny, replying to the Keats' 
comments about Butterbrodt, said "[t}hat 
bad boy [Butterbrodt] just may get a letter 
from farther up line and the CEO might too 
if he does not control him." 

Birney, in reference to Weber, wrote " I am 
not sure if we would allow the officer 
[Weber] to voluntarily retire if he was 
breaking a SP contract." 

The following day, June 12, 2009, McSheny 
responded to Birney, saying, "No. He 
can't. "247 

244 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
245 Id. , part of June 11, 2009 email string. 
246 Id. Kotzebue is a city in the Northwest Ar ctic Borough in Alaska. North of the Arctic Circle, Kotzebue is home to 
the Maniilaq Association, a health and social services organization which is part of the Alaska Native Tribal Health 
Consortium. 
247 Id. The Special Pay contract notwithstanding, PHS officers like Weber, who have completed twenty years of 
service but less than thirty years, "may be retired by the Secretary, with or without application by the officer, on the 
first day of any month after completion of tv.•enty or more years of active service." 42 U.S.C. § 212(a)(3); 
Commissioned Co1ps Instruction ("CC") 43 .8.1 § 6-3( c ). The retirement regulations further provide that such 
retirements may occur involuntarily or voluntarily "at the discretion of the Co1ps." CC43.8. l § 6-3(a); CC23.8.5 § 6-
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On June 12, 2009, Keats sent an extensive 
email to Aberdeen Area Director Charlene 
Red Thunder.248 Shelly Harris, McSheny , 
CEO Pourier and Dr. Jan Colton were 
copied. Keats writes "I know you are aware 
of the Medical Officer issue at the Pine 
Ridge Service Unit where CAPT S. Patrick 
Weber was accused of inappropriate 
behavior as a medical officer, which her 
[sic] was immediately put on "Non-Duty 
with Pay" status for 60 days while an 
investigation was conducted. " 

Continuing, Keats wrote " .. . another 
Commissioned Officer based on arbitra,y 
information without any evidence or proof, 
accused CAPT Weber of non-professional 
behavior. During the investigation that has 
been conducted by Pine Ridge, there was no 
evidence uncovered of any wrongdoing, and 
there has been no patient and/or nursing 
staff complaints concerning the behavior of 
this officer at all, now or in the past 
concerning such behavior (based on input 
from the Clinical Direct01) .... CAPT Weber 
has now returned to full duty, but the 
accusing officer is still pushing the issue and 
causing problems to the point the Clinical 
Director (CAPT Jan Colton) is concerned 
for CAPT Weber's safety and well being 
(physically and emotionally) . In addition, 
during an assessment with the Psychiatrist 
(part of the State of South Dakota's 
requirement for the investigation), the 
Psychiatrist stated that he believed the (sic) 
CAPT Weber was now a target." 249 

Keats advised Red Thunder, HaiTis, 
McSheny, Pourier, and Colton that "CAPT 
Weber has requested to retire in order to 
remove himself from this situation, hut I 
have been informed through my chain of 
command in the Commissioned Corps that 
CAPT Weber "will not" he allowed 
voluntarily retire because he is currently 
under a 4 year Special Pay contract with 
approximately 18 months remaining on that 
contract .... In addition, I suggested that the 
accusing officer, CDR Mark Butterbrodt, 
stop his actions immediately because his 
accusations were arbitrary and 
unsubstantiated and therefor damaging to 
the reputation of CAPT Weber. The CEO of 
Pine Ridge, Mr. Pourier, did direct CDR 
Butterbrodt to stop his accusations several 
weeks ago. Unfortunately, it appears as if 
CDR Butterbrodt has not stopped his 
behavior/accusations and I have suggested 
disciplinary action against the officer to 
which CAPT Colton at Pine Ridge states 
that the CEO of the Kyle Health Center is 
not willing to movef01ward on."250 

As noted eai·lier, Weber had been returned to 
duty on May 3, 2009.251 Despite Weber 's 
desire to retire in June 2009, he was not 
allowed to break his special pay contract 
with the Commissioned Cmps. 

ICS was not provided any reply email to 
Keats, and it is unknown whether there was 
reply from anyone on the email chain. It is 
notewo1t hy that this email from Keats to 
Area Director Charlene Red Thunder is 

1. Insisting that a Special Pay contract be perfo1med only served to keep a predator in place amongst his cnn·ent and 
future victims for another three years. 
248 A fonner IHS employee described Red Thunder as the head of a "network of administrative thugs who have a 
history of abusing certain employees and protecting those that are connected." Gjovik, Nathan D., (2013) 
"Nethenvorld: Reflections on Working/or the US Government', Tate Publishing, p . 151. Gjovik also attributed to 
Keats the admission that he, Keats, was a "tool for management - management tells me to do something and I do it". 
Id ., at p. 334, Appx. 19 (from an email dated December 22, 2009). 
249 Keats email to Red Thunder, Han -is, McSheny, Pourier, and Colton, dated June 12, 2009. 
250 Id. ICS emphasis added. 
251 Official Personnel File (OPF), Personnel Order No. 2009322.063, dated November 8, 2009. The order was 
entered six months after the effective date of the order. 
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dated June 12, 2009. Three days later, Red 
Thunder signed off on Weber 's application 
for reappointment, thereby granting Weber 
unrestricted privileges on the Pine Ridge 
medical staff. 

On July 16, 2010, Weber and Dr. 
Butterbrodt got into a heated argument over 
the care of a patient. Weber told IHS 
security that Butterbrodt had threatened him; 
that he was afraid of Butterbrodt and wanted 
to get a restrnining order against him . 252 

Within an hour, Dr. Butterbrodt was sitting 
in the office of the Acting Clinical Director 
accused of intimidation. Dr. Butterbrodt told 
his supervisor that if he were 1:Iying to 
intimidate Weber, he would cas1:I'ate him 
"with a rnsty knife." "That remark went 
right to Washington and I was branded as a 
violent, out-of-con1:I'ol person." The nurses 
told Dr. Butterbrodt that now he could 
see why they never speak up - "Look 
what they've done to you."253 

It should be noted that despite the fact that 
they are all required to report allegations of 
criminal conduct and allegations that 
constitute a risk to public safety, none of the 
individuals involved made a report to the 
OIG. 

Referral to OIG 
AIIRIISf 2010 

In August 2010, Dr. Butterbrodt again 
expressed his concerns about Weber with 
Birney, who in tum contacted the OIG. On 
August 3, 2010, Birney sent an email to 
Scott Vann·ease, the OIG's Assistant Special 

Agent in Charge, Special Investigations 
Branch, with a copy to Grego1y Stevens, 
Office of the Assistant Secretaiy for Heath 
(OASH). In this email, Birney wrote, "I 
received a telephone call today from CAPT 
Mark Butterbrodt (call rec'd from 605-411-
1031) who is assigned to the Indian Health 
Service and is stationed in the Aberdeen 
Area Office in Pine Ridge, SD. CAPT 
Butterbrodt said that he and CAPT Weber 
have had difficulties for the past 15 years. 
He alleged that CAPT Weber has left 2 
Service Units "under a shadow; " CAPT 
Weber was being protected by the former 
liaison; and that in the nurse orientation, 
"since 1998, the nurses have been told not 
to leave CAPT Weber alone with teenaged 
boys. " The allegation that CAPT 
Butterbrodt made that he believed was 
"sweep .. " was that CAPT Weber saw a lot 
of teenaged boys in his practice. Many more 
than he statistically should have. The 
allegations were sent to IHS for 
investigation, and we were told there was 
nothing there. The former liaison was CAPT 
Ron Keats. CAPT Weber is eligible for 
voluntary retirement. His retirement credit 
date in 17 December 1981 which means he 
will be at the mandatory 30 year retirement 
on 1 January 2012. Is there anything that 
you would like us to do or not do ?"254 

On August 9, 2010, Vantrease responded to 
Birney in an email stating, " We will log the 
complaint, but unless there is something 
more specific than an affiliation with Capt 
Keats, we will have to rely on the IHS 
review at this time. "255 

252 As noted earlier, ICS was provided a summruy of service unit security encounters involving Weber. The primary 
use of the spreadsheet here is to establish the date with certainty and confinn the animus between the two physicians 
that both Weber and Butterbrodt have described. 
253 ICS interview of Dr. Mru·k Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. Also, Frontline interview of Dr. Mru·k Butterbrodt, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. 
254 Bimey email to Vantrease, dated August 3, 2010. 
255 Vantrease email to Bimey, dated August 9, 2010. The reference to "Capt. Keats" is to Ronald Keats, Weber's 
Commissioned Co1ps Liaison in the Aberdeen Area Office and who pruticipated extensively in the management 
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Vantrease made this statement despite the 
fact that Birney's email to him was 
ove1w helmingly about Butterbrodt's 
complaint, not Ron Keats. ICS could not 
locate any documents or witnesses which 
indicated that the OIG took any action as a 
result of this complaint. 

The following day, August 10, 2010, Birney 
replied. "Yesterday I spoke with CAPT 
Travis Watts regarding CDR Butterbrodt. 
CAPT Watts brought up the fact that CDR 
B. believes that CAPT Weber has acted 
inappropriately with teenaged boys. CAPT 
Watts went on to say that both the FBI and 
OJG have looked into the allegations and 
came up with nothing. "256 At the time Watts 
was serving in a temporaiy posting as the 
Acting Commissioned Co1ps Liaison for the 
Great Plains Region. Watts, now a RADM 
and the Area Director for the Oklahoma City 
Area, explained to ICS that he had no 
independent knowledge of investigations 
into Weber, had reviewed no repo1ts or 
confnm ed any of these details with the FBI 
or the OIG, and that his recollection of his 
communications with Dr. Butterbrodt 

focused on the physician's concern that he, 
Butterbrodt, was being raihoaded because 
he continued to voice his conviction that 
Weber was a predator.257 The only 
infonnation RADM Watts would have had 
about Weber would have come from 
McSheny, the Deputy Director of the 
Division of Commissioned Personnel 
Suppo1t (DCPS). 

Despite being notified that both the FBI and 
the OIG had conducted investigations of 
Weber and come "up with nothing," 
Vantrease took no apparent action to 
confnm or deny this info1m ation. Had he 
done so, he would have discovered that the 
infonnation was false. During the review, 
ICS requested an interview with Vantrease 
through the IHS. The OIG declined to make 
Vantrease available for an interview. It 
should be noted that the OIG taking no 
action does not absolve any employee from 
making a required repo1t to the OIG. 

Within three weeks of the above emails, Dr. 
Butterbrodt was abmptly transferred to the 
IHS facility in Belcourt, No1th Dakota. 258 259 

communications and decisions regarding Weber. At the time this email was sent Keats had been indicted by the 
U.S. Attorney in South Dakota on child pornography charges. See "Cases of Other /HS Medical Care and Support 
Providers", infra. Vantrease never initiated any investigation. The OIG would not become actively involved in any 
investigation into Weber until five years later. 
256 Birney email to Vantrease, dated August 10, 2010. The OIG conducted no significant investigation until October 
2015. 
257 ICS interview ofRADM Travis Watts, Area Director and Assistant Smgeon General, Oklahoma City Area. 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma., August 6, 2019. 
258 Lawler email to Han-is, dated November 4, 2019. Bertha Lawler is a credentialing specialist at the Belcomt 
facility who confumed, at Han-is' request, the dates ofButterbrodt's service at Tmtle Mountain. Dr. Butterbrodt was 
on site in North Dakota on August 26, 2010. The Turtle Mountain Service Unit in Belcourt, No1th Dakota, serves 
the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa. Indians. Like Brov.rning it is a very remote and rm·al facility; 50 1niles south 
of the Canadian Border in the east-central po1tion of the state. Belcomt is 110 miles from Minot, N.D., and 176 
miles from Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. 
259 At the same time Dr. Butterbrodt was being banished to Tmt le Mountain, the United States Senate Committee on 
Indian Affairs was considering the chronic administrative failmes that plagued the Aberdeen Area Office. IN 
CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Report of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010. One of the primary 
fmdings of the Committee was that "between 2002 and August 2010 there were a total of364 reassignments, 235 
details and 31 employee transfers. Additionally, the available documentation suggests that employees who filed 
EEO complaints were more likely to be detailed or reassigned compared to those that did not." Id, pp. 6-7. 
Dr. Butterbrodt's involuntaiy and abrupt transfer was clearly intended to suppress his crusade to expose Weber, and 
remove an employe.e considered a troublemaker. 
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Weber, however, remained at Pine Ridge for 
another six years . 

The accusations and investigations did 
not deter Weber from continuing to prey 
on adolescent Indian males. 

Agents interviewed- at his home. He 
stated that Weber was his pediatrician for an 
extended period and even saw- as an 
adult, which would be an anomaly 
considering Weber was a pediatrician 
throughout his career. 260 

- said the first time Weber 
inappropriately touched him was dur~ 
football physical when he was 13. 261 

-

also indicated that when he would go into 
the Emergency Room of the hospital, Weber 
would inse1i himself into the management of 
his treatment, even though Weber was not 
assigned to the Emergency Depa1iment. 262 

The first time Weber aggressively molested 
- occuned after Weber invited[­
to Weber's house. Weber sat next to him and 

eventuallf imf used his hand to touch and 
stimulate • • s penis, under[-s 
cloth-le also masturbating. Weber 
gave • • $100. 

The first incident of violent sexual assault 
also occmTed at Weber's home. Weber saw 
- at Big Bats, a convenience store in 
Pine Ridge, and invited mm back to his 
house for "beer." Upon ~ at the home, 
Weber had prepared alcohol, served in a 
bowl with fiuit. Weber also provide·•• 
with OxyContin pills. Weber asked • • 
to "name" his "price" to engage in anal sex. 
At some point during the evening, -
blacked out. When he awoke the next 
morning, he was naked in Weber's bed and 

his "butt hurt. " Weber was gone but next to 
[-s clothes Weber had left him more 
OxyContin pills. 

fu about mid-June of 2011, the second 
incident of sexual assault OCCUITed. mm 
went to Weber's house because he n=:r' 
money. Weber gavetwJfJ] marijuana, and 
~ to engage in anal sex with 
- resisted but Weber continued 
to exe1i force against • • and ultimately 
achieved anal penetrat10n. • • told him 
to stop and that Weber was hmiing him, but 
Weber did not stop. After that, Weber told 
rml'ffl'1 to get dressed. Weber gave-
~ 3 

The third and final incident of abuse .. f tm o~~UITed onrmm.. . . 
was nowl years ol~a g 
between Big Bats and Subway in Pine Ridge 
when Weber drove by and told him to get 
into the car. When back at Weber's house, 
Weber gave mm what he believed were 
morphine pi~ • • took 3 of them. 
Weber forced • • s pants down, held him 
down and Weber forcibly anally penetrated 
[tiJim] without lubrication, causing 
significant pain. 264 mm told him it hmi 
and was c1y ing, butWeber did not stop. 
After Weber finished, he ave • • a 
"crate" of pain killers and • • left on 
foot. 

It is wo1ih noting that the five incidents of 
predation involving [UJIUJ] makes clear that 
Weber 's abuse of patients continued well 
after the events of 2009-2010. Those events 
are recapped below: 

► SDBMOE Investigation 
► ad hoc Committee Investigation 

260 In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, S. earftsh, South Dakota, 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Dk. No. 2, at p . 19 
261 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of • • September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
262 Id. In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5t . Avenue, Spearfish, South Dakota, 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Dk. No. 2, at p. 
20. 
263 Id., at p . 20. 
264 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony otruJil;I] September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
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► Butterbrodt 's Second Complaint to 
the Clinical Director 

► Referral of Allegations to the OIG 
► Retaliation against Butterbrodt with 

his Reassignment to Belcourt 

As Weber approached his mandato1y 
retirement with the Commissioned Corps, he 
made application with the IHS to be a 
civilian physician. On December 6, 2011, 
Acting Deputy CEO of the Pine Ridge 
facility, Sophia Conroy, advised the Human 
Resources Department of the IHS that upon 
his retirement from the Commissioned 
Cmps, Weber had "tentatively accepted the 
position of PR2015 with the following 
salaiy upon approval: 

GS 15-1(:) 

Market Pay: 

Total: 

$ 99,682 

$105,372 

$205 000"265 

' 

"The Pine Ridge Hospital is in dire need of a 
Pediatrician," Conroy wrote, "Dr. Weber has 
been with the Commission Corp [sic] for 30 
years and will be retiring from the 
Commission Co1p [sic] effective December 
31 , 2011. ill order to keep the Pediatrician 
Services the Pine Ridge Hospital will like to 
retain Dr. Weber as the Supe1v iso1y 
Pediatrician. Dr. Weber will not request a 
retention bonus if he receives the proposed 
Market Pay. Dr. Weber has been working at 
the Pine Ridge Hospital as a provider for 
over 15 years and is familiar with the 
remoteness, staff, and patients." 

Administrative Support Assistant [tiJIEJ■ 
warned Conroy that she was concerned 
about the frequent visits of unaccompanied 
boys coming to see Weber when he was 
Clinical Director. Conroy had no comment 
when Cross told her that she was anxious 
about the situation; that it was unusual and 
disturbing. 266 Conroy, to her knowledge, 
never did anything about it and the 
steady stream of boys coming to see 
Weber never stopped until Weber left the 
facility. 

On December 28, 2011, Weber signed a 
PHS Quaiters Assignment and Acceptance 
Agreement. A handwritten notation across 
the top of the document indicated that the 
personnel change was "Moved Commission 
Co1ps to Civil Se1vice. "267 Beginning on 
Januaiy 1, 2012, Weber was a retiree of the 
PHS Commissioned Co1ps and a civilian 
employee of the illdian Health Se1vice. 268 

Weber was also now in management of the 
Pine Ridge Se1vice Unit. ill July 2011 
Weber had been elevated to Acting Clinical 
Director, 269 a position he would hold until 
his resignation from the IHS in May 
2016.270 

CEO \Yehnona Stabler 
2011 

While Acting Clinical Director, Weber 's 
immediate supe1v isor was Wehnona Stabler, 
CEO of the Pine Ridge Se1vice Center. 
Stabler lived neai· Weber in the IHS housing 
community where other neighbors obse1ved 
the constant traffic of young boys to and 

265 Official Personnel File OPF), Conroy Memorandum to Shanda Reik er, HR Specialist, dated December 6, 2011 . 
266 ICS interview o Administrative Assistant to the CEO and Deputy CEO at the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. 
267 Official Personnel File (OPF), PHS Qua1ters Assignment and Acceptance Agreement, dated December 28, 201 1. 
268 Official Personnel File (OPF), Notice of Personnel Action, Office of Personnel Management, Approval Date 
January 13, 2012, signed (electronically) Geraldine A. Fox, Human Resources Officer. 
269 Official Personnel File (OPF), Collllllissioned Officer's Effectiveness Repo1t, November 28, 2011. 
270 ICS could not confirm whether Weber held the position of Acting Clinical Director continually or intennittently 
during this period. 

Disclosure of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 

54 )---------



THE WEBER REPORT 

from Weber's house.271 Stabler told 
Frontline that she had been made aware of 
the allegations of Weber's pedophilia, that a 
caller complained about Weber, but didn't 
provide her any specifics and it never went 
anywhere. 272 Asked if he was the 
anonymous caller, Dr. Butterbrodt told ICS 
that the call came from him, was by no 
means anonymous, and that he provided 
Stabler with all of the infonnation he had 
collected. Butterbrodt urged Stabler "in the 
strnngest possible tenns" to remove Weber 
from Pine Ridge. 273 Stabler took no action 
to investigate the allegations, remove 
Weber, or report the allegations to the 
Area Office or the OIG. 

In 2017, Stabler was indicted by a federal 
grand jmy in South Dakota. for failing to 
disclose a payment from a subordinate on 
government ethics fonns. Stabler had 
accepted a $5000 payment from Weber in 
January of 2013.274 In June of 2018, Stabler 
plead guilty to the felony crime and was 
placed on a one-year· unsupervised te1m of 
probation. 

BIA Law Enforcement Referral 
2015 

In the summer of 2015, Oglala Sioux Tribe 
Attorney General T atawin Means contacted 
BIA law enforcement with info1mation 
regar·ding possible victims of Weber.275 The 
BIA invited the OIG Special Investigations 
Branch to participate in the criminal 
investigation in October of that year. 
Although allegations against Weber had 
been referred to the OIG in 2010, 276 this 
appears to have been the first time the 
OIG had initiated an investigation into 
the allegations against Weber. 

On June 15, 2015, 
SA Fred Bennett. 2 

and , disclosed 
that he was sexually abused by Weber from 
when he was 11 years old, and a patient of 
Weber 's, until he was about 18 year·s old. 
During his interview with Bennett,_ 
said that the year·s of sexual abuse by Weber 
included digital stimulation of his penis, oral 
and anal sex for which he was rewar·ded 
with money, clothes, alcohol, a gaming 

271 ICS interview o~ Director of Security at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, October 24, 2019. (identifying 
Stabler's house for ICS). As to activities at Weber's house, Weber, CR 17-50033, Trial testimony of Jacklyn Miller, 
IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, September 25, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant; Also, ICS interview o~ Miller, 
IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 19, 2019; See also, ICS interview otlillll 
- IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, Pine Rid~e, South Dakota, September 30, 2019. 

Frontline reference to Wehnona Stabler, aired Febmary 12, 2019. 
273 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fo1mer pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. Butterbrodt's assertions to ICS consultants about the call were somewhat inconsistent with what he told the 
press. "Dr. Butterbrodt made one last effort to oust Mr. Weber. He said he called Wehnona Stabler, then the new 
CEO at the Pine Ridge IHS hospital and made an anonymous complaint." Christopher Weaver, Dan Frosch, and 
Gabe Johnson, "A Pedophile Doctor Drew Suspicions for 21 Years. No One Stopped Him", PBS Frontline in 
partnership with Wall Street Journal, Februa1y 8, 2019. Stabler did not report the allegations to OIG or the Area 
Office as she would have been required to under federal statute, regulation and IHS policy. 
274 United States v. Stabler, CR 17-50097 (DSD), Dk. No. 2 (Indictment), June 20, 2017. Dk. No. 47, (Judgment) 
June 28, 2018. 
215 In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dakota, 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Search WruTant 
Application and Affidavit of Cuti Muller, Dk. No. 2, p. 17. 
276 Bimey email to Vantrease, dated August 3, 2010; Also, Vantrease email to Birney, dated August 9, 2010. "We 
will log the complaint, but unless there is something more specific than an affiliation with Capt Keats, we will have 
to rely on the /HS review at this time." 
277 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of Fred Bennett, Special Agent, Bureau of Indian Affairs Law 
Enforcement. , September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
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syste- other enticements.278 Weber 
gave • • Percocet and Vicodin and 
testified that he knew Weber gave other 
boys drngs as well. - recalled that 
Weber brought him gifts from Thailand and 
Ge1many. 279 

- recalled that he was incarcerated in 
the Juvenile Se1v ices Center (JSC) in Rapid 
City on December 24, 2004, and Weber 
signed him out. They then engaged in sex 
acts and Weber gave him money. Then 
- absconded. JSC records confiimed 
the events related by - as to his 
incarceration, release to Weber, and failure 
to return to the facility in December 2004. 280 

- told agents that most of the sex abuse 
occmTed in Weber's IHS housing.28 1[G)l(i 
gave a detailed description ofWeber~ d 
body. - indicated that he engaged in 
the sex with Weber primarily for the money 
Weber was willing to give him in exchange 
for sex. Weber continued giving _ 
money, and other gifts, rwer Ill 

exchange for sex, when • • was in 
custody in the State Penitentiaiy. The 
continued contact between them was 
verified with several letters - provided 
to law enforcement. 282 

Reminiscent of Weber's conduct in Montana 
and explanation for having boys spend the 
night at his home, - testified that when 
he was young "Dr. Weber was the only one 
who cared for me when my family put me 
out" . 283 

When later inte1viewed M OIG, Weber 
acknowledged knowing • • and claimed 
that he probably gave money to - but 
that the payments were for housework. 
Weber denied sexuall.ing him. He 
admitted to c. • • out of JSC, but 
again denied • • s allegations of sexual 
congress. Weber also admitted to bailing 
out other Indian boys. 284 While admitting 
that boys in Browning spent the night at his 
home when he was at Blackfeet, Weber 
denied any boys had ever spent the night at 
his house in Pine Ridge. 285 

Later, in a Frontline interview, [G)l(i 
recounted an incident when he hadgone to 
Weber 's house for mone . As Weber 
staiied to molest him, • refeITed to in 
the Frontline broadcast as • • "snatched" 
his wallet and fled. 286 IHS Security 
records287 reflect that this incident occurred 
on Januaiy 15, 2005. Tribal police also 
responded to repo1is of an assault and 
located- not too far from Weber's 

278 In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dakota, 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Search WruTant 
Application and Affidavit of Out Muller, Dk. No. 2, p. 17. 
279 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of~ September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
280 Id., Also, In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spea,fish, South Dak.ota, 5:17 mj-20 (DSD), Search 
Wa1Tant Application and Affidavit of Cutt Muller, Dk. No. 2, pp. 17-18. 
281 In the Matter of the Search of 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dakota. 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Search WruTant 
Application and Affidavit of Cu1t Muller, Dk. No. 2, pp. 18. At trial, • • clarified that all of the abuse occuu-ed 
in Weber' s home - "never at the hospital". Trial testimony o • • September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS 
consultant. 
282 Id., at 18. It was noted that on the day of Weber's interview, a young boy was at Weber's house. Weber, CR 17-
50033, Transcript of Interview with Dr. Patrick Weber, Mayl 9, 2016, Dk. No. 50, pp. 14-15. 
283 Trial testimony o- September 24, 2019. From notes ofICS consultant. 
284 Id., at pp. 13-14, 22-27. 
285 Id., at p . 12. 
286 Frontline interview (telephonic) of~ aired Febrna1y 12, 2019. 
287 As noted earlier, ICS was provided a summruy of service unit security encounters involving Weber in the form of 
an annotated spreadsheet with limited details about each incident. The security staff are not associated with tribal 
police. Ill an-est for this incident was made by tribal police. It is used here only to establish the date with greater 
precision. 
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home. - disclosed to Officer Hudspeth 
what Weber had been doing to him and, 
according to Hudspeth, because the ti·ibal 
authorities did not have jurisdiction over the 
crime alleged, he passed the accusation 
along to federal authorities. 288 

ICS did not locate any contemporaiy 
documentation of the refe1rnl - which may 
have been only a verbal refeITal -- but no 
further investigation was initiated. -
was never contacted by federal 
authorities289 until the 2015 investigation 
had been initiated. 

After[@Jls disclosures, agents began 
compiling a list of other potential victims 
from other sources such as witness 
interviews, medical records, police repo1is, 
anonymous tips, and anecdotal infonnation 
provided by other witnesses. 290 

On July 8, 2015, [(DW] 
emailed Rick Sorensen, Deputy Area 
Director, and Ron Cornelius, Area Director, 
for the Great Plains Area. "I have looked at 
the investigative report and I called John 
Long this evening. He said that the 
investigation is still ongoing but that they 
have opened a federal case with the US 
Attorney's Office. No action on their part is 
imminent. But they felt they should let IHS 
know of their findings in case IHS wanted to 
take any action. I think the best course of 
action is to discuss this with Employee 
Relations and with Alice LaFontaine 

(b) (6) 

tomorrow .... "291 Included with the email 
was the undated, two-page Report of 

~ation (ROI) prepai·ed MmtA 
LVI.IWJ292 The repo1i, which • • 
confnmed he had provided to his supervisor 
who delivered it to the Area Office, 293 

detailed the disclosures by- and 
advised the reader that Weber had also been 
the subject of accusations in Browning. 294 

On July 9, 2015, rmlm] sent a second email 
to Sorenson and ~us and included 
fellow , titled 
"Pine Ridge Investigation." "Following up 
on the investigative report ... I also spoke 
with John Long, Chief Investigator for BIA 
Police at Pine Ridge. No immediate action 
of[sic] their part is antidpated but they are 
proceedingforward on the 
investigation. They sent the information to 
IHS in the event IHS wanted to take any 
action with respect to this provider. You 
have no way of corroborating the 
investigation. There are no names used that 
would allow you to cross reference your 
own records. At this time, you have been 
put on notice by BIA Police of a possible 
crime or crimes committed by one of your 
providers and a link between those crimes 
and the providers Federal duties and in 
particular, patient care duties. That being 
the case, the questions (sic) arises to what 
action can/should be taken. From the 
personnel perspective, I do not think there is 
sufficient basis to invoke indefinite 

288 Frontline interview of Dan Hudspeth, former Oglala Sioux Tribe police officer, aired February 12, 2019. 
289 Frontline broadcast aired Februa1y 12, 2019. The nan-ator identifies illl as the source of the asse1tion that he 
was never contacted by federal authorities. 
290 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of Curt Muller, Special Agent, HHS OIG, September 26, 2019. From 
notes ofICS consultant. 
291 ~ email to Sorenson and Cornelius, dated July 8, 2015. 
292 The email exchange suggests that theUDIGJ] memo came to~ from Sorenson and that it was first provided 
to the Area Office, not the OGC. ICS does not have the emails that preceded the ones referenced here, but conclude 
that there is at least one relevant communication - where the repo1t was fo1warded to~ - is missing. [QJJGJJ 
confumed that the re 01t was delivered to the Area Office, not OGC. 
293 ICS interview o fonner BIA Special Agent at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 1, 
2019. 
294

~ email to Sorenson and Cornelius, dated July 8, 2015. [mIUJ] report attached to email. 
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suspension of the provider, See attached 
MSPB case [Hernandez v. Department of 
Navy]. I suggest that we have a discussion 
regarding what other actions may be 
warranted. Our recommendation is to 
place him on summary suspension of 
clinical privileges ( action available to you 
through the Bylaws) and placement on 
some administrative duty and away from 
patient care. I know you have your hands 
f ull with Winnebago but ifyou would like to 
discuss this I will try to be available. 11295 

On Jul 10, 2015, Sorenson responded to 
"I am out of the office at a hospital 

. I have copied Shelly 
on t is message. I think I need to 

let Shelly take it from here since she has 
oversight of the service units."297 

In July 2015, the OIG was not involved in 
the investigation. Everyone involved in 
this exchange - in the Area Office and at 
the OGC - are required by federal 
regulation to report allegations of 
criminal conduct298 and allegations that 
constitute a risk to public safety. 299 None 
did so. The OIG was advised of the 
allegations and brought in to an already 
initiated BIA investigation in October 
2015.300 

Ahnost fom months later, in an October 30, 
2015, email, sho1ily after the BIA had 
brought the OIG into the Weber 

JCS does not further recount here what happened to Weber's victims. Several other victims testified or were 

interviewed, and their graphic depictions of sexual assault, degradation, and abuse are available in court 

documents. JCS emphasizes, however, the importance of confronting the real and personal damage Weber 

has done. The victims who came forward span almost 30 years (the last known victim in 2011) and 

represent an unbelievable scope of human wreckage. For every known victim there are likely dozens of 

victims who endured their abuse in silence and will do so until the end of their life. The agency must 

appreciate - as so many of Weber's managers seemingly failed to do - the destruction caused by child sexual 

abuse and the urgency of action such a/legations demand. 

295 ~ email to Sorenson, Comelius, andtilm dated July 9, 2015. ICS emphasis added. 
296 In July 2015, Hanis was serving as the Acting Deputy Area Director Field Operations, Great Plains Area Office. 
ICS interview of Shelly Hanis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, Belcourt, 
North Dakota, November 2, 2019. 
297 Id. Pait of the same email string, adding Hanis. 
298 45 CPR § 73. 735- 1301 - Responsibility for reporting possible criminal violations. An employee who has 
info1mation which he or she reasonably believes indicates a possible offense against the United States by an 
employee of the Department, or any other individual working on behalf of the Department, shall immediately repo1t 
such information to his or her supervisor, any management official, or directly to the Office of the Inspector 
General. 
299 45 CPR § 73. 73 5- 1302 - Responsibility for reporting allegations of misconduct. An employee who has 
info1mation which he or she reasonably believes indicates the existence of an activity constituting (a) a possible 
violation of a rule or regulation of the Department; or (b) mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, or abuse of 
autho1ity; or (c) a substantial and specific danger to the public health and safety, shall immediately report such 
info1mation to his or her supervisor, any management official of the Department, or directly to the Office of the 
Inspector General. 
300 Weber, CR 17-50033; Trial testimony of Curt Muller, Special Agent, HHS OIG, September 26, 2019. From 
notes ofICS consultant. 
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investigation, HaITis advised Conroy and 
Weber that "Dr Weber is to Be [sic] 
assigned ONLY Administrative Clinical 
Director duties effective immediately to 
ensure Medical Leadership & Oversight. 
Dr. Weber is not to perform any Direct 
Patient Care until further notice .... Dr. 
Weber will be focusing on CMS deficiencies 
& assist with a corrective action plan. "301 

HaiTis infonned the orG of this action the 
following day. 302 

HaiTis told res that the first she ever 
"officially heai·d" of the accusations of 
pedophilia against Weber was when she was 
contacted by orG SA Muller in the Fall of 
2015. 303 While this may be her recollection, 
her memo1y fails to account for the July 9-
10, 2015, email string fo1wai·ded to her by 
Sorenson which suggests she either did not 
read its contents at the time or did not take 
the matter - " ... you have been put on 
notice by BIA Police of a possible crime or 
crimes committed by one of your providers 
and a link between those crimes and the 
providers Federal duties and in particular, 
patient care duties. " - seriously. She 
received a letter about Weber from CEO 
Colton in March 2009. Additionally, she 
was on email strings regarding Weber, and 
specifically mentioned by naine in at least 
two of those emails . 304 HaiTis said the Pine 
Ridge Service Unit leadership should have 

"eITed on the side of caution" and reported 
the allegations to the Area Office because 
children were possibly being assaulted. 
HaiTis speculated that the Aberdeen Service 
Unit did not repo1i the allegations to the 
Aberdeen because "they did not want to lose 
a provider." HaITis told res that she was 
concerned about the Medical Executive 
Committee investigating "one of their own" 
and that it is a "conflict." In retrospect, she 
expressed concern about "how thorough" 
the committee was in investigating one of 
their colleagues; "how far did the committee 
go to investigate the allegations is a concern 
of mine." 

There is also no indication from the extant 
records that rGJm Cornelius or Sorenson 
followed up ~ July discussions to 
ensure appropriate action was taken. 305 The 
willingness of Area and Unit management to 
ignore and suppress any allegation against 
Weber seems to have blessed his cai·eer right 
up to the end. 

ICS noted, with some degree of 
incredulity, that the Area Office took 
almost four months to address the OGC 
directive -- and then, when action was 
spuITed by the orG, HaITis found it 
appropriate to keep Weber in the Pine Ridge 
Service Unit as the Acting Clinical Director, 
with access to hospital records, access to 
patients (victims, potential victims, and 

301 Han-is email to Conroy and Weber, dated October 30, 2015. 
302 Id. Fo1warded to SA Muller, OIG, October 31, 2015. 
303 ICS interview of Shelly Hairis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, Belcourt, 
North Dakota, October 29, 2019. 
304 Keats email to Colton, Colton' s response, dated April 10, 2009. "I sent a letter to (.with a copy to 
Mr. Pourier and Ms. Shelly Harris) stating that the Medical Executive committee was not, in n7cy opinion, the 
appropriate body to investigate such allegations. " (ICS emphasis added); Keats email to Colton, l.!.!!.!l.ll and 
Pourier, dated April 10, 2009 ("/ believe AAO [Aberdeen Area Office] would have a problem with such a move. I 
have fonvarded this to Ms. Harris for her input as well. ")(ICS emphasis added); Keats email to Red Thunder, 
l.!.!!.!l.ll, McShe1ry, Pourier, and Colton, dated June 12, 2009 ("/ know you are aware of the Medical Officer issue at 
the Pine Ridge Service Unit where CAPT S. Patrick Weber was accused of inappropriate behavior as a medical 
officer, .. .) 
305 As noted in the INTRODUCTION, however, there are significant gaps in either documentation or the recovery of 
documentation. This observation is made based on the evidence available during the review upon which conclusions 
could be drawn. 
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witnesses), and as a line supervisor of 
facility staff (potential witnesses). For an 
agency that exhibited little operational 
opposition to the rapid reassignment of 
employees to other facilities, leaving 
Weber in place at Pine Ridge AND in a 
supervisory position was not the best 
exercise of management judgment. It was, 
however, the easiest way to address the 
situation if avoiding confrontation and 
controversy is prioritized over patient safety. 

ill fairness to HaITis, however, the directive 
from OGe did not recommend a more 
consequential response; no one involved 
appeared to appreciate the danger of 
allowing an accused pedophile to have 
continued access, in the facility, to the 
targeted group of teenage illdian males in 
the Pine Ridge community he was accused 
of molesting. ill fact, numerous managers 
indicated to res that confronted with 
allegations of pedophilia they would remove 
the provider from patient care and assign 
them to some administrntive tasks such as 
cha1i reviews until the investigation was 
complete. 306 res concluded that this limited 
administrative reaction reflected a 
misunderstanding of pedophilia - that a 
predator will discontinue his abuse if his 
professional access is restricted -- and an 
assumption that removing the provider from 
the examining room is sufficient to deprive 
the provider from access to his prefe1Ted 
patient population which he has spent 
countless hours cultivating and grooming for 
abuse. The better response would have 
been to remove him from the facility and 

the best response would have been to 
remove him from the community entirely. 

When asked about her decision, HaiTis told 
res that she thought this was the best way to 
keep Weber from seeing patients while not 
ale1iing him to the criminal investigation. 307 

However, that justification seems 
inconsistent with the fact that Weber told 
her the next day that "I do not see many 
patients any more, only those who ask to 
see me, so this is easy to accomplish ... . 
Several months ago I became aware that 
former employee of /HS who had been on a 
crusade to destroy my career was back in 
the area. I also became aware that he was 
working to get a medication program that 
the Tribal DA was advocating for in the 
treatment of alcoholics. I have been 
expecting that he would restart his 
campaign against me, perhaps with the 
DA 's support ... "308 Weber was ah-eady 
awai·e that he was being investigated; HaITis 
was immediately advised of that fact by 
Weber himself. 

~ caine to Pine Ridge as a 
~ i Assistant (MSA) in the 
Pediatrics Department (PEDS) in September 
2015. Weber would tell her that patients -
which she discovered were only young 
teenage boys -- would be coming to the 
clinic to see him and that she was to call him 
in the Administration Offices when they 
anived at PEDS. 309 The boys would 
randomly come into PEDS and ask to see 
Weber; they were unaccompanied, did not 
have appointments, and did not go through 
n01mal patient registration at the entrance of 
the hospital and fill out the pape1work as the 

306 ICS interview of Dr. Lee Lawrence, Chief Medical Officer (CMO), Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South 
Dakota, October 15, 2019. 
307 ICS interview of Shelly Han-is, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Bmdick Memo11al Hospital, Belcourt, 
North Dakota, November 2, 2019. 
308 Weber email res~ dated October 31, 2015. ICS emphasis added. 
309 ICS interview ot~ former Medical Suppo1t Assistant at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Rapid City, 
South Dakota, November 27, 2019. 
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regular patients did when they crune to the 
PEDS Clinic. When the boys aiTived, 
tlU called Weber and he would come 
over to PEDS from the Administration 
Office. Weber used one of the examination 
rooms for about 20 minutes to see the young 
boys. Weber was the Acting Clinical 
Director at the time, and he was not actually 
working in the PEDS Clinic. 

An Administrative Suppo1i Assistant at the 
Pine Ridge facility came to the hospital in 
October 2015. She personally observed that 
it was common for young boys to visit the 
Administrative Office after hospital hours, 
which she clarified as after 5:30 p.m., and 
ask to see Weber. These boys were often 
alone, although sometimes there would be 
two to three boys in a group. Weber would 
always take the boy(s) - being 12 - 14 years 
of age -- into his office and close the 
door. 3 10 This occuned the first week in her 
new position and lasted until Weber retired 
from federal se1v ice. 3 11 [t;J1(911 told res 
that young teenage boys always came to see 
Weber; never any females. When Weber 
was the Clinical Director "this happened a 
lot". She would see the srune faces of the 
srune boys always coming to see Weber in 
the Administration office. Cross recalled 
asking some of the boys for their names, but 
they would not give them to her, saying they 
would come back to see Weber later. 
Jacklyn Miller told res that Weber "got his 
way around here" because he was the 
Clinical Director the last couple of years 
before he left; Weber "had a lot of say so 
and nobody challenged him." 

During this final yeai·, while Weber was 
supposedly restricted to administrative 
duties and was not to be seeing patients, 
Weber still ordered Sexually Transinitted 
Disease (STD) tests for male patients and 
distributed Zithromax (an STD medication) 
from his office. 312 Ordering STD exams for 
all adolescent male patients, regardless of 
complaint, was a practice of Weber 's since 
at least 2009.313 Between 2011 and 2016, 
when Weber se1ved as Acting Clinical 
Director, Maijorie Schinidt, then the Deputy 
Clinical Director at Pine Ridge, obse1ved 
Weber storing and dispensing Zithromax to 
adolescent boys from his office. Schinidt 
confronted Weber, reminding him that 
prescription dmgs could only be dispensed 
through the phannacy and only by 
prescription. Schmidt told ICS that her 
efforts were to no avail and Weber 
continued to keep and dispense drugs 
from his office without a prescription 
until he left in May of 2016. 314 

Weber also continued his nighttime visits to 
~ dolescent males. 
- saw Weber - then 
working in Administration as the Clinical 
Director and not actively treating patients -­
come to the Acute floor 3 or 4 times a day 
after he admitted boys to the 
hospital. Weber would also take the video 
game console, which he kept in his office in 
Administration, into the rooms to give to the 
boys. Because Weber was admitting boys 
for minor medical issues (non-serious) so 

(b) (6) often, staiied to follow Weber 

310 ICS interview of Diane Little Hawk, Administrative Suppo1t Assistant at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 12, 2019. 
311 Id. 
312 ICS interview o IHS nurse at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, (b) (6) 
DATE 
313 First Butterbrodt email to Colton, Pourier and Red Willow, dated Febmary 27, 2009. 
314 ICS interview ofMa1jorie Schmidt, fo1mer Deputy Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Gordon, 
Nebraska, November 26, 2019. Schmidt had also served on the 2009 ad hoc committee assembled by Dr. Jan 
Colton. 
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into the hospital rooms when he came to 
visit the boys. 315 

Dr. Cosme se1ved as the Acting Clinical 
Director sometime around 2010 or 2011. 
Although he could not recall the dates with 
precision, this would have been before 
Weber became the Acting Clinical Director 
in July of 2011. While Acting Clinical 
Director, Cosme had access to the files in 
the Clinical Director's office file cabinet. 
One drawer contained numerous files on 
Pine Ridge Hospital medical providers who 
had been the subject of complaints, internal 
investigations, and disciplina1y action. 316 

Dr. Cosme told ICS that the files included 
the complaints filed against Weber and the 
ad hoc Investigation Committee 's 
repo1t. Dr. Cosme fmther advised that these 
files were "no longer there"; Cosme does 
not know who removed the files or where 
the files are now located. 

Just before his departure in May of 2016, 
Cross came to work on one Sunday in the 
Administration office and found Weber in 
the office, shredding documents and 
cleaning out his office. When she saw 
Weber shredding documents, she 
immediately thought to herself, "he is 
shredding the evidence." 317 Weber told 
Cross that "these are my last few days and 
I'm sure you are going to hear that I'm 
leaving the hospital." Sometime after Weber 
cleaned out his office, OIG agents arrived at 
the hospital to take his com uter. Maijorie 
Schinidt and were 
asked to pro to Weber 
that were needed for the OIG investigation. 

Ve1y few documents regai·ding Weber were 
located. 318 

Summarizing the events of 2015, after 
almost four months of inaction regarding 
Weber, management took steps which 

► allowed him continued access to the 
same adolescent Indian male 
population into which he had spent 
years ingratiating himself, 

► allowed him to stay in the service 
unit working among the most 
probable pool of witnesses against 
him, 

► allowed him to remain in a 
management role as the supervisor 
of employees who might be 
witnesses against him, and 

► allowed him continued access to 
/HS communications and 
documents where he could delete 
any and all records that may 
contain evidence against him. 

Almost a yeai· after the BIA investigation 
had been initiated, and eight months after 
the OIG had joined the investigation, on 
May 11 , 2016, Weber was placed on paid 
administrative leave. 319 Four days later, on 
Sunday, May 15, 2016, in an email to the 
Area Administrative Officer, Weber 
announced his decision to retire from the 

315 ICS interview o Registered Nurse at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South (b) (6) 
Dakota, November 27, 2019. 
316 ICS interview of Dr. Fernando Cosme, Pediatrician at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 14, 2019.,.. __ _ 
317 ICS interview of[UJIGJJI Administrative Assistant to the CEO and Deputy CEO at the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. 
318 ICS interview ofMa1jorie Schmidt, fo1mer Acting Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Gordon, 
Nebraska., November 26, 2019. 
319 Official Personnel File (OPF), Conroy letter to Weber, dated May 11 , 2016. 
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IHS320, and resigned the following day on 
May 16, 2016. 321 

On May 19, 2016, SA Bennett saw Weber 
stopped in constiuction ti·affic in Pine Ridge 
and told him that agents wanted to interview 
him. Weber had not been, prior to that day, 
interviewed in relation to the allegations 
made against him. 

SA Bennett and SA Muller interviewed 
Weber that same day at his home in IHS 
housing. He was in the process of moving 
out due to his resignation. During the 
interview, Weber denied sexually abusing 
boys, but did adt- stated above, to 
knowing victim • • 322 

During the investigation, agents established 
that Weber had, over the course of his IHS 
career, repeatedly ti·aveled to various Third 
World countries known for sex tourism, 
most often Thailand. After one such ti·ip, 
Weber had returned from Thailand with a 
black eye which he claimed to have 
sustained in a fall. 323 During the interview, 
Weber adtnitted to traveling to these 
countries and engaging in sex with young 
men, but that he "thought" they were all 
adults. Agents concluded from the answers 
given during the inte1v iew that Weber did 
not attempt to verify his victims were in fact 
adults.324 Weber was asked, "Did you have 
to pay them to have sexual intercourse when 
you were in Thailand?" Weber responded, 
"Well, not exactly, but you know if you're 
having sex with somebody you do favors for 
them, like take them out to eat or buy them 

some clothes. But I don't know if you could 
really classify it as a fee." Investigators later 
detennined from the review of airline 
records that Weber had ti·aveled to Bangkok, 
Thailand, on approximately 10 different 
occasions from the years 2010 to 2015. 325 

Although Weber claimed that many ti·ips to 
Thailand involved medical conferences he 
adtnitted that all of these ti·ips were paid for 
out of his own pocket and the IHS never 
covered the costs of ti·avel. Weber adtnitted 
viewing gay male adult sites on the internet 
but denied using his government issued 
laptop to search for or view pornography. 
Weber could not remember the name of any 
internet pornography site he had ever 
viewed. During the discussion regarding his 
pornography habits on the internet, Weber 
was asked, "Any juvenile pornography 
whether video or still pictures?" Weber 
responded, "I can't ... no. Not nonnally, no." 
Follow up questions were asked of Weber 
regarding his use of computers and him 
visiting websites containing possible child 
pornography. Weber stated, "Not that I 
know of." 326 

Weber adtnitted that he had been 
polygraphed at least twice while at Pine 
Ridge. Once by the FBI in 1996 when he 
was accused of molesting a patient. He 
recalled that he passed. 327 Then he was 
polygraphed during the SDBMOE 
investigation in 2009. He did not recall that 

320 Official Personnel File (OPF), Weber email to Administrative Officer Kathy Jarussi and Conroy, dated May 15, 
2016. 
321 Official Personnel File (OPF), Notice of Personnel Action, Weber Resignation effective May 16, 2016, dated 
May 27, 2016, signed (electronically) Alice L. Lafontaine, Human Resources Officer. 
322 In the Matter of the Search o 2315 5th Avenue, Spearfish, South Dakota, 5: 17 mj-20 (DSD), Dk. No. 2, at p . 25 . 
323 ICS interview o former IHS credentialing specialist at Pine Ridge Hospital, Sheridan, 
Wyoming, August 1, 2019. 
324 Weber, CR 17-50033, Transcript of Interview with Dr. Patrick Weber, Dk. No. 50, pp. 17-20. 
325 Id., at p . 24. 
326 Id., at pp. 124-126. 
327 Id., at p . 64. 
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he failed. 328 Weber told Muller and Bennett 
that he went for a 3-day psychological 
assessment dming the licensing board 
inquiiy, and that the SDBMOE had 
ultimately "cleared" him. 329 

fu Febrnary of 2017, Weber was indicted for 
numerous acts of criminal sexual assault 
against children. 

Prosecution and Criminal 
Proceedinf!S 

On February 22, 2017, a federal grand 
jury in South Dakota indicted Weber on 
10 counts of crimes against children 
including Aggravated Sexual Abuse, 
Sexual Abuse, and Sexual Abuse of a 
Minor. 330 All charges related to the abuse 
of child patients under his care while he 
was working at the IHS facility in Pine 
Ridge. The indictment was sealed and 
remained so until Febrna1y 28, 2017, when 
Weber appear·ed before a U.S. Magistrate in 
Rapid City and plead not guilty to all 
charges in the indictment. 33 1 On June 19, 
2017, Weber filed a motion to suppress 
evidence seem ed by a sear·ch wan-ant 
executed dming the investigation. 332 An 
evidentiary hearing was conducted on 
November 1, 2017, and the motion taken 
under advisement by the Court pending 

supplemental briefing based on evidence 
adduced at the hearing. 333 

On Febrnary 7, 2018, while the South 
Dakota prosecution was still pending, a 
federal grand jury in Montana indicted 
Weber on five counts of Aggravated 
Sexual Abuse of a Child for crimes 
against children on the Blackfeet Indian 
Reservation while he was an IHS 
pediatrician at the Browning facility 
between 1992 and 1995.334 Weber appear·ed 
before the U.S. Magistrate in Great Falls on 
the Montana indictment and plead not guilty 
on Mar·ch 6, 2018. Ajmy trial was set for 
May 14, 2018. 335 

On April 13, 2018, in the Montana case, 
Weber filed a series of motions to suppress 
evidence and statements made, and other 
evidentiary requests. 336 Trial was continued 
to June 25, 2018. 337 Weber moved to 
continue the motions hear·ing and trial date. 
The Court scheduled a motions hearing for 
June 26, 2018, and continued the trial date to 
August 6, 2018.338 

That same day, April 13, 2018, in South 
Dakota, the U.S. Magistrate Judge submitted 
findings and recommendations regar·ding the 
motion to suppress filed in the South Dakota 
case on June 26, 2017. 339 The final decision 

328 Id., at pp. 68-71. Weber' s 2013 OPF contained a January 17, 2013, letter from- SDBMOE, 
indicating that the SDBMOE had conducted an audit of their "Closed" files and advised Weber that his file "was 
closed with no action wan-anted". Official Personnel File (OPF), Febrna1y 25, 2013 . 
329 Id., at p. 68. 
330 United States v. Weber, CR 17-50033 (DSD, Westem Division) [18 U.S.C. §§224l (c), 2242(A)(c), 2243(a) and 
1152]; Dk No. 1. 
331 

332 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 28. 
333 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 43. 
334 United States v. Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM (DMT, Great Falls Division) [18 U.S.C. §§224l (c), 2243(a), 
2244(a)(2) and 1152]; Dk No 1. 
335 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 10, 13. 
336 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 20-29. 
337 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 34. 
338 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 45, 46. 
339 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 55. 
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then rested with the U.S. District Judge in 
South Dakota. 

After another sho1i continuance in the 
Montana prosecution, Weber's motions 
were heard on July 10, 2018. 340 Weber filed 
another motion to continue the trial, but U.S. 
District Comi Judge Brian Monis denied the 
request. 341 Weber then asked that the trial be 
moved to South Dakota. That motion was 
also denied. 342 Due to an undisclosed and 
"unforeseen" event occmring the weekend 
before trial was set to begin, trial was 
continued to September 4, 2018. 343 

After a three-day jmy trial in Great Falls, on 
September 6, 2018, Weber was found guilty 
of fom counts of the Montana Indictment 
and not guilty on one count.344 Weber was 
remanded into custody and sentencing was 
set for December 13, 2018.345 

Meanwhile, in South Dakota, on October 15, 
2018, Chief U.S. District Judge Jeffrey 
Viken denied the motion to suppress filed in 
the South Dakota case, and set the trial for 
November 13, 2018. 346 

On October 23, 2018, the grandjmy in 
South Dakota handed down a 12-count 
Superseding Indictment. 347 A motion to 
continue the trial date was granted and the 
trial reset for Janua1y 8, 2019.348 On 
December 10, 2018, Weber requested 

340 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 50. 
341 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 52, 54. 
342 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 62, 63 . 
343 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 87. 
344 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 122. 
345 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 126. 
346 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk Nos. 59, 60. 
347 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 62 
348 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk Nos. 61, 64 
349 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk Nos. 66, 67 
350 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk Nos. 135, 136. 
351 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 145. 
352 Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM, Dk No. 150. 

another continuance of the trial, and trial 
was continued to Febma1y 19, 2019.349 

Weber asked for a continuance of the 
December 2018 sentencing on the Montana 
charges and sentencing was set for Januaiy 
2019. 350 On Januaiy 16, 2019, on the 
Montana Indictment and conviction, Weber 
was sentenced to over 18 years in prison 
(220 months), a $200,000 fine and five years 
of supe1vised release by U.S. District Judge 
Monis.351 Weber remained in custody. 

On Januaiy 29, 2019, Weber appealed his 
conviction and sentence to the United States 
Comi of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. 352 

The Circuit has set the case for oral 
ai·guments in Seattle on Febma1y 6, 2020. 353 

On Januaiy 17, 2020, the Circuit Comi 
vacated the oral argument and subinitted the 
case on the briefs. At this writing the 
Montana appeal is still pending. 

On Januaiy 23, 2019, the prosecution in the 
South Dakota case sought a continuance of 
the trial. A series of defense motions 
followed on Januaiy 25, 2019. On Febmaiy 
7, 2019, the government's motion was 
granted, and trial was reset for September 
23, 2019. 354 

On August 20, 2019, a federal Grand Jury 
in South Dakota handed down a new 
indictment charging Weber with two 
additional counts of Sexual Abuse of a 

353 United States v. Wehe,~ CA 19-3022, Dk. No. 28, November 24, 2019. 
354 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk Nos. 70, 72-76, 78 
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Minor (180.S.C. §§ 2243(a) and 1152) 
involving an unidentified victim. 355 

The government filed a Notice of Intent to 
Offer Evidence pursuant to Rules 413 and 
414 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, which 
put Weber on notice that victims not 
identified in the indictment would be called 
to testify to establish a propensity and 
pattern of conduct. 356 

On September 10, 2019, the federal grand 
jmy in South Dakota retmned a Second 
Superseding Indictment against Weber, 
charging him again with 12 counts that 
include Aggravated Sexual Abuse (18 
U.S.C. §2241(c)), Sexual Abuse of a Minor 
(18 U.S.C. §2243(a)), and Sexual Abuse (18 
U.S.C. §2242(2)(A)). 357 The amended 
pleading merely changed some of the 
wording in the counts to clarify the 
accusation. On September 13, 2019, the 
government moved to dismiss one of the 
counts of the Second Superseding 
Indictment when it was concluded that one 
of the victims may have been older than 12 
years at the time of the assault. 

Trial collllllenced in Rapid City, South 
Dakota, on September 23, 2019. During the 
trial two counts were dismissed on motion 
of the government after the prosecution 
concluded its witnesses had not testified as 
to facts that would sustain a conviction. 358 

Another count was dismissed at the close of 

the government's case, pursuant to Rule 29, 
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, for 
failure of the prosecution to prove the 
allegations of that count. 359 

On September 27, 2019, Weber was found 
guilty on all remaining eight counts of the 
indictment. 360 

Sentencing on the South Dakota. conviction 
was set for Febrnaiy 10, 2020. 361 

Agency Response 

IHS maintains its policies and procedures in 
the Indian Health Manual (IHM). The 
policy "Ethical and Professional Conduct of 
Health Cai·e Providers," in the IHM, 
establishes guidelines and procedures for 
IHS staff at all levels of the agency to ensure 
that staff, including healthcare providers 
(e.g ., physicians, nurses, dentists, 
psychologists), adhere to ethical standards of 
conduct. 362 This policy cmTently prohibits 
any sexual contact or sexual relationship 
between a patient, client, or pai·ent or 
guai·dian of a pediati·ic patient or client. 363 

IHS also requires staff to report any 
misconduct, and the policy outlines the 
repo1ting stiuctm·e for such allegations. 364 

In 2018, IHS leadership notified all staff of 
the agency's "zero-tolerance" policy, 
which prohibits staff from engaging in 
intimate physical relationships with patients 

355 United States v. Weber, CR 19-501 14, (DSD, Westem Division), Dk. No. 1, filed August 20, 2019. 
356 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk Nos. 82, 83. 
351 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 97. 
358 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 122. 
359 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 102. 
360 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 129 (Verdict form); See also, Christopher Weaver, "Fonner U.S. Indian Health 
Service Doctor Is Found Guilty of Abusing Boys", Wall Street Joumal, September 27, 2019. 
361 Weber, CR 17-50033; Dk No. 131 . Arielle Zionts, "Weber sentencing set for Februmy 2020", Rapid City 
Joumal, October 1, 2019. 
362 IHM, Pait 3, Chapter 23 (Ethical and Professional Conduct of Health Care Providers) (August 2004). The policy 
applies to health care providers, which the IHM defines as "Anyone who provides physical or behavioral health 
treatment to patients[.]" IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 23, section 3-23. l (C) (Definitions). This includes IHS employees, 
volunteers, and providers rendering care at an IHS facility under a staffing contract. 
363 IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 23; sections 3-23. l (A)(2) (Introduction). 
364 IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 23; 3-23.3(E)(5) (Introduction). 
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and requires staff to report, investigate, and 
follow up on any concerns of patient 
abuse.365 

On Febmaiy 20, 2019, IHS added a new 
policy to the IHM, "Protecting Children 
from Sexual Abuse by Health Cai·e 
Providers. " 366 The policy prohibits sexual 
abuse and exploitation by healthcai·e 
providers, stating that under no 
circumstances are healthcai·e providers to 
engage in sexual activity, sexual 
communication, or sexual contact with 
cmTent or fo1mer patients under the age of 
18. 367 This policy requires IHS facilities to 
post info1mation on how IHS employees, 
patients, pai·ents, and others may repo1i 
sexually inappropriate behavior; and 
provides protections for IHS staff from 
adverse action when repo1iing suspected 
sexual abuse. 368 The policy also required 
mandatory training which included 
info1mation on indicators of abuse and 
warning signs, organizational safeguards 
used to ensure patient safety, and the process 
for repo1iing suspected sexual abuse. The 
training was developed under the review and 
guidance of IHS clinical subject matter 
expe1is and the HHS Office of the General 
Counsel. 369 In developing the 2019 policies, 
IHS officials researched best practices and 
consulted with industiy leaders, such as the 
AAP Committee on Native American Child 
Health (CONACH), an advocacy group for 

AI/ AN children comprised of pediati·ic 
providers. 370 

On Febmaiy 12, 2019, HHS Deputy 
Secreta1y Eric D. Hargan made a fo1mal 
request of the Inspector General for HHS, 
Daniel R. Levinson, that the OIG conduct an 
IHS system-wide review. In June 2019, the 
Office of Inspector General was tasked 
with a system review to assess the efficacy 
of policies and procedures instituted by the 
IHS since 2017. 371 

In eai·ly 2019, ms established a new 
component - the Quality Assurance Risk 
Management (QARM) -- comprised of 
senior-level officials in IHS HQ, tasked with 
reviewing high-risk issues facing the 
agency, such as patient abuse allegations 
and significant fraud, waste, and abuse. 372 

The QARM constitutes a new level of 
oversight to ensure agency accountability, 
innovate processes, ensure patient safety, 
and expedite coITective actions. 373 

The IHS also solicited and obtained an 
outside review by enlisting the services of 
an outside contractor to conduct a Medical 
Quality Assurance Review of the IHS 
histo1y with Weber to dete1mine what 
factors led to his continued se1vice in spite 
of consistent and repeated concerns about 
his interactions with adolescent Indian 
males. 374 The conti·act set out the scope of 
the conti·act for a "comprehensive analysis 

365 IHS, Internal email coITespondence regarding zero tolerance policy for sexual abuse or exploitation of children 
by healthcare providers, March 28, 2018. 
366 IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 20 (Febrna1y 6, 2019); 
367 Id., at (E)(l). 
368 Id., at (E)(4) 
369 Protecting Children from Sexual Abuse In Health Care Settings - Supporting a Culture of Community Safety, IHS 
Training Materials (2019), citing Ukich, B., & Kear, T. (2014). Patient Safety and Patient Safety Culture: 
Foundations of Excellent Health Care Delive1y. Nephrology Nursing Journal, .41 (5), pp. 447-457. 
370 OIG, Organizational Challenges to Improving Quality of Care in Indian Health Service Hospitals, OEI-06-16-
00390, August 2019. 
371 Memo from HHS DS Hargan to IG Levinson, Febrna1y 12, 2019. 
372 ICS interviews ofIHS Senior Leadership, June 24-27, 2019. 
373 Id. 
374 Solicitation No. 19-236-SOL-00002; Order No. 75H70419P00042. 
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showing how IHS could significantly 
improve the identification of, and response 
to complaints of patient abuse, especially 
sexual abuse of minors." The order directed 
the contractor to "perform a fact- finding 
inquiiy and record review at the Oklahoma 
Area IHS, Billings Area IHS and Great 
Plains Area IHS, and IHS Headquarters in 
Rockville, MD. The period of the records to 
review are from 1986 to 2018." The contract 
set out the following objectives: 

The objectives of the review will be 
to: (a) identify facts relating to IHS's 
policies and procedures regarding 
the reporting of allegations of sexual 
abuse of IHS patients by clinical 
staff; (b) identify any possible 
process or system failures and the 
contributing causes of any such 
process or system failures; and (c) 
make recommendations for 
improvement. 375 

In addition to agency responses, the White 
House has appointed a Presidential Task 
Force to investigate the institutional and 
systemic breakdown that failed to prevent 
Weber from sexually assaulting children 
while acting in his capacity as a doctor in 
the Indian Health Service. 376 The Weber 
case highlighted other issues - including the 
due diligence exercised when granting 
facility privileges -- which drew the 
attention of Congress. In May of 2019 the 
U.S. Senate Committee on Indian Affafrs 
asked the Government Accountability 
Office (GAO) to review IHS policies and 
actions for addressing and documenting 
personnel perfonnance and misconduct 
issues. 377 The Committee raised concerns 
about IHS use of transfers, duty 
reassignments, and administrative leave to 

375 Id. 

address poor perfonnance and misconduct, 
and asked GAO to determine the extent of 
such activity since 2010, when this issue 
was initially identified by the Committee. 
The Committee also requested that GAO 
assess whether a new centralized 
credentialing system adopted by IHS 
captures perfonnance and misconduct 
infonnation and is accessible across 
facilities. 

376 Presidential Task Force on Protecting Native American Children in the Indian Health Se1vice System, March 
2019 order. 
377 Letter from the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs to the Comptroller General for GAO, May 16, 2019. 
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Chapter 2: 
Other Cases Involving IHS 
lVIedical Care and Support 

Providers 

Relevance of Related Cases 

As noted in the Introduction to this repo1i, 
an issue central to the ICS inqui1y was the 
extent to which the Weber case was an 
anomaly or indicative of a broader 
organizational failure. This assessment is 
not subject to a statistical analysis -- because 
not all abuses are repo1ied and not all 
reported abuses lead to publicly available 
documentation -- but must be infonned by 
reports of related cases, Congressional and 
OIG repo1is, and the anecdotal statements of 
IHS employees. 378 In researching relevant 
cases, ICS looked most closely at cases 
involving sexual abuse or sexual 
misconduct. The company also considered 
whether patients or patient safety was 
involved, whether the perpetrator stood in a 
position of tiust or rank with regard to the 
victim, and if the agency response displayed 
any process similarities to the Weber case. 

ICS gathered a significant collection of other 
repo1ied cases that suggests that 
management and administi·ative eITors 
similar to those made in the Weber case 
were also present in the handling of other 
cases. 379 Although the contract parameters 
did not provide for a thorough inquiiy into 
other cases, to the extent these nairntives 

bear on the conclusion that Weber was not 
an isolated case, they are sUilllnai·ized here. 

It should be noted that the details described 
in this section ai·e priinai·ily from media 
repo1is, comi records, or other thii·d paii ies 
which are, by their nature, secondaiy, not 
primaiy, sourcing. Accuracy and reliability 
should be weighed accordingly. Additional 
caveats which distinguish the facts from 
those in Weber, or in which no finding of 
misconduct was found ( such as in the 
settlement of litigation without an admission 
of liability or findings of wrongdoing by the 
agency or comi), ai·e footnoted. 

Studied Cases 
Ted Kammers, Social \Vorker 

Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis 
Reservation, 1986 

Kainmers was a social worker and counselor 
for the IHS facility in Oakville, Washington . 
(b) (6) a member of the Chehalis 
Tribe, sought mental health consultation 
from the IHS and was counseled by 
Kainmers. tG>JGJJ had a histo1y of 
economic deprivation and of physical, 
sexual and emotional abuse as a child. When 
she staiied consultation with Kainmers, she 
was divorced and pregnant with her fomih 
child. She saw Kainmers for counseling 
from 1973 until 1981 . 380 In October 1978 
Kainmers initiated romantic contact with 
(ti>Jml during a counseling session, 
encouraging her to act on her professed 
feelings of atti·action to hiin. In Januaiy 
1979 he had sexual intercourse with her 

378 ICS did not have access to the records of the OIG's Special Investigations Branch which likely would be 
important evidence in the detennination of the question. For the purposes of this repo1t, the phrase "related cases" 
means primarily cases of sexual abuse by IHS employees, and, secondarily, criminal cases involving IHS employees 
that are not of a sexual nature but reflect organizational process failures in dealing with criminally or professionally 
tainted providers of health care services. 
379 ICS limited its search to cases after the employment of Weber in 1986. The cases cited here are not likely all the 
cas~el. 
380 ~ , 805 F.2d 1363 (9th Cir. 1986). 
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during an out-of-town trip and this romantic 
and sexual relationship continued during the 
remainder of Simmons' ti·eatm ent. 

fu January 1980, the Chehalis Tribal 
Chaiiwoman notified Karmners' supervisor, 
Victor Sansalone, of her concerns about the 
relationship between[QJJGII and 
Kainmers. Sansalone took no action either to 
con ect Kammers' improper counseling or to 
relieve him of his duties. 381 

[QJJGII filed suit against the IHS in 
December 1983. After a bench ti·ial, the 
Comi found in favor oftmJBand 
awai·ded her $150,000. The government 
appealed, unsuccessfully, and the judgment 
against the United States was enforced. 

Dr. David Bullis 
Pueblo of Laguna, 1999 

~ is a member of the Laguna 
~ -ibe in New Mexico. As a 
teenager, n[UJ•• :.lnEJ'!'I• :.■- suffered from 
depression and a drng and alcohol 
dependency problem that led to frequent 
aiTests b1.l,he local police . After attempting 
suicide,(l;JIGIIII was refe1Ted by the 
police and the IHS to Bullis, an IHS 
psychologist for counseling . 382 Bullis 
diagnosed.,_r,-... who was then 15, as 
suffering from a va11ety of psychological 
disorders , including depression with suicidal 
intent, polysubstance abuse, and cannabis 
dependence. D~e this diagnosis, Bullis 
allegedly told[fDim that continued 
alcohol and diug abuse would be appropriate 
and even therapeutic. Bullis used therapy 

sessions to convince [(;JIGIIII that he was 
homosexual and that he should have sex 
with Bullis. During the patient-therapist 
relationship, Bullis ; edl.ngaged in 
sexual contact with[~:EJ 
tG>Jm■ filed a lawsuit against the IHS 
and developed a record that Bullis had a 
reputation for using diugs and alcohol with 
many of his teenage patients, and Bullis 
himself told one of his supervisors that he 
had engaged in "some explorato1y sexual 
contact" with[UJJl9@"83 The supervisor 
never notified his superiors of Bullis' 
conduct, but merely wrote in his notes that 
he felt comfo1iable allowing Bullis to 
continue with his regular duties. The IHS 
did not relieve Bullis of his clinical 
res onsibilities until January 1995, when 
• filed an administi·ative to1i claim 

against the agency. 384 

After losing an appeal on jurisdictional groun:me IHS settled the lawsuit brought 

by•~-

Dr. :\luharnrnad K. Ahsan 
Pine Ridge Reservation, 2005 

fu 2005, Ahsan, an IHS conti·act provider,385 

was sued for sexual assault against a patient 
he saw at the Pine Rid e IHS hos ital. 
Tribal member 
( also known as~-~ went to the 
IHS hospital in Pine Ridge on November 24, 
2004, seeking ti·eatinent for abdominal pain. 
During an examination, according to her 
complaint, Ahsan pulled up her blouse and 
touched her inappropriately, questioned if 

381 Id. See also, Sallie G. DeGolia and Kathleen M. Corcoran (editors) , Supervision in Psychiatric Practice: 
Practical A roaches Across Venues and Providers, American Psychiatric Association Publishing, 2019, p. 401. 

177 F.3d 927 (10th Cir. 1999). 
38 998 F. Supp 1225 (D.N.M. 1997). 

385 VISTA Staffing Solutions Inc. of Salt Lake City was originally named as a defendant in the civil case because 
VISTA provided Ahsan to the hospital as a temporary physician. Carson Walker, "Pine Ridge woman 's lawsuit 
against doctor proceeding 8-07", Indian Countty News, August 16, 2007. 

Disclosm-e of infomiation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 

70 )---------



THE WEBER REPORT 

she was married and had childrenfflip asked 
if she would return to see him. 386 • 
alleged in her complaint that "[t]he physical 
touching by defendant Ahsan was not 
related to any legitimate medical pmpose, 
nor was it necessaiy for treatment or 
diagnosis by plaintiff.". alleged that she 
was "disturbed and upset, she felt like c1ying 
and felt 'di1ty' and had difficulty sleeping" 
and, Ahsan' s conduct caused her to have 
bouts of c1y ing, anxiety, nightmai·es, nausea 
and loss of appetite. 

The case was actively litigated for at least 
two years. In July 2007, attorneys received a 
sixth continuance of the trial date after 
taking depositions of IHS employees in 
June. 387 The case was later settled out of 
comt.388 

(b) (6) passed away on July 28, 2019 
at the Pine Ridge IHS Hospital. She was 39 
years old. 389 

Dr. Frankie Delgado 
Cheyenne River Reservation, 2011 

After repeated accusations of sexual 
hai·assment and attempted assault in Pine 
Ridge where he was the Medical Director, 
Delgado was transfened to the IHS hospital 
on the Cheyenne River-Eagle Butte Indian 
Reservation in South Dakota, a few hours 
away from Pine Ridge. 390 While working 

there in 2011, Delgado was indicted by the 
federal grand jmy on multiple counts of 
abusive sexual contact committed against 
two nurses. In Counts I and II of the 
Indictment, Delgado was chai·ged with 
having engaged in abusive sexual contact of 
T.H. at the IHS Hospital in Eagle Butte, 
between March 1, 2011 and May 31, 
2011. 391 In Count III of the Indictment, 
Delgado was charged with the abusive 
sexual contact ofK.F. on May 5, 2011 , in 
Eagle Butte. These were felony allegations. 
A little over a year later, the case was 
resolved by a plea agreement which 
pennitted Delgado to enter a guilty plea to 
two charges of misdemeanor disorderly 
conduct in exchange for the dismissal of the 
felony charges. 392 K.F. testified that she felt 
the plea agreement minimized Delgado's 
conduct. "I guess it offends me because it 
makes me feel like what he did to me wasn't 
-- wasn't -- what he did to me wasn't that 
bad. "393 "And my feai· is that him dealing 
with women and children, he's going to do 
this again to someone else and they might 
not have the courage and strength that I've 
had to seek through my fainily members to 
stand up to what a man of authority -­
because he uses his power as a doctor to 
manipulate people and take advantage of 
people ... Just that he's done this to myself 
and to Ms. [T.H.], and I feai· that he's going 
to victimize more nurses, more patients."394 

386 Carson Walker, "/HS doctor accused of sexual contact with patient" , Rapid City Jownal, September 19, 2005 . 
387 Carson Walker, "Pine Ridge woman's lawsuit against doctor proceeding 8-07", Indian Country News, August 
16, 2007. 
388 Joe Flood, "Long-Time Pine Ridge Reservation Pediatrician Investigated/or Child Sexual Abuse" Medium.com, 
December 8, 2016. It should be noted that the settlement of a case is no admission of wrongdoing. Settlements are 
often entered into merely to avoid the expense of further litigation, a concem about potential liability at trial, to 
minimize damage to reputation, and avoid additional attomey's fees . 
389 Obitua1y for Tamara Stan-, Bennett County Booster, August 1, 2019. 
390 Joe Flood, "A Summa,y of the Ongoing Indian Health Sel'vices Sexual Assault Scandaf', Medium.com, March 
14, 2018. 
391 U.S. v. Delgado, CR. 11-30162-RAL, Dk. No. 1 (DSD 2011) . 
392 Id., Plea Agreement, Dk. No. 70, Januaiy 18, 2013 . 
393 Id., Transcript of Plea and Sentencing Hearing, Dk. 81, p. 19, April 18, 2013. 
394 Id. p. 28. 
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Delgado was sentenced to a $1000 fine, 395 

and received no probationary or superviso1y 
sentence. He was allowed to maintain his 
medical license, and was hired as a 
physician with the Depa1i ment of Veterans 
Affairs 01 A) in Fort Meade, South Dakota, 
treating military veterans . 396 The VA said 
that Delgado had been thoroughly screened 
before being hired and that the VA was well 
awar·e of his indictment, reduction of 
charges, and guilty plea. 

Delgado served as Medical Director at Pine 
Ridge in 2009 and was one of the approving 
officials for Weber's continued employment 
(recredentialing) in the midst of the 
DWI/AWOL and allegations of child sexual 
abuse.397 

Ronald Keats 
Great Plains ReRion, 2012 

Ronald Keats was a nurse with the PHS 
since 1997, who rose through the ranks to 
become the Commissioned Cmps Liaison in 
the Aberdeen Area Office. 398 fu April 2010, 
an IHS employee found a compact disc 
(CD) containing child pornography in the 
elevator of the federal office building where 
she worked. 399 The disc contained over 
2,000 images of child pornography as well 
as a document authored by Keats. The 
following month, federal agents seized an 
external computer hard drive and Keats' 
federal government-issued laptop computer 

395 Id., Judgment, Dk. No. 78, April 23, 2013. 

from his office. A forensic analysis of the 
external hard drive found images of child 
pornography and law enforcement was able 
to link the har·d drive to Keats' government­
issued laptop, as well as the CD found in the 
building. On the day of the seizure, federal 
agents inte1v iewed Keats at his home and 
conducted a sear·ch, at which time he turned 
over four CDs that contained more than 
1000 images of child pornography 
(including 500 images of prepubescent 
children). During the inte1view, he conceded 
that some of the children depicted in the 
pornography he had downloaded appear·ed 
to be underage. Evidence in the case showed 
a link am ong Keats' government-issued 
laptop, the CDs and the confiscated external 
har·d drive. 400 

fudicted in 2010, Keats pleaded guilty to 
possession of child pornography and was 
sentenced on July 23, 2012, to 44 months 
custody, 8 year·s supe1v ised release, and a 
$100,000 fine.401 

As referenced in Chapter 1 of this repo1i, 
Keats was the Commissioned Co1ps Liaison 
in the IHS 's Great Plains Area Office in 
Aberdeen, South Dakota. From Febma1y of 
2008 through June of 2009, he was 
extensively involved in the decisions 
regar·ding Weber's fitness for se1vice, 
repeatedly came to Weber's defense, and 
worked diligently to silence Dr. 
Butterbrodt. 402 

396 Joe Flood, "Indicted for "Abusive Sexual Contact," Plead Guilty to Disorderly Conduct, and Still Practicing 
Medicine for the VA - The Sto,y of Dr. Frankie Delgado-Canas", Medium.com, April 26, 2018. 
397 Official Personnel File (OPF), Application for Reappointment and Credentialing File, April 2009. 
398 Keats v. Sebelius, Civil Action No. 13-cv-1524 (TSC)(DCDC), Dk. No. 66, Memorandum Opinion dated April 
23, 2019. Keats ' rank at the time is clear from documents cited in this report, including emails with the signature 
"CDR Ron Keats, IHS Commissioned Co1ps Regional Liaison, 115 Fourth Ave SE, Room 309D, Aberdeen, SD 
57401" . 
399 Id. Also, ICS interview of Shelly Haffis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, 
Belcourt, North Dakota, October 29, 2019. 
400 Joumal Staff, "Aberdeen man pleads guilty to child porn charges", Rapid City Joumal, May 6, 2012. 
401 Keats v United States, Nos. Civ 13-1023, CR 10-10046 (DSD 2013). 
402 See, e.g., Keats email to Bimey and McSheny, dated June 11, 2009. 
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Keats was released from prison on October 
23, 2015.403 

Dr. \Yilliam Hall 
Colrille Indian Resen·afion, 2013 

William Hall was a clinical director of the 
IHS unit in Colville, Washington. After 
receiving complaints of sexual misconduct 
involving patients which dated back almost 
2 years, the IHS tenninated Hall404 

following an investigation by the 
Washington Depa1tment ofHealth. 405 The 
only reference the media made to the reason 
for his depaiture from IHS was that he was 
"accused of making unwanted advances 
towai·d several female patients." In 2018, 
Hall was convicted for attempting to solicit 
sex from an undercover agent posing as a 
minor in a Florida law enforcement sting 
dubbed "Operations Cupid's Alrnw" and 
was sentenced to three yeai·s in prison in 
July of 2018. 

 
Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, 

2014 

 was a 
maintenance worker at the IHS 's Unity 
Healing Center in Cherokee, No1th Cai·olina. 
In  2016, Unity workers 
complained to managers that  had 
been with and hugging a 

who sometimes refen-ed to 
 as 406 IHS management 

did not, at that time, assume any sexual 
relationship existed. 407 Then staff members 
saw the secmity-camera footage showing 
the two entering a private bathroom and 
closing the door. A couple of days later, two 
workers questioned the about the 
incident and letters found in  408 

was upset by the questions about 
 and was won-ied the other workers 

would show  letters they had taken 
from  The next day the

 
A Unity administrator 

403 Federal Bureau of Prisons, Inmate Locator, https://wv.rw.bop.gov/inrnateloc/, retrieved November 14, 2019. 
404 Christopher Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U.S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse 
Claims," Wall Street Joumal, June 7, 2019. It should be noted that while a government memorandum, Sufficiency 
and Implementation of Indian Health Service Patient Abuse Policies, MIS Record Number: OEI-06-19-00330, dated 
June 2019 (Draft Design) indicates that Hall was "fired", at least one news report indicates that he was allowed to 
retire. Karl Etters, '"Cupid's Al'row' Suspect Pleads, Sentenced to Prison," Tallahasse.e Democrat, July 13, 2018. 
ICS did not resolve the discrepancy, but it would be material to the questions presented if the IHS, as in the Weber 
case, pemutted a. retirement (separation without accountability for nusconduct, less stigma, less reputa.tional injury, 
full benefits, etc.) rather than take the more decisive step of affinna.tive tennination. Because the allegations went 
back almost tv.•o years (the Weber case having allegations going back two decades) the appearance that management 
may regularly allow predators to "age out" rather than deal immediately with potential risks to patient safety should 
also be a concem. Beyond the decision to allow continued exposure of patients to a potential abuser, there are 
significant issues of organizational morale attached to a decision to keep a person employed when his or her 
colleagues all know that the offending conduct is being swept under the rug. 
405 Id., Etters, "Cupid 's Al'row' Suspect Pleads, Sentenced to Prison," Tallahassee Democrat, July 13, 2018. 
406 Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U. S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse Claims," Wall Street 
Joumal, June 7, 2019. 
407 Timeline of Events created by IHS in response to  case, edition described as "rebuilt" in 2019 "using 
available documentation and staff accounts from memo1y and may contain inaccuracies". 
408 Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U. S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse Claims," Wall Street 
Joumal, June 7, 2019. 
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banned  from the residential 
building. 409 

Several Unity employees said in interviews 
that the facility's clinical supe1v isor, Tracey 
Grant, instrncted workers not to repo1t the 
matter. According to the 
" [s]he (Grant) told me, 'No, I will handle 
this. Do not contact anybody, [s]o I didn't. I 
deeply regret that. "' The  believed 
she could be fired for disobeying. 

On October 13, 2016, the agency transfen ed 
 to another IHS facility, the Masheee 

Se1vice Unit in Cape Cod, Massachusetts, 
for a month.410 On  2016, the 

 and returned to Unity 
once his TDY assignment had concluded. 

was again obse1ved on video 
smveillance, on March 12, 2017, this time 
caressing and hugging a non-employee adult 
female. 411 

In May 2017, eight months after the 
 incident, IHS placed  on 

leave with pay pending removal. 412 

Although the removal letter was given to 

 on May 9 the letter itself was dated 
March 28. The removal letter cited both the 

2016 incident with the 
 and the March 2017 episode. 41

On May 12, 2017, an anonymous repo1t was 
made to the Eastern Band of Cherokee 
Indians (EBCI) Public Health and Human 
Se1vices, Depaitment of Human Se1vices 
that asse1ted that the 2016 
incident involved a sexual encounter 
between  and the  
The Office of General Counsel for HHS 
indicated that this May 2017 repo1t was the 
first time that they had been made awai·e that 
the  activity was sexual. 414 Had 
they been told that the activity was criminal, 
it is assumed, their advice to Unity prior to 
May 16 would have been mai·kedly 
different. 

Unity employees later disobeyed the 
instructions to keep the matter confidential 
and repo1ted the incident to local law 
enforcement. A Unity staff member also 
called the HHS OIG and repo1ted that the 
alleged sexual misconduct had been "swept 
under the rng."415 

409 Id. ICS notes that the response in this case seems relatively decisive and expeditious but posits that if  had 
be.en a physician the response may have be.en less so. 
410 Id. Also see Timeline of Events created by IHS. 
411 Timeline of Events created by IHS. 
412 Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U.S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse Claims," Wall Street 
Journal, June 7, 2019. 
413 Timeline of Events created by IHS. 
414 Id. "Last  [2016], the staff at Unity were concerned because a Unity , who had knov.rn 

, developed a non-sexual relationship with a maintenance worker at Unity. You [Tracey] 
investigated, looked at video tape, and agreed that better boundaries were needed. Again, nothing indicated a sexual 
relationship. You [Tracey] decided to remove the employee for 30 days to Masheee (sic) Service Unit in order to 
allow the  to finish out  without the distraction of the employee, who  refetTed to as a  

. Monday [May 15, 2017] was the first time lea~-o. garding a sexual relationship 
between the Unity  and the Unity employee." ~ • • email to Unity Clinical Supervisor 
Tracey Grant, dated May 18, 2017. 
415 Id. Lilly Knoepp, "Sexual Assault Allegations Against Tribal Council Candidate Reswface" Blue Ridge Public 
Radio, June 26, 2019, quoting a tribal official as finding the seven months delay it took for the IHS incident to be 
reported to the Eastern Band "unacceptable". It should be noted that according to these reports the matter was never 
formally refetTed to tribal law enforcement but was " leaked' by employees admonished not to speak of the incident. 
It should also be noted that the Wall Street Journal article also refetTed to a prior incident at Unity regarding an 
unidentified IHS employee engaged in a suspected sexual relationship with a teenage boy. Employees said they 
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The o rG investigated but  remained 
employed with rHS until his volunta1y 
separation in March 2019 - almost two 
years after the incident was confomed to 
have been a sexual relationship with a 

Other personnel actions were taken 
including temporarily transfeITing Grant to 
Pine Ridge, her "home community."416 Her 
Pine Ridge TDY was extended but in March 
2019 she was returned to the Nashville Area 
Office. Grant was not disciplined but took 
leave a week after a Wall Street Journal 
repo1t on the Unity case and resigned July 
31 , 2019. 417 

Dr. John Lindberg 
Turtle A1011nta;n, 2017 

In 2012, Lindberg resigned as an emergency 
room physician at Samaritan Lebanon 
Community Hospital in Lebanon, Oregon. 
Later that year he testified in the trial of a 
human trafficker that he had had sex with a 
17-year-old girl that had been forced into 
prostitution. Lindberg admitted he met the 
girl through another esco1t he'd found 
online. Lindberg also said he thought she 
was 19, and that he wanted to help her get 
back on her feet. He said he had given her 
$10,000 to $15,000 and a key to his condo 

so she could use it if she needed a place to 
stay.418 

One year later, in 2013, and with knowledge 
of Lindberg 's significant involvement with a 
teenage prostitute, the IHS hired Lindberg as 
an emergency room physician.419 In 2017, 
Lindberg was a Medical Officer at the Tmtle 
Mountain Service Unit of the IHS in 
Belcomt , No1th Dakota. 420 

I Other Employee Cases Considered I 

res liinited its search for related cases, or 
within scope comparisons, to cases 
involving allegations of sexual abuse or 
sexually related conduct. In researching 
those cases, however, res found other 
info1mation which may bear on larger issues 
relating to process. While the natm e and 
seriousness of the allegation should weigh 
on the outcome, the process of dete1mining 
the tiuth should be simple, consistent, and 
effective. If there is a failure in process -­
a lack of clarity, an evasion of 
responsibility, or a disparity in treatment 
-- then accountability will suffer. 

res observed that the breakdown in the 
system is not always one of wrongdoing 
going unaddressed; in some instances, it 
appears that employment favoritism was 
shown despite criminal activity being 
adinitted. In 2008, for example, the o rG 

repo1ted their concerns to management, but their allegations weren' t relayed to law enforcement at the time, and the 
worker later resigned. Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U.S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse 
Claims," Wall Street Journal, June 7, 2019 
416 Timeline of Events created by IHS. " CAPT Grant was removed from her leadership position at Unity and offered 
a detail to a non-superviso1y nursing position in Pine Ridge (her home community) due to continued management 
and operating failures at Unity". 
417 Christopher Weaver, "Manager Accused of Squelching Abuse Report at U.S. Indian Health Se111ice Center 
Quits", Wall Street Journal, August 1, 2019. 
418 Aimee Green, "Portland Mal offers rare look at the life of a teenaged prostitute - and how Internet sex ads 
enriched a pimp", The Oregonian/OregonLive, Februaiy 6, 2012. 
419 Christopher Weaver, Dan Frosch, and Gabe Johnson, "A Pedophile Doctor Drew Suspicions for 21 Years. No 
One Stopped Him" , PBS Frontline in partnership with Wall Street Journal, Februaiy 8, 2019. In fairness to Lindberg 
and the IHS it should be emphasized that the girl was not a patient or in any way associated with Lindberg's 
employment. Therefore, unlike in the other cases described here, the sexual relationship was not work-place related. 
420 2019 FederalPay.org. 
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discovered that two employees in the Great 
Plains Area who had criminal convictions -
one for embezzlement and the other for 
dive1ting diugs - were both rehired into the 
IHS in the sam e region in which they were 
charged and convicted. 421 

On May 30, 1991, the OIG placed Tracy L. 
Jones, also known as Tracy L. Galvin, a 
clinical nurse at the Omaha Winnebago 
Hospital in Winnebago, Nebraska, on its 
List of Excluded Individuals/Entities (LEIE) 
in connection with the revocation of her 
LPN license in Nebraska. 422 She had been 
convicted of two felony counts of criminal 
conspiracy related to the delive1y of 
Diazepam, a medication commonly used to 
treat anxiety and insomnia. 423 In addition, 
her license had been revoked by the state 
licensing board from 1990 to 1993 for 
professional perfonnance and competence 
issues. She was on the list until April 23, 
2008 at which time she was granted 
reinstatement. However, the OIG 
detennined that Jones was rehired by IHS in 
2001 , over seven years before she was 
legally eligible for employment. 424 

The effect of an OIG LEIE exclusion is that 
no federal health care program payment may 

be made for any items or se1v ices furnished 
by the excluded individual or entity. The 
payment ban applies to all methods of 
federal program reimbursement, whether 
payment results from itemized claims, cost 
reports, fee schedules, or a prospective 
payment system. In addition, no federal 
program payment may be made to cover an 
excluded individual's salaiy. Simply put, the 
agency disregai·ded the employment 
prohibition relating to Jones and hired her 
anyway. The pattern of ignoring rnles and 
protocols to punish some employees and 
doing the same to protect or promote others, 
is discussed at greater length in Part II: 
Analysis and Conclusions below. 

Another case is relevant because of the 
appearance of whistle blower retaliation 
around the time of Dr. Butterbrodt's transfer 
to Tmtle Mountain facility in Belcourt. 

Clinical Psychologist Dr. Michael Tilus was 
the Director of the Behavioral Health Clinic 
at the Spirit Lake Health Center on the Spirit 
Lake Rese1vation headquaitered at Fo1t 
Totten, No1th Dakota. 425 CDR Tilus was a 
PHS Commissioned Corps officer. 426For 
several of his 10 yeai·s at Spirit Lake, Dr. 
Tilus had repeatedly repoited his concerns 

421 Matthew Daly, Associated Press, "Report: Indian Health Service hired criminals", Bismarck Tribune, September 
28, 2010. 
422 Memorandum to Jeanelle Raybon, Director ofIHS Program Integrity and Ethics Staff from David Kmpnick, 
Director of the HHS OIG Investigations Branch, June 26, 2008. 
423 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Report of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010. p . 39. Matthew Daly, 
Associated Press, "Report: Indian Health Service hired criminals", Bismark Tribune, September 28, 2010. Also 
see, Nidhi Subbaraman, "The Tribe That's Suing The US Government To Keep Its Promises", BuzzFeed.News, 
November 17, 2016. See also, Jamie Oh "Indian Health Se,,vices Faces Panel After Investigations of Fraud, Theft 
and Employee Misconduct', Beckers ASC Review, September 30, 2010. 
424 Memorandum to Jeanelle Raybon, Director ofIHS Program Integrity and Ethics Staff from David Kmpnick, 
Director of the HHS OIG Investigations Branch, June 26, 2008. 
425 The Spirit Lake Tribe of the Spirit Lake Dakota Reservation is in east-central No1th Dakota on the southem 
shores of Devils Lake. It is made up of people of the Pabaksa, Sisseton, and Wahpeton bands of the Dakota tribe. 
Diedrich, Mark (2007). Mni Wakan Oyate (Spirit Lake Nation): A Hist01y of the Sisituwan, Wahpeton, Pabaksa, and 
other Dakota that Settled at Spirit Lake, North Dakota. Spirit Lake, North Dakota: Cankdeska Cikana Community 
College. 
426 "Public Health Sel'vice punishes psychologist who warned of child abuse", Workplace Bullying Institute (WBI), 
August 2, 2012. The letter of reprimand and Dr. Tilus's response are attached to this blog post. 
https://www.workplacebullying.org/tilus/. 
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about the safety of illdian children (from 
abuse, neglect, and violence) to direct 
supervisors, but his warnings were 
seemingly ignored. 427 He finally wrote, in 
April of 2012, to state and federal (including 
IHS and HHS) officials outside the Health 
Center. Tilus also gave an inte1view to the 
New York Times about child welfare dangers 
at Spirit Lake, in which he criticized tribal 
officials. 428 ill an email titled "Letter of 
Grave Concern," Dr. Tilus said that child 
abuse on the rese1vation was "epidemic" and 
that he had "no confidence" in tribal 
leadership "to provide safe, responsible, 
legal, ethical and moral se1v ices to the 
abused and neglected children of the Spirit 
Lake Tribe." 

Dr. Tilus was almost immediately 
reprimanded and reassigned. ill the 
reprimand letter, Dr. Candelaria Maiiin, the 
Clinical Director at Spirit Lake, said Tilus's 
dissemination of the e-mail to health and 
law enforcement officers outside his chain 
of command constituted "engaging in action 
and behavior of a dishonorable nature. " 429 

Dr. Maliin wrote that Dr. Tilus had brought 
discredit to the federal government 's public 
health se1vices and had damaged 
relationships with patients, the Spirit Lake 
Tribe, the illdian Health Se1vice and 
the Bureau of illdian Affairs. 430 Maiiin 
charged Dr. Tilus with "inisconduct, 
insubordination and general demeanor not 
becoming of an officer" for "going outside 
of your direct chain of command in 

fo1warding a letter to the offices of Senators 
Hoven and Conrad." 

ill his response, Dr. Tilus emphasized that 
he had repeatedly, and over a period of 
years, sought a satisfacto1y response to his 
public health concerns through his chain of 
command but that his concerns were always 
left unaddressed. "This public health crisis 
was embedded within layers of agency 
stagnation that unfortunately kept the 
children 's safety and health at great risk." 431 

Tilus was punished within two weeks of the 
New York Times aiiicle by immediate 
reassignment "for non-patient se1vices and 
unclassified duties at the Aberdeen Area 
Office, Aberdeen, SD for a period not to 
exceed 120 days."432 ill Maiiin's letter of 
reprimand Dr. Tilus was also denied any 
oppo1iunity for promotion for two years. 433 

On August 2, 2012, the Director of the 
illdian Health Se1vice, Dr. Yvette 
Roubideaux, rescinded the Letter of 
Reprimand, restored Dr. Tilus 's privileges 
and sanctioned a previously approved 
transfer - a transfer that Tilus had requested 
- to the Fo1i Belknap illdian Health Center 
in Hai·lem, Montana, a component within the 
Billings Area Office. "I want to assure you 
that IHS is cominitted to protecting 
employees who communicate with Congress 
regai·ding concerns on matters of public 
health and safety."434 

ill the Tilus case, ICS recognized impo1iant 
parallels to Weber- Drs. Butterbrodt's and 

427 Timothy Williams, Psychologist Who Wrote of Abuse Is Punished, New York Times, July 30, 2012. 
428 Timothy Williams, Officials See Child Welfare Dangers on a North Dakota Indian Rese111ation, July 7, 2012. 
429 Timothy Williams, Psychologist Who Wrote of Abuse Is Punished, New York Times, July 30, 2012. 
430 Letter of Reprimand to Dr. Tilus from Dr. Candelaria Martin, Clinical Director of Medical Staff, dated June 25, 
2012 (signed by CEO Arlene M. de la Paz for Dr. Ma1tin). 
431Memorandum from Dr. Tilus to IHS Health Center CEO Arlene M. de la Paz dated July 19, 2012, in response to 
Letter of Reprimand. 
432 Memorandum from IHS Health Center CEO Arlene M. de la Paz to Dr. Tilus, dated July 18, 2012 . 
433 Letter of Reprimand to Dr. Tilus from Dr. Candelaria Martin, Clinical Director of Medical Staff, dated June 25, 
2012. 
434 Letter from Dr. Yvette Roubideaux to Dr. Tilus, dated August 2, 2012. 
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Foster's persistent warnings over a period of 
years, superviso1y disdain for the dismption 
and implied criticisms of management, and 
punishment of the messengers rather than 
concern for the message. These issues are 
discussed at length in the Part II: Analysis 
and Conclusions po1iion of the repo1i. 

Undocumented and Undisclosed 
Misconduct 

In the review of the Weber case, and others 
above, a significant challenge to the 
consultants - as well as any other person 
seeking to discover the facts of any 
paiiicular IHS employee Inisconduct 
allegation -- is the lack of any official 
documentation of complaints, allegations, or 
adverse personnel actions. Official records 
of government service seem only to capture 
superlatives, good conduct, and 
compliments. One of the reasons often relied 
upon to justify Weber's continuing 
employment - when his cai·eer was 
repeatedly and continually plagued by 
accusations and suspicions of patient 
molestation -- was the absence of any 
adverse findings or actions. He was 
"clean. ,,435 

On July 28, 2016, a Columbia University 
student filed a Freedom of Info1mation Act 
(FOIA) request for "a full list of all 
complaints, instances of misconduct, and 
personnel actions filed against eight cunent 
or fo1m er providers at the Indian Health 
Service."436 The eight individuals identified 

included Weber, Keats, Delgado, and 
Ahsan . In response to her FOIA request the 
"IHS claimed that none of these doctors had 
complaints or disciplinaiy actions against 
them, writing that '[t]he Great Plains Area 
Human Resources office seai·ched their files 
and no records responsive to your request 
exist' ."437 

The lack of records in the eight cases 
identified - when at least four resulted in 
prosecution or suit -- could mean any one or 
all of four things: 

1. That there were never any 
complaints or actions;438 

2. That there were complaints or 
actions, but those allegations, 
discussions, or conclusions were not 
documented; 

3. That there were records created that 
would reflect complaints or actions, 
allegations, discussions, and 
conclusions that by 2016 had been 
lost or destroyed, or; 

4. That the IHS search was curso1y ; not 
seriously or rigorously perfo1m ed. 

Relevant to the fomih possibility, in the 
Weber case, the investigating OIG agent 
made a request through the Billings Area 
Office for ce1iain records from the Blackfeet 
Collllllunity Hospital. In an email 
responding to the request, the agent's 
contact in the Billings Office was told that 
" [w]e were unable to find info1mation 
pe1iaining to Stanley J. Weber with in the 
documentation from either Box 1 or Box 2 

435 Frontline interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. "And that was always the Indian Health 
Service line. We've looked at the data bank. There's no complaints on him. He's clean". 
436 November 18, 2016, IHS letter to Laura Brickman, Columbia University, in response to FOIA request dated July 
28, 2016. 
437 Joe Flood, "Long-Time Pine Ridge Reservation Pediatrician Investigated for Child Sexual Abuse", Medium.com, 
December 8, 2016. Flood' s investigative reporting was suppo1ted by a Columbia University student, Law-a 
Brickman, who made the FOIA request on July 28, 2016. 
438 This is obviously not the case, at least with the request for info1mation relating to Weber - which was one of the 
providers specifically named in the FOIA request -- since there was an abundance of documentary evidence 
discovered and provided to ICS. 
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located in the storage room as well as 
anything in the Risk Management 
Office. "439 The agent later perfo1m ed his 
own search for the documents while on site 
at the Browning facility and discovered 
hundreds of critical records that should have 
been produced as responsive to his 2016 
request. 440 

These details are included in this section of 
the repo1i to emphasize the difficulties faced 
when any repo1ier, investigator, or reviewer 
seeks to make a thorough and credible re­
creation of actual events. The failure to 
adequately document complaints and agency 
responses, and the apparent inability of the 
agency to find such records when they exist 
in their own files, are issues discussed at 
length in the Part II Analysis section of the 
repo1i. 

439 Lyle Rutherford, Blackfeet Community Hospital, email to Dawn Oleyete, Billings Area Office, dated January 25, 
2017. ICS assumes that the incorrect middle initial was not the reason no Weber files were discovered. 
440 Many of the records found were inco1porated into the OIG repo1t and used to suppo1t the prosecution case in 
United States v. Weber, CR 18-14-GF-BMM (DMT 2018). 
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PART II: ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 

ROOT CAUSE FINDING# 1 
Leadership Failures, 

Failure to Serve the 1l1ission, 
Self-Interest and Refusal to Accept 

Responsibility 

The origin of all the other root causes 
specifically identified in this review was 
leadership failure. All outcomes were either 
directly or proximately caused by 
management e1rnrs at the service unit level 
in both Browning and Pine Ridge and 
leadership failures at the Area level in both 
Billings and Aberdeen. Management 
decisions were consistently the product of 
weakness, apathy, evasion of 
responsibility, willful dereliction, or self­
interest, rather than a commitment to 
patient safety and the promotion of the 
overall mission of the IHS. 

The histo1y of the Weber case is marked by 
repeated opportunities to protect juvenile 
patients lost to a consistent abandonment of 
professional responsibility. Repo1ting 
physician Inisconduct was neither prioritized 
nor encouraged by a management strncture 
more dedicated to ignoring problems than 
con ecting them. 

While /HS management acted decisively and swiftly 

to silence and punish whistleblowers who exposed 

critical dangers to patient safety, they willfully 

ignored or actively suppressed any efforts to address 

the dangers themselves. 

Leadership Failures 
(Montana 1992-1995) 

Overview of :\lanagement 
Structure at the Browning 

CommunitJ Hospital441 

The Executive Leadership structure at an 
IHS service unit consists of the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), Clinical Director 
and/or Chief Medical Officer (CMO), the 
Administrative Officer, Director of Nursing, 
and the Chief Financial Officer. The CEO is 
delegated the responsibility and the 
authority for the overall management of the 
service unit. The CEO position was 
previously refened to as the Service Unit 
Director. The Clinical Director is the 
principal medical advisor to the CEO. The 
CEO and Clinical Director are vested with 
the adininisti·ative responsibility of ensuring 
the ethical and professional practice of the 
medical staff, and to ensure adherence to the 
unifo1m standards for quality patient care. 442 

The Browning Community Hospital 
operated pursuant to established medical by­
laws, and clearly written rnles, regulations 
and chaiters for their medical staff. 
Professional reviews and con ective actions 
were available to address allegations of 
unprofessional or unethical conduct, actions 
considered detrimental or disrnptive to the 
hospital's proper functions, or in violation of 
IHS policies. Leadership had the option to 
refer the complaints to the Ethics Cominittee 
for any review or action they deemed 
appropriate. Leadership could have 

441 The background info1mation referenced here is the product of numerous interviews, organizational charts, and 
other research and will not be specifically attributed to individual sources. 
442 Pine Ridge Service Unit Medical Staff By-Laws, Rules and Regulations, Committee Charters (July 12, 2019). 
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requested a peer review to monitor patient 
care, identify any deficiencies in patient 
safety, and confnm that responsible, 
professional and ethical behavior was 
provided to patients by the provider. There 
was also the option of requesting a Focused 
Professional Practice Evaluation to address 
the complaints and quality-of-care concerns 
voiced by other medical staff, to identify any 
complaints received from patients ( or their 
families), or to document any unusual 
occmTences with respect to behavior or 
peif onnance issues that might pose a threat 
to the health and safety of the patient, or to 
the public. 443 

Information Provided to 
Browning Hospital 

Administrators 

The Weber problem at the Browning Service 
Unit was not non-disclosure. Weber 's 
actions were well known, and his actions 
were an obvious red flag to those individuals 
who chose to question his behavior. The 
cornerstone of leadership is problem solving 
and one of the most serious of all failures at 
Browning was the failure to recognize the 
consequences of inaction. Ignoring a 
problem in hopes it goes away or cures itself 
is not a positive strategy. Throughout the arc 
of the Weber histo1y, starting with 
Browning, inaction was often rooted in the 
evasion of responsibility coupled with an 
oven iding concern for self-preservation. 

Info1m ation developed during the course of 
the ICS review revealed inconsistent and 
ineffective leadership, dithering and delay, 
and superviso1y dereliction-of-duty by 
senior management officials at the Blackfeet 
Community Hospital. 

Maiy Ellen LaFromboise, was the Service 
Unit Director/Chief Executive Officer. Dr. 

443 Id. 

Randy Rottenbiller was the Clinical 
Director/Chief Medical Officer. Both 
administrators were provided specific 
actionable info1m ation regarding Weber 's 
questionable behaviors from a vai·iety of 
sources; by the medical staff, the 
community, by the suppo1i staff from 
Human Resources, and by employees in the 
Housekeeping and Maintenance depaiiment. 
Cleai· exainples of the specific info1m ation 
of Weber's behaviors provided to leadership 
included: 

► Weber 's preference to treat only 
adolescent male patients as reported 
by the nurses and housekeeping staff. 

► Weber 's attempts to take control of 
patient load composition and 
scheduling from the nursing staff. 

► Weber 's relocation of a couch from 
the patient waiting area into his 
office. 

► Weber 's treatment of 
unaccompanied young male patients 
after regular clinic hours. 

► At least two occasions of Weber 
reporting to work intoxicated. 

► Weber 's 'grooming behavior ' of at­
risk youth, (prepubescent boys of 
slight physical stature who Dr. Dan 
Foster characterized as "slow 
developers ") during peer counseling 
sessions. 

► Weber 's off-reservation 
unsupervised road trips with youth 
for pizza and shopping. 

► The inspection of Weber 's 
government housing revealed an 
abundance of food, candy, pop, 
cookies, dozens of VHS movies, kids ' 
games. 

► Weber had unaccompanied minor 
boys in his home at night as reported 
by the Maintenance staff. 
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► Young boys spending the night at 
Weber 's government housing. 

► Teenage drinldng parties at Weber 's 
government housing. 

► A relative of one of Weber 's male 
patients physical~y assaulted Weber 
at his government housing. 

► A tribal member was so outraged by 
Weber 's conduct that she was 
prepared to have him "resolutioned 
off" the Blackfeet Reservation. 

ICS was not provided, nor was ICS able to 
locate during any of its fieldwork, any 
records prepared by either CEO 
LaFromboise or CMO Rottenbiller that 
reflect that these senior managers 
documented even a single complaint or 
suspicion of Weber 's misconduct,444 had 
refeITed for professional review any of the 
numerous complaints filed by coworkers on 
Weber 's conduct, or that they themselves 
had acted upon any allegations about 
Weber 's unethical and unprofessional 
misconduct. 445 To the contraiy, there were 
several occasions where Weber received 
exceptional perfo1m ance ratings on his 
annual Commissioned Officers' 
Effectiveness Repo1is commending him on 
the community-based activities. 446 These 
activities were the ve1y events that some of 

Weber 's coworkers repo1ied as red flag 
indicators of possible child abuse. 

Dr. Foster repeatedly recommended to 
Lafromboise she should safeguai·d Weber's 
male patients simply by requiring that a 
nurse chaperone be present when Weber 
treated young boys at the hospital. 
LaFromboise admitted she had received 
similar concerns from Director of Nursing 
Violet Reagan and Rottenbiller indicated 
that he received similar complaints from 
Janelle Hall, Pediatrics Nurse. However, Dr. 
Foster's recommendation for a second adult 
in the examination room was never adopted. 
The recommendation of a nurse chaperone is 
not an unusual method of protecting 
patients. It is an acknowledged example of 
hospital policies on staff-patient boundaries 
by the American Academy of Pediatrics. 447 

Instead of objectively documenting and 
investigating the repo1is of Weber's 
apparent misconduct, retaliato1y action was 
taken against Dr. Foster, the most vocal of 
the whistleblowers, for expressing his 
concerns that Weber was a pedophile. 
Branded "a trouble-maker" after insistently 
voicing his concerns to Rottenbiller and 
LaFromboise, both Dr. Foster and his wife 
were ostracized and marginalized by the 
medical staff. Dr. Foster was removed from 
the multi-disciplinruy team, lost his 

444 In addition to no extant documentation being found, neither Rottenbiller or LaFromboise claimed that they 
created any documentation which served to confom that Weber' s conduct or any of the allegations were ever 
reduced to writing. The seriousness of failing to document allegations is discussed extensively in the analysis of 
COMMUNICATION below. 
445 It should be noted that sometime in the last six months of Weber's time at Blackfeet, LaFromboise, at the 
insistence of Dr. Foster, Tim Davis, andWJmllllllll finally made a call to AO DAD Charles Lewis. Until that 
time, however, LaFromboise had resisted doing anything about the allegations or attempted to protect patients 
through any remedial action. 
446 Official Personnel File (OPF), Commissioned Officers' Effectiveness Report, dated June 21 , 1993, by Randolph 
Rottenbiller, Clinical Director. "Has done exceptional work with school based clinic", "Has shown rapid growth in 
developing trnst/rappo1i with adolescent patients & cultural values & perceptions", "Has made significant 
contribution to adolescent health care in the community"' "Extreme dedication to goal of improving health status of 
teens" . Reviewing Official: Mary Ellen Lafromboise, Service Unit Director. 
447 See, Policy Statement- Protecting Children From Sexual Abuse by Health Care Providers, AAP COMMITTEE 
ON CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT, Pediatrics, Vol. 128, No. 2, August 2011. 
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government housing, and had his office 
relocated. 

As would happen throughout his career, 
Weber's accusers were targeted by 
management and his position protected. 

:\lary Ellen LaFromboise 
Sen:ice [/nit Director 

As the Service Unit Director, LaFromboise 
was required to promote ethical standards of 
behavior, investigate allegations of 
misconduct, and initiate disciplina1y action 
when appropriate. 448 Unlike many other 
management witnesses who claimed 
ignorance, LaFromboise admitted during her 
interview with res that she had spoken with, 
and received substantial complaints from Dr. 
Foster,~ra:liil Tim Davis 
(Maintenance , 
and an unidentified community member in 
regards to Weber's misconduct at the service 
unit, at his government housing unit, and in 
the community (social events off the 
reservation with young boys). In addition, 
LaFromboise was personally aware of 
Weber 's physical assault at his government 
housing unit. 449 

LaFromboise acknowledged that she and the 
other senior medical staff received pressure 
from the other doctors to investigate 
Weber 's actions. As detailed above450these 
complaints were specific in nature, they 
reflect calculated destructive behavior, and 
they were delivered in person by several of 
the hospital staff. These complaints were not 
unatti·ibutable mmors, unspecific hallway 
whispers, or casual comments offered during 
a coffee break. But LaFromboise did 
nothing to document the complaints, 
investigate internally as to their validity, 
refer the matter to law enforcement, or 
suspend or remove Weber from the 
service unit. LaFromboise's unwillingness 
to provide responsible effective 
leadership, whether it was rooted in self­
preservation, a lack of personal courage, 
general apathy, or from a complete lack 
of managerial skill, is the epitome of 
supervisory dereliction-of-duty. 

During the inte1v iew with res, Laf romboise 
questioned "Who is the responsible person 
to come in and do something?" Obviously, 
that was a question she should have asked 
herself, and found an answer to, 25 years 
ago. 

A common theme throughout the Weber investigation was management's claim of 

ignorance even in the face of multiple sources - even a written record at times - asserting 

that those managers had received reports on the concerns of staff /CS did not find this 

unusual since to admit knowledge is to admit responsibility. Even armed with a scintilla 

of evidence to suggest child abuse, a supervisor's duty is to inquire further, investigate 

vigorously, document thoroughly, and keep his or her managers informed. 

448 IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 23; section 3-23.1, Introduction. 
449 Many of these acknowledgements can also be seen in LaFromboise's interview on the Frontline broadcast. 
FRONTLINE Predator on the Reservation", Public Broadcasting Service (PBS), Dan Frosch and Cluistopher 
Weaver (CoITespondents), Frank Koughan (Senior Producer), Raney Aronson-Rath (Executive Producer of 
Frontline), aired Febmary 12, 2019. 
450 The allegations can also be found discussed at greater length in Part I: Investigation. 
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She opined that the Weber issue was 
complicated by the fact he was a 
Commissioned C01ps officer, because "they 
couldn't be supervised or disciplined" . 
futerestingly, a Commissioned Co1ps 
witness told ICS the precise opposite - that 
the Commissioned Co1ps was incapable of 
punishing a PHS provider working at an IHS 
Service Unit without the approval of the 
physician's supervisor at the service unit. 45 1 

Based upon the infonnation gathered during 
this review, ICS concluded that the fact that 
Weber was Commissioned Co1ps should 
have in no way interfered with 
LaFromboise's personnel actions against 
Weber if she had responded to the reports 
she was receiving with any sort of 
administrative process. But ICS saw no 
evidence that any effo1t was made. 

At the end of the Frontline broadcast, 
LaFromboise blamed the IHS bureaucracy 
for the leadership failures that occmTed. fu 
a moment of retrospect, LaFromboise did 
admit, "It was on my watch. I should have 
known better, but I didn' t." 

Dr. Randy Rottenbiller 
Chfrf~\1ed;cal Officer Chn;cal 

D;rector 

During his interview with ICS, Dr. 
Rottenbiller admitted that he had received 
complaints about Weber from Janelle Hall 
(Pediatrics Nurse). He denied receiving 
complaints from other hospital staff, even 
though both Dr. Foster and Tim Davis say 
they repo1ted their concerns, and those 
which they had heard from others, directly 

to him. LaFromboise repoited to ICS that 
Weber reported to work with a black eye. 
Rottenbiller denied knowing that Weber had 
been physically assaulted although, based on 
other witnesses ' accounts, it was common 
knowledge in the Browning collllllunity. 

Dr. Rottenbiller confnmed that serious 
complaints should have been fo1warded to 
the Medical Review Board for their review, 
proper assessment and their decision on any 
action they deemed appropriate. When Tim 
Davis relayed his concerns to Dr. 
Rottenbiller, the doctor told Davis that the 
issue would be discussed with the 
Governing Board. Rottenbiller confnm ed 
there should have been an investigation into 
Weber 's activities, but that IHS' typical 
response was to "sweep it under the m g" 
and to simply "pass it on to some other 
place."452 And that is exactly what 
happened in 1995 when Weber was 
transferred to Pine Ridge. At the conclusion 
of the Frontline broadcast, Rottenbiller 
said "I didn't do much to prevent it. I 
certainly could have done more." 

Dr. Rottenbiller snuggled to articulate how 
allegations such as those made against 
Weber should be repo1ted. He stated, 
"Where do you refer him to, Tribal cops? 
The FBI? Maybe the CEO or the Medical 
Review Committee?" This response, similar 
in nature and scope to that made by 
LaFromboise, epitoinized the leadership 
failures at the service unit; asking questions 
in 2019 that should have been asked - and 
answers found- in 1995. 

451 ICS interview o~ Rapid City, South 
Dakota, November 27, 2019. 

(b) (6) 

452 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fo1mer CMO at Blackfeet Collllllunity Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 10, 2019. Like so many others who disclaimed responsibility during the review by ICS, some 
management witnesses spoke of IHS as if it were some separate entity with which they had only a casual association 
and certainly no authority to act on its behalf. 
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As noted earlier, one of the most serious 

of all failures of leadership is the failure 

to recognize the consequences of 

inaction. 

fu their attempts to avoid any issue that may 
prove complicated or confrontational, 
management at Browning allowed apathy 
and a reluctance to get involved to cany the 
day -- which allowed Weber to put himself 
in the path of unsuspecting victims at Pine 
Ridge. 

Weber was interviewed on May 19, 2016 by 
HHS OIG SA Cmt Muller. 453 During this 
interview, Weber confinned that kids spent 
the night at his home at least several times a 
year. Some of these kids were probably 
minors under the age of 18. He confnmed 
there was an investigation by Hospital 
Security into a repo1t that Weber was 
intoxicated at his government housing unit 
and there were kids present ( date not 
established). Weber said he was fo1mally 
interviewed and that an investigative repo1t 
was filed. That investigation prompted a 
meeting with the Clinical Director. 454 

During this meeting with the Clinical 
Director, Weber was asked ifhe wanted to 
stay at Blackfeet or if he wanted to leave. 
Weber said he his response was "I think I'll 
leave.". 

On the opposite end of the spectrum of 

leadership failures where there was 

inaction in response to concerns about 

his conduct was the misguided focus on 

actively promoting Weber's career 

advancement regardless of those 

concerns. /CS reviewed Weber's 

Effectiveness Reports - searching for 

some word of caution or 

acknowledgment of the concerns - and 

found only commendations. 

Fo1mer CMO Rottenbiller confnmed it was 
common for Commissioned Cmps officers 
to give aitificially inflated perfo1mance 
ratings of "Exceptional" to each other, even 
if not dese1ved, because of the unwritten 
requirement within the Commissioned Cmps 
that those given the highest ratings will be 
promoted in rank. And, ICS obse1ved, in the 
ever shifting "Acting" roles in the Se1vice 
Unit leadership, a physician's subordinate 
one year may be his supe1v isor the next. 

A review of Weber's Commissioned 
Officers Effectiveness Reports for the period 
July 1992 to June 1995 revealed that Weber 
received above average, outstanding and 
exceptional ratings on his Overall Job 
Perfo1mance ratings. On his last two 
Effectiveness Repo1ts, Weber was 
recommended for Promotion in Rank. None 
of the Effectiveness Repo1ts reflect any 
negative info1mation, or any 

453 United States 11. Weber, CR 17-50033, (DSD, Western Division), Transcript of May 19, 2016, Interview with 
Patrick Weber, Dk. No. 50. 
454 Id., at p . 59. The Clinical Directors during Weber' s time at the Blackfeet Community Hospital were[tiJJUJII 
- and Rottenbiller. Weber did not identify in the interview which of these two supervisors he met with, but the 
statement coincides with the conversation Rottenbiller related occw1·ed following the directive from Jeanotte to get 
rid of Weber based on his apparent abuse of young Indian males. As noted, Weber recalls that the conversation 
related to a drinking incident at his home. 
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management/supervisor/ coworkers/ 
community concerns of Weber 's personal 
conduct. This despite Rottenbiller 's 
disclosure that Weber was not sanctioned -­
or even documented -- for being intoxicated 
and so belligerent when he responded as a 
member of the Child Protection Team to an 
intervention at the Emergency Room that he 
had to be forcibly removed from the room 
by hospital security. rffll'fflllll rffllBJII 
recalled a second inc~~ 
intoxicated on du . This incident was 

documented b -
believes that repo1i went 
directly to LaFromboise. 

Dr. Rottenbiller confnmed that Weber 
created a document entitled Memorandum of 
Assignment, dated Janua1y 1, 1994, and 
placed it before him for signature. This 
memo clarifies "special official duties" to 
"provide school-based se1v ices within the 
Browning and Hea1i Butte school districts" 
to include diagnosis, evaluation, treatment, 
preventative health care, health education, 
and counseling within the schools. The 
memo also authorized Weber to provide 
group counseling sessions after school, on 
weekends and during summer travel events 
to include day trips, overnight trips and 
extended trips such as camping trips. 
LaFromboise recalled reviewing and 
discussing this memo with Rottenbiller prior 
to its issuance. She was in favor of Weber 's 
desire to have a great deal more contact with 
fudian youth, and she suppo1ied the extra 
duties assigned to Weber. Both managers 
seemed so focused on satisfying some 
popular metric regarding community 
outreach that they failed to critically 
consider the implications of pe1mitting a 
pediatric provider to greatly expand his 
responsibilities outside his area of expe1i ise, 
outside the se1v ice unit facility, and into the 
social lives of middle-school children. 

Dr. Foster and fo1mer Deputy Area Director 
Charles Lewis were shocked to learn of the 
existence of this memorandum. Dr. Foster 
advised that Dr. Rottenbiller 's issuance of 
this memo appeared to constitute evidence 
of "impaired judgment". Lewis stated that 
he had "never seen anything like that 
f memo l before," and he fmi her advised the 
memorandum "never crossed my desk, but it 
should have." 

Charles Lewis 
As.s•;stant Area D;rector 

Bdhngs Area Office 

According to Lewis, the early info1mation 
provided to him about Weber was positive 
in nature. Later, there were questions about 
Weber 's extensive interaction with 
adolescents and whether this work was 
appropriate. Although two witnesses 
related to ICS that Lewis was specifically 
called about all of the allegations against 
Weber, and a third said she called either 
Lewis or the other Deputy Area Director, 
Lewis said he never received any 
info1mation about the suspicions about 
Weber. Lewis does not recall ever hearing 
about Weber being physically assaulted. 
Lewis had no recollection of ever hearing 
about Weber being intoxicated while on 
duty. 

ICS found it unusual that Lewis claimed 
such ignorance of any of the controversy 
swirling around Weber since, he claimed 
during his inte1v iew, that he visited each of 
the Billings A.O 's se1v ice units at least once 
a month in order "to listen", attend staff 
meetings, and understand what was 
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happening at the local level. 455 Lewis told 
ICS that he "thinks" that some of the other 
doctors in Browning approached Billings 
Area Director Duane Jeanotte and 
complained about Weber. According to 
Lewis, Jeanotte, putting the burden back on 
the Service Unit, told the doctors that they 
could remove Weber's privileges locally and 
then the Area Office could act. 456 Lewis 
does not recall ever seeing any repo1is 
alleging misconduct by Weber. 

Lewis dismissed any fmiher responsibility 
by adding that the strategy of many service 
units was "conceal, conceal, conceal until 
it's out of the bag."457 As noted below, 
once the extent of Weber's misconduct was 
"out of the bag", Jeanotte concealed the 
service unit's "Weber problem" by allowing 
his transfer to Pine Ridge. 

Duane Jeanotte 
Area Director 

BilhnRS Area Office 

Dr. Rottenbiller told both ICS and Frontline 
that while attending a staff meeting in the 
Billings Area Office, he was personally 
notified by Jeanotte that Weber was a 
suspected pedophile. Jeanotte, according to 
Rottenbiller, had conducted a review of 
Weber 's patient load and detennined that the 
patient population consisted mainly of 

adolescent males. In addition, Jeanotte had 
received a direct complaint from a parent of 
one of the patients. The parent reported that 
the young boy had stayed at Weber's house 
overnight. Jeanotte told Rottenbiller "get rid 
of Dr. Weber. "458 

When contacted by ICS, Jeanotte refused a 
fo1mal inte1v iew but denied that he received 
any allegations of misconduct involving 
Weber. Jeanotte did not deny, but he does 
not recall, having a meeting with Dr. 
Rottenbiller to address misconduct issues 
involving Weber. Jeanotte does not recall 
being involved in the transfer of Weber from 
Browning to Pine Ridge. 

The evidence that Jeanotte knew about 
Weber came from a variety of sources -­
witnesses who had direct contact with 
Jeanotte, or claimed to have had, and 
witnesses that were confident, based on their 
knowledge of events and the system in place 
in 1995, that Jeanotte would have been a 
critical manager in the events. ICS, 
however, was not paiiicularly smprised at 
Jeanotte's claim of ignorance. To have 
admitted knowing that Weber was a 
likely pedophile, he would not only be 
confessing his failure in not removing him 
from the IHS but acknowledging his role 
in allowing a suspected predator to be 
foisted upon an unsuspecting service unit 
and the teenage boys it served. 

455 A degree of contextual consideration is appropriate when assessing the information provided by Charlie Lewis. 
At the time of his interview he was in his late 80s and had some apparent difficulty with recall. However, as with 
many others, the lack of recollection often seemed selective and bent toward self-serving. 
456 ICS interview of Charles Lewis, fo1mer Deputy Area Director, Billings Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
457 Lewis's placement of blame at the Service Unit level was remarkably consistent with the position of another 
fo1mer Deputy Area Director, Shelly Han-is, who told ICS that Service Units conceal things from the Area Office 
because "they did not want to lose a provider." ICS interview of Shelly Han-is, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 
Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, Belcourt, North Dakota, October 29, 2019. Although that may have been their 
shared experience, in neither Montana nor South Dakota does it appear to have been the case. The Service Units 
may not have been fulsome in their reporting to the Area Offices, but they certainly interacted sufficiently that the 
Area Offices could have engaged more actively if they had chosen to do so. 
458 This recounting is consistent with Lewis's recollection that Jeanotte put the responsibility back on the Service 
Unit to pull Weber's privileges; a plan of action that was made unnecessary by Weber's decision to leave 
voluntarily . 
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Overview of the Period 
Pine Ridge 
1995-2015 

As Weber began his career at Pine Ridge, he 
came with his carefully chosen 
recommendations from providers who either 
did not know - or did not care - about the 
sus icions that la 1ed him at Brownin 

recor e on e 
"Recommendations" page of Weber's 
transfer that Weber "comes highly 
recommended" from Browning. 459 

However, almost immediately after 
beginning his practice his predilections for 
teenage boys became apparent - at least to 
those paying attention. Throughout ICS' 
fieldwork conducted on the Pine Ridge 
Indian Reservation one consistent fact was 
expressed -- Weber was suspected to be a 
pedophile from early on and those 
suspicions continued and persisted 
throughout his 21-year career at Pine Ridge. 

Within three months of his transfer to Pine 
Ridge, Weber was accused by a parent of 
molestation; his examination of a young boy 
complaining of flu and cold-like symptoms 
had been, euphemistically, "too thorough" . 
The visit had included a enital exam. The 

"patient issues" 
involving Weber during his tenure at the 
Blackfeet Hospital. After reviewing these 
written ~ and discussing the .situation 
fuither, • • andOiJIG)) agreed that the 
complamt s ould b~ Ted to law 
enforcement for a criminal sexual assault 

investigation. (EJEJ refe1Ted the matter 
to the FBI. 460 

ICS inte1v iewed numerous medical staff, 
including doctors, nurses and Medical 
Suppo1t Assistants who had worked 
alongside Weber at Pine Ridge. These 
individuals were candid in their 
recollections of the open secret, widely 
disseminated throughout the hospital, that 
Weber liked young boys in a manner that 
suggested more than a doctor-patient 
relationship. 

Weber 's pedophilia was widely suspected, 
and the suspicions were grounded in a host 
of circumstances witnessed by a host of 
obse1vers. In Part I: Investigation, and the 
supporting memoranda of inte1view, there 
are recorded several accounts of all these 
obse1vations: 

► adolescent boys working at his house 
► adolescent boys coming and going 

from Weber 's house at all times of 
the day and ni[?ht 

► adolescent boys coming into the 
hospital asking/or Weber 

► Weber giving boys money 
► Weber cherry picking patient charts 

looking/or adolescent and 
prepubescent males; populating his 
patient load with only young males 
of a certain type 

► Weber providing a game console to 
only male patients 

► Weber wheeling in TV/ VHS player 
and VHS movies to male patients 

► Weber in bed with a patient playing 
on game console 

► nei[?hbors callinK hospital security 
because of the boys coming to 
Weber 's house 

► Weber examining all male teenage 
patients for STDs even if that was 

459 Official Personnel File (OPF), Recommendations and Approvals, June 15, 1995. 
460 Id. 
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not their complaint or reason for 
treatment 

► Weber dispensing drugs without a 
prescription 

► Weber providing young boys with 
cash 

► Weber insisting on being alone with 
young boys in the examination room 

The nursing staff was so convinced of his 
potential threat that since 1997 they had 
warned nurses during their orientation 
training not to leave Weber alone too long 
with young boys. 

These events are recounted in other po1tions 
of this repo1t. They are reiterated here to 
emphasize that there were no complaints 
forced to the surface between 1996 and 
2006.461 

As subsequent events unfolded, the truth of 

Weber's danger to patients would have been 

likely discovered had they be rigorously 

investigated rather than rigorously suppressed. 

This was the factual context - the "open 
secret" - that existed when Dr. Butterbrodt 
first raised the issue fo1mally in his 2006 
email to Acting Clinical Director Sumners 
and CEO Pourier. 

\Yilliam "Bill" Pourier 
Chief Executive Officer 

2006 

Despite the widely known but 
undoclllllented suspicions that smTounded 
Weber since his arrival at Pine Ridge in 
1995, Weber served as the Hospital Chief of 
Staff from 2006 through 2009. As Chief of 
Staff, Weber was the Acting Clinical 
Director when the Clinical Director was 
away from the hospital. 

The first documented evidence of a 
complaint at Pine Ridge with regard to 
Weber was identified within the August 20, 
2006 email from Dr. Mark Butterbrodt to 
Clinical Director Ro1y Sumners, which was 
comtesy copied to CEO Bill Pourier. In the 
email, Dr. Butterbrodt questioned Weber 's 
medical practice and requested that Slllllllers 
''familiarize yourself with why he left 
Montana ... ".462 While the text of the email 
is careful not to accuse Weber of pedophilia, 
Butterbrodt advised ICS that it followed 
verbal reports to Slllllllers in early 2006 
wherein Butterbrodt was more candid about 
what nurses had info1med him about 
Weber 's interactions with male patients. 463 

Three months later, Weber was severely 
beaten by three teenage boys at his 
government housing unit. 464 Weber 's 
injuries required immediate medical 
attention. Pourier responded to the 
Emergency Room and confronted Weber 
seeking specific infonnation regarding the 
attack. Weber was evasive, he did not 

461 After the FBI refenal in 1995, the next time the record reflects that Weber's conduct was fo1mally brought to the 
attention of the administration was in an August 2006 email when Dr. Butterbrodt wrote to Clinical Director Dr. 
Ro1y Sumners, regarding Weber, "I'd like you to familiarize yourself with why he left Montana ... " Butterbrodt email 
to Sumners and Pourier, dated August 20, 2006. 
462 Butterbrodt email to Sumners and Pourier, dated August 20, 2006. 
463 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, former pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. Based on the cumulative infonnation received from witnesses, ICS concluded that before 2006 the accusations 
against Weber were cautious and carefully crafted, couched in generic tenns but unmistakable in meaning. 
464 Although unknown at the time, two of the assailants were victims of Weber's sexual abuse. 
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provide any specific infonnation on the 
assault and he refused to cooperate with 
Pourier 's inquiiy . No criminal charges were 
ever filed against the attackers. Pourier told 
Frontline that he contacted his superiors at 
the AAO regarding this incident. 465 

The review and analysis of Weber 's 
Effectiveness Repo1is for the six-year period 
of 2004 through 2010 reflect that Pourier 
reviewed, concmTed with and approved the 
peif onnance evaluation ratings issued to 
Weber. During this tune frame Weber 
consistently received above average, 
outstanding, and exceptional ratings. As had 
been the case in Browning, evaluators made 
laudato1y collllllents about Weber 's 
peifonnance. Collllllents in the Pine Ridge 
nan atives to suppo1i these exceptional 
ratings constantly referenced Weber 's 
creation and involvement in evening 
pediatric clinics, off sight school and spo1is 
physicals, and increased offering of STD 
screenings. 466 

Dr. Butterbrodt stated that he spoke with 
Pourier the day after Weber was physically 
assaulted and that Pourier collllllented that 
"it was probably one of his boyfriends." 467 

It is unknown what Pourier told his 
superiors about the incident or whether he 
indicated that it was possibly related to 
Weber 's relationships with young Indian 
males. No extant written or electronic 
communications relating to Weber 's 
physical assault were provided or discovered 
during this inqui1y, and Pourier never 
alluded to any documentation of the incident 
to Frontline. 

The review of security records and 
interviews with hospital staff, including the 
Dii·ector of Security, revealed that there 
were no increased safety precautions taken, 
no safety awareness bulletin issued, or any 
enhanced security measures ordered for the 
safety of~ staff. Dii·ector of 
SecuritylVl&\V.alll recalled being 
instructed that Weber 's physical assault was 
an "isolated incident" and that no increased 
security measures were needed because 
Pourier did not consider the issue a "public 
risk." - advised ICS that rnmors began 
to cii·culate that Weber was a pedophile and 
that he had been physically assrutl. 
or more of his teenage victims. 468 

• • 

boss at the time, Dii·ector of Security • • 
- told him to "stay away from 
Weber" . 

The attack and physical assault by multiple 
assailants of a Collllllissioned Corps doctor, 
who se1ved as the hospital's Chief of Staff, 
inside that officer 's government housing 
unit, was quickly disinissed as an isolated 
incident not wo1ihy of fo1mal investigation. 
The response, or complete lack of a 
response, suggests that the "open secret" 
about Weber that had held sway for his ten 
years at Pine Ridge was also known to 
management. The disinissive attitude 
reflects management's blindness to the 
dangers Weber posed and its dete1mination 
to protect the career of a senior doctor at the 
expense of patient safety. It would be the 
recurring theme of Pourier's actions in 
subsequent Inisconduct investigations of 
Weber in 2008 and 2009. 

465 Frontline interview of William Pow-ier, aired Februa1y 12, 2019. 
466 Official Personnel File (OPF), Commissioned Officers' Effectiveness Repo11s, Pine Ridge (2004-2010), 
Reviewing Official: William Pow-ier, Chief Executive Officer. 
467 ICS interview of Dr. Mark Butterbrodt, fonner pediatrician at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 2, 
2019. 
468 
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D\VI/A\VOL 
FebntaJJ' 2008 

On Febmaiy 26, 2008, Weber was aITested 
in Rapid City, South Dakota, for driving 
while intoxicated (DWI), displaying expired 
license plates and no proof of vehicle 
insurance. Weber was taken to jail, soon 
posted bail, and was released. Weber 
reported his aITest to Clinical Director Dr. 
Ro1y Sumners two days later. After briefing 
CEO Pourier on the situation, Sumners then 
emailed Ronald Keats, the Commissioned 
Cmps Liaison for the Great Plains Area. In 
the email, Sumners stated, "I have told Dr. 
Weber that he can return to work, and that 
this thing will be kept confidential. " One 
week later, Weber emailed Keats and 
provided a written explanation of the 
situation. 

Keats soon emailed David Birney, a 
personnel officer with the PHS in the Office 
of the Assistant Secretaiy for Health 
(OASH) and Paul McSheny, the Deputy 
Director of the Division of Commissioned 
Personnel Suppo1i (DCPS), requesting 
Weber "receives the minimal PHS CC 
disdpline possible, maybe at most a "Letter 
of Reproval ". Keats subsequently sent a 
memorandum to Sumners on Mai·ch 14, 
2008 which recommended that Weber "be 
either formally counseled regarding his 
actions or given a Letter of Reproval to be 
maintained in his local Service Unit for up 
to 2 years". Keats memorandum outlines 
Weber 's service histo1y and lists mitigating 
factors in suppo1i of the recommendation for 
such light punishment. Keats wrote that 
" [f]rom a review of this officer 's OPF, it 
appeai·s there has never been a dmg and /or 
alcohol related incident as explained above." 
Keats stressed "This is a first offense of any 
type of diug and / or alcohol abuse issue for 
this officer". While it was coITect that 

469 Sumners response to Keats email dated March 4, 2008. 

Weber 's OPF did not contain any 
infonnation of prior alcohol related 
incidents, this was not Weber's first alcohol 
abuse issue. As noted in the Montana 
Section, above, there are at least two 
previous alcohol related issues involving 
Weber being intoxicated while on duty that 
should have been properly documented and 
recorded into his OPF. 

Sumners signed the memorandum approving 
Fo1mal Counseling as the appropriate 
discipline for Weber. Sumners also initialed 
the memorandum to reflect that a Letter of 
Reproval should not be entered. This action 
by Sumners was consistent with an email he 
had previously sent to Keats, 

"Well, I have known Dr. Weber for 
all the years he has been here and 
would characterize our working 
relationship as excellent. I have 
never observed any issues with 
respect to his level of 
professionalism or competence, and 
can attest to his integrity in the 
workplace. He has been the Chief of 
Staff for the last three years or so, 
and had performed admirably-he has 
always been a great assistance to 
me, functioning on the Credentialing 
and By-Laws Committee, and acting 
as Clinical Director numerous times 
in my absence. I trust him implicitly 
with confidential matters. I feel that 
he is a superlative physician as well. 
I have been his supervisor since July, 
2005."469 

David Birney had previously advised Keats 
the adininistrative chai·ge of AWOL with 
appropriate disciplina1y sanctions was 
required under Commissioned Cmps policy 
due to Weber 's overnight incai·ceration. The 
directive to impose this penalty on Weber 
was ignored by the Service Unit and by the 
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Area Office. The matter was simply buried 
until March 2009 when Weber's sexual 
conduct would again become an issue, 
exposing the fact that the AWOL issue had 
been ignored by Keats, contraiy to the 
instructions he had received from 
Headqua11ers. When the issue resurfaced, 
Keats emailed Birney, noting" ... as I 
mentioned the Service Unit did not want to 
punish the officer at that time" and that 
"" .. . the Service Unit wanted to handle the 
previous issue (the DWI/AWOL) 
local~y .. . "470

. Birney advised Keats that 
"[t}he policy does not allow for the service 
unit to handle the situation (the 
DWI/AWOL) locally ."471 

anest and incarceration and unable to work, 
the officer would lose pay for that day and 
this documentation would stay in the 
officer 's personnel file forever.tE>IGIJI 
recalled that although there is an AWOL 
letter in Weber's file , no disciplinaiy action 
was ever taken against Weber. According to 
[QJJGJJ, Weber should have also received 
a Letter of Reprimand for the DWI. A Letter 
of Reprimand stays in the officers ' 
personnel file for six months to two yeai·s. 
When an officer receives a Letter of 
Reprimand, the officer will not be 
considered for a promotion in rank, special 
pay will be affected depending on the 
severity of the DWI and there will be 
discussions on whether to refer the officer to 
Medical Affairs for alcohol 
rehabilitation/treatment. 

Weber 's DWI/AWOL issue was allowed to 
expire through a course of intentional 
inaction, not through any so11 of affnm ative 

decision to close the matter with a suitable 
resolution. 

This was a consistent pattern throughout Weber's 

career - for 25 years he benefited from 

management's willingness to ignore problems rather 

than address them. 

SDB:\IOE 
December 2008 

On December 2, 2008, Dr. Butterbrodt 
lodged a fo1mal complaint against Weber to 
the South Dakota Board of Medical and 
Osteopathic Examiners (SDBMOE). The 
written complaint alleged that Weber 
"cheny picks" patient chaits for teenage 
male patients. It also repo1ted Weber's 
physical assault in November 2006. The 
complaint also alleged there were conduct 
issues at Weber 's previous duty stations in 
Montana and Oklahoma. Th~ 
was assi ed to -

for investigation. 

On May 5, 2009, Butterbrodt supplemented 
his initial com laint with a letter addressed 

(b) (6) 

letter were copies of seven emails 
exchanged from March 2, 2009 and March 
11 , 2009 between Dr. Butterbrodt and CEO 
Pourier and the Clinical Director, Dr. Jan 
Colton. Dr. Butterbrodt requested that his 
letter and the attached emails be added to the 
SDBMOE investigative case file on Weber. 

On June 5, 2009, _ issued a letter to 
CEO Pourier requesting all complaints, 

47° First Keats email to Birney and McSheny dated March 12, 2009. 
411 Id. 
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concerns and coITective actions pertaining to 
Weber. 

On June 18, 2009, Pourier responded to the 
SDBMOE. Without providing any 
documents, Pourier referenced a patient 
complaint in 1996 alleging a physical 
examination by Weber was "too com,jfe" 
and that an evaluation conducted by · · 
- fonner Clinical Director 
concluded the complaint meritless. Pourier 
also wrote: 

"Dr. Butterbrodt has raised issues 
concerning Dr. Weber twice; once in 2006 
and now in 2008-2009. In each instance the 
concerns raised by Dr. Butterbrodt dealt 
with inappropriate behavior with adolescent 
males. An investigation was conducted in 
both instances. Allegations and innuendos 
were found, but no concrete evidence. We 
had placed Dr. Weber on leave during our 
investigation and many members of the 
Oglala Sioux Tribe requested his return. Dr. 
Weber is an excellent clinician who is 
generally well-respected by patients, their 
families, and his peers. " 

Pourier did not info1m - that the 
August 1995 sexual assault allegation was 
refeITed to the FBI, he did not include any of 
the emails or memoranda prepared by 
Butterbrodt, and he makes no reference to 
Weber 's DWI aITest, all of which would 
have been responsive to rffl'lfil1 request for 
info1mation that was nee~ a thorough, 
objective and independent investigation of 
Weber. Pourier references internal 
investigations of Weber conducted by the 
Pine Ridge Hospital in 2006 or 2008-2009 
but did not provide any of the records sought 
by the SDBMOE. ICS was not provided, 
and was unable to locate, any investigative 
reports detailing these two investigations 
although Dr. Colton assured the consultants 
that a repo1i was written and should have 
been on file both at the Service Unit and in 

the Area Office. Pourier 's reference to an 
internal investigation into Weber 's 
inappropriate behavior with adolescent 
males in 2006 (if it exists) is especially 
troubling in light of Pourier 's public 
statements on the Frontline broadcast that 
Weber refosed to cooperate with Pourier's 
inquiiy into the physical assault. 

On Januaiy 17, 2013.WJIGJ] issued a letter 
to Weber advising that SDBMOE's 
"concern had been addressed appropriately 
and the file had been closed. " This letter 
acknowledged that SDBMOE had closed 
theii· investigation and concluded that no 
action by SDBMOE was wairnnted. 

On October 19, 2019, RADM Chris 
Buchanan requested that the SDBMOE 
provide IHS with copies of all documents 
that were provided to SDBMOE by IHS in 
connection with the investigation of Weber, 
as well as a foll copy of SDBMOE's 
investigative file regarding Weber. As of 
the date of this repo1i, no response from 
SDBMOE has been received. 

The SDBMOE files and investigative 
reports ai·e necessaiy in order to conduct a 
foll assessment of their investigation and to 
evaluate the actions and statements of IHS 
leadership in that regard. 

An issue of critical concern is Weber 's 
admission statements to OIG Special Agent 
Culi Muller on May 19, 2016. During this 
interview, Weber confnmed to SA Muller 
that he pa1iicipated in a three-day 
psychological assessment by SDBMOE 
wherein he was questioned on whether he 
had sex with male patients. Weber also 
confnm ed that he was subsequently 
administered a polygraph exainination as 
paii of that investigation. Weber said he did 
not recall failing the polygraph examination, 
and he claimed that he did not remember 
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having any discussion on why he failed the 
polygraph examination. 472 

The ad hoc Investigation 
Committee 
1\f arch 2009 

fu March of 2009, Clinical Director Colton 
assembled an ad hoc fuvestigation 
Committee to address Butterbrodt's 
complaint fo1mally lodged against Weber 
with her and CEO Pourier. The failures of 
the ad hoc fuvestigation Committee as a 
fact-finding mechanism are fully explored in 
Root Cause Finding #3 - fueffective futemal 
fuvestigations as an institutional failure of 
the process itself, but also resonate as a 
failure of leadership that should be 
examined from that perspective as well. 

While the allegations leveled by Butterbrodt 
signaled potential criminal behavior that 
should have been refe1Ted to law 
enforcement, Dr. Colton was advised by the 
Office of General Counsel to fonn an ad hoc 
fuvestigation Committee to investigate the 
complaint. It was clear almost from its 
fo1mation that the ad hoc team was neither 
qualified nor prepared to conduct the 
thorough investigation required of the 
seriousness of their assignment. 

Leadership should have realized these facts: 

► None of the members had any 
specialized training to properly 
conduct this type of investigation; 

► None had any background in 
interviewing witnesses, assembling 
records, or evaluating direct and 
circumstantial evidence; 

► This was a collateral duty assigned 
to them to be performed in addition 
to their full-time obligations as 
medical practitioners and therefore 

they were hampered not only by 
inexperience and lack of training but 
also by resources and opportunity; 

► There was an inherent conflict of 
interest of allowing Weber 's 
subordinates to be involved in the 
investigation, some of whom may 
have been witnesses to relevant facts 
yet disclosed or undiscovered; 

► The credibility, impartiality and 
objectivity required of the 
investigation was fatally 
compromised from inception as 
Weber served as Chief of Staff; it 
would have been impossible for the 
committee members to ignore the 
possibility that he would be involved 
in the future review of their annual 
performance evaluations; and 

► The time allotted for the 
investigation be completed- and a 
written report be issued- within two 
weeks was completely inconsistent 
with the gravity of the allegations. 

The committee called no witnesses. It did 
not contact Butterbrodt for verification of 
his allegations or to inquire whether 
additional, yet unrevealed, evidence existed 
to suppo1i his complaint. The committee did 
not even confront Weber to explain the 
circumstances giving rise to Butterbrodt's 
concerns or ascertain whether he denied the 
allegations. The group 's lack of expe1iise, 
lack of objectivity, and lack of effo1i 
resulted in the inevitable conclusion that 
Butterbrodt's allegations could not be 
substantiated. 

fu Sllill, while an ad hoc committee 
comprised of an accused provider's 
colleagues - or worse, subordinates - is a 
flawed mechanism from the outset for 
addressing allegations of criminal patient 
endange1ment, it reflects a deeper problem 

472 United States v. Weber, CR 17-50033, (DSD, Westem Division), Transcript of May 19, 2016, Interview with 
Patrick Weber, Dk. No. 50, p . 53. 
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of leadership in either not recognizing the 
flaws inherent in such a decision or a failure 
to appreciate the seriousness of child abuse 
allegations. 

fu an email dated April 10, 2009 Colton 
referenced their inability to obtain "previous 
investigations" and related "police repo1is" 
pe1iinent to the Weber investigation. The 
leadership at the Pine Ridge Service Unit 
was required to exercise reasonable 
judgment when considering the record. A 
reasonable supervisor would have concluded 
that the amount of specificity and attribution 
of these allegations was sufficient to waiTant 
finiher investigation. The nature and 
seriousness of the allegations, the 
prominence of the employee's position 
(Chief of Staff), and the sheer volume of 
Weber 's personal contact with the 
adolescent patients, should have resulted in 
a thorough investigation. If one could not be 
conducted by an internal committee, a 
refe1rnl to law enforcement for a proper 
investigation was mandated. 

Managers involved (Pourier, Keats, and 
Colton) did not ask themselves any of the 
questions necessaiy to address a serious 
allegation. As a result of that failure no 
evidence relating to the allegation was 
sought and (not unexpectedly) no evidence 
was obtained; therefore, no evidence of 
Weber 's misconduct was considered which 
resulted in the conclusion that there was no 
evidence to suppo1i the allegation. The most 
sinister inte1p retation of such a series of 
events would be that managers like Pourier 

obtained a pre-detennined outcome that had 
nothing to do with whether or not the 
allegations were bue. The perception of 
those not directly involved in the process 
was that Weber had been 'cleared' of any 
wrongdoing. 

ICS had some sympathy for Dr. Colton. She 
took over as the Clinical Director from Dr. 
Sumners and was almost immediately 
confronted with the Weber case. She 
followed a course recommended by­
-tv>JfJ] who seemed to b'eat the 
matter as a common personnel issue, not a 
conduct and patient safety issue with serious 
criminal implications. 473 fu doing so, an 
allegation of child sexual abuse occupied the 
same level of urgency as a Inisdiagnosis or 
insufficient attentiveness to a patient's 
complaint. 

Ultimately, CEO Pourier was the person 
responsible for the effective management of 
employee conduct, properly documenting 
and investigating allegations and incidents 
of employee Inisconduct, and initiating 
con ective action as wa1Tanted. Pourier 
failed in all aspects of his responsibilities 
with regard to the ad hoc investigation by 
accepting the meaningless conclusion that 
nothing fmiher could be done to resolve this 
complaint. 

Pourier, Keats, and others treated an 
allegation of child abuse as an 
inconvenient personnel issue. That was 
the leadership failure separate and apart 
from the manner of investigation itself. 

473 ICS found fault with HHS OGC for its failure to acknowledge the seriousness of the allegations or counsel Dr. 
Colton, CEO Pourier, or anyone else with whom they communicated that they had statuto1y and regulat01y 
obligations to refer this matter to law enforcement. 34 U.S.C. § 2034 1.Child abuse reporting, "A covered individual 
who learns of facts that give reason to suspect that a child has suffered an incident of child abuse, including sexual 
abuse, shall as soon as possible make a report of the suspected abuse to [federal law enforcement]"; Crime Control 
Act of 1990 - Public Law 101-647. 45 CFR § 73 .735-1302 - "Responsibility for reporting allegations of 
misconduct. An employee who has infonnation which he or she reasonably believes indicates the existence of .. . (c) 
a substantial and specific danger to the public health and safety, shall immediately report such information to his or 
her supervisor, any management official of the Department, or directly to the Office of the Inspector General." The 
OGC failed Dr. Colton. 
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\Yeber Application for 
Reappointment 

Apr;/ 2009 

fu the midst of the uproar of2009 when 
Weber was now accused of pedophilia, an 
ad hoc committee fo1med to investigate, a 
SDBMOE investigation unde1way, and the 
2008 DWI/AWOL issue was being revisited 
after lying do1mant for a year, Weber 
needed to be recredentialed to continue 
practicing medicine at the Pine Ridge 
Service Unit. 

Weber was placed on 60-day Non Duty with 
Pay status from March 03, 2009 to May 02, 
2009 during the investigations into 
allegations of his misconduct. 474 While on 
his administrative leave, Weber prepared 
and submitted an Application for 
Reappointment (Application) to the Pine 
Ridge medical staff as pa.ii of his two-year 
recredentialling process. 

The credentialing and privileging approval 
process is designed to properly screen 
medical providers, ce1iify their minimum 
standards for competency ai·e maintained, 
promote quality patient care, and identify 
potential risk to patient health cai·e. 
The credentialing process is a suitability 
review that evaluates and verifies the 
qualifications and practice histo1y of the 
medical provider. Factors considered and 
evaluated include education, training, 

residency and licensing. Coupled with that 
is privileging, which authorizes a healthcai·e 
practitioner to practice within a certain 
scope of patient cai·e services. 

A thorough review and objective analysis of 
the provider's infonnation is required. The 
process is designed to identify deficiencies 
and resolve any outstanding concerns. 
Renewal is neither automatic nor 
guai·anteed. The goal is to avoid exposing 
patients and medical facilities to 
unnecessa1y risks generated by 
unprofessional, unethical, dangerous and/or 
incompetent health care providers. 475 

The IHS 's credentialing and privileging 
process, as outlined in IHS Circular 95-16, 
Appendix A, consists of the following steps: 

► Step 1. A practitioner completes and 
applies for medical staff membership 
and clinical privileges. The 
practitioner must sign and date both 
applications. 

► Step 2. The credentialing 
coordinator/ credentialing specialist 
reviews the applications for 
completeness and verifies the 
credentialing info1mation. 

► Step 3. The clinical director at the 
medical facility reviews both 
applications for completeness and 

474 In December 2010 the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs issued their report on the IHS Aberdeen Area - "In 
Oitical Condition: The Urgent Need to Reform /HS' Aberdeen Area". Several service units within AAO were cited 
for licensing and credentialing problems. The report identified Pine Ridge as having substantial accreditation issues. 
The Senate Conunittee found fault in numerous instances of employees being placed on administrative leave with 
pay due to an ongoing investigation. Between 2005 and 2010 there were 23 employees placed on administrative 
leave with pay at Pine Ridge. The Conunittee was critical of allowing the local service unit the authority to place 
employees on administrative leave due to a pending investigation without the knowledge of, and the approval of the 
Area Office. 
475 The above recitation is a distillation taken from IHS Manual -Chapter 1 - Medical Credentials and Privileges 
Review Process, Part 3 - Professional Services, and IHS Manual -Chapter 23- Ethical and Professional Conduct of 
Health Care Providers, Part 3- Professional Services. 
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detennines whether the applicant has 
requested privileges that the facility 
either suppo1is or requires. 

► Step 4. The clinical director reviews 
the applications and any additional 
infonnation with the medical staff 
executive committee. This 
committee recommends the 
applications for medical staff 
membership to be accepted or 
rejected and detennines which of the 
requested clinical privileges should 
be granted. This recommendation is 
routed through the Clinical Director 
and the CEO before being fo1warded 
to the governing body. 

► Step 5. The CEO at the medical 
facility reviews the appropriateness 
of the recommendations from the 
medical staff executive committee 
and fo1wards the recommendations 
to the governing body of the service 
unit. 

► Step 6. - The governing body 
reviews the applications and grants, 
restricts, or denies the staff 
membership and/or privileges in 
writing. 

Under the Application for Reappointment, 
section "Liability Claims and Adverse 
Actions", Weber answered "Yes" to two 
questions that required him to attach a 
statement explaining his answer: 

❖ Question - Have any civil or criminal 
charges ever been filed against you, 
or are you under investigation which 
might lead to such charges? 

~eber provided a brief summaiy regai·ding 
his DWI arrest in Rapid City in Febmaiy 
2008. He advised that he had repo1ied the 
aiTest to the Clinical Director and his 

licensing boai·ds, completed dmg/alcohol 
counseling and that he had been alcohol free 
since the ai-rest. 

❖ Question - Are you cmTently 
involved in or have knowledge of a 
pending investigation review, or 
surveillance of your professional 
practice or conduct that could result 
in an adverse action concerning yom 
narcotics registration, ability to bill 
and collect from Medicare or 
Medicaid programs, professional 
license, registration or ce1i ification, 
or medical staff membership or 
privileges? 

Weber acknowledged that Dr. Butterbrodt 
had filed two complaints against him, one 
with the Pine Ridge Hospital and one with 
SDBMOE. Weber confirmed that he had 
met with SDBMOE on Febmaiy 19, 2009 
regai·ding the complaint. He noted the 
complaint alleged that (a) he was a "child 
molester" at both Pine Ridge and Browning, 
Montana, (b) he had been "treating" children 
in his home, and ( c) he "selected out teenage 
male patients" to see in the clinic. Weber 
also referenced other complaints by 
Butterbrodt filed with CEO Pom ier and 
Clinical Directors Smnner and Colton since 
2007, although these other complaints were 
not fmi her identified. 

Weber denied the allegations. He claimed 
they were vindictive based on Weber's 
quality of cai·e complaint filed in 2007 
against Butterbrodt alleging substandard 
patient care. Weber did not provide any 
infonnation regarding the ad hoc 
investigation, or the fact that he was 
cmTently on a 60-day Non-Duty with Pay 
administrative leave status. 

The Recommendation & Approval section 
of Weber's Application was signed and 
approved by seven IHS senior officials. 
Each of the individuals listed below 
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unconditionally recommended Weber for 
reappointment to the Pine Ridge Medical 
Staff before the completion of the SDBMOE 
investigation: 

• Supe1visor/Consultant: Fernando 
Cosme on May 5, 2009 

• Credentialing Committee: Hector 
Burgos on May 5, 2009 

• Medical Executive Committee: 
Jose Carlos Rodriguez, on May 
18,2009 

• Medical Director: F. Delgado on 
May 19, 2009 

• Chief Executive Officer: Bill 
Pourier on May 21 , 2009 

Weber 's Application was then mailed to the 
Aberdeen Area Office for further review and 
analysis by the Governing Body. At the 
AAO, Weber was recommended for 
reappointment by Vickie Claymore­
Lahammer (Claymore), the Acting Chief 
Medical Officer, on June 11 , 2009. Weber's 
Application for Reappointment now had the 
endorsements of the Credentialing 
Committee, the Medical Executive 
Committee, the Pine Ridge CEO and the 
AAO Acting Chief Medical Officer. It was 
subsequently approved by Area Director 
Charlene Red Thunder on June 15, 2009. 
The Application was then returned to the 
Pine Ridge se1vice unit and Weber resumed 
his medical career where he continued to 
prey on his adolescent male teenage victims. 

The governing body had the ultimate 
authority on whether to grant, restrict or 
deny a medical provider 's privileges. It is 
required to exercise a sufficiently 
independent review and detennination to 

make that authority a credible exercise. 
Recommendations from the two subordinate 
oversight committees cannot be used as an 
excuse for the Governing Body's failure to 
restrict or deny Weber's privileges at the 
Pine Ridge Hospital. The Governing Body is 
ultimately responsible for this monumental 
failure. The signatures of Governing Body 
members CEO Bill Pourier, Chief Medical 
Officer Vickie Claymore Lahammer and 
Area Director Charlene Red Thunder -
without additional info1m ation to explain the 
lack of robust analysis -- confess their 
failures to act as responsible managers. 476 

Weber's Application contained sufficient 
information to restrict and possibly deny 
his reappointment. Two separate 
investigations into allegations that he was 
a suspected pedophile should have 
triggered a comprehensive analysis of the 
situation. Just the opposite occurred. 
Three oversight committees, and the 
leaders who chaired them, simply rubber­
stamped Weber's Application for 
Reappointment to the Pine Ridge medical 
staff. 

1 not reca spec1 1ca y rev1ewmg 
Weber 's application, although she admitted 
it was her responsibility to do so. 
mmJIII confinned that all three 
oversight committees failed in their 
responsibility to properly screen, analyze, 
vet and process Weber 's Application for 
Reappointment. 

Dr. Fernando Cosme was the Chai1man of 
the Pine Ridge Credentialing Committee in 
2009. He admitted to ICS that he had 
personally obse1ved "lots of male patients 
would ask for Weber." Cosme claimed no 

476 ICS requested copies of the meeting minutes of the Credentialing Committee, the Medical Executive Committee 
and the Governing Body for 2009 in an attempt to identify whether there had been any discussions, reviews, or 
debate regarding Weber's reappointment. None of these documents were provided and none of these documents 
could be located during ICS' fieldwork. Likewise, ICS requested a copy of the ad hoc Investigation Committee 
repo1t seeking a better understanding of their process, analysis and conclusions. This report could not be located. 
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knowledge of the ad hoc committee 
investigation, even though Cosme witnessed 
Weber being placed on 60-day 
administrative leave in March 2009 by 
Clinical Director Colton and Weber 's 
Application clearly referenced both 
investigations. Cosme did recall the 
SDBMOE investigation but said Weber 
"was cleared" by the SDBMOE. Cosme 
was not interviewed by anyone from the 
SDBMOE. He never saw, or read, a 
SDBMOE repo1t that cleared Weber. When 
asked to elaborate on how he knew that 
Weber "was cleared" by the SDBMOE, 
Cosme replied, "Ifhe (Weber) comes back 
to work - he was cleared." Cosme then 
noted, "Weber got a pay increase -he must 
have been cleared." 

Cosme initially denied that the "attachment 
page" was attached to Weber 's Application 
when he (Cosme) reviewed it and signed as 
Supervisor / Consultant on May 05, 2009 
recommending Weber 's reappointment to 
the medical staff. Cosme was unable to 
explain the duties and responsibilities 
inherent to the position of Supervisor / 
Consultant. Upon further questioning, 
Cosme admitted that he signed Weber's 
application without reading the ' attachment 
page'. "I just signed it - didn' t review it 
thoroughly". 

Cosme explained that the credentialing 
process in 2009 was "just info1m al" and he 
stated "Before ... we tmsted." Dr. Cosme 's 
casual attitude toward the credentialing 
process is a prime example of the leadership 
failures that plagued the service unit. It 
finther demonstrates that leadership was 
more focused on the advancement of 
Weber 's career than on patient safety. 

Dr. Hector Burgos also served on the Pine 
Ridge Credentialing Committee and the 
Medical Executive Committee in 2009. 
Burgos advised that the Credentialing 
Committee reviewed Weber 's Application 
as a group, but the Committee did not 
interview Weber about the written naiTative 
that was attached to his application. Burgos 
finther advised that Cosme, as the 
Supervisor / Consultant, should have 
reviewed Weber 's application first, and then 
personally discussed with Weber these 
issues before providing his (Cosme 's) 
recommendation for Weber's 
reappointment. Cosme claimed that he did 
not have any discussions with Weber about 
his application. 

Burgos claimed that he also served on the ad 
hoc Investigation Committee. 477 He felt the 
ad hoc committee was not an investigative 
body, that this Committee "lacked the ability 
to get evidence"; from his perspective it was 
the Administration 's responsibility to 
provide the review committee the evidence 
it needed to complete its chai·ge. 

Without any additional evidence and 
consistent with Cosme's recommendation as 
Supervisor/Consultant that Weber's 
reappointment should be approved, the 
Credentialing Committee voted to 
recommend Weber 's reappointment to the 
medical staff. Burgos confinned that there 
was an option available to the Credentialing 
Committee to ' table' Weber's application 
for reappointment pending a more thorough 
investigation, or to wait for the completion 
of the SDBMOE investigation. According to 
Burgos, there was no discussion by the 
Credentialing Committee to table Weber 's 
Application. But there should have been. 
Tabling Weber 's Application would have 
been an effective alternative to that of 

477 This claim is somewhat in doubt as Dr. Colton did not identify Burgos as one of the three members she named to 
the ad hoc review. As a member of the MEC Burgos may have had sufficient interaction with the members of the 
ad hoc committee to believe - pa1ticularly 10 years later - that he had a fo1mal role. 
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simply recommending Weber's 
reappointment without benefit of additional 
evidence into allegations of his misconduct. 

Burgos recalled that Weber had returned to 
work (from the 60-day suspension) before 
he (Burgos) recommended Weber 's 
reappointment to the medical staff. Burgos 
interpreted Weber's return to work as proof 
that Weber had been cleared of the 
misconduct allegations. 

On May 21, 2009 CEO Bill Pourier 
recommended to the Governing Body that 
Weber be reappointed to the Pine Ridge 
Medical Staff. After Pourier' s 
recommendation, Weber's Application was 
mailed to the AAO for further review, 
recommendations and final decision by the 
Governing Body and the Area Director. The 
Acting Chief Medical Officer, Vickie 
Claymore Lahammer told ICS that it was 
Pourier's responsibility to ale1t the 
Governing Body to the issues contained in 
Weber 's Application. As Pourier told the 
PBS Frontline broadcast, "I couldn't afford 
to take the risk of losing my job at that 
time." Pourier's excuse for abandoning his 
responsibility is a stark reminder of the 
personal financial motivation that too often 
drives professional inaction. 

Instead of focusing on patient safety, these 
IHS officials opted to focus on promoting 
the career path of one of their own 
colleagues. he entire credentialing and 
privileging process at the Pine Ridge service 
unit was dysfunctional. The one common 
denominator in the failed process was the 
oversight required of CEO Pourier. As CEO 
he oversaw the daily functions of the 
hospital and he served on the Governing 
Body. His responsibility was a unique dual 

obligation to both the hospital and to the 
Governing Body. 

Three days after the Governing Body 
granted Weber's reappointment to the Pine 
Ridge medical staff, Pourier responded to 
the letter from SDBMOE requesting 
infonnation. Pourier provided no documents 
and his response was nothing more than a 
lobbying effo1t to get the SDBMOE to go 
away. Pourier's actions are undeniable 
evidence that he knew there was an active 
investigation by the SDBMOE both before 
and after he recommended Weber's 
reappointment to the Pine Ridge medical 
staff. His actions were unjustifiable, 
unreasonable and they demonstrate a 
total disregard for the seriousness of the 
allegations. 

Dr. Vickie Claymore told ICS that she was 
unaware that Butterbrodt filed a fonnal 
complaint against Weber in Febmaiy 2009 
with Dr. Colton. She did not recall being 
info1med that an ad hoc Investigation 
Committee was fo1med to investigate this 
complaint, nor was she aware of any written 
report from the ad hoc Investigation 
Committee.478 Although Weber disclosed 
the investigation in his reappointment 
application, Claymore was also unaware that 
Butterbrodt had filed a fo1m al complaint 
against Weber with the SDBMOE in 
December 2008. 

Although Claymore did not recall any 
specific issue with respect to Weber 's 
application, when she reviewed a copy, she 
speculated that she may have discussed with 
Cai·ol Slaba the notation that read "new 
liability issues." These liability issues were 
derived from the fact that Weber was under 
investigation for possible misconduct. She 
was unable to explain why she, and AAO 

478 Dr. Colton insisted that the committee had concluded its business and issued a written report, a copy of which 
was sent to the Aberdeen Area Office. ICS interview of Dr. Jan Colton, fonner Pediatric Dentist and former Acting 
Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Phoenix, Arizona, November 25, 2019. 
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Area Director Charlene Red Thunder signed 
off on approving Weber for reappointment 
to the Pine Ridge medical staff before these 
investigations were completed. She 
admitted the Governing Body should not 
have approved Weber's application for 
reappointment before the completion of 
the investigation. 

Claymore stated that Weber's Application 
should never had been fo1warded to the 
Governing Body; that the Pine Ridge 
Medical Executive Committee should not 
have recommended Weber's reappointment 
because of the active pending investigations 
of Weber. Claymore shifts primaiy 
responsibility to Pourier, noting that it was 
the CEO's responsibility to fully info1m the 
Governing Body of the SDBMOE 
investigation, including his letter to 
SDBMOE on June 18, 2009. 

On June 19, 2009, the day after Pourier 's 
letter to the SDBMOE, Weber was advised 
that the "Medical Executive Committee met 
on May 18, 2009 and approved your 
Reappointment application to the Medical 
Staff and requested Clinical Privileges. The 
Aberdeen Area Governing Body for the Pine 
Ridge IHS also approved your application 
and requested privileges on June 15, 2009." 

fu the ten-year period between 2001 and 
2011 , HHS-OIG issued 26 repo1is on IHS 
leadership failures, quality of care 
deficiencies, ineffective credentialing and 
privileging policies, patient safety, and the 
lack of oversight of program effectiveness. 
These repo1is often cited specific instances 
of employee Inisconduct. They all included 
recommendations for improvement. During 
that time frame, the OIG issued eight repo1is 
for deficiencies associated with ineffective 

credentialing and privileging (HHS OIG 
White Paper "Summaiy ofOIG-IHS 
Actvities-2011"). 

Everyone, individually (and collectively) 
involved in the review, vetting, analysis 
and recommendation of Weber's 2009 
Application for Reappointment failed in 
their primary obligation to ensure atient 
safe . Staiiin with 
the who processed 
We er 's app 1cabon an ending with AD 
Chai·lene Red Thunder who ultimately 
granted Weber continued unrestricted 
privileges at the Pine Ridge Hospital, all 
involved and specifically those who signed 
off recommending Weber's continued 
unrestricted privileges were derelict in their 
oversight responsibilities. 479 

This was a stunning failure in light of the 
number of levels of review, all 
presumably charged with conducting 
meaningful review and exercising 
objective judgment. So many were given 
the responsibility, and the authority, to 
review the suitability of a provider for 
practice in an IHS facility. Three oversight 
committees -- the Credentialing Cominittee, 
the Medical Executive Cominittee and the 
Governing Body - and key leaders -- the 
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Medical 
Officer and the Area Director - all reviewed 
pape1work where an applicant revealed he 
was suspected of sexually abusing children 
and detennined that he was deserving of 
privileges without any fini her inquiiy . 

A pivotal oppo1iunity to uncover the tiuth 
about Weber and stop him from finther 
injmy to IHS patients was lost to an apathy 
of leadership and a dereliction of duty. 

479 ICS noted that Carol Slaba, the Credentialing Coordinator for the Office of Medical Care Evaluation, at the 
Aberdeen Area Office, appeared to be one of the only administrators - out of the many involved with Weber's 
credentialing in the summer of2009 - who acted responsibly in attempting to put the brakes on a runaway process 
that seemed intent on rnbber-stamping his privileges and career without any regard for the danger he presented. 
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CEO \Yehnona Stabler 
2011 

fu July 2011 Weber was elevated to Acting 
Clinical Director, a position he would hold 
until his resignation from the rHS in May 
2016. Weber retired as a Commissioned 
Cmps officer on December 31 , 2011 , and 
the next day staiied a civilian career with the 
IHS. 

While Acting Clinical Director, Weber 's 
immediate supe1v isor was CEO Wehnona 
Stabler. Stabler and Weber were neighbors 
in the IHS housing complex located adjacent 
to the hospital. 

Stabler told Frontline that an anonymous 
caller provided her allegations of Weber's 
pedophilia. She claimed the caller didn' t 
provide her any specific infonnation and 
therefore the complaint was not pursued. 

Dr. Butterbrodt told res that the call to 
Stabler was from him and that it was by no 
means 'anonymous ' . Butterbrodt said he 
provided Stabler with all of the info1mation 
he had collected on Weber and urged the 
CEO "in the strongest possible te1ms" to 
remove Weber from patient cai·e. 

During his inte1view with SA Muller in May 
2016, Weber confnmed that Stabler became 
the CEO in 2011 and admitted that he had a 
meeting with both Stabler and Acting 
Deputy CEO Sophia Conroy regarding this 
paiiicular complaint. Weber was told by 
Stabler the caller - concealing Butterbrodt's 
identity - told her that Weber "was 
molesting boys." Weber assumed the call to 
Stabler was placed by Dr Butterbrodt. 480 

According to Weber, there were no further 
discussions about this issue. Weber admitted 
to giving Stabler "a sizable amount" of 
money as a gift because he knew that Stabler 
"was having problems financially". Weber 
could not recall if he also gave money to 
Conroy. 481 

Stabler took no action to investigate the 
allegations, to restrict Weber's patient 
care, or report the allegations to the Area 
Office or the OIG. 

The fact that Stabler took no action to verify 
the complaint clearly reveals that like so 
many before her, she dismissed the 
allegations against Weber on the basis of 
nothing more than his denials. If the 
complaint was serious enough to notify 
Conroy and then hold a meeting with 
Weber, the complaint was serious enough to 
wan-ant making a record of the allegations, 
the meeting, and her decision. It was serious 
enough to comply with the mandato1y 
repo1iing requirements of statute, regulation, 
and policy. 

Without more res did not conclude that the 
payment to Stabler was some so1i of conupt 
payment exchanged for her silence and 
collaboration in his effo1is to conceal his 
criminal conduct. Stabler did not disclose 
the payment on her ethics disclosures and 
was held to account for that crime. 

Although res could not dete1mine that 
Weber ever gave money to any of his other 
supe1v isors, financial and professional 
security was not an uncommon motivation 
for ignoring problems rather than addressing 
them. 482 Although few managers were 
candid enough to admit that money and 

480 United States v. Weber, CR 17-50033, (DSD, Western Division), Transcript of May 19, 2016, Interview with 
Patrick Weber, Dk. No. 50, p . 111-112. 
481 Id., at pp. 114-115. 
482 "Well at that time, you think of your career and job and your livelihood so I would have probably got fired. I 
guess that was the risk I would've took. I couldn't afford to take the risk at that time. To lose my job." Frontline 
interview of William Pourier, aired Februaiy 12, 2019. 
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position motivated them to ignore the alanns 
about Weber, circumstances suggest that the 
urge to suppress potentially embairnssing 
problems is closely tied to concerns of self­
interest This issue is discussed at length in 
Root Cause Finding #2 related to disclosure. 

However, when it comes to leadership 
failures, taking a large sum of money from a 
subordinate who has been accused of 
criminal activity - and having done nothing 
with the allegation - ce1tainly compromises 
the manager by an appearance of conupt 
behavior. An appearance of corruption 
alone is sufficient to demoralize the staff, 
cast doubt on the integrity of the 
institution as a whole, and bring disrepute 
to an agency in the eyes of its clients, the 
public, and the legislators that fund it. 
Whether Stabler 's decisions were controlled 
by Weber 's money is a fair question that 
only two people can answer. But the damage 
is done regai·dless of their answer. 

BIA Law Enforcement Referral 
2015 

At some point in eai·ly July 2015, BIA Law 
Enforcement delivered to the Great Plains 
Area Office an undated, two-page 
investigative SUllllllaty prepai·ed by SA Fred 
Bennett regarding their investigation into 
Weber. 483 

SA Bennett's SUllllllaty provided graphically 
detailed sexual assault allegations from an 
alleged victim who claimed that he had been 
sexually abused by Weber from the age of 
12 to the age of 18 and that Weber had 
provided him gifts of money, clothing, 
alcohol and a PlayStation 2 gaming console. 

According to the alleged victim, most of 
these assaults occmTed at Weber's 
government housing unit located near the 
Pine Ridge hospital. 

The alleged victim also claimed that while 
incai·cerated in the · uvenile detention facility 
in Ra id Ci 

The repo1t 
again provided graphic details of these 
sexual assaults and the locations where they 
occmTed. The victim further reported that he 
broke free of Weber during this outing and 
did not return to juvenile detention facility 
as required. 

SA Bennett had confnmed with U. S. 
Probation Office and corrections officials at 
the juvenile detention facili that 

The victim had disclosed to Bennett that 
while a fugitive, Weber had provided him 
money and then sexually abused him on 
several more occasions. 

SA Bennett's SUllllllaty referenced Weber's 
previous physical assault in Pine Ridge and 
included info1mation that Weber had 
pe1petrated similar sexual assaults on young 
boys at his previous duty station in 
Browning. SA Bennett repo1ted that he had 
contacted some of Weber 's previous 
coworkers in Browning, confnming these 
allegations. 

~ 8, 2015,tml'fflllllllll­
- emailed~ Deputy 
Director, and Ron Com eli-a Director 
for the Great Plains Area. • • had 

483 It is difficult to accurately determine the date as emails or other documentation recording events were not 
available. The first record is an OGC email to the Area Office which suggests that the Area Office, at some point on 
or before July 8, 2015, sent Bennett's repo1t to the OGC. As with so many other periods of the Weber story, there is 
a failure to retain or a failure to retrieve relevant documents. SA Bennett confinned that he gave it to the IHS in 
Aberdeen. ICS interview of Fred Bennett, fonner BIA Special Agent at Pine Ridge, Rapid City, South Dakota, 
October 1, 2019. 
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reviewed SA Bennett's investigative repo1i 
and then he had spoken with SA Bennett's 

~[-IA Superviso1y Agent­
- • • confomed to AD Cornelius 
and Deputy AD Sorensen that a federal 
criminal investigation of Weber was 
unde1way, and the matter had ah-eady been 
refeITed to the U.S. Attorney's Office.484 

After over 20 years of dismissing the 
allegations as specious or inconclusive, 
avoiding credible inquiiy, and protecting 
Weber at all costs, the IHS now had a bona 
fide fo1mal criminal investigation under way 
that seemed to be given serious attention. 
Now IHS was provided a written SUllllllaIY 

report that contained the specificity and 
attribution that had been cited so many times 
before as the reason why no personnel 
action against Weber could be sustained. 
Now law enforcement had a victim who was 
cooperating. A victim who had gone on 
record with date specific, location specific, 
criminal element specific allegations of 
Weber 's pedophilia. And that infonnation 
was fo1m ally documented, and hand 
delivered to IHS. 

rtDm advised Cornelius and Sorenson that 
'Ta}7'7his time, you have been put on notice 
by BIA Police of a possible crime or crimes 
committed by one of your providers and a 
link between those crimes and the providers 
Federal duties and in particular, patient 
care duties. .. . Our recommendation is to 
place him on summary suspension of clinical 
privileges (action available to you through 
the Bylaws) and placement on some 
administrative duty and away from patient 
care."485 

Sorenson handed this seemingly explosive 
issue off to Shelly HaiTis, Acting Deputy 
Dii·ector for Field Operations and " ... let her 
take it from here since she has oversight of 
the service units ", 486 and appeared to wash 
his hands of any further responsibility. 

No fmiher documentation was provided that 
would indicate there were any more 
management discussions about the 
refe1rnl. 487 It would take almost four 
months, and only after the OIG contacted 
the IHS in October 2015, for any 
administrative action to be taken. 

In October 2015, OIG SA Muller contacted 
HaiTis and requested records pe1iinent to 
theii· criminal investigation. SA Muller told 
her that Weber was taking inappropriate 
actions with minors and that he was 

assaulting lm&nts. Despite the July 
email from • • SA Bennett's 
investigative repo1i with all the details, and 
the events of 2009 to which she was a pai·ty, 
HaiTis told ICS that this was the first time 
that she "officially heard" that Weber was a 
pedophile. 488 

Like so many others in IHS management, 
HaiTis seems to have elevated the standai·d 
of proof to an almost unattainable level 
before engaging on a serious patient safety 
allegation. Her comments suggest that 
Weber could not be a dangerous pedophile, 
"officially", without being caught in the act 
by multiple witnesses or a confession. Or, as 
troubling, in 2009 and 2015 she just ignored 
the warnings that were put on her desk. 

484
~ email to Sorenson, Comelius, andml, dated July 9, 2015 . 

485 Id. ICS emphasis added. 
486 ~ email to Sorenson, Comelius, andml, dated July 9, 2015. Sorenson reply, July 10, 2015. 
487 This conclusion is based on the fact that there were no records - no emails, no memos, no personnel actions - to 
suggest any further discussions took place. That conclusion is reinforced by the fact that nothing happened. 
488 ICS interview of Shelly Hruris, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Bmdick Memorial Hospital, Belcourt, 
North Dakota, October 29, 2019. 
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On October 30, 2015, Han-is directed that 
Weber be removed from patient care but left 
him in place as Clinical Director. 489 

As Clinical Director, Weber continued to 
see patients, 490 had superviso1y control over 
the staff, 49 1 dispensed diugs from his 
administrative office, 492 continued to see 
adolescent boys at his administrative 
offices, 493 and had continued access to IHS 
files which he likely destroyed on the eve of 
his departure. 494 

At vai-ious places in this repo1t we have 
acknowledged that HaITis was following 
OGC guidance. Having conceded that, ICS 
was incredulous that no one involved in the 
July 2015 discussion appreciated the 
seriousness of the allegation and the 
fecklessness of their response to it. 
Bennett's repo1t should have triggered an 
emergency response; instead it triggered 
only the same buck-passing and apathy that 
had protected Weber for 30 years. 

It wasn 't until May 2016 that Weber was 
fo1mally placed on administrative leave and 
removed from the leadership reigns of the 
Pine Ridge Hospital. 

Four days later Weber resigned from federal 
service. 

Conclusion 

Leadership failed because it wanted the 
warnings about Weber to be untrue 
because if they were true, they would 

have to take steps that would be 
awkward, arduous, inconvenient, messy, 
and embarrassing. 

It ignored them when possible, and 
actively worked to insure they were not 
substantiated when forced to confront 
them. 

All other failures flowed from this primaiy 
cause. It is why whistleblowers were 
discouraged and those that did come fo1ward 
punished. It is why there were never any 
credible attempts to investigate. It explains, 
at least in part, why such serious events 
were so poorly documented and preserved. 
Leadership wanted the allegations to be 
spurious, treated them as such from the 
moment they were made, and declared them 
to be so as if to reinforce their 
predetennined conclusions. 

Managers in Browning, Billings, Pine 
Ridge, and Aberdeen had an abundance of 
evidence - some presented to them and 
some discoverable with the most modest 
amount of sincere inquny -- with which to 
remove Weber. The IHS did not have to 
prove him a pedophile beyond a reasonable 
doubt. Its standard of proof for a personnel 
action would have been much lower. It was 

489 Han-is email to ~ r, dated October 30, 2015. 
490 ICS interview ot~ former Medical Suppo1t Assistant at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Rapid City, 
South Dakota, November 27, 2019. 
491 ICS interview of Jacklyn Miller, IHS nurse at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 19, 2019. Weber 
"had a lot of say so ~ him." 
492 ICS interview ot~ Registered Nurse at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, November 27, 2019. 
493 ICS interview of Diane Little Hawk, Administrative Suppo1t Assistant at Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, 
November 12, 2019. 
494 ICS interview of(i.irm•• talnm:w••- Administrative Assistant to the CEO and Deputy CEO at the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. 
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a failure to put the mission of the agency 
first and avoid controversy at all costs. 

In a very real sense, every victim of Weber's abuse at 

Pine Ridge was also a victim of the failures of /HS 

management. 
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ROOT CAlJSE FINDING# 2 
Failure to Disclose, 

Ineffective or Insufficient Reporting, 
Concealment from Management 

Superiors 

When it comes to making disclosures of 
abuse against a fellow IHS employee, a 
significant and pervasive fearfulness 
penneates the Indian Health Service ranks, 
paiticularly in the two Areas studied most 
extensively by res (Billings, Great 
Plains). 495 At the staff level, this feai· 
displaces the conscientious impulses of 
dedicated and compassionate health cai·e 
providers and replaces those intentions with 
the powerful instinct for economic self­
preservation; diligence in the protection of 
patients succumbs to material concerns for 
career and family. At the management 
level, self-interest, and the fear of losing 
position or opportunity for advancement, 
often supersedes the IHS mission to ensure 
patient care and results in effo1ts to ignore or 
bmy accusations of abuse that may 
embaiTass the administration at the Service 
Unit or Area Office level. 496 

Staff employees fear their Unit managers, 
Unit managers fear their Area managers, and 
Area managers feai· Headqua1ters. Fear of 
backlash and retaliation, together with a 
sense of futility, inhibits staff from 
exposing abuse. Fear of criticism, disfavor, 
and loss of position inhibits Unit managers 

from acknowledging legitimate concerns 
related to abuse. 

Analysis of Disclosure in the 
Weber Case 

IHS facilities, like Browning and Pine 
Ridge, ai·e located in remote and 
economically disadvantaged ai·eas. While 
the agency has historically been plagued by 
the inability to attract medical providers, 
what is also hue is that most of the 
administi·ative, nursing, technical, 
housekeeping, maintenance, and suppo1t 
staff positions ai·e filled by members of the 
local tribal community. Employment of any 
kind is often difficult to secure on the 
reservation, but federal jobs with federal pay 
scales and benefits are most precious. Often 
the primaiy breadwinner for a fainily, and 
often an extended family, is the member 
employed at the IHS. As fonner 
maintenance worker and union leader Tom 
Connell told res, whistleblower retaliation 
was a "major issue" and that many IHS 
employees ai·e reluctant to raise issues 
because their jobs ai·e "the only good jobs" 
available in their ti·ibal community. 497 

Reluctance to disclose abuse, unce1t ainty, 
and fear of retaliation must be analyzed 
through the prism of this reality. 

During the course of Weber's cai·eer, the 
system was skewed in his favor. While his 
predation seems to have been widely known, 

495 This assessment may be somewhat dated. One witness told ICS that she thou ht that the culture of fear and 
retaliation was "rampant" but improving. ICS interview of Billings Area 
Office, Billings, Montana, July 10, 2019. While most witnesses spoke of the fear of speaking up in contemporary as 
well as historical terms, some made the observation primarily with respect to the period of Weber' s practice in their 
community. This is not a significant caveat. The record is replete with confinnations of an ongoing atmosphere of 
fear and retaliation within the IHS and is discussed more extensively herein. 
496 Root cause findings are generalities; circumstances and decisions occun-ing often enough to be identified as a 
predominant cause of outcomes. As with all generalities, there are exceptions. Not all staff was afraid to disclose 
and not all managers allowed concerns for their professional well-being to deter them from attempting to address the 
allegations. 
497 ICS interview o 
Browning, Montana, September 18, 2019. See also, ICS interview of 
at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, October 22, 2019. 
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most of the staff stayed silent. That silence 
provided managers who were reluctant to 
take the warnings seriously the chance to 
undennine the allegations before they were 
investigated. 

Browning: Witnesses interviewed felt that 
many employees stayed silent about 
Weber 's conduct because staff did not 
believe the substantial risk to their position 
was wo1th the minimal chance that their 
concerns about a doctor would be addressed. 
Although CEO LaFromboise received 
warnings from numerous somces - Dr. 
Foster, Tim Davis, tribal members - she was 
slow to act, did not see any "cause for 
alaim ", 498 and took no action on her own to 
address the Weber problem, which lent 
suppo1t to the view that there is minimal 
chance the repo1ting of concerns would lead 
to action. 

Browning: Unit Managers showed no 
interest in addressing mounting allegations 
against Weber until the concerns of the 
Fosters, Unit staff, and the community - in 
addition to the violence against Weber by 
retaliating fainily members - became too 
numerous and too frequent to ignore; even 
then no one in management sought to have 
the matter investigated, treating Weber as a 
personnel problem not a criminal threat. 
There is no cleai· indication that 
management ever made - or would have 
ever made -- any decision to do something 
about the allegations against Weber. If Dr. 
Foster and a tribal member had not forced 
the issue by going to the Area Office, it is 
likely that the Weber problem would have 
been ignored indefinitely. 

498 Frontline Inte1view of Tim Davis, aired Febmary 12, 2019. 

Billings: Although the Area Director and the 
Deputy Area Director denied any knowledge 
of the Browning accusations against Weber, 
at the saine time they insisted that they were 
actively engaged in their relationships with 
the Unit. Foster, like Butterbrodt, seemed 
intent on ale1t ing anyone who would take 
his calls. "r guess the better response would 
be launch an investigation, and yet the IHS 
response is, typically, to sweep it under the 
mg or to, you know, pass it along to another 
place". 499 Chai-Ies Lewis told res that one of 
the more pervasive problems was "blaining 
someone else and a failme to take 
responsibility." soo Lewis noted that 
employees avoided involving any one 
higher in the organization in their issues; 
"you don't understand," "you don't help 
us," and "you're only here if there is a 
problem" were frequent refrains Lewis 
heard from employees at all levels. 501 

, advised that in the past, 
the agency has suffered from employees not 
"raising their hands" due to feai· of losing 
their jobs. Reprisals and retaliation in the 
past have been "rainpant." Wofford believed 
this has sta1ted to improve but 
acknowledged that it is still a significant 
problem in the IHS.502 (b) (6) 

highlighted the futility 
that many employees fee l, telling res that 
there has always been a problem with "IHS 

499 Frontline Inte1view of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, aired Febmary 12, 2019. 
500 ICS inte1view of Charles Lewis, fonner Deputy Area Director, Billings Area Office, Joliet, Montana, September 
10, 2019. 
501 Id. 
502 ICS inte1view o , Billings Area Office, Billings, Montana, July 10, (b) (6) 
2019. 
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not being trnsted" and that "if you complain, 
it won 't go anywhere." 503 

Pine Ridge: Weber was stationed at Pine 
Ridge for a ve1y sho1i time before his 
behaviors attracted the attention of the 
nurses who cautioned new hires "keep track 
of how long he [Weber] is in the room with 
a boy patient. " 504 The reluctance of staff to 
repo1i is best captured with what Dr. 
Butterbrodt was told when he was 
transferred to Tmile Mountain ' ' "look what 
they've done to you". Nearly every staff 
level witness, and many management 
witnesses who had started as staff, were 
clear that fear of negative consequences 
kept many employees from expressing 
concerns about potential dangers in the 
workplace. 

Pine Ridge: Witnesses repeatedly repo1ied 
to ICS that fear of retaliation and sense of 
futility were prevalent and se1ved to keep 
employees from disclosing misconduct. 

► Nurse Beth Perkins observed that 
staff members are "scared" to report 
things because they fear retaliation, 
so they just do not say anything 
about issues, especially when it 
involves doctors. Perkins said things 
at the hospital ''just go on and on " 
without getting resolved because of 
the fear employees have in reporting 
misconduct or other problems. 

► Former Physician's Assistant 
Marjorie Schmidt said she often 
heard the standard response when 
allegations against a doctor swfaced 

at Pine Ridge, "We need them 
(doctors), ifwe don't have the 
doctors, you don't have the patient 
care. " 

► Nurse felt that 
staff mem ers are " ear u . " to report 
concerns or problems because it 
leads to retaliation. Although they 
"see things they don't like, "staff do 
not report on doctors because they 
feel they will be disciplined, or 
nothing will be done on what they 
report. 

► Dr. Rod Cuny, former Chief Medical 
Officer in Aberdeen, acknowledged 
that "he's [Butterbrodt] a direct 
result of what people fear would 
happen. What might happen to you 
is what happened to him. And that's 
why p eople didn 't come forward like 
he did. And that's sad. "505 

Pine Ridge: CEO Pourier blamed all of his 
failures on fear of what it would do to him 
professionally - "I couldn't afford to take 
the risk at that time. To lose my job."506 -

but many witnesses indicated that Unit 
management is reluctant to pass any 
problems up the chain to the Area Office for 
fear of being considered incompetent. Area 
Commissioned Co1p s Liaison Keats 
pe1petuated Unit containment of adverse 
action against Weber by approving of it 
rather than demanding accountability and 
discipline for a PHS officer; " ... the Service 
Unit wanted to handle the previous issue 
(the DWI/AWOL) local~y ... " 507 

503 ICS interview otODmJIII at the Browning Service Unit, East Glacier, (b) (6) 
Montana, September 18. 2019. 
504 ICS interview o , Sheridan, Wyoming, August 1, 2019. (b) (6) (b) (6) 
Referencing the admonition, she received during her first days in the Pine Ridge Service Unit in 1997. 
505 Frontline interview of Dr. Rod Cuny, aired February 12, 2019. 
506 Id. 
507 First Keats email to Birney and McSheny dated March 12, 2009. ICS concluded Keats' protective behavior was 
probably not just professional loyalty. Kea.ts was also sexually attracted to children and therefore Weber was a 
kindred spirit. 
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Aberdeen: Area Commissioned Co1ps 
Liaison Keats made eve1y eff 01t to protect 
Weber, from talcing no steps to ensure that 
there would be any accountability for 
Weber 's DWI and AWOL, to constantly 
denigrating Dr. Butterbrodt and his 
allegations so that anyone in his chain of 
communication would be desensitized to the 
dangers presented. 508 

Aberdeen: Fo1mer Deputy Area Director 
Shelly Hanis was well aware of the climate 
that made staff reluctant to come fo1ward in 
2009. It was the mentality of IHS employees 
in the past to "say nothing, to keep it quiet, 
especially involving providers." Hanis 
recalled IHS supervisors being "vindictive 
after-the-fact" and when someone brought 
something up, "they took a chance", relating 
one pa1t icular occasion when she was told 
"remember you 're an IHS, government 
employee and be cautious what you say." 

The treatment of Dr. Butterbrodt 
deserves particular emphasis because it 
epitomizes the extremes of retribution 
and suppression that so contributes to a 
culture of fear: 

► After several emails ticking off the 
facts that gave rise to his concerns, 
CEO Pourier told Butterbrodt to 
desist: "I am directing you to cease 
your individual investigation of this 
matter, your emails concerning this 
issue, and your discussions on this 
matter." 

► The following day, Keats assured 
Birney and McSherry that "The 
office (sic) that started this whole 
thing has been directed to stop 
sending out the emails with these 
allegations. " 

► The following month Keats indicates 
that his concern is about 
Butterbrodt, not Weber: "I am very 
concerned that the accusing officer 
[Butterbrodt} was so inappropriately 
verbal with his accusations that this 
officer 's [Weber's} reputation has 
been damaged with the local 
community. " 

► A couple of months later Weber is 
back to work, and Keats is still 
attempting to silence Butterbrodt. In 
an email to Birney and McSheny he 
writes "Apparently, the accusing 
officer [Butterbrodt} is still up to no 
good and even though there have 
been no patient complaints or any 
other complaints for that matter 
(nursing staff), the accusing officer is 
pushing this issue . ... We ... have 
discussed both disciplina,y action 
against the other officer 
[Butterbrodt}. " 

► McSheny responded to Keats and 
Birney saying, "How about two 
things ... just to consider .... Move 
CAPT Weber to restore him. Move 
the other guy too so there is no 
implication that his actions or 
accusations have merit. The sun is 
shining in Kotzebue this time of 
year." 

► Keats: "There seems to be a block 
wall in regards to the "other" officer 
[Butterbrodt} at the CEO level who 
is blocking any disciplinary action. 
I have suggested a LOR/or this file 
for initiating this problem based on 
his "opinions" and no substantiated 
evidence, but the CEO does not want 

508 Keats's active protection of Weber may have been related to the fact that he was also a pedophile (as opposed to 
concern for position). However, he would be an exception. Other managers were clearly motivated by a desire to 
tamp down the problem to avoid addressing it or exposing themselves to accusations that they should have done 
something. 
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to push this issue and lose a "good" 
medical officer. 509 

► McSheny: "That bad boy 
[Butterbrodt} just may get a letter 
from farther up line and the CEO 
might too if he does not control 
him." 

► Keats then sought to enlist the 
assistance of the Area Director, 
Charlene Red Thunder, in his effort 
to penalize Butterbrodt, writing 
"Unfortunately, it appears as if CDR 
Butterbrodt has not stopped his 
behavior/accusations and I have 
suggested disciplina,y action against 
the officer to which CAPT Colton at 
Pine Ridge states that the CEO of the 
Kyle Health Center is not willing to 
move forward on. " Keats clearly 
sought Red Thunder 's assistance in 
removing Wanblee CEO Francine 
Red Willow as an obstacle to 
punishing Butterbrodt until he 
stopped making waves. 

► Within a month of a heated argument 
with Weber in July 2010, Dr. 
Butterbrodt had been reassigned to 
the Canadian border, and to the !HS 
facility at Turtle Mountain. 

Unquestionably the Commissioned Co1ps 
has a valid interest in good order and 
discipline and must be wa1y of false 
allegations used to discredit or harass a 
fellow officer. However, absent a credible 
inquiiy there was no way to conclude that 
Butterbrodt's claims were unjustified. Had 
there been one, it would have been 
detennined that all of Butterbrodt's factual 
accusations about patient density, STD 
testing, examining unaccompanied teenagers 
after homs, and a prior histo1y at Browning 
were hue. The conclusions to draw from 
those facts may have been subject to 
argument, but the tmth of the facts 
Butterbrodt used to come to his own 
conclusions were sound. Any credible 
inquiry would have undermined the 
campaign by Pourier and Keats to silence 
and punish the witness. 

Reporting Requirements 

The federal government in general, and the 
IHS in specific, is not sho1i of mandato1y 
repo1iing edicts. Requii·ed repo1iing 
obligations are embedded in federal 
statutes, 510 state statutes, 511regulations, 512 

509 There is a significant irony in Keats' insistence on Letter of Reprimand for Butterbrodt when he was equally 
ardent that Weber should receive little or no punishment for a DWI and no punishment whatsoever for being 
AWOL. 
510 18 U.S.C. §1169 - Reporting of child abuse - making it a misdemeanor crime for specifically identified persons, 
including those in health care, who "knows, or has reasonable suspicion, that- (a)(2)(A) "a child was abused in 
Indian country, B) actions are being taken, or are going to be taken, that would reasonably be expected to result in 
abuse of a child in Indian countly; and (3) fails to immediately repo1t such abuse or actions described in paragraph 
(2) to the local child protective services agency or local law enforcement agency ... ". 18 U.S.C. § ll 69(a)(2), (3). 
511 Montana Code Annotated (MCA)§§ 41-3-201; 15-6-201 (2)(b), South Dakota Codified Laws (SDCL)§ 26-8A-3; 
26-8A-6; 26-8A-7. 
512 45 CFR § 73. 735-1301 - Responsibility for reporting possible criminal violations. An employee who has 
info1mation which he or she reasonably believes indicates a possible offense against the United States by an 
employee of the Department, or any other individual working on behalf of the Department, shall immediately repo1t 
such information to his or her supervisor, any management official, or directly to the Office of the Inspector 
General. Also, 45 CFR § 73.735-1302 - Responsibility for repo1ting allegations of misconduct.An employee who 
has information which he or she reasonably believes indicates tlte existence of an activity constituting (a) a possible 
violation of a rule or regulation of the Department; or (b) mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, or abuse of 
authority; or (c) a substantial and specific danger to tlte public health and safety, shall illllllediately repo1t such 
info1mation to his or her supervisor, any management official of the Department, or directly to the Office of the 
Inspector General. 
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and policies. 513 Since August of 1994, the 
IHM has had guidelines for reporting and 
responding to violations of ethical standards 
and created a repo1iing strncture for 
allegations of unethical conduct; "it is 
unethical not to repo1i known violations of 
misconduct or violations of ethical 
standards." 514 The policies require facility 
staff to immediately repo1i allegations of 
misconduct or violations of ethical standards 
to their supervisor or other appropriate 
officials, and the supervisors must then 
report the allegations to senior leadership in 
the facility and/or the Area Office. 

They also require that CEOs of the IHS­
operated facilities repo1i all allegations to 
the Area Office, the OIG, or the IHS 
Division of Personnel Security and Ethics 
(DPSE). Once Area Offices are notified, the 

Area Directors must report the allegations to 
DPSE and/or OIG and to the appropriate 
professional organizations and State 
licensing/ce1iification boards. " 515 

Mandatory reporting policies serve no 
functional purpose unless the person 
obligated to report is not afraid to comply 
and has confidence that their reporting 
will have an impact. Promises of 
anonymity ring hollow when the rules 
require the employee to report the 
misconduct to their own supervisor. 
Indeed, whistleblower protections are 
premised on the expectation that 
managers may be inclined to punish those 
that step forward with disclosures of 
wrongdoing. 

IHS REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES FOR INCIDENTS OR SUSPICIONS OF 
SEXUAL ABUSE OF CHILDREN BY HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS 

. . . 
i \ I I ' ., 

l I' 

En..;urf" lf'rorterl UlC'Jrlt>nt~ 

arc documcnt~d in IHS 
incident reporting>) stem. 

~011r~ h(l_•n~mg UotLul ~• 

and ~ ational Practitjon('r: 

Sr,mu: !HS. !HM. /JI. 3: Cir. 20: J{(.IWn S-20.2 (Re1poMibiliti,s), !HS l!ami,g, Pr'1«ti11{!. Childrt•from Se.w,al Abuse in Hta/Jli Care &Ifill//,! - S11ppo11int a Culwn• if Co,1mmni!F Safi!~ ]wi, 28. 2019. 

513 IHM, Pait 3, Chapter 20 - " Protecting Children from Sexual Abuse by Health Care Providers", Febmaiy 2019. 
(Ethical and Professional Conduct of Health Care Providers) (August 2004). Also, IHS Internal email 

con-espondence regarding zero tolerance policy for sexual abuse or exploitation of children by healthcare providers, 
March 28, 2018. 
514 IHS, IHM, pt. 3; Ch. 23; section 3-23.1, Introduction (1984). Also, IHS, Transmittal Notice 04-05, August 5, 
2004, Ethical and Professional Conduct of Health Care Providers. 
515 Id. 
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Witness after witness testified to the existence of a 

culture of fear and retaliation within the /HS and 

cited this culture as a reason that more did not come 

forward with their concerns. 

Those that did come fo1ward were criticized, 
isolated, and punished which in tum 
reinforced the reluctance of others. 

ICS did not discount the impo1iance of a 
clear and emphatic policy, which serves not 
only to guide the actions of IHS personnel 
but also affords them a degree of protection 
when they act in accordance with that 
policy. However, policy does not guarantee 
compliance. 

The reasons for non-disclosure emanated 
from a fear of retribution and an 
uncertainty about what should be repo1ied. 
The concerns about Weber - both in 
Montana and in South Dakota -- were based 
on circumstantial evidence. It is no easy 
decision to repo1i a colleague for something 
as serious as patient abuse when the 
concerns are based on a collection of 
inconclusive facts. Cheny-picking a patient 
population, examining all patients for STDs 
regardless of medical complaint, after-hours 
visits to the hospital rooms of teenage boys, 
examining children without the presence of 
a parent or nurse, high traffic of juveniles to 
a personal residence, stepping outside the 
parameters of medical practice, distributing 
diugs without a prescription, handing out 
cash and gifts to teenage boys, and even 

finding the provider in bed with a patient 
playing video games, may provide ample 
basis for concern but, particularly if 
considered separately, inadequate for 
accusation. Time and again, even repo1ied 
warnings were ignored because they were 
inconclusive - Weber was not "caught in the 
act"; eve1ything he did could be explained 
away, especially if management was 
predisposed to disbelieve the accounts or 
ignore their importance. 

Non-disclosure by management is an 
entirely different scenario: 

► Management, which has the same 
regulato1y and policy requirements 
to repo1i allegations of abuse, 516 

often chose not to report and to 
suppress the source of the 
allegation. 517 

► Others seemed oblivious to their 
responsibility; too often an 
intentional state of oblivion induced 
by self-interest or unwillingness to 
accept the challenge that properly 
dealing with such accusations would 
require. 518 

► Many others had a repo1iing 
obligation but failed to repo1i. 519 

Managers regularly failed to repo1i and 
failed to remind their subordinates of their 
statuto1y duty to repo1i. In failing to do so 
they contributed to the preservation of 
Weber 's position and continuing 
victimization. 

A manager is entitled to question the 
motives behind a report or the impo1iance of 

516 The generality made here had exceptions, albeit woefully few, such as[GJl(DII actions in 1995. 
517 Suppression took place primarily at the service unit level by mana<>ers such as Pomier but also at the Area level 
by managers like Keats. It can also be seen in the Crowe case with (b) (6) 
518 Motivated obliviousness was more pervasive and can be seen in the responses, or lack thereof, by managers like 
LaFromboise and Stabler and others. 
519 This catego1y is populated by management engaged in the discussions from a distance who gave advice and 
counsel without recognizing that eve1yone with knowledge had a duty to repo1i allegations from Browning and Pine 
Ridge to law enforcement. It would include OGC and Headqua1t ers staff who communicated about the allegations 
against Weber. 
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the accusation, but in a matter as serious as 
child abuse, simply dismissing the concerns 
without further inquny is not a satisfacto1y 
response. The person making the allegation 
should be interviewed and the interview 
memorialized, questions asked, and a 
diligent inqui1y documented and repo1ted. 
Both law and policy require it. If law 
enforcement finds the allegations unreliable 
or insufficient to open an investigation, that 
is the OIG's prerogative, but that does not 
absolve the IHS manager from their 
responsibility. Enforcement of the criminal 
law is the OIG's concern; patient safety is 
the concern of the IHS. 

Many se1vice unit employees who failed to 
come fo1ward in the Weber case cannot be 
fairly rebuked. Rules regarding 
mandatory reporting are insufficient to 
distinguish between what appears weird, 
what may be concerning, and what is 
alarming. That, coupled with a fear of 
retaliation, quieted many who could not 
afford to be disrnptive. 

The fo1m er had no power to initiate fmt her 
inquny and the latter had the responsibility 
to do so. 

The same cannot be said of managers who were 

advised of an ample basis for alarm by those who did 

come forward and did little or nothing to rigorously 

inquire further as to its merit. 

Returning to the primaiy theme of this 
section, the most salient problem throughout 
Weber 's se1vice to the IHS in Montana and 

South Dakota was the lack of seriousness 
with which the allegations were taken by 
management. 

Whatever motivations and justifications that 

informed administrators' decisions, the possible 

abuse of children didn't seem sufficiently clear or 

sufficiently alarming. No statute, regulation, or 

policy would have altered that mentality. 

Analysis of Disclosure Issues 
Generallv 

Fear of retribution is not unique to the IHS, 
although it may be more pe1vasive in the 
IHS than other federal agencies, and it may 
be more prevalent in particulai· Areas and in 
paiticulai· Units within Areas. 520 Between 
2009 and 2013, a time period relevant to this 
review, the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission (EEOC) repo11ed that 
retaliation was the most common issue 
alleged by federal employees across all 
agencies and depa11ments and the most 
common discrimination finding in federal 
sector cases. Neai·ly half of all complaints 
filed during fiscal yeai· 2013 were retaliation 
complaints, with 42 percent of findings of 
discrimination based on retaliation. 521 The 
2010 Senate Repo11 found that EEO filings 
for the Aberdeen Area of the IHS, that 
alleged reprisal or retaliation, accounted for 
44 percent of all EEO complaints in the ten 
years prior. 522 From 2008 to 2010, the 
number of EEO complaints based on reprisal 

520 According to a 2010 Merit Systems Protection Board sw-vey, for example, 82 percent of NASA employees 
agreed that their agency encow-ages exposing wrongdoing, but just 43 percent at Housing and Urban Development 
said the same. Eric Yoder, "Surveys show fear of retaliation keeps would-be whistleblowersfrom speaking up", 
Washington Post, June 17, 2014. 
521 EEOC's Annual Repo1t on the Federal Work Force 2009-2013 and EEOC No Fear Data for FY 2009-2013; 
https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/types/retaliation considerations. cfm. 
522 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE 'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Repo1t of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010, p . 11. 
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or retaliation was substantially greater than 
those filed years prior. For instance, in 2005 
there were five filings based on 
reprisal/retaliation; however, by 2008 the 
number of filings was 20 and in the seven 
month period from Januaiy 2010 to July 23, 
2010 there had been 19, or 2.7 retaliation 
complaints eve1y month. 523 

An IHS environment that discouraged 
speaking out, and punished those that did, 
appeai·s in other cases after 2010. ill the 
Crowe case at the Unity Healing Center 
(2016-2017) a  for a  
victim regretted not coming fo1w ard to warn 
of the employee 's predation. "She (Grant) 
told me, 'No, I will handle this. Do not 
contact anybody,' [ s ]o I didn' t. I deeply 
regret that." The counselor believed she 
could be fired for disobeying. 524 A Unity 
staff member also called the HHS OIG and 
reported that the alleged sexual Inisconduct 
had been "swept under the mg."525 

ill the Tilus case (2012) from Spirit Lake, 
retaliation for disclosure was swift and 
unforgiving with an immediate four-month 
reassignment "for non-patient services and 
unclassified duties" to the Aberdeen Area 
Office, denial of any opportunity for 
promotion for two yeai·s, and cancellation of 
a voluntaiy transfer to Fo1i Belknap in 
Montana. 526 

At least during the time of the second Pine 
Ridge investigation into Weber (2006-
2010), the fears ofretaliation, paiiicularly 
within the Aberdeen Area, were absolutely 

523 Id. 

justified. The 2010 Senate illdian Affairs 
Cominittee investigation revealed that 
between 2002 and August 2010 there were a 
total of 364 reassignments, 235 details and 
31 employee transfers; the available 
documentation suggested that employees 
who filed EEO complaints were more likely 
to be detailed or reassigned compared to 
those that did not. 527 Neai·ly 11 percent of 
total reassigned employees had filed an EEO 
complaint (fo1mal or infonnal) and almost 8 
percent of the employees were placed on 
administrative leave prior to reassignment. 
Almost 3 percent of the employees had filed 
a grievance or other filing prior to their 
reassignment. About 13 percent of the total 
detailed employees had filed an EEO 
complaint (fo1mal or infonnal). 528 

Senator Byron Dorgan, Chainnan of the 
Senate Cominittee on illdian Affairs, also 
noted that these figures only included the 
employees who were transfened, detailed or 
reassigned to facilities located within the 
Aberdeen Area; it does not provide 
info1mation on individuals employed in the 
Area but who were transfened, detailed or 
reassigned to facilities outside the Area. 529 

The commonly held belief in the two Areas 
in which Weber primai·ily practiced ­
Billings and Aberdeen - was that staff who 
made allegations got punished and those 
against whom the allegations got made 
got protected. The way Dr. Butterbrodt 
was treated is a prime example 
supporting the first perception and the 

524 Weaver, "A Suicide Attempt, an Order to Keep Silent: A U.S. Agency Mishandled Sex-Abuse Claims," Wall Street 
Journal, June 7, 2019. 
525 Id. Lilly Knoepp, "Sexual Assault Allegations Against Tribal Council Candidate Reswface" Blue Ridge Public 
Radio, June 26, 2019 
526 Letter of Reprimand to Dr. Tilus from Dr. Candelaria Martin, Clinical Director of Medical Staff, dated June 25, 
2012; Also see, Letter from Dr. Yvette Roubideaux to Dr. Tilus, dated August 2, 2012. 
527 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE 'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Repo1t of the Senate Committee on Indian A ffairs, December 28, 2010, p . 6-7. 
528 Id., at p . 7. 
529 Id. 
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way Weber's position was secured is a 
prime example of the second. 

As Dr. Butterbrodt told Frontline: 

"I was ordered to leave. I was chased off 
by a pedophile and the people who chose 
him over me." 

Again, although this presumption may have 
been most pronounced in these two Areas of 
the IHS, it is not unique to the agency or 
these locations. 530 The 2014 OPM survey of 
federal employees found that fear of 
retaliation and a belief that nothing would be 
done to address the problem were often cited 
as reasons for nondisclosure of 
wrongdoing. 53 1 

If the agency seeks to incentivize disclosure of 

patient safety concerns, it must remedy the culture 

of non-disclosure and change the perception of 

futility associated with reporting. 

As Dr. Leonard Thomas, the Area Director 
in Albuquerque, expressed it, " [t]he focus 
should be on patient care; eve1ything else 
should be small potatoes."532 The Merit 
Systems Protection Board, in commenting 
on the OPM survey, noted that " [o]ne of the 
most impo1tant things that an agency can do 
to learn about internal wrongdoing is to 

establish a culture that encourages 
employees to repo1t perceived 
problems .... "533 "Agencies should know 
where their culture stands so that they can 
detennine the extent of their need for 
improvement and measure whether 
improvement is occmTing. " 534 

Ella Richards, the Governing Board 
Coordinator for the Great Plains Area, has 
been with IHS since 1992 and 
acknowledged that there has always been a 
cultural tension between encouraging 
disclosure, the chain of command, and 
fear of retaliation. Richards is personally 
aware of many employees over the years 
who have been afraid to come f01ward with 
infonnation for fear of losing their jobs. 535 

Richards had personal experience with 
retaliation for refusing to pa1ticipate in a 
professional action which she felt 
inappropriate, although she did not describe 
it as a patient safety issue. 536 Additional 
training is needed for managers and 
employees, but, more importantly, a 
cultural change is needed within the 
agency regarding the reporting of 
information and protection for 
employees. 

ICS recognizes that there is a legitimate 
tension between two competing interests: 
exposure of wrongdoing on the one hand, 

530 The Area Directors from Oklahoma City and Albuquerque both conceded that staff, particularly at the service 
unit level, are always hesitant to come fo1ward with allegations of wrongdoing because they fear the potential 
reprisal that may occur. ICS interview ofRADM Travis Watts, Area Director and Assistant Surgeon General, 
Oklahoma City Area Office, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, August 6, 2019; ICS interview of Dr. Leonard Thomas, 
Area Director, Albuquerque Area Office, Albuquerque, New Mexico, December 3, 2019. 
531 EEOC's Annual Repo1t on the Federal Work Force 2009-2013 and EEOC No Fear Data for FY 2009-2013; 
https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/types/retaliation considerations.cfm. Also, Yoder, "Sw,1eys show f ear of retaliation 
keeps would-be whistleblowersfrom speaking up", Washington Post, June 17, 2014. 
532 ICS interview of Dr. Leonard Thomas, Area Director, Albuquerque Area Office, Albuquerque, New Mexico, 
December 3, 2019. 
533 Yoder, "Surveys show fear of retaliation keeps would-be whistleblowersfrom speaking up", Washington Post, 
June 17, 2014 . 
534 Id. 
535 ICS interview of Ella Richards, Governing Board Coordinator, Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South 
Dakota, October 15, 2019. 
536 Id. 
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which may require disclosure that takes the 
matter outside the contrnl of the Se1v ice 
Unit or even the Area, and the legitimate 
interest in maintaining good order and 
discipline where a chain of colllllland is used 
and respected. 

fu an April 26, 2010 email, IHS Director 
Roubideaux discouraged IHS employees 
from collllllunicating with Congress, tribal 
governments, or other agencies and groups 
without permission from either their direct 
supe1visor or staff in Rockville. 537 As the 
Senate Report concluded in 2010, 
" [ a ]lthough investigations into federal 
agencies are uncomfortable, and clearly 
supe1visors wony that employees may 
communicate messages to Congress that are 
inconsistent with the cunent political 
agenda, communication is essential to the 
oversight responsibility of the Committee 
and should not be hampered in any 
manner." 538 

The Roubideaux e-mail indicated that IHS 
employees should "always get approval 
before talking in your official capacity with 
Congress, the Department [ of Health and 
Human Se1vices (HHS)], or the media" and 
clarified that IHS employees were, at "all 
times", "speaking for IHS."539 

Numerous IHS employees inte1p reted this to 
mean that at no time are they pennitted to 
speak with Congress or other groups without 
prior approval. 540 

Focusing only on the reluctance of staff to 
come fo1ward, however, would be an 
incomplete assessment of the effect 
professional concerns have on disclosure 

and the administrative response to 
disclosure. 

The reason management seeks to exercise such 

significant control over the dissemination of 

adverse reports is because of their own 

professional fears that they will be found 

responsible for the problem and suffer criticism or 

reprimand from unforgiving superiors. Several of 

the themes associated with non-reporting were 

management's insistence that they did nothing 

wrong, the system did not provide clear 

alternatives, they didn't know, they felt forced to 

do nothing, or nothing could be done. 
See, Part I Investigation. All of these explanations appear designed to avoid 

blame for their role in perpetuating Weber's employment and access to 

young boys and should be viewed critically. 

Browning: CEO Lafromboise: "Who is the 
responsible person to come in and do 
something?" She concluded that the Weber 
issue was complicated by the fact he was 
Coilllllissioned Co1ps, because "they 
couldn' t be supe1vised or disciplined." 

Browning: CMO Rottenbiller: "I guess the 
better response would be launch an 
investigation, and yet the IHS response is, 
typically, to sweep it under the m g or to, 
you know, pass it along to another place". 
During his inte1view with ICS, Rottenbiller 
snuggled to aiticulate how allegations such 
as those made against Weber should have 
been repo1ted --" [w]here do you refer him 
to, Tribal cops? The FBI? Maybe the CEO 
or the Medical Review Committee?" 

537 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Repo1t of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010, p . 43 . 
538 Id. 
539 Id. In fairness to Director Roubideaux, by the time of the Tilus case, she had completely reversed her 2010 
position. The 2010 guidance, however, is relevant to disclosure issues during most of Weber's career. 
540 Id. 
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Billings: AD Jeanotte: Jeanotte did not 
recall receiving any information from 
LaFromboise or having a meeting with Dr. 
Rottenbiller to address allegations involving 
Weber and continued to asse1i absolute 
ignorance of the allegations; the infonnation 
"never got to me." 

Pine Ridge: CEO Pourier: According to 
Pourier, he relayed the incident to his 
Regional Supervisors, but nothing happened. 
Pourier took no fmi her action for fear he 
would be suspended or fired - "They can do 
what they want with you." Although he 
thought there was reason to believe Weber 
was in fact a predato1y pedophile, he was 
powerless to do anything. "Well at that 
time, you think of your career and job and 
your livelihood so I would have probably 
got fired. I guess that was the risk I 
would've took. I couldn' t afford to take the 
risk at that time. To lose my job." 

Aberdeen: Deputy AD HaiTis: Despite 
being copied on emails concerning Weber in 
2009, HaiTis insisted to ICS that the first she 
ever "officially heai·d" of the accusations of 
pedophilia against Weber was when she was 
contacted by OIG SA Muller in the Fall of 
2015. HaiTis said the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit leadership should have "e1Ted on the 
side of caution" and repo1ied the allegations 
to AAO because children were possibly 
being assaulted. 

The culture of fear highlights two distinct 
problems for the agency -- 1) Fear of 
professional retaliation that keeps some 
from disclosing wrongdoing and 2) Fear 
of professional retaliation for failure to 
address wrongdoing already disclosed. 

Asked whether he should have stepped 
outside the chain of command to contact 
police, Pourier told Frontline repo1iers, "I 
couldn' t afford to take the risk at that time to 
lose my job." 541 

Simply put, leadership likes being in 
leadership; managers protect their position . 
A common bureaucratic defensive posture is 
to first deny there is a problem, then deny 
you knew there was a problem, then asse1i 
there was nothing you could have done 
about the problem . The final default 
position is to acknowledge the problem, that 
you knew about the problem, that you could 
have done something about the problem, but 
that it was someone else's responsibility to 
deal with the problem. 542 

Conclusion 

Professional feai· within the agency, as an 
impediment to both disclosure at the staff 
level and corrective action at the 
management level, is a cultural phenomenon 
that can only be solved over time. As the 
Inspector General for the VA told the House 
VA Subcommittee on Oversight and 
Investigations in July of 2019, " [i]t ce1iainly 
takes time to change culture ... It's going to 
take time, and with whistleblowers they 
have to prove to them that it's a place where 
they feel comfo1iable coming fo1w ard and 
there will not be adverse actions against 
them." 543 

However, conditions ai·e not likely to change 
until managers no longer punish employees 
for "rocking the boat" and exposing their 
offices to criticism, and lower and mid-level 
managers find greater suppo1i from their 

541 Christopher Weaver, Dan Frosch, and Gabe Johnson, "A Pedophile Doctor Drew Suspicions for 21 Years. No 
One Stopped Him", PBS Frontline in partnership with Wall Street Joumal, February 8, 2019. 
542 This is discussed at length in FINDING #2 LEADERSHIP FAILURE but addressed here as a contributing factor 
to FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE as well. 
543 Nicole Ogiysko, "New accountability office hasn 't made a dent in VA 's 'culture of retaliation, ' whistleblowers 
say", Federal News Netv.•ork, July 24, 2019. 
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superiors when patient safety concerns are 
exposed. 

A culture of respect for disclosure by all 
employees must be fostered and 
embraced. Retaliation cannot be 
accepted, and effective training must be 
utilized to reinforce these concepts. 
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ROOT CAlJSE FINDING# 3 
Fadure to l11vestigate Credible 

Allegations, Ineffective and lnco11cl11s;ve 
l11ternal Investigations of Cred;bf e 

Allegations 

ICS encountered a troubling pattern 
throughout the entire sordid histo1y of the 
Weber affair; a histo1y of multiple chances 
to prevent patient abuse, followed by 
dereliction at best and active protection of 
the predator at worst, and lost opportunities 
for an agency to rid itself of a dangerous 
provider. A significant reason for this 
recurring set of events was a failure to 
properly investigate credible allegations 
once witnesses came fo1ward. 

This circular pattern repeatedly occmTed: 
Allegations of child abuse were not taken 
seriously; because they were not taken 
seriously, they were not rigorously 
investigated by the agency; because they 
were not rigorously investigated, the 
accusations could not be confirmed as 
likely true; because they could not be 
confirmed as likely true, they were not 
treated seriously. And eve1y time the 
sequence ended, and Weber was reinstated, 
his return to work was constm ed as proof he 
had been exonerated. 544 The cycle pennitted 
Weber to continue abusing Indian boys for 
years, as a continuous stream of potential 
victims were presented to him because they 
had little choice but to rely on the IHS for 
their health care. 

CIRCULAR 
THINKIN G 

RE: 
MISCONDUCT 
ALLEGATIONS 

An effective response to allegations of abuse 
has three components: discove1y , 
investigation, and resolution. As to the first 
element, in both Montana and South Dakota 
there was sufficient discove1y. The 
disclosures by staff were attended by ample 
predication and circumstantial evidence to 
support a serious inquny. As to the second 
element, however, a significant failure in the 
Weber case545 was the lack of any 
investigation in Montana and no effective or 
conclusive investigations in South Dakota. 
There was a failure to respond to a serious 
allegation of predato1y pedophilia with an 
investigative mechanism capable of making 
a reliable detennination. Without 
investigation, there could be no resolution to 
satisfy the thn·d element. 

Beyond the direct consequences of failing to 
investigate rigorously and thoroughly -­
being the failure to remove a dangerous 

544[tiJIUJIII told ICS that when Weber was allowed ~o re~n to work. he inter reted that as roof that Weber ~ad 
been cleared of the allegations by Dr Butterbrodt. ICS mterv1ew o at the Pme 
Ridge service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. According to , "He (Weber) was 
cleared" by the SDBMOE. When asked to elaborate on how he knew that Weber " •as cleared" by the SDBMOE, 
te)Im■ replied that "If he (Weber) comes ba~k to :7-1ork - he was cleared." then noted, "~ eb~r got a 
pay increase - he must have be.en cleared." ICS mterv1ew o at the Pme Ridge 
Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South Dakota, November 14, 2019. 
545 But also observed in several of the unrelated cases ofKammers, Bullis, Delgado, Hall, and Crowe. See "The 
Cases of Other IHS Medical Care and Support Providers, b. Studied Cases" in Part I above. 
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provider - is the collateral consequence: 
Loss of confidence and the destruction of 
the agency's credibility. Patients, 
employees, Congress, and the public at large 
understand what IHS managers did not 
appreciate - a lack of investigation, or an 
investigation without witnesses, looks like 
a cover-up. 

Analysis of Failures to Properly 
l f t , 

Failure to Investigate - :\lontana 
( J 992-1995)546 

By the autumn of 1994 and the spring of 
1995, IHS managers in Browning had a 
compelling basis for an adminish'ative 
investigation of Weber. 

► Weber had an uncommon amount of 
unsupervised interaction with 
teenage boys - regularly having boys 
to his house, having extended office 
hours with teenage male patients, 
taking teenage boys on outings for 
pizza, overnight trips to other towns, 
counseling middle school boys, etc. 

► Weber was not conducting himself as 
a pediatrician, but regularly 
expanding his role to that of 
counselor, social worker, substitute 
parent. 

► A medical professional with 
experience in the treatment of sexual 
offenders (Foste,) was raising the 
alarm about Weber 's penchant for 
adolescent males and highlighting 
his patient load density which was 
heavily tilted toward pre-pubescent 
and adolescent males. 

► Weber was blatant~y ingratiating 
himself with young Indian males by 
giving them food, money, 
entertainment, and a p lace to stay. 

► Weber was being threatened and 
assaulted by fami~y members of 
young boys. 

All of these details were known to IHS 
management at Browning at the time547, 

and, assuming as hue the infonnation 
provided by LaFromboise and Rottenbiller, 
by management in the Billings Area Office. 

No investigation of any kind was 
conducted. Pait of the reason may have 
been confusion as to protocols and a lack 
of communication. According to 
Rottenbiller he did not know to whom he 
should refer the allegations. 548 But the plain 
tiuth is neither he nor anyone else in the 
Billings Area even ti·ied to discover the 
tiuth; no suggestion that a single manager 
even contemplated an investigation of 
Weber 's conduct. Admittedly, both 
Rottenbiller and Lafromboise insisted they 
told their superiors in the Area Office; Davis 
reported his observations to both 
Rottenbiller and Lafromboise; Foster passed 
the info1mation to Lafromboise and his 
su ervisor in Billings; housekeeper 
• reported an incident to his 

supervisor; a concerned ti·ibal member 
repo1ted her concerns to Lafromboise. 
Eve1yone was repo1t ing, but no one was 
doing anything about the repo1ts. 

There is an obvious confusion and lack of 
communication or understanding by 
management as to the proper protocol for 

546 This time span generally covers that period from the January 2004 Rottenbiller Memo expanding Weber' s duties 
far beyond pediatrics, to Weber's departure from Browning sometime in the late spring or early summer of 1995. 
547 In making this assessment, ICS does not reference evidence - such as the testimony of victims or witnesses who 
did not disclose until after 2015 - which cannot be attributed to the knowledge of management in 1994-1995. 
548 ICS interview of Dr. Randy Rottenbiller, fonner CMO at Blackfeet Community Hospital, Billings, Montana, 
September 2019. 
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handling a sensitive and serious 
allegation. 

Ineffective and Inconclusive 
External Investigation - South 

Dakota 
( 1995-1996)549 

Within months of his aITival at Pine Ridge, 
in August of 1995, Weber was accused of 
molesting a patient. IHS managers were 
confronted with a specific allegation - a 
parent alleged Weber had fondled her son 's 
genitals even though the child was at the 
hospital with a complaint of flu/cold - and at 
least some repo1is from Browning about the 
concerns at the Blackfeet facility. 550 Pine 
Ridge Service Unit leadership at the Clinical 
Director level made a decision to refer the 
case to the FBI for investi ation. While 
Weber, according to was placed 
on a Non-Duty with Pay status for a brief 
period, there was no parallel administrative 
inquiiy to address the personnel issue. 551 

Lacking clear protocols in 1995, and 
confronted with an aimation that would, if 
tiue, be a crime,~■ likely selected 
the most sti·aightfo1ward alternative: refeITal 
to the FBI. However, by refeITing the 
inquiiy to an outside agency, the IHS lost 
control over the timing and conclusiveness 
of the inqui1y. 

Ineffective and Inconclusive 
Internal and External 

Investigation - South Dakota 
(2008-2010) 552 

After Dr. Butterbrodt signaled his concerns 
in August of 2006, 553 the agency did not act 
on his warnings until he took the matter to 
the SDBMOE with a complaint in December 
2008. 554 The administration had successfully 
ignored taking any significant adverse action 
against Weber over the Febma1y 2008 
DWI/ AWOL, 555 and it did not embrace 
Butterbrodt's action even though they had -­
at that time -- a persuasive collection of "red 
flags". 

► The 199 5 allegation that was 
referred to the FBI that, while not 
pursued to prosecution by a beyond 
a reasonable doubt standard, 
remained an allegation which should 
have caused the agency concern, 
particularly considering subsequent 
events. 

► As in Browning, Weber had 
instituted an "after-hours" clinic at 
which he saw unaccompanied teen­
age boys. 

► Some at Pine Ridge, in addition to 
Dr. Butterbrodt then at Wanblee, 
had been in contact with Dr. Foster 
from Browning and been made 
aware of his, Foster 's, concerns. 

549 This time span covers that period from a patient allegation of a "too thorough an examination" by Weber [ a 
genital exam of a boy complaining of the flu] and subsequent refen-al to the FBI and the declination by the U .S. 
Attomey's Office (an wtlmovm date but not likely prior to 1996 based on time necessa1y for even a limited 
investigation). 
550 ICS interview o of Sioux San Hospital, Rapid City, South Dakota, October 
23, 2019. 
551 Weber's OPF does not reflect any suspension or administrative action. 
552 This time span covers that period from Dr. Butterbrodt' s first email raising concems about Weber' s professional 
conduct and Dr. Butterbrodt 's reassignment to Belcourt, No1ih Dakota. 
553 Butterbrodt email to Sumners and Pourier, dated August 20, 2006. 
554 Butterbrodt complaint to South Dakota Board of Medical Examiners, dated December 2, 2008. 
555 Counseling for the DWI and the AWOL was ignored until the Commissioned C01ps Headquarters gave up on 
tiying to hold Weber to account. 
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Many of the warning signs from 
Browning mirrored what Butterbrodt 
had seen at Pine Ridge. 

► tmJGJI had compiled a file with at 
least some of the allegations from 
Montana. 

► The statistical evidence, although 
circumstantial, clear~y supported the 
allegation that Weber was confining 
his practice to adolescent males; an 
unusual development in a 
government facility where providers 
generally do not have the flexibility 
to ''pick and choose" their patients. 

► Weber had been robbed in Janua,y 
2005 by one of his patients, 
-

556
, and assaulted and robbed 

November 2006, by- and two 
others and then refused to provide 
details about the attack although he 
clearly knew at least one of his 
assailants. 

► Weber conducted sexually 
transmitted disease (STD) tests on 
all patients regardless of their 
complaint. 

All of these details were known, or with the 
most minimal inquiiy could have been and 
should have been known, to IHS 
management at Pine Ridge at the time. 557 

The details proffered by Dr. Butterbrodt 
were known to the Area Office (Keats) and 
PHS Headquarters (McSheny and 
-

58 
Colton had consulted with-

• • 559 

fu response, management did two things: it 
appointed an ad hoc committee that 
conducted no investigation whatsoever 
(not even an interview of the complainant), 
and it deferred to a licensing inquiry it did 
not initiate, and over which it had no control 
in te1ms of time and conduct. fudeed, the 
SDBMOE inqui1y was relied upon time 
and again as a reason not to do 
anything560

, while Pourier lobbied to keep 
the licensing agency from doing anything 
more.561 

556 According t~ he told Tribal Officer Hudspeth of Weber's sexual assaults against him. Frontline interview 
(telephonic) otUi1llf aired Februa1y 12, 2019. Also, Frontline interview of Dan Hudspeth, fo1mer Oglala Sioux 
Tribe police officer, aired Febmary 12, 2019. Hudspeth told Frontline he passed the information to federal law 
enforcement. 
557 In making this assessment, ICS does not reference evidence - such as the testimony of victims or witnesses who 
did not disclose until after 2015 - which cannot be attributed to the knowledge of management in 2008-2010. 
558 First Keats email to Bimey and McSheny dated March 12, 2009, attaching Butterbrodt emails ofFebrua1y 25, 
27, 2009. 
559 Colton email to~[tiJIGJ] Keats, and Pourier, dated March 6, 2009. 
560 Keats email to Bimey, dated March 11, 2009 ("This particular one involves an investigation by the State Board 
and I don 't want to do anything improper where the Co,,ps is concerned.)"; Pourier email to Butterbrodt, dated 
March 11 , 2009 ("We need to allow for the normal judicial process, e.g. South Dakota Board to occur without the 
possibility of it being compromised. "); First Keats email to Bimey and McSheny dated March 12, 2009 ("[t}he 
South Dakota State Medical Board has been notified and is doing a check of their own. "). 
561 In response to a request for "information regarding any complaints, concems, and/or con-ective actions, if any, 
(written and/or verbal, formal and/or info1mal), regarding his [Weber' s] medical practice and his inte1personal 
relationships with patients, patients' families, and other medical staff' Pourier concealed any disclosure of the 1995 
allegation, the 2008 DWI, or the 2006 assault. Pourier letter to - SDBMOE investigator, dated June 19, 
2009 (" . . . Allegations and innuendos were found, but no concrete evidence. We had placed Dr. Weber on leave 
during our investigation and many members of the Oglala Sioux Tl'ibe requested his return ... Dr. Weber is an 
excellent[] clinician who is generally well-respected by patients, their families, and his peers. " ). 
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Ineffective Internal Response to 
External Investigation - South 

Dakota 
(2015-2016)562 

fu the summer of 2015, and for a year after, 
IHS managers in Pine Ridge and Aberdeen 
had a compelling basis for an administrative 
investigation of Weber. 

► Reports from Dr. Foster that Weber 
was suspected of child sexual abuse 
while serving at the Browning 
Community Hospital in 1994-1995. 

► The 199 5 allegation that was 
referred to the FBI that while not 
pursued to prosecution remained an 
allegation which should have caused 
the agency concern, particular~y 
considering subsequent events. 

► The 2008-2009 allegations that, 
while not leading to any internal or 
licensing consequence, echoed the 
allegations from 1994-1995 in 
Montana and 1995 in Pine Ridge. 

► A BIA report delivered to the Area 
Office in Ju~y 2015 laying out 
significant predication for a criminal 
investigation of child sexual abuse 
and advising IHS that Weber was 
being actively investigated. 

► Contact with the HHS OJG in 
October that confirmed that both the 
BIA and the OJG were undertaking a 
serious and active investigation. 

fu July 2015 the agency was clearly made 
aware of the threat Weber posed to 
adolescent boys. fu fairness to the agency, 
law enforcement often dissuades agencies 
from initiating their own investigation while 
a criminal investigation is unde1way, but 
there is no indication that occmTed here. 

The responsibility of the agency remained, 
however, to protect patients. The July 2015 
allegations in the BIA Law Enforcement 
repo1t should have been taken seriously -
the safety of patients would dictate that they 
be so - and immediately addressed. Yet it 
was not until October 2015, when the OIG 
made direct contact with the Area Office, 
that anyone responded to the warnings 
revealed almost four months earlier. When 
administrative action was taken, it pennitted 
Weber to stay at the facility as a supervisor 
with authority over personnel who, 
potentially, would be witnesses against him. 
After years of cultivating teenage victims in 
Pine Ridge, it kept him in the community 
with ready access to that same population of 
vulnerable youth. And it allowed him 
continued access to the files and records of 
the agency that may constitute evidence of 
his alleged crimes. 

Analysis of Institutional 
Failures Generally 

Organizational failure to rigorously inquire 
into allegations which cany such dire and 
enduring rainifications - in Montana and 
then on multiple occasions in South Dakota 
- is not uncommon. Government and 
medical facilities generally have a poor 
histo1y of effective inqui1y into allegations 
made against their own employees. Handing 
off the allegation to an outside law 
enforcement or regulatory agency is a 
siinilarly ineffective alternative to the 
agency's goal of a timely, robust, and 
conclusive investigation. 

Internal IHS Investigations 

The IHS has protocols in place for internal 
investigations, such as the ad hoc committee 
assembled in 2009 at Pine Ridge. Those 

562 This time span covers that period from the sta1t of the BIA investigation and Weber's resi~ation a year later. 
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processes, however, beg numerous 
questions: 

► Are these internal investigations 
effective? 

► Are they conducted by people with 
the skills and training to complete 
them? 

► Do those investigators have the time 
and resources to conduct them? 

► Are they objective? Are they 
credible? Are they sufficient? 

The 2009 ad hoc committee investigation at 
Pine Ridge appears to have been none of 
those things. Leadership at Pine Ridge 
could not even agree on the pmpose of the 
committee. Dr. Colton considered it 
investigato1y ; an evidence gathering body. 
Dr. Burgos considered it judicial; a body 
that would weigh evidence submitted to it. 
fu the end Dr. Colton realized that the 
committee could not perfo1m the function 
she envisioned, 563 and Dr. Burgos concluded 
that since no one volunteered any evidence 
the alle ations were unfounded. The cunent 

agreed with Dr. Colton's 
assessment that an ad hoc committee was 
not the right response to an allegation so 
serious as child sexual abuse. 564 Also, by 
any objective standard, the process was 
fundamentally compromised from the 

beginning. Weber had been named the 
facility's Chief of Staff three times by 2008, 
a position to which he had been "elected" by 
his colleagues. 565 The ad hoc committee 
repo1ted to the MEC and the MEC was 
comprised of the same providers that had 
selected him as their Chief of Staff. As■ 

Senior Associate Dean of 
Clinical Practices at University of New 
Mexico School of Medicine, observed, 
health care facilities in small remote 
communities can develop a "bunker 

mentality" WJIOJr~ together in the face of 
adversity. • • also noted that colleagues 
and peers can experience difficulty 
"believing" that the allegations are trne 
based on their experience working with the 
individual against whom allegations have 
been made. 566 And even if convinced of 
inappropriate conduct, they can have 
difficulty holding their coworkers' feet to 
the fire. Due to these problems with 
protectionism and lack of vigor in discipline, 
many smaller facilities now use an outside 
entity to conduct reviews at their facility. 567 

Many witnesses were aware of the current 
internal investigation alternatives 
available568

, and described them to the 
consultants, but they almost unifo1mly found 
fault with the process. Delphine Brinlee, 
Human Resources Director in the regional 
office in Aberdeen, told ICS that misconduct 

563 Keats email to Colton, and response, dated April 10, 2019. "J sent a letter to (with a copy to Mr. 
Powier and Ms. Shelly Hmris) stating that the Medical Executive committee was not, in my opinion, the 
appropriate body to investigate such allegations. We have no legal authority to gain access to a variety of 
infonnation (tribal p_ohce re orts, results o revious investi ations and so on) .... " 
564 ICS interview o at the Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge, South 
Dakota, November 12, 2019. 
565 Weber email to ~ to Sumner dated March 2 2008 

(b) (6) 566 ICS interview ofLl:l&l:l.alllll , University of New Mexico 
School of Medicine, Albuquerque, New Mexico, December 5, 2019. 
567 Id. 
568 Although one witness indicated that alle _ations of misconduct should be investigated by the provider' s 
supervisor. ICS interview o , Billings Area Office, Billings, 
Montana, July 11, 2019. was an early interview; he may have also referred to other investigative options had 
the interviewers had the benefit of information gathered after July 11 and expanded the discussion. Over the course 
of Weber' s care.er, however, there was a great deal of confusion as to the proper course of action. 
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allegations are investigated by either area 
office or service unit employees, though 
they are generally investigated at the service 
unit level depending on the allegations. 569 

These employees, although some may 
receive some training in investigations 570

, 

conduct these inquiries as a collateral duty. 
An Area manager who had been tasked with 
an internal investigation of a provider in a 
service unit indicated that she had received 
no training, completed the work in a week 
and a half, and found no evidence to 
con oborate the allegation. She told ICS that 
"it would have been nice" to have had some 
s01t of training or a team to conduct these 
types of investigations. 571 

employee investigator process has become 
more professional and standardized; that the 
agency has more collateral duty trnined 
investigators now and specific investigators 
can be selected for specific cases. 572 OKC 
AD RADM Watts indicated that the repo1ts 

generated by these fact-finding teams varies 
from thorough and complete to ''pretty 
thin". 573 

From[QJJGIJ point of view there were too 
few investigators, and suggested that the 
collateral duty responsibility is problematic; 
the investigations are "decent, but not 
great." 574 Her observations were shared by 
numerous other witnesses who felt that the 
burden of investigation, when placed upon 
people expected to fulfill their regular 
duties, meant that both res onsibilities 
suffer. 

she receives misconduct allegations from 
Rockville's hotline and then works with the 
Area Director to identify an investigator. 575 

The Area has a number of employees who 
are trained to be investigators as a collateral 
duty, but the number of trained investigators 
has shmnk and many investigators now 
regularly ask for time extensions in order to 
complete their cases. The Area stmggles 
with the timeliness of their investigations. 576 

Lengthy investigations are untenable as they 

569 ICS interview o , No1ihem Plains Region Office, Rapid City, (b) (6) 
South Dakota, October 15, 2019. 
570 Training appeared extremely limited and employees are othe1wise inexperienced in the business of interviewing 
witnesses, obtaining and reviewing relevant documents, con-oboration, analysis and application of evidence to laws, 
regulations, rules or standards. It is a corolla1y obligation treated like a corolla1y obligation. An investigation of 
wrongdoing will onl be as ri _orous and credible as resources, talent, and collllllitment allow it to be. 
571 ICS interview o , Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South Dakota, 
October 24, 2019. While ICS is confident in commitment and good intentions, an untrained investigator 
operating without suppo1i or resources cannot likely deliver a credible result in 10 days, unless, as may have ben the 
case, the allegation had no redication in the first lace. 
572 ICS interview o , Oklahoma City Area, 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, August 12, 2019. 
573 ICS interview ofRADM Travis Watts, Area Director and Assistant Surgeon General, Oklahoma City Area, 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Au ust 6 2019. 
574 ICS interview o , No1ihem Plains Region Office, Rapid City, 
South Dakota, October 15 2019 
575 ICS interview o Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, (b) (6) 
South Dakota, October 15, 2019. ICS noted that Oklahoma City, and some in the Great Plains and Billings Area 
Offices, organized teams of investigators while others used a singular investigator approach. This discrepancy may 
be the result of manpower issues or the time period. Obviously, the use of a single investigator would reduce the 
burden on manpower by only imposing on the time of a single employee. 
576 Id. Timeliness was also cited as a problem with the Area's CMO. Interview of Dr. Lee Lawrence, Chief Medical 
Officer (CMO), Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South Dakota, October 15, 2019. 
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are unfair to the accused employee and 
unfair to an agency hy ing to detennine 
whether it is safe to return the provider to 
service. 

division of ti·ained responders" in a separate 
"Investigations Branch" to address the 
deficiencies - ency's investigative 
capabilities. • • had concluded that 
such an investigative unit would prevent 
"the multiple deflections of respon-
when complaints are submitted. 577 

• • 

- agreed; dedicated positions with 
professional investigators would improve 
the outcomes. 578 

This problem - ineffective or inadequate 
investigations with collaterally dedicated 
employees with limited ti·aining - may differ 
from Area to Area depending on staffing, 
the number of complaints, and the number 
of complaints that deal with serious patient 
safety allegations. Some Areas may not even 
perceive that they have a problem. 

However, as the discussion below 
establishes, there are certain inherent 
problems with internal governmental or 
heath care facility investigations. 

Government Inquiry and 
Accountability 

"It's nearly impossible to fire a federal 
worker," acting White House chief of staff 
and budget chief Mick Mulvaney told an 
audience in August. "I know that because a 

lot of them work for me, and I've ti·ied. You 
can 't do it."579 Mulvaney's observation, 
while somewhat exaggerated, is 
fundamentally tiue. While it does not serve 
as an excuse for the failmes in the Weber 
case, it does provide at least a po1iion of the 
explanation for why there is such resistance 
to vigorous inquiiy into allegations of 
misconduct. 

In a word: Futility. 

The Weber case proves that investigation 
and removal of employees is not only 
structurally but also culturally difficult 
regardless of agency. 58° For eve1y manager 
who is convinced that an employee is, by 
conduct or peifonnance, in dire need of 
removal, there is another (usually in a more 
powerful position) equally convinced that 
the employee should be retained. Too often, 
merely because removal is the much more 
difficult path the contest ends in retention. 

The obstacles to accountability are the lack of 

objectivity created by close professional 

relationships, differing agendas and priorities, and an 

erosion in commitment to the agency objectives in 

favor of protection of personal interests. 

Suppo1i for that obse1vation came recently 
from the Veterans Administi·ation 's (VA) 
Office of Inspector General's Repo1i on the 
VA Office of Accountability and 

577 ICS interview of , Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South Dakota, (b) (6) 
October 24, 2019. 
578 ICS interview o No1ihem Plains Region, Aberdeen, South (b) (6) 
Dakota, October 15, 2019. 
579 Nathalie Baptiste, The Trump Administration Has Figured out How to Get Rid of Federal Workers Without 
Firing Them", October 7, 2019. 
580 Although the problem may be more acute in any agency where the organization is desperate for providers and 
reluctant to lose a single position. 
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Whistleblower Protection (OA WP). 581 The 
OA WP was created for the sole reason to 
improve VA's efforts to hold its "employees 
accountable for their actions if they violate 
the public tiust, and at the same time protect 
whistleblowers from retaliation."582 

Accountability, by definition, means that the 
en ant employee will suffer consequences, 
including dismissal once the violation has 
been established. What the VA OIG 
discovered was that despite being staffed 
with 103 employees to execute its mission, 
over the two-year period of the OAWP's 
existence, the office removed only one 
employee covered by the Act. 583 

Some OA WP officials expressed concern 
about the frequency with which the 
OA WP's recommended disciplina1y actions 
were declined by proposing and deciding 
officials. The OA WP Director attributed this 
to some disciplinaiy officials applying 
subjective mitigating factors , such as, "I've 
known them for 25 years and they're a great 
guy." The OIG's review of OAWP data 
shows that, of the 35 Covered Executive 
disciplinaiy cases that proceeded to a final 
decision from June 23, 2017, to Mai·ch 22, 
2019, OA WP's recommended discipline 
was accepted only three times. In all other 
cases, a disciplina1y official mitigated the 
recommended discipline. Eleven cases were 
mitigated by more than one official. In an 
additional five cases, the subject resigned or 
retired before discipline was proposed. 584 

If an office created specifically to cleanse 
the organization of bad employees so 

woefully fails to do so, what hope can the 
agency have that review teams assembled 
"as needed" - passing judgments on 
colleagues who they have worked with and 
must face again if they are not removed -
will make the difficult, emotional, and time­
consuming decisions?585 Paiiicularly when 
they see that their decision will likely be 
am eliorated or entirely ove11urned by 
someone in upper management. The path of 
least resistance - at least as ICS discovered 
regulai·ly occmTed in the Weber case -- is to 
ignore the allegations. Failing that, 
condemn the person making the 
allegations and make half-hearted and 
superficial efforts to "investigate" 
designed to achieve a particulai· result that 
causes the least disrnption to the facility. 

Government employee protections are 
designed to make discipline a time­
consuming, ai·duous, and proti·acted process. 
Add to that the acrimony and hostility that a 
personnel action almost always entails, and 
it is not difficult to see why, from a 
government administration perspective, no 
consequential actions were taken in 
Montana or South Dakota to validate the 
allegations of child abuse against Weber. 

Health Care Facilities Inquiry 
and Accountability 

Medical facilities have also shown 
themselves to be inadequate disciplinarians 
of physician misconduct. The Weber case is 
a prime example. Weber was suspected or 
accused of child molestation on five 

581 Veterans Administration Office of Inspector General (VAOIG), "Failures Implementing Aspects of the 
Accountability and Whistleblower Protection Act of 2017", October 24, 2019. 
582 Id., at p. 1. Citing, VA Office of Public Affairs, Press Release: "Secreta1y David Shulkin Announces 
Establishment of Office of Accountability and Whistleblower Protection and Names Peter O' Row-ke as its Senior 
Advisor and Executive Director," news release, May 12, 2017. 
583 Id., at p. iii. "A critical purpose of the Act was to facilitate holding Covered Executives accountable for 
misconduct and poor performance". 
584 Id., at pp. 37-38. Intemal citations omitted. 
585 This observation applies most keenly to Unit Service employees serving as investigators of colleagues in the 
same service unit, akin to the 2009 ad hoc committee at Pine Ridge. 
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separate occasions - Browning (1994-
1995) and Pine Ridge (1995-1996) (2006) 
(2008-2009) (2015-2016). On another 
occasion Weber was subject (but not 
subjected) to discipline for DWI and 
AWOL. On only one occasions did the 
agency initiate an internal inquny , and in 
that case the inqui1y was completely 
ineffective, incompetent, and designed to 
fail. On another occasion Se1v ice Unit 
management reported the accusation to law 
enforcement. All other external 
investigations were propelled by others, 
either outside the agency or acting without 
official approval of the agency. 

fu a 2009 study and letter to the Secretaiy of 
HHS - released in the midst of the 
continuing Weber controversy at Pine Ridge 
- the authors found that " [a]s of December 
2007, almost 50 percent of the hospitals in 
the U.S. had never repoited a single 
privilege sanction to the NPDB (National 
Practitioner Data Bank)." 586 Public Citizen, 
a consumer advocacy think tank, compiled 
the repo1i by reviewing studies by the HHS 
Office of the fuspector General, medical 
jomnal articles, work by the non-profit 
Citizen Advocacy Center and 
recommendations from an October 1996 
national meeting on hospital unde1Tepo1iing 
attended by hospital administrators, 
government officials, medical associations 

and consumer advocates. 587 Public Citizen 
also analyzed the NPDB to examine the 
relationship between hospital repo1is and 
actions taken by state medical boards on the 
same physicians. 588 Two dominant factors 
behind the low number of hospital discipline 
reports were identified: 1) Lax peer review, 
including a culture among doctors of not 
wanting to "snitch" on a colleague;589 and 
2) hospital administrators evading 
reporting requirements by doing things 
such as imposing discipline of less than 31 
days, thereby evading the repo1iing 
requii·ement or giving doctors a leave of 
absence in lieu of suspensions. 590 

A prime example of this professional 
reluctance was the reference given by illlli 
- in 1992. - had obse1v':f' 
Weber engaged in host of extremely 
troubling behaviors - having native 
teenagers at his house, letting them drive his 
car, giving boys gifts, even taking one on a 
trip with him to Em-ope - but when she gave 
the reference to the IHS she was not as 
damning as she might have been. She did 
tell the caller that she was concerned that 
Weber acted unprofessionally in having 
teenage boys over to his house, and his 
actions with the boys made her 
uncomfo1iable. The unidentified person 
making the call sanitized the comments even 
fmther by only writing that Weber was a 

586 Alan Levine and Dr. Sidney Wolfe, M.D., " Hospitals Drop the Ball on Physician Oversight - Failw-e of Hospitals 
to Discipline and Report Doctors Endangers Patients", Public Citizen, May 27, 2009. Though a federal law requires 
hospitals to report physicians who have had their admitting privileges revoked or restricted for more than 30 days, 
the study found that in addition to inadequate discipline of physicians, hospitals routinely exploited loopholes to 
avoid government requirements , with nearly half of all hospitals not submitting a single doctor's name to the 
National Practitioner Data Bank (NPDB) in the more than 17 years the data bank had existed at the time of the 
study. 
587 Id., at p . 3. 
588 Id., at p . 
589 While Drs. Foster and Butterbrodt were willing to sound the alarm about Weber, the fact that they were not 
joined or suppo1ted by their peers allowed management to isolate and marginalize them. 
590 Alan Levine and Dr. Sidney Wolfe, M.D., "Hospitals Drop the Ball on Physician Oversight - Failure of 
Hospitals to Discipline and Report Doctors Endangers Patients", Public Citizen, May 27, 2009, at pp. 18-19. Weber 
was placed on Non-Duty with Pay status at least twice. The actions were never repo1ted, although ICS is uncertain if 
the PHS considers the status a reportable event. 
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hard worker who spent a lot of time at the 
Teen Center. The natural human reluctance 
to "bad-mouth" a colleague seems 
paiticularly strong in the health care 
community and the result is that a reputation 
is purified of questionable conduct. This 
leads to a misleading portrait of a flawed 
medical provider. 

It is axiomatic that physicians generally, and 
physicians at a paiticular facility more 
specifically, share a natural bond and 
collegiality; they ai·e members of the same 
club. In this environment, it is highly 
improbable that peers will enthusiastically 
investigate, or render an objective verdict 
on, another doctor. 

There is also an inherent bias in internal 
investigations; the same that exists in 
government more generally. The hospital 
has an interest in making sure that its 
providers ai·e not abusing patients or 
presenting other significant patient cai·e 
issues and avoiding the possibility of 
liability and derision for the continued 
employment of such a provider. It also has a 
competing interest in that it must maintain 
adequate staffing levels. A consensus 
emerged during this review that, in 
underserved communities, there is a natural 
bias against tenninating a provider when 
replacing the physician will be difficult and 
time-consuming, leaving the facility even 
more shoit-handed going fo1wai·d. 

Licensing Authorities as an 
External Resource591 

In his effort to have Weber investigated and 
tenninated, Dr. Butterbrodt made a fo1m al 
complaint to the SDBMOE. 592 CEO Pourier 
and Commissioned Co1p s Liaison Keats 
were quick to rely on the existence of an 
outside inqui1y to deflect any expectation of 
additional action and condone a purely 
pretextual internal investigation. The 
involvement of the licensing board was 
repeatedly referenced over the following 
months by IHS management who used the 
fact of the Butterbrodt complaint and 
subsequent involvement of the SDBMOE to 
asse1t that the matter was being actively 
investigated. 593 Pourier communicated 
directly with the SDBMOE in a vigorous 
attempt to dissuade any fmther action by the 
board.594 

This created a management failure in the 
investigation of misconduct on two levels: 
While using the SDBMOE as a pawn to 
assure managers that the issues were 
being actively investigated (misleading 
communication), Pourier was at the same 
time actively lobbying the SDBOME for 
an outcome that would avoid any negative 
implications for the Pine Ridge facility 
(burying the problem). 

When she assembled the ad hoc committee 
in March 2009, Dr. Colton contacted the 
SDBMOE to inquire as to the status of 
Weber 's medical license. 595 She was told 
there was an active investigation and that 

591 It should be emphasized that it was not the Service Unit or Area Office who relied on the licensing boards. In 
both Montana and South Dakota, it was the physician with concems that refen-ed their allegations to the medical 
boards. The refen-al, however, at least in South Dakota, played an impo1tant role in the intemal discussions about 
how to address personnel decisions regarding Weber. 
592 Butterbrodt complaint to South Dakota Board of Medical Examiners, dated December 2, 2008. 
593 Second Keats email to Bimey and McShen-y dated March 12, 2009. 
594 Pourier letter to ttlm dated June 19, 2009. 
595 ICS interview of Dr. Jan Colton, former Pediatric Dentist and former Acting Clinical Director at the Pine Ridge 
Service Unit, Phoenix, Arizona, November 25, 2019. 
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Weber 's license was temporarily suspended 
during that investigation . 596 On May 5, 
2009, two days after Weber came off his 60-
da sus ension in a letter to 

Butter ro t a vise at 
Weber had been returned to his medical 
duties. 597 The evidence is clear that the 
SDBMOE was still investigating the 
allegations against Weber in June of 
2009, 598 which begs the question: Why did 
the SDBMOE not raise any alaim that a 
physician with a suspended license was 
practicing medicine in the midst of an 
investigation?599 

Licensing boards should not be relied 
upon in all cases to make findings with 
the expectation that their efforts will 
produce a result that makes 
management's job easier - either to 
remove an employee or justify his 
continued employment without having to 
exercise independent accountability for 
either decision. In too many instances, for 
whatever reasons, licensing boai·ds do not 
exhibit rigor in the monitoring and discipline 
of licensed professionals. According to a 
Public Citizen study published in Febm a1y 
2016 in PLoS ONE, a peer-reviewed open 
access scientific jomnal published by the 
Public Libraiy of Science, 70% of 
physicians (177 out of 253) who had 
engaged in sexual misconduct that led to 
sanctions by hospitals or other healthcai·e 
organizations or a malpractice payment were 

596 Id. 

not disciplined by state medical boai·ds for 
their behavior. 600 The study concluded that 
" [a] small nlllllber of physicians were 
repo1ted to the NPDB because of sexual 
misconduct. It is concerning that many of 
the physicians with a clinical-privileges 
action or malpractice-payment repo1t due to 
sexual misconduct were not disciplined by 
medical boai·ds for this unethical 
behavior. " 601 

In Ohio, State Medical Boai·d of Ohio 
officials knew of fonner Ohio State 
physician Richai·d Strauss' abuse of students 
and student-athletes as early as 1996, and 
yet no one with this knowledge moved to 
involve law enforcement or revoke his 
license. 602 A medical boai·d investigator 
"recognized the potential severity and reach 
of Strauss' improper conduct" during an 
investigation in July 1996, and repo1ted that 
evidence showed "that Dr. Strauss has been 
peifonning inappropriate genital exams on 
male students for yeai·s."603 The 
investigative group 's repo1t deemed the 
negligence of anyone in a position of 
authority at the university to initiate an 
investigation into Strauss' conduct an 
"astounding failure."604 "For reasons that 
simply cannot be dete1mined from the files 
still available or known or recalled by 
anyone interviewed by this working group, 
the investigation fell into what one fo1mer 
employee called a 'black hole,"' working 

597 Butterbrodt letter to , dated May 5, 2009. (b) (6) 
598tilm letter to Pourier, Pine Ridge Service Unit, Pine Ridge PHS Indian Hospital, dated June 5, 2009. 
599 Id. As the SDBMOE declined ICS's request for assistance and interview, the question remains unanswered. 
600 AbuDagga A, Wolfe SM, Carome M, Oshel RE "Cross-Sectional Analys;s of the 1039 U.S. Physicians Reported 
to the National Practitioner Data Bank for Sexual Misconduct, 2003- 2013". (2016) PLoS ONE 11(2): e0147800. 
601 Id, at p . 2 . 
602 Repo1i of the Working Group on Reviewing of the Medical Board's Handling of the Investigation Involving 
Richard Strauss submitted August 30, 2019. 
603 Id., at p .3. 
604 Abhigyaan Bararia and Sam Raudins, "State Medical Board of Ohio Officials Knew of Strauss Abuse", The 
Lantem, August 30, 2019. 
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group members wrote in their repo1i . 605 The 
Strauss case highlights several issues 
common to the Weber case: lack of 
interest, lack of transparency, lack of 
urgency, lack of records, lack of 
accountability. These failures belong not 
just to the licensing agency but also to the 
provider 's employer. The cycle referenced 
above, staii ing with the failure to take 
allegations of sexual abuse seriously, is 
clearly repeated in cases other than that of 
Stanley Patrick Weber. 606 

ill South Dakota, as in most states, licensing 
investigations ai·e confidential. 607 Any 
facility relying on a licensing investigation 
will undoubtedly be frnstrated by the length 
of the investigation, its culture of secrecy, 
and the fact that , unless the medical license 
is suspended, they will never know the 
outcome. 

As in Oklahoma, and the OBMLS, ICS 
made repeated attempts to interview 
representatives of the SDBMOE. ICS 
acknowledged the confidentiality of 
SDBMOE investigations but requested an 
interview "in order to ask some ve1y general 
questions regarding the board and its 
procedures independent of Dr. Weber. These 
questions would include how the board 
communicates and works with various 
medical facilities and providers, including 

605 Id. 

those o erated b the IHS."~ am~ 
declined the ICS request: "No, we are 
unable to meet with you. We do not meet 
with individual companies outside of a 
Request for Proposal (RFP) process nor do 
we need any products at this time. If we do 
in the future need something, an RFP will be 
filed with the state of South Dakota and 
available should you wish to submit at that 
time."609 ICS then enlisted the assistance of 
IHS Deputy Director RADM Chris 
Buchanan who wrote a letter to the 
SDBMOE requesting access to the Weber 
file, or at least those documents in the file 
which were provided by employees of the 
IHS.610 As of Januaiy 29, 2020, the date of 
this report, RADM Buchanan has never 
received a response to his request. 

ill the case of Weber, who was licensed in 
several states, it is plausible that if he had 
thought his South Dakota license was in 
jeopai·dy as a result of a rigorous 
investigation, he could have sunendered his 
license without adverse action, and 
continued to work at Pine Ridge on the basis 
of licensing privileges in other 
jurisdictions. 611 However, since the 
SDBMOE never came close to exposing his 
conduct he was free to practice - and 

606 Also see Kanuners case (Tribal chairman ale1ted IHS supervisor to improper sexual relationship, but concems 
ignored), Bullis case (IHS psychologist admits to his supervisor that he had engaged in "some exploratory sexual 
contact" with teenage patient; supervisor does nothing), Delgado case (allegations of sexual assault at Pine Ridge 
lead to transfer to Eagle Butte without sanction or waming), and Crowe case (allegations of sexual relationship with 

- first response to keep everyone quiet). Part I: Investigation - Chapter 2: Other Cases Involving /HS 
Medical Care and Support Providers. 
607 Jonathan Ellis, "South Dakota's medical complaint system like many other states", Argus Leader, March 23, 
2014. 
608 ICS email t~ South Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic Examiners, (b) (6) 
Sioux Falls, So~ r 14, 2019. 
609tv)IUJ]reply to ICS email, October 15, 2019. 
610 IHS DD Buchanan letter to tv)Jm] dated October 22, 2019. 
611 PHS employment as a physician requires only that the applicant have a"[ c ]mTent, unrestricted, and valid medical 
license from one of the 50 States; Washington, DC; the Commonwealth of Pue1to Rico; the U.S. Virgin Islands; or 
Guam." https :/ /www.usphs.gov/profession/physician/requirements.aspx. 
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continue his abuse of children -- without any 
fear of the medical board. 

After 20 years of accusations - at least 
two formal criminal complaints (one in 
Montana and one in South Dakota), an 
FBI investigation, a DWI, two BIA 
investigations (one in Montana), an HHS 
OIG investigation, a SDBMOE 
investigation, three federal indictments 
for child sexual assault and two federal 
convictions for child sexual abuse - based 
on the public records of the SDBMOE, 
Weber never had a blemish on his 
medical record. 

The only conclusion to be drawn from this 
discussion is that no responsible health care 
facility should ever rely solely on a state 
licensing agency - to any measure or degree 
- to investigate or evaluate any provider 
alleged to have engaged in conduct that 
jeopardizes patient safety. 

Law Enforcement Investigations 
as an External Resource6 12 

As with reliance on licensing and regulato1y 
refe1rnls - law enforcement investigations613 

involve unacceptable delay , lack of 
transparency, and often lack of conclusion . 

Criminal cases must meet the high threshold 
of proof beyond a reasonable doubt; eITing 
on the side of patient safety requires that a 
lower standard be applied to personnel 
decisions. Patient safety concerns require an 
expeditious response and resolution. 
External criminal investigations offer 
neither. As the 2010 Senate Repo1i found: 

"The most common reason for 
placing an employee on 
administrative leave is a pending 
investigation of the employee or 
management election, meaning it 
was the supervisor's determination 
to place the employee on 
administrative leave. Further, the 
frequent use of administrative leave 
f or purposes of a pending 
investigation may demonstrate 
unreasonably lengthy 
investigations. Attached as "Exhibit 
C" in the Appendix is a list of 
employees with the lengthiest 
administrative leave hours. Overall, 
the 11 employees who were placed 
on administrative leave due to 
pending investigations between 2005 
and 2010 averaged over 560 hours 

While referrals to outside agencies for either criminal or licensing inquiries are appropriate, those 

referrals cannot be relied upon as a substitute for a rigorous internal review than can serve as the basis 

for making employment and patient safety decisions. 

612 It should be emphasized that it was not the Service Unit or Area Office who relied on law enforcement, apati 
from the 1995 incident in Pine Ridge. In Montana it was the physician with concerns that refened his allegations to 
the BIA. In 2009, there was no refenal to law enforcement, and in 2015, it was the tribe that made the refenal to the 
BIA. The 2015 refenal, however, played an impo1tant role in the internal discussions about how to handle the 
Weber situation. 
613 Dr. Foster refened the allegations to the BIA (1994-1995) and the Tribal Prosecutor refened allegations to the 
BIA (2015). The Montana. BIA inquiry does not appear to have reached any conclusion and the South Dakota 
inquiiy took almost two years to reach conclusion (indictment). 
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of leave (more than 4 ½ months) . "614 

Weber, on the other hand, was back at work 
within 60 days, without investigation and 
without resolution. The agency is therefore 
faced with a Robson 's choice: Get an 
employee back to work and risk patient 
safety if the allegations are bue -- or leave 
the employee on leave for an extended time 
and invite criticism that taxpayer monies are 
being wasted. 

The FBI does not reject many cases at the 
intake stage. " [T]he FBI needs a 'credible 
allegation of wrongdoing or reasonable basis 
to believe that an American ' is committing a 
federal crime in order to initiate an 
investigation. " 615 Low thresholds for taking 
a case means the FBI opens a lot of cases, 
all competing for finite time and resources. 
The IHS, however, is under significant time 
consti·aints in resolving personnel issues, 
and must contend with the loss of resources 
during the period of suspension. To leave a 
provider suspended with pay while any 
inquiiy drags on only exposes the agency to 
additional criticism. 616 

The common apprehension in government 
agencies is that once a case is under criminal 
investigation, the agency should take no 

steps which might hinder or complicate the 
criminal case. That concern was 
exemplified by the actions of Acting Deputy 
Area Director Shelly Harris when she made 
management decisions regarding Weber 
based, according to her explanations to ICS, 
on what she thought the OIG wanted her to 
do. 617 Too often, however, that 
understanding (that the agency should take 
no action which might injure the criminal 
investigation) is incorrect, untenable, and 
too easy an excuse to do nothing. Law 
enforcement is rarely insensitive to the 
necessity of an agency to conduct its 
business affafrs during the pendency of an 
investigation. The protection of patients 
must override concerns for criminal 
justice accountability, but the truth of the 
matter is that, in most cases, both can be 
achieved with proper coordination. For a 
manager, keeping a criminal inqui1y 
confidential is a far different matter than 
leaving a predator in place with continuing 
access to victims. 

The conclusion to be drawn from this 
discussion is that responsible health care 
facility managers should not rely on or defer 
to a criminal investigation as a replacement 
for a timely, rigorous and professional 
internal inqui1y ; one in which the agency 

614 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Repo1t of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010, pp. 9-10. The Senate 
Repo1t does not identify the cases as involving criminal inquiries, but the principle is the same. The IHS was 
criticized for keeping employees at home with pay, thereby creating a sense of urgency in resolving employee issues 
expeditiously. 
615 Michael Geiman and Emily Hockett, "Standards for Opening an FBI Investigation So Low They Make the 
Statistic Meaningless", Just Security, Reiss Center on La:w and Security at New York University School of Law, 
May 2, 2017, citing FBI Director James Comey in a March 20, 2017, U.S House of Representatives Intelligence 
Committee hearing. 
616 IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S 
ABERDEEN AREA, Report of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 28, 2010. "The Committee 
found that in some cases a single individual was placed on administration leave for over eight months due to a 
pending investigation. I do not understand why the Federal Government would pay someone for eight months to 
stay home while something is being investigated." Chainnan Dorgan' s Opening Statement, p. 3. 
617 ICS interview of Shelly Hairis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quentin Burdick Memorial Hospital, Belcomt, 
North Dakota, November 2, 2019. Ha1ris said that giving Weber administrative duties but leaving him in the Pine 
Ridge Service Unit was her way of getting Weber out of patient care without him knowing the OIG was 
investigating. 
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can have the confidence to make difficult 
decisions that elevate patient safety over all 
other interests. 

An Alternate Paradil(m - Conduct 
Response Team 

When it comes to providers and employees 
preying on the ve1y population the 
organization exists to serve, the IHS is not 
alone in suffering controversy. Law 
enforcement services, the child and elderly 
care industries, the Boy Scouts, Olympic 
sports, colleges and universities and the 
Catholic Church have all been confronted 
with the consequences of predato1y 
personnel. Each has had to address the issue 
of sexual abuse and take steps to remediate 
the damage and prevent fmi her exploitation . 

Few organizations have been plagued by 
ongoing and pe1vasive abuse as the Catholic 
Church. As such it has been compelled to 
respond not just to the betrayal of tiust by a 
single priest or the consequences of a single 
episode, but to child abuse as a systemic 
problem. Because of the similarity of the 
Church 's concerns to those of the IHS, its 
process for response to allegations may 
provide guidance to the agency in the 
aftennath of Weber case. 

Beginning in 2002, with the passage of the 
Chaiier for the Protection of Children and 
Young People, also known as the Dallas 
Chaiier, the United States Conference of 
Catholic Bishops required all dioceses to 
take steps to protect children from sexual 
abuse. 618 Even before the passage of the 
Dallas Chaiier, the Denver Archdiocese had 
established a Conduct Response T earn in 
1991 to advise the Archbishop whether to 

discipline priests alleged to have abused 
children and whether to pay for therapy, 
counseling or other suppo1i for victims. 619 

The composition of the Conduct Response 
Team changed with the passage of the 
Dallas Chaiier. Since 2002, the Code of 
Conduct has mandated that the Conduct 
Response Team consist of a minimum of 5 
persons "of outstanding integrity and good 
judgment, in full communion with the 
Church." It specified that most members 
must be Catholic laypersons who ai·e active 
in the practice of their faith and who do not 
work for the Denver Archdiocese. It 
required at least one member to be a mental 
health professional with expe1iise in the 
ti·eatment of minors who have been sexually 
abused, along with at least one member from 
a judicial or law enforcement background. 620 

Accordingly, as of 2019, the Denver 
Archdiocese 's Conduct Response Team was 
composed of a clinical psychologist, a 
fo1mer social worker for children, a fonner 
deputy director of the Denver Police 
Depaiiment Victim Assistance Unit, two 
criminal defense attorneys, and a retired 
probation officer. The Denver 
Archdiocese 's Code of Conduct describes 
the Conduct Response T earn as "a 
confidential consultative body to the Bishop 
in dischai·ging his responsibilities" 
pe1iaining to allegations of sexual 
misconduct involving minors. 621 

If the Denver Archdiocese receives an 
allegation of sexual abuse of a minor or 
misconduct with a minor, it connects the 
victim with its Victim Assistance 
Coordinator (YWC) who records the details 
of the victim's allegation. The VWC then 
fo1wards the complaint to Church officials 

618 Robe1t Troyer, Roman Catholic Clergy Sexual Abuse of Children in Colorado from 1950 to 2019, Special 
Master's Report, October 22, 2019, p . 16. 
619 Id., pp. 20-21. 
620 Id., p. 21. 
621 Id. 
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who then contact law enforcement. 622 At the 
same time, a Church official conducts a 
preliminaiy inquiiy to establish that the 
abuse could have occuned, and, if so, the 
Archbishop initiates a canon law 
investigation into the details of the 
allegation. 

Once the law enforcement agency concludes 
its investigation or tells the Denver 
Archdiocese to proceed, specific 
investigative steps may be divided up among 
or caiTied out entii·ely by the Judicial Vicai·, 
the Vicar for Clergy, the Victim Assistance 
Coordinator, the Conduct Response Team, 
the law furn representing the Denver 
Archdiocese, or another priest assigned to 
the investigation. In some instances, the law 
furn representing the Denver Archdiocese 
may hii·e an outside investigator to conduct 
po1i ions of the investigation. 623 

With an agreement between the Colorado 
Attorney General's Office and three 
Colorado Catholic Dioceses a Special 
Master was appointed to examine the sexual 
abuse allegation records of the Church, its 
compliance with state mandato1y repo1i ing 
laws, and the Church 's internal response to 
the problem of clergy abuse. 

The Special Master observed that 
" [c]ollectively the Denver Archdiocese's 
clergy and the Conduct Response Team 
members have limited or no training and 
experience in acting as fact-finders in 
complex investigations of clergy child sex 
abuse. These investigations requii·e 
advanced training in inte1v iewing victims of 
sexual assault, especially those who are 
minors or who were minors when they were 

622 Id., p. 22. 
623 Id., pp. 22-23. 
624 Id., p. 28. 
625 Id., p. 30. 
626 Id., p. 32. 
627 Id., p. 37. 
62s Id. 

assaulted. They also requii·e significant field 
experience in completing or overseeing 
comprehensive investigations of crimes 
against children."624 After discussing the 
defects with the Conduct Response Team as 
constituted, the repo1i found that "[t]hese 
flaws, cumulatively, can result in a victim's 
allegation never really being treated as an 
allegation because the process can be so 
daunting and the burden on the victim so 
heavy that s/he declines to engage in or 
continue with the process. The result can be 
that an investigation ends inconclusively, 
and a potential abuser stays in ministiy 
without restriction. "62 5 

The consultants who paiiicipated in the 
Special Master's Repo1i recommended that 
the Diocese create an independent 
investigation team, recognizing that " [ s ]elf­
policing always has some appearance of 
bias. But bias can and should be 
minimized."626 This investigative unit 
should "be composed of expe1is in the field 
of investigations, with an emphasis on 
expe1i ise in investigating the sexual abuse of 
children and supported by a process that 
allows it to conduct fact-based, objective, 
and impaiiial investigations."627 The 
investigative unit "should ensure the [ church 
officials] are aware of all allegations" and 
"should fully and independently investigate 
these allegations". 628 

The investigative unit "should develop an 
investigative manual that provides 
procedures for all ... operations and 
investigations" and "should repo1i to and 
coordinate with law enforcement". It should 
establish and follow a timeline for 
completing and regularly repo1i ing on the 
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status of investigations, and, the report 
emphasizes, investigators need to 
"thoroughly document all investigations" 
and "preserve these files electronically and 
even for allegations that are not 
substantiated. "629 

The Special Master 's Repo1i is instructive 
because it contained numerous parallels to 
the Weber case and the IHS 's ongoing 
concern for protection of patients. Although 
the Church had created a process for internal 
inquiiy, that process was found wanting in 
expe1iise, objectivity, and clarity of mission. 
The Church cannot be faulted, however, for 
recognizing the need for an investigative 
protocol over which they could exe1i some 
degree of conti·ol over the depth and 
duration of the inqui1y to satisfy their own 
personnel requirements. 

There are two prima1y distinctions between 
the issues facing the church with clergy 
abuse and the issues facing this agency with 
provider abuse. The first is the probable 
origin of the complaint. Most clergy 
accusations come from victims. Based on 
the review of the Weber case and other cases 
examined during this review, most health 
care allegations arise from coworkers. 630 

While the difference may affect the 
composition of the investigative team, the 
principle remains unchanged: An effective 
and credible investigation would require 
professional - not "collateral duty" -­
investigators. 

The second impo1iant distinction is the 
pressure of time. While clergymen can be 
relieved of theii· duties for as long as any 
investigation might take, federal employees, 
and pa1iicularly those federal employees 
who are providing a critical service such as 
medical care, simply cannot be sidelined for 
an indefinite period of time. Whether with 

629 Id. 

pay or without, federal policy and good 
management practice requii·es that a 
decision be made as quickly as possible as to 
whether the allegations are sufficient to take 
an adverse personnel action. But a prompt 
decision must also be a confident decision; it 
requii·es that a rigorous and competent 
investigation be conducted immediately and 
resolved quickly. 

Conclusion 

Currently the agency has no functional internal 

process for investigating serious a/legations of 

patient abuse. While peer review and ad hoc 

collateral-duty investigators and committees may 

have utility in disposing of more minor issues, they 

are ill-equipped to deal with potentially criminal 

conduct that endangers patients. 

The 2009 ad hoc committee at Pine Ridge 
seemed unclear as to theii· mission. At least 
one member of the MEC viewed the ad hoc 
members as a so1i of jmy waiting to be 
presented the evidence, rather than an 
investigative entity tasked with finding the 
evidence. 

in the 

consultants that IHS "needs a division of 
ti·ained responders" in a separate 
"Investigations Branch" to address this 
deficiency. Such an investigative unit would 
prevent "the multiple deflections of 

630 Also, the Crowe case (Cherokee), Keats (Aberdeen), and Delgado (Eagle Butte [ coworkers were victims]). 
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responsibility" that cunently result when 
complaints are submitted. 631 

fu the company's view, a proper 
investigato1y response to an allegation of 
patient abuse or other serious patient safety 
concern requires these elements: 

► Prompt Response, Rigorous Inquily, 
Prompt Resolution, and Decisive 
Outcome 

► Expertise in Investigations 
► Clear Protocols 
► Proper Documentation and Record 

Preservation 
► Coordination with Law Enforcement 

and Senior Agency Management 
► Credibility and the Appearance of 

Objectivity by operating outside the 
chain of command; untainted by 
favoritism or antagonism, or 
manpower, litigation, or other 
professional concerns. 

As noted earlier, the most fundamental 
problem with the Weber histo1y was that 
management was too often determined to 
find the accusations untme and therefore the 
allegations were not taken seriously. The 
deafening alanns that should have been 
heard and responded to were simply 
ignored. The risk for the patients is grave 
and the risk to the government is substantial; 
the taxpayer pays dearly for agency inaction. 

The path forward for the agency requires a different 

approach to responding to and investigating 

a/legations involving patient safety. 

631 ICS interview o , Great Plains Area Office, Aberdeen, South Dakota, (b) (6) 
October 24, 2019. 
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ROOT CAlJSE FINDING# 4 
Ineffechve or J11cons;ste11t 

Commwdcahon, Fa;/ure to Docu111e11t, 
F a;/ure to Preserve, 

Fa;fure to Locate 

fucomplete and ineffective communication 
also lay at the heaii of the Weber case. The 
fundam ental failure to communicate creates 
uncertainty, confusion, the inability to 
manage or be managed, and allows 
employees at eve1y level to escape 
responsibility and accountability. 

Lack of credible communication makes 

everyone in the organization functionally 

ignorant and incapable of determining, 

with any degree of confidence, that they 

have facts and understanding upon 

which competent decisions can be made. 

The inability of the IHS to rid itself of a 
predato1y provider like Weber was in large 
paii due to a composite of communication 
failures. During his entire career, 
infonnation was withheld, ignored, 
disto1ied, and manipulated to accomplish 
ce1iain outcomes. A failure to document 
events and a failure to preserve what records 
may have been created combined to 
construct a protective banier of unce1iainty 
ai·om1d Weber. 

Ineffective or Inconsistent 
Communication 

Although it is an issue that took different 
fo1ms at different times over Weber 's 
career, often times there were displays of 
confosion and inconsistency that can only be 
atti·ibuted to a communication failure. 632 

This lapse in communication appeai·ed to be 
most prevalent in the area of repo1i ing 
instances of misconduct. Ineffective or 
inconsistent communication creates two 
distinct administrative problems. First, 
the employee is uncertain as to his or her 
obligation and therefore does nothing 
and, secondly, uncertainty allows the 
employee to avoid responsibility and 
escape accountability. 

All communication has a purpose. fu the 
management of organizations and the 
employees serving the organization, 
communication is more than mere 
disti·ibution of infonnation. From bottom to 
top communication is necessaiy to infonn 
and seek guidance. From top to bottom 
communication is necessaiy to info1m and 
provide guidance. Incomplete or 
abandoned communication leaves 
principal actors able to avoid 
accountability and leads to claims of 
unawareness, finger-pointing, and 
ultimately the inability to hold people 
responsible for their failures. 

Had information been treated with the gravity it required - documented, maintained, and shared with 

decision-makers - the amalgamation of that information may well have ended Weber's access to a 

generation of adolescent Indian boys. 

632 Although ICS is confident that in some instances, confusion or misunderstanding was exaggerated by witnesses 
attempting to explain their actions or lack thereof. 
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Lack of accountability, in its tum , leaves 
bad employees and managers in place, good 
employees and managers disillusioned and 
fmstrnted, and the chances of another 
embaiTassing crisis vastly improved. 

Albuquerque/Browning: When Weber 
applied for the position at Browning, an 
unidentified IHS official reached out.!£11 
- as one of his references. -
~number of UNM-tribal 
paitnership clinics -- -- for 
native t . in New Mexico. Among other 
things, • • revealed that Weber 's conduct 
was trnubling to her. She described Weber 
as spending too much time with adolescent 
boys and hosting them at his home. It was 
concerning and unprofessional. She also 
noted that he worked hai·d and spent many 
hours on the nights and weekends at the 
Teen Center. That positive reference was 
the one the IHS official noted on Weber's 
~ work, ignoring the other wainings 
lilllil was hying to communicate. 

Browning: f 01mer Blackfeet Hospital 
Clinical Director Rottenbiller sti11ggled to 
aiticulate how allegations such as those 
made against Weber should be repo1ted. 

Browning: Time and again Laf romboise 
and Rottenbiller were warned about Weber. 
Tribal Chaiiman Tim Davis, then in the IHS 
Maintenance Department, told LaFromboise 
about Weber's home being filled with stuff 
for teenagers (games, videos, snacks, 
clothes) even though he had no children. 
Lafromboise, despite being warned from 
vai-ious other sources "did not see any cause 
for alaim". 

Browning: Laf romboise asked, 
rhetorically, "Who is the responsible person 
to come in and do something?" She opined 
that the Weber issue was complicated by the 
fact he was an officer in the Commissioned 

Corps, because "they couldn't be supervised 
or disciplined". 

to ICS t at 1 a sen ous comp amt was 
maJncluding alleged sexual contact, 
~ would go to the HR Division for 
guidance. He would contact senior staff at 
the Billings Area Office, and he would 
contact OGC in Denver for additional 
guidance. [tiJIEJ] was unce1tain of the 
protocol on when to contact law 
enforcement and he explained that he would 
seek additional guidance from the Billings 
Area Office and the OGC. 

(b) (6) Pine Ridge: was 
concerned that Weber ordered "constant and 
frequent" chlamydia and gononhea tests for 
the male (young boys) patients even though 
there was no STD complaint by the patient 
or a diagnosis by a doctor. She repo1ted this 
to her supervisor, Maiy American Horse, 
who told her tha~ Weber 
suspects abuse."LVl&l:I.IIIIIII said she told 
Ame11can Horse that "there's something not 
right" about these tests and that "not 
eve1-od was abused." Ame11can Horse 
told • • she would look into this 
issue ut, to er owledge, American 
Horse never did anyth~ he 
info1mation fo1ward. LVl&l:I.IIIIIII recalled 
Ame11can Horse telling her, "you should 
haveputyo~ about Dr. Weber 
in writing."LVl&l:I.IIIIIII said she leain ed 
from this experience (not putting her 
complaint in writing) and she will now 
always put her complaints in writing. 

Pine Ridge: --told Marge 
Murdock, Director of Nursing, and Doris 
Thibeault, Acting Assistant Dii·ector of 
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Nursing, 633 that she was concerned about all 
the young boys coming to see Weber 
unaccompanied. They both told[ti)Im] that 
they would take care of it and thanked her 
for letting them know. AfterrtD'IDJ1 told 
Murdock and Thibeault abm~ sue, 
however, the boys continued to come into 
PEDS to see Weber. • • also told Maiy 
Afraid of Bear, • direct supervisor 
at the time, about the unaccompanied boys 
who were regularly cominllm] 
Weber. Afraid of Bear told • • that this 
issue (unsupe1vised boys coming to see 
Weber) had been repo1ted to hospital 
Administration/Leadership Committee and 
nothing was being done about it.-] 
said she told Afraid of Beai· about the large 
number of boys always coming and going to 
Weber 's house. Afraid of Bear said she 
"would look into it" . rtD'IDJ1 was not sure if 
Afraid of Beai· ever l~to it. But 

nothing changed; young. bo-]ued to 
work in Weber's yard after • • told 
Afraid of Bear about her suspicions. 

Pine Ridge: [(iJIEJ■ wain ed Sophia 
Comoy, acting Pine Ridge CEO, that she 
was concerned about the frequent visits of 
unaccompanied boys coming to see Weber 
when he was Clinical Director. Com oy had 
no comment when Cross told her that she 
was anxious about the situation; that it was 
unusual and disturbing. Com oy, to her 
knowledge, never did anything about it and 
the steady stream of boys coming to see 
Weber never stopped until Weber left the 
facility. 

Aberdeen: While there was a great deal of 
communication between Pine Ridge and the 
Area Commissioned Corps Liaison, Ron 

Keats, there was little documented 
communication between Keats and others in 
the Aberdeen Area Office. Keats had 
significant email exchanges with the Se1vice 
Unit and his superiors in Washington but did 
not appear to be as willing to keep senior 
IHS Area management infonned. 

Pine Ridge/ Aberdeen/Rockville: In 2008, 
Weber was cited for DWI. In an exchange 
of emails, it was made clear that Weber 
should be disciplined for being AWOL. 
Those instm ctions were ignored because no 
one from IHS Headqua1ters demanded 
confnm ation or saw the matter through. The 
issue was picked up again in March of 2009, 
after the Butterbrodt allegations surfaced, 
and Aberdeen (Keats) was told "[t]he policy 
does not allow for the service unit to handle 
the situation (the DWI/AWOL) locally." 
Again, the Area Office and Se1v ice Unit 
stalled until November 2009 when the PHS 
HQ finally gave up. 

Aberdeen/Denver: In July of 2015, BIA 
Law Enforcement provided the Area Office 
with a memorandum outlining accusations 
against Weber. The memo was f01warded to 
the OGC Office in Denver who, in tum, 
advised the Area Office, with some degree 
of urgency, to remove Weber from patient 
care. The Area Office neglected the need for 
personnel action until October - almost four 
months later - and then only after the OIG 
Special Agent assigned to the investigation 
was in contact with the Acting Deputy 
Director. ICS could only speculate how 
long the Aberdeen Area Office would have 
ignored the issue had it not been for the 
inte1vention of the OIG. No extant 
documents reveal any action or discussion in 

633 It is important to note that while ICS identifies supervisors by name - consistent with what consultants were told 
by witnesses - it would be unfair to suggest, without more, that they were themselves derelict. Those supervisors 
may well have related staff concems to service unit managers. Time constraints did not pennit ICS to interview and 
locate every supervisor identified. Somewhere in the chain of colllllland, however, infonnation was either lost, 
ignored, or suppressed, because none of it resulted in any changes to protect the young boys of the reservation 
COllllllunity. 
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those intervening months and no indication 
the OGC eve1y followed up to ensure the 
matter was being handled. 

Browning/Billings/Pine Ridge/ Aberdeen/ 
Denver: Since Janua1y 1981, " [a]n (HHS) 
employee who has infonnation which he or 
she reasonably believes indicates a possible 

path to take if they were confronted with the 
saine dilemma. 

offense against the United States by Essf. 
an employee of the Department, or any other ~2 
individual working on behalf of 
the Department, shall immediately report 
such infonnation to his or her supervisor, 
any management official, or directly to the 
Office of the Inspector General." 634 The list 
of IHS employees who failed to adhere to 
this regulation is long. Some in the Area 
Offices (Lewis, Jeanotte, HaiTis, Claymore) 
claim they were not informed although there 
is significant evidence indicating that they 
did have knowledge. 

With the exception of Birney's referral to Vantrease 

in August 2010, no known record exists that suggests 

any other /HS employee ever contacted the O/G. 
PHS officer Birney did email the OIG on August 3, 2010, but no one from the 

lliS ever made any similar report. This conclusion is based on available 

documentation. ICS cannot represent with certainty that someone from the lliS 

did not contact the OIG without there being a record of the contact. However, no 

witness claimed to have contacted the OIG, and only Foster,_ and 

Butterbrodt initiated any report to any law enforcement office. 

ICS found that the significant confusion 
about who they should contact -- claimed by 
managers such as Rottenbiller and 
LaFromboise -- was common. In answer to 
the question of to whom such allegations 
should be refen ed, many witnesses 
identified a vai·iety of recipients before 
agreeing that they were unsure of the proper 

634 45 CFR § 73.735-1301. 

Failure to Document 

If the Weber case is a reliable indicator, 
failure to document concerns about patient 
safety issues is an impediment to ensuring 
that the concern can be appropriately 
addressed. Verbal exchanges count for 
nothing in a functional office setting; if an 
observation or event is not recorded it may 
as well not have occmTed because it is 
almost impossible to recapture in the event 
of a future need for the info1mation. ICS 
found a myriad of instances where the 
observations and experiences of staff should 
have been documented regardless of 
whether the event, in and of itself, was 
actionable. 635 What follows is not an 
exhaustive list. 

Browning: While Tim Davis was "floored" 
by the ainount of child or teenager related 
items in Weber 's basement, his repo1ts to 
Rottenbiller and LaFromboise were verbal. 
Had his concerns been recorded they would 

635 ICS bases its conclusions that none of these events were memorialized - as opposed to documented and the 
document not found - based on the admissions of the witnesses who when asked indicated that no extant record was 
made or that they could not recall that such a record was made. 
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have provided impo1iant support to repo1is 
from a tribal member that her son had spent 
the night at Weber 's home; a fact which also 
should have been documented by 
Lafromboise. 

Browning: By late 1994 or early 1995, 
LaFromboise and Rottenbiller had been 
made aware of the following details: a) 
clinic nurses (and the Drs . Foster) had 
observed and documented that Weber was 
"selecting" teenage males as patients and 
that unaccompanied minors were in Weber's 
office late in the evenings; b) maintenance 
staff had repo1i ed that Weber had 
unaccompanied minor boys in his home at 
night; c) Weber had been seen by staff and 
tribal members taking groups of boys off the 
reservation for pizza or other unsupervised 
outings; and d) that Weber had been 
assaulted, at least once. None of this was 
documented by LaFromboise or 
Rottenbiller. 

Browning: Just before his depaiiure, Weber 
was so dmnk and belligerent that he had to 
be forcibly removed from the Emergency 
Room at the Blackfeet Hospital. Weber had 
responded to a Child Protection Team issue 
involving a boy brought to the ER by his 
grandmother. Dr. Rottenbiller made a 
"judgment call" not to file a Quality of Cai·e 
incident repo1i because Weber had not been 
on-call when he was notified that the boy 
was at the ER and presenting signs of 
possible abuse. 

Billings: If the allegations were not 
documented on the front end in Browning, 
they could have been and should have been 
documented on the receiving end in Billings. 
Jeanotte told Rottenbiller that he had 
received a call from a tribal member. 
Lafromboise,~ Rottenbiller, and Foster 
all indicated th~y "called the BAO 
(Billings Area Office)" . - identified the 
two Deputy Area Directors by name. No one 

from the Se1vice Unit or the Area Office 
documented what, if anything, was repo1ied 
from Browning. 

Pine Ridge: While numerous relevant 
concerns, events, and allegations were 
documented - 1995 allegation refeITed to 
FBI, assaults against Weber handled by IHS 
Security and tribal police - these were not 
documented in the files of the Pine Ridge 
Se1vice Unit. While Dr. Butterbrodt 
documented his concerns and obse1vations, 
probably out of a sense of self-prese1vation, 
he was alone in doing so. What nurses 
obse1ved -- selecting patient cha1is for 
adolescent boys, insisting on unsupe1vised 
examinations, STD tests for eve1y patient 
regai·dless of complaint, distributing diugs 
without a prescription, etc. - all went 
unrecorded. 

Pine Ridge: When Weber was beaten and 
robbed by three young men - two of which 
he had victimized - CEO Pourier did 
nothing to investigate the matter; receiving 
pennission from Weber's reluctance to 
provide details about the incident seems to 
have absolved him of any fmi her duty to 
inquire. The least that could have been done 
was a written memorandum about the 
incident. Repo1iing it to his superiors, 
which he claims to have done, was as simple 
as a phone call - avoiding the inconvenience 
of pape1work - and left no trace that he had 
done anything at all in response to the severe 
beating of one of his doctors. 

PineRid~e: N~made 
to supe1v1sors. ­
repo1ied her concerns regarding Weber 's 
insistence on STD tests without justification 
~ v isor, Ma1y American Horse. 
LVl.lVl.alll said she told Mai·ge Murdock, 
Director of Nursing, and Doris Thibeault, 
Acting Assistant Director of Nursing about 
the boys coming to see Weber 
unaccompanied. 
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Many witnesses claimed they related their 

concerns to a supervisor, and nothing 

happened. For the manager disinclined to 

address the concern, having no record of 

a complaint makes it much easier to 

ignore. 

(b) (6) Nurse recalled being 
told by her supe1v isor "you should have put 
your complaints about Dr. Weber in 
writing."636 

The same is bue between Unit leadership 
and their Area managers. In Montana, 
LaFromboise and Rottenbiller insist that 
they told the Area Office about the 
allegations against Weber. Jeanotte and 
Lewis are equally insistent that they were 
told nothing. There are no extant records to 
assess with confidence where accountability 
rests. In South Dakota, Colton and Pourier 
insist that the Area Office was fully 
info1med, but Harris and Claymore are 
equally insistent that the Se1vice Unit never 
related any concerns to .Aberdeen. In the 
case of Pine Ridge, there is documentation 
in the fo1m of emails that shows that Keats 
was intimately involved in the Weber case 
and that both HaITis and Claymore were 
sufficiently info1med that any ignorance as 
to the details would be willful ignorance 
rather than genuine ignorance. But a more 
fully written record would have made for a 
more thorough review and analysis. 

Management in both Montana and South 
Dakota. displayed an alaiming tendency to 
claim ignorance and blame others for their 
lack of awareness. 

If the /HS managers who vehemently 

deny knowledge, and therefore 

responsibility, were as dedicated to the 

mission of the agency as they are quick 

to flee from any accusations of 

negligence, many of the communication 

problems of the agency would be solved. 

It is a simple analysis. Managers who 

really did not know, should have known 

All employees - both repo1iers and 
supe1v isors to whom the repo1i is made -
must recognize the obligation to document 
patient safety issues. "Documentation about 
employees, when necessaiy, is ... factual, 
not judgmental ... Without documentation, 
making a case for any of these actions 
[ discipline, removal, advancement] is 
difficult, and potentially risky for the 
employer."637 Facts can be documented 
without a design to take action; managers 
can obtain not only the allegation, but the 
provider's response so that the record is 
complete. Weber was never without an 
explanation. 

Managers like Pourier and Keats regulai·ly 
indicated that the allegations were 
unfounded. But they were not unfounded -
they were not even particulai·ly disputable. 
A reasonable manager may have disagreed 
with what Butterbrodt 's facts implied, but 
had there been an attempt to verify the 
factual foundation of his claims it would 
have been detennined that they were 
accurate: Weber did have an unusually high 
density of teenage boys as patients; Weber 
did order STD exains for all teenage boys 

636 ICS interview o , Pine Ridge, South Dakota, (b) (6) (b) (6) 
November 27, 2019. 
637 Susan M. Heathfield, " The Importance of Documentation in Human Resources", thebalancecare.ers.com, Updated 
June 25, 2019. 
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regardless of the medical pmpose which 
brought them to the hospital; Weber did see 
unaccompanied teenage patients after hours. 
Rather than insisting that the allegations 
were unfounded, IHS managers should have 
info1med their superiors of the facts of 
Butterbrodt's complaints so that their 
decisions would be fully info1med, not 
merely mbber-stamps of the self-interested 
judgments of underlings. 

As difficult as it is to discipline federal 
employees, or remove them from federal 
service, it is impossible without a written 
record of conduct justifying the 
removal. 638 

The agency must consider this a priority 
and matter of self-protection. Recently 
the VA had to pay nearly $7 million to 
veterans who had been sexually abused by a 
medical provider at the Dwight D. 
Eisenhower Department of Veterans Affairs 
Medical Center in Leavenworth, Kansas. 
"Dozens of lawsuits filed by his [PA Mark 
Wisner's] victims alleged the U.S. 
government, which operates the VA 
hospital, knew or should have known that 
Wisner was a danger to patients, had a 
histo1y of providing improper medical care 
and had previously victimized patients."639 

The Wisner case is, in most respects, the 
same as the Weber case. '" Multiple times, 
the VA administration at that hospital had 
repo1ts that Wisner was behaving 
inappropriately .... Someone needed to 
connect the dots. '" 640 The ability to 

"connect the dots" is rendered infinitely 
more difficult when the connections rely on 
word-of-mouth and office chatter. 

There were no memoranda discovered by, or 
provided to, ICS which represented a fonnal 
internal discussion of the allegations against 
Weber from either Browning or Pine Ridge. 
If any record was created it cannot be found; 
but whether no record was ever made, or 
made and later removed, the result is the 
same - the sanitized version of Weber 's 
career left no path to follow and allowed 
those intent on protecting him to always 
claim that "[ a]llegations and innuendos were 
found, but no concrete evidence." 641 

The moral of the Weber story- and that 
of Wisner - is that the agency cannot 
connect the dots without dots. 

There is a circularity discussed in the 
Analysis section on Investigation that is 
equally resonant here. If something is not 
reduced to writing, there is no record. If 
there is no record, there was nothing wrong 
(or at least managers can claim there was 
nothing wrong - that THEY were aware of) . 
If nothing was wrong, there was nothing to 
address. If there is nothing to address, there 
is nothing which needs to be recorded. 

638 Even as the consultants write this obvious maxim, they are reminded that the IHS has a history of swift and 
drastic punishment when it suits a manager's purpose. Consider, Butterbrodt's reassignment to Tmtle mountain, 
Tilus' s reassignment to Aberdeen. See also IN CRITICAL CONDITION: THE URGENT NEED TO REFORM THE 
INDIAN HEALTH SERVICE'S ABERDEEN AREA, Repo1t of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, December 
28, 2010. "Between 2002 and August 2010 there were a total of 364 reassignments, 235 details and 31 employee 
transfers. Additionally, the available documentation suggests that employees who filed EEO complaints were more 
likely to be detailed or reassigned compared to those that did not." Id, pp. 6-7. 
639 Dan Margolies, " U. S. Pays $7 Million To Veterans Who Were Sexually Molested At The Leavenworth VA 
Hospital" , National Public Radio, KCUR 89.3FM, June 10, 2019. 
640 Id., quoting DanrlDQ attomey for the plaintiffs (ICS emphasis added) . 
641 Pourier letter to • • dated June 19, 2009. 
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No record. Nothing wrong. Nothing to 
address. No record. And, worst of all, no 
accountability. 

Failure to Preserve Documents 

While the most prevalent communications 
deficit was the failure to document the 
concerns about Weber, in some instances 
concerns were documented but the record no 
longer exists or cannot be found; a failure to 
preserve. 642 

~ : Maintenance employee­
- saw Weber, after hours, taking an 
unaccompanied male teenager into his 
office, then dragging a couch from the 
reception area into the office, and closing 
the door. tG>JGJlwas sufficiently 
concerned that he wrote a memo to his 
supervisor. The memo was never found 
during the OIG investigation, the request for 

production from IHS Headquarters, or 
during the course of the ICS review. 

(b) (6) Browning: wrote a 
Quality of Care Incident Repo1i when he 
found Weber was visibly intoxicated on the 
job. The Incident Repo1i was never found 
during in the request for production from 
IHS Headquaiiers or during the course of 
the ICS review. 

Pine Ridge: In 2009, Clinical Director Dr. 
Jan Colton assigned an ad hoc committee of 
three to inquire into Dr. Butterbrodt's 
allegations. She recalled that a written 
repo1i resulted from the work of that 
Committee and that it was maintained in the 
Administrative Offices at Pine Ridge and a 
copy had been provided to the Area Office 
in Aberdeen. The repo1i was never found 
during the OIG investigation, the request for 
production from IHS Headqua1iers, or 
during the course of the ICS review. It was 
not produced from either the Service Unit or 
the Area Office. Colton also sent a letter to 
- at - wherein she warned that the 
ad hoc committee approach was not 
working. 643 There is no doubt that such a 
letter existed and should have been in the 
custody of the Se1vice Unit, the Area Office, 
and the Office of General Counsel. The 
letter was not found at the Se1vice Unit or 
the Area Office. The IHS, at the request of 
ICS, asked that OGC provide documentation 
in OGC's ossession such as Colton's letter 
to - relating to Weber. 
Whether by intention or simple 
disinissiveness of its client agency's request, 
OGC elected to not comply or cooperate 
with the ICS review. Whether or not the 
Colton letter to [QJQ which would have 

642 ICS acknowledges that these witnesses are recalling events that occtmed years and even decades ago. However, 
the number of witnesses who recalled a written record being created would suggest that memoranda documented at 
least some events and that no records at all now exist. 

,(b) (6) 643 Colton email to Keats, dated April 10, 2009. "I sent a letter t (with a copy to Mr. Pourier and 
Ms. Shelly Han-is) stating that the Medical Executive committee was not, in my opinion, the appropriate body to 
investigate such allegations." 
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been critical to evaluating the events of 
2009, still exists in the files of the OGC is 
unknown. From a records management 
perspective it should have been available in 
all three places. Through IH- lso 
requested an interview with • • The 
purpose of the interview would be 
discussion regarding his interaction with 
Colton and others at the Pine Ridge Service 
Unit and Great Plains Area Office during 
Weber's assignment in Pine Ridge. As with 
the document request, OGC did not respond 
to IHS' request. 

Pine Ridge: At some point in his tenure, 
Weber was found, after hours, sitting in bed 
with a young male ~ e Care 
Unit. According to - a 
nurse in the Unit filed a fo1mal written 
fu · d t R 1i with her supervisor. ■ 

recalled the same episode but 
the repo1i was in writing. 644 

The fucident Repo1i was never found during 
the o rG investigation, the request for 
production from IHS Headqua1iers, or 
during the course of the res review. 

Pine Ridge: According to Dr. F em ando 
Cosme, who served for a time as the Acting 
Clinical Director in 2010 or 2011 (before 
Weber became Acting Clinical Director in 
2011), there were files in the Clinical 
Director 's Office that documented 
complaints, internal investigations, and 
disciplinaiy action against Pine Ridge 
Hospital medical providers, including 
Weber. fu 2019, Cosme told res that he 
knew that those files no longer existed in the 
CD's office. [tiJJD came to work on a 
Sunday in May 2016 and found Weber 
shredding documents and thought to herself 
"he's shredding the evidence" . The o rG 

atTived soon thereafter and could find few 
records relating to Weber. 

res cannot provide an explanation for the 
absence of records it knows at one point 
existed, but there is no question that 
document prese1vation makes reviews better 
info1med, more complete, and more 
credible. Historical reviews are a necessaiy 
component of organizational integrity; 
recreating events to establish what was done 
(or not done), when it was done (or not 
done), why it was done ( or not done) and 
who made the decisions. Although 
redundancy in documentation creates its 
own issues with regard to storage and space, 
disciplinaiy records ought not be maintained 
where people with incentive to remove them 
or destroy them may have access. 

The absence of records -- either because 
they were not created or not prese1ved -- is 
the optimal condition for bad management. 
Holding managers accountable for 
documenting the business of the agency, and 
properly storing those documents so that 
they can be readily retrieved, se1ves to make 
those managers accountable for their 
decisions. 

Failure to Locate Documents 

What cannot be retrieved may as well not 
exist. There are three hurdles that must be 
overcome. 

► The requirement to document events. 
► The prese1vation of what has been 

documented. 
► The retrieval of what has been 

prese1ved. 

644 If there was no written Incident Repo1t submitted - but only a verbal rendition - then there was still a significant 
collllllunication failure. [ti)Im■ told ICS that she did not know if law enforcement was contacted or whether an 
investigation was conducted, but em hasized that at the ve1 minimum there should have been an intemal Incident 
Repo1t prepared. ICS interview o , Rapid City, South 
Dakota, October 23, 2019. 
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ill the first of the two incidents described 
below, there is evidence that there were 
documents available to be reti·ieved. ill the 
second and third instances, res concluded 
that the records likely existed at some point 
and should have been , with a conscientious 
commitment to do so, reti·ievable. 

Browning: DmIDg the criminal 
investigation by the o rG, Special Agent 
Muller requested all records pe1taining to 
Weber stored at the Browning Se1v ice Unit 
be produced. ill an email responding to the 
request, Agent Muller 's contact in the 
Billings Office was told that " [ w ]e were 
unable to find info1mation pe1taining to 
Stanley J. Weber with in the documentation 
from either Box 1 or Box 2 located in the 
storage room as well as anything in the Risk 
Management Office." Agent Muller later 
peif onned his own search for the documents 
while on site at the Browning facility and 
discovered hundreds of critical records that 
should have been produced as responsive to 
his 2016 request. 

Pine Ridge: ill October 2019, res 
inte1v iewed Credentialing Specialist Tammy 
Bailey and at the end of the interview asked 
her to locate the Credentialing Committee 
minutes for 2009, and the Committee 's by­
laws and chaiter for 2009 for review by the 
res Team on their next visit to Pine Ridge. 
ill November, Bailey repolied that she was 
unable to locate any of these requested 
materials . 

Pine Ridge: ill November 2019, during an 
inte1v iew with Administi·ative Suppo1t 
Assistant Diane Little Hawk, res 
consultants asked Little Hawk to seai·ch her 
archives for the 2009 MEC meeting 

minutes. After a short break , Little Hawk 
reported that she could not locate the 2009 
MEC meeting minutes and was unce1tain 
where these minutes are cmTently located. 645 

Aberdeen: On July 28, 2016, a Columbia 
University student filed a Freedom of 
illfo1mation (FOIA) request for "a full list of 
all complaints, instances of misconduct, and 
personnel actions filed against eight cmTent 
or fo1mer providers at the illdian Health 
Se1v ice." The eight individuals identified 
included Weber, Keats, Delgado, and 
Ahsan. ill response to her FOIA request the 
IHS claimed that none of these doctors had 
complaints or disciplinaiy actions against 
them, writing that " [t]he Great Plains Area 
Human Resources office seai·ched their files 
and [ found] no records responsive to your 
request exist." Keats and Delgado had been 
prosecuted for felony crimes. Weber was 
under investigation at the time, and the IHS 
had a histo1y of complaints against him that 
ai·e extensively documented in this repo1t . 

The inability to retrieve relevant records -
where records likely or ce1tainly existed -
may be due to poor organization and 
storage, making retrieval difficult and overly 
time-consmning at a time when resources, 
paiticularly at the unit level are stretched 
thin. Relevant records were dispersed widely 
- emails, MEC minutes, depaitment files, 
etc. The task of reviewing records from a 
variety of locations could be a daunting 
mission. Celiainly, the fact that the requests 
were for records created yeai·s and decades 
ago contributed to the failure of the searcher 
to provide documents in response. It may 
also be in some cases, and to some extent, 
lack of motivation or ineptitude. 

645 ICS does not fault either Bailey or Little Hawk for their inability to locate records from a decade ago when 
neither was in the position they cun-ently hold. The fault lies in the organizational responsibility more broadly 
where regularly created books and records are not maintained in a manner which pennits their ready access, or, at 
least, common knowledge of where they would be stored. Disciplina1y records should be particularly well 
maintained and not available to anyone with a motive to remove or destroy them. 
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The focus of this report is limited to serious 
patient safety allegations and does not seek 
to address the broader record-keeping and/or 
record-retrieval problems that may penneate 
the organization. Starting with those 
allegations, the agency must develop a 
records system that centralizes all 
documents relevant to those complaints. 

Conclusion 

While good communication is critical to the 
success of the organization, it is only as 
good as the use members make of it. Like a 
chain with a weak link, communication 
tends to break down when it hits resistance. 
To avoid those breakdowns the agency 
would benefit from redundancy - giving 
infonnation a secure channel, or several 
alternative secme channels, from employees 
to management, and a verification system, or 
systems, from management to subordinates. 
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PART III: RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations made as pali of this 
report are intended to specifically address 
the issues discovered by res during its 
medical quality assurance review. The 
recollllllendations are infonned by a variety 
of sources. 

► The observations of JCS key 
personnel based upon their 
experience, the review of !HS 
documents, and the conduct of 
interviews as part of their review. 

► Input from current and former !HS 
employees regarding problems 
within the agency and proposals to 
improve its functions. 

► Prior findings from organizations 
involved in the oversight of !HS, e.g. 
the US. Senate Committee on Indian 
Affairs and the US. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Office 
of Inspector General (including 
HHSIOIG Report OEI-06-19-00330). 

Recommendations are categorized as either 
general recommendations or 
recollllllendations associated with one of 
review's four root causes. 

General Recommendations 

IHS Internal Administrative 
Reviews/Compliance Reviews 

The agency should create a robust 
compliance review program in order to 
ensure appropriate confonnity with HHS 
and agency policies and procedures. These 
reviews would include on-site examinations 
of a small number of se1vice units and area 
offices each year. Areas of assessment 

would include some medical issues such as 
patient protection and review of collllllittee 
meeting minutes ( credentialing collllllittee, 
medical executive committee, etc.). Other 
areas of assessment would include human 
resources, whistleblower protection, budget 
compliance, contract oversight, acquisition 
compliance, and tribal relations. As an 
example, the Albuquerque Area Office 
cmTently covers many of these areas in their 
semiannual meetings with service units. 

The agency should consider the creation of a 
self-assessment document or guide which 
would be completed and certified annually 
by the se1v ice units and area offices. This 
guide would require the submission of 
compliance info1mation from those 
components. The guide, in tmn, would be 
used as the foundation for the conduct of the 
on-site reviews. 

The agency should consider the use of an 
outside contractor to assist with the creation 
of the self-assessment guide and the conduct 
of a limited number of reviews annually. 
The use of an outside entity, even for a small 
percentage of reviews, provides the agency 
with credibility regarding their program. 
(IeS personnel have an immense amount of 
experience in compliance review and can 
provide additional info1mation.) 

Human Resources Review 

The agency should review the cunent 
human resources strnctm·e. Throughout the 
res review, inte1viewees regularly 
introduced issues involving human resources 
and its cmTent stru cture within the agency. 
The cmTent state does not seem to lend itself 
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to optimal operation and consistency. 
Human resources is comprised of 
headqmuiers and five regions throughout the 
count:Iy, versus the area office st:Iucture used 
for other programs. The regional human 
resource directors are responsible for a 
region, yet they sit in a paiiicular ai·ea office 
and repo1i to an area director. As such, many 
areas see these individuals as simply the 
individual in charge of human resources in 
that paiiicular area, not the entire region. 
With the agency organized by area, the 
regional s1:I11cture of human resources does 
not appear to be the most conducive to 
sti·eamlined operations. As such, many 
interviewees complained about the 
inconsistent application of human resource 
policies and classification of positions. 
Many employees are confused about the 
lines of repo1iing for human resource issues. 
They question the regional st:Iucture and ai·e 
unsure of the role of human resources at 
headquaiiers. 

Additional/Updated Policies 
Re ardin Abuse o Patients 

fu eai·ly 2019, IHS issued a new policy and 
ti·aining module regai·ding the sexual abuse 
of children by health care providers. This 
policy reinforced mandato1y repo1iing and 
repo1iing procedures. While the agency is 
complimented for the new policy and 
ti·aining module, additional policies or an 
expansion of the cmTent policy is needed. 
This expansion should reference additional 
types of abuse other than just sexual abuse. 
The new policies should address all types of 
victims and not simply children. The 
policies should reference all agency 
employees as mandato1y repo1iers, not just 
medical providers. It is noted that the most 
recent version of the ti·aining module 
references repo1iing by all employees and 
cont:I-actors. (This recommendation is also 

referenced by the OIG, Office of Evaluation 
and fuspection (OEI) .) 

fu addition to expanding the number of 
mandato1y repo1iers, consideration should 
be given to working with the applicable 
paiiies to make nonreporting a felony 
violation versus its cmTent status as a 
misdemeanor. The statute of limitations 
regai·ding nonrepo1iing violations should 
also be reviewed for possible extension. 

I Stronger Reporting Requirement 

The new agency policy expands the number 
of mandato1y repo1iers and requires that all 
IHS staff document "the report in the IHS 
fucident Repo1iing System within five 
business days." (fudian Health Manual, Pa1i 
3, Chapter 20, Section 3-20.2) 

This requirement to document should be 
extended to Pali 3, Chapter 23 of the fudian 
Health Manual which addresses required 
reporting of allegations of ethical 
misconduct. This chapter cunently allows 
for the required repo1iing of allegations to 
be written or oral. Given the requirements 
in Chapter 20 of required documentation and 
following best practices of documenting 
events generally, Chapter 23 should be 
rewritten to require written documentation 
of allegations versus written or oral. 

Blue Ribbon Panel 

IHS should consider the creation of a blue­
ribbon panel which would review the histo1y 
of IHS, its cmTent composition, and how 
successful the agency is in addressing its 
mission. The goal of this group would be 
high-level recommendations about funding, 
potential reorganization, and options for 
mission optimization. This panel would 
include a number of the agency's 
stakeholders to include, among others: IHS 
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senior leadership, the OIG, representatives 
from other relevant HHS agencies (Center 
for Medicare and Medicaid Seivices, 
National Institutes of Health, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, Substance 
Abuse and Mental Health Seivices 
Administration, etc) tribal representatives, 
healthcare providers groups, and U.S. 
Congressional professional staffers. (ICS 
has experience moderating this type of panel 
and is available for further discussions.) 

Recommendations Re2ardin2 
Root Cause #1 

Leadership Failures, Failure to 
Serve the Mission, Self Interest and 

Refusal to Accept Responsibility 

I Management/Supervisory Training I 

The agency should invest in additional 
management/supeiv isoiy training for all 
individuals who are promoted into a 
supeiv isoiy role. This training for first line 
managers should be provided 
contemporaneous with the individual 's 
promotion. 

Leadership Training 

The agency should invest in additional 
leadership training for individuals who are 
promoted to senior leadership positions 
within the agency, e.g. seivice unit CEOs. 

Mentor Program 

IHS should consider the creation of a mentor 
program for inid-level and upper-level_ 
managers. This program not only provides 
positive instrnction to those managers, but 
also helps to ensure consistency across the 
enteiprise. 

Minimize the Use of Acting 
Positions 

The agency should utilize fewer acting 
positions, particularly for key medical 
provider positions such as CMO, CEO, 
Clinical Director, and Director of Nursing. 
Individuals in acting positions lack 
accountability and fail to enforce 
accountability in others. Acting positions do 
not afford the temporaiy leader the ability to 
institute new policies and procedures. 
Problem employees will often attempt to 
"wait out" an acting leader. While there is a 
recognition that there are sometimes few 
options to some period of acting, thes~ 
should be kept to a minimum. Vacancies 
should be adveiiised quickly, and selections 
made. 

Financial Disclosure Forms 

In order to increase transparency and 
accountability, the agency should expand the 
number of employees who ai·e required to 
complete the annual Confidential Financial 
Disclosure Foim (Foim OGE-450). 

Recommendations Regarding 
Root Cause #2 

Failure to Disclose, Ineffective or 
Insufficient Reporting, Concealment 

from Management Superiors 

I Additional Training/or Employees I 

Despite the fact that whistleblower trainin~ 
is provided to employees on an annual basis 
through the learning management system, 
additional training is needed. Training 
should include examples of whistleblowers 
who provided infoimation which resulted in 
change. The training should also reference 
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the accountability expected of managers so 
that employees are aware of and comfortable 
with not only their responsibilities but also 
those of management. Additional modalities 
of training should also be explored in order 
to increase the effectiveness of training. 

I Additional Training/or Managers 

Specific training on the issues of 
whistleblowing and retaliation should be 
provided to managers. This training should 
include the expectations for managers as 
well as the employees' whistleblower rights. 
Managers should be trained on how to 
handle repo11s of wrongdoing. Training 
should include real-life examples where 
retaliation was taken against employees for 
coming fo1ward with allegations of 
misconduct. 

Performance Plan Mod~fication 

Consideration should be given to 
inco1porating compliance with 
whistleblower laws, policies and procedures 
into managers' perfo1mance plans. The 
managers would acknowledge that they have 
received training and could repo11 on what 
actions they have taken to create and 
maintain a robust program. 

Whistleblower Protection 
Coordinators 

If positions are not ah-eady in place, the 
agency should develop collateral duty 
Whistleblower Protection Coordinators at 
the area office level and possibly at the 
service unit level. These individuals would 
be responsible for educating employees and 
assisting employees as needed; ensuring that 
policies are coITectly followed. 

AP AC Pilot Project 

IHS should consider the implementation of a 
pilot program under which employees in a 
pai1icular area or se1v ice unit ai·e assigned 
an Anonymous Personal Accountability 
Code (APAC). This number would be used 
by employees when reporting suspect 
behaviors or misconduct. The AP AC 
numbers would only be used when repo11ing 
and should be tied to a whistleblower system 
at agency headqua11ers. Only specific 
program owners at headquai1ers would have 
the AP AC list to link the code to an 
employee. The use of this code would 
provide employees with some assurance that 
their anonymity is being protected. 

Display Items 

IHS should produce mandato1y repo1i ing 
requirements posters to display in se1v ice 
units. The agency should also produce OIG 
repo11ing posters for display in se1v ice units 
and area offices. 

Cultural Change 

The agency should take additional steps as 
needed to create a culture of transparency 
where employees feel safe to repo11 issues 
and allegations. A "see something, say 
something" campaign would help to 
improve repo11ing to supe1v isors and law 
enforcement. 

A number of the aforementioned recommendations 

regarding root cause #2 address barriers referenced 

by the 0/G, OE/ including: concerns about lack of 

anonymity, fear of retaliation, traditional power 

discrepancies between doctors and other staff, and 

lack of trust in proper action from supervisors. 
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Recommendations Regarding 
Root Cause #3 
Failure to InvesfiRate Credible 
AlleRafions, In~ffective and 
Inconclusive Internal Investigations 

External Investigative Response 
Team (Pilot Project) 

IHS should create an investigative response 
team to address allegations of misconduct. 
Defects in the cmTent system of internal 
review of serious patient safety allegations -
lack of investigato1y expe1tise, lack of 
objectivity, lack of clear protocols, time and 
resource limitations, lack of finality, and 
lack of credibility - invites a separate 
investigative mechanism inherent to the 
agency but coordinated with the OIG. This 
response team is refened to by ICS as the 
Safety of Patients Allegation Response, 
Review and Conclusion (SPARRC) Team. 
The SPARRC Team is an !HS-contracted 
group of experienced investigators. 

When a priority allegation is identified and 
after coordination with the OIG, a 2-4 
person team would be dispatched to the 
service unit to a) clarify and define the 
allegation, b) conduct interviews and gather 
documents, and c) complete the review so 
that administrative determinations can be 
made within a time window that conesponds 
to applicable personnel guidance. Once a 
repo1t is presented to headquait ers it can be 
used administratively and/or for a refe1rnl to 
law enforcement or a licensing authority. 

Internal Investigative Program 

Without the external solution referenced 
above, the agency should provide additional 
training and resources for internal 
administrative investigations. Policies and 
procedures regarding the conduct of these 
investigations should be significantly refined 
with the input of stakeholders. This an 
internal solution. (Again, ICS is available 
for additional discussions on this internal 
solution.) 

Confidentiality Rules 

IHS should establish confidentiality rnles 
that apply for the duration of any IHS 
internal investigation, so employees feel 
comfo1table coming fo1wai·d without fear of 
retaliation or dissemination of their personal 
infonnation. The reasons underlying an 
employer's need for confidentiality during 
an ongoing investigation ai·e: 1) to ensure 
the integrity of the investigation; 2) to obtain 
and prese1ve evidence while employees' 
recollection of relevant facts are fresh; 3) to 
encourage prompt repo1ting of a range of 
potential workplace issues - criminal 
misconduct, unsafe conditions or practices, 
bullying, sexual hai·assment, hai·assment 
based on race, religion or natural origin; and 
4) to protect employees from dissemination 
of their sensitive personal info1mation. 

Annual Waiver for Medical 
Providers 

The agency should establish an annual 
The use of a contracted team ensures that signed, written waiver for all medical 
investigations can be completed in a timely, providers which authorizes the release of 
thorough manner. An outside entity also info1mation as needed from licensing 
ensures the credibility of the process. This is boai·ds, regulato1y investigations, or other 
an external solution. (ICS has significant types of inquiries. The waiver would grant 
experience in this ai·ea and is available to access to relevant info1mation from external 
discuss this recommendation in more detail.) sources needed by the agency in order to 

Disclosm-e of infom1ation pe11aining to the IHS patient safety review and the contents of this repo1t shall only be 
made in accordance with federal law at 25 U.S.C. § 1675. 

154 )~--------------



THE WEBER REPORT 

conduct administrative inquiries in 
accordance with its responsibility to 
effectively manage its workforce and protect 
its employees and patients. 

Recommendations Regarding 
Root Cause #4 

In~ffective or Incons;stent 
Communication, Failure to 

Document, Failure to Preserve, 
Failure to Locate 

Creation of Administrative 
lnvesti ation Trackin S stem 

IHS should consider the procurement of a 
secure case management system which 
would serve as a reposito1y of info1mation 
regarding administrative investigations. 
This system would house allegations of 
wrongdoing as well as all info1mation 
derived from the investigation of said 
allegations. Should the case waITant fmiher 
action, this system would allow for the case 
file to "move through the pipeline" of the 
required involved entities, e.g. the service 
unit, area office, employee relations/labor 
relations, human resources, QARM, etc. 
The system would sit within a specific office 
at IHS headquaiiers so that there is a central 
owner. The system would also allow for the 
movement of info1mation between IHS and 
the OIG. The system would be seai·chable 
and would allow the agency to effectively 
respond to info1mation requests. 

res is aware of the agency's new incident 
repo1iing system, I-Star; but is not awai·e of 
the entire functionality of this system. This 
system may be an excellent incident 
reporting system but does not appeai· to be a 
case management system. 

The creation of this case management 
system, along with I-Stai·, would address 
recently aiiiculated sho1icomings and 
potential risks of cunent IHS systems by the 
HHS, OIG, OEI: 1) no central "owner" or 
dedicated resources causes a risk of 
overlooked reports and duplicative or 
inefficient effo1is; 2) not designed for 
patient abuse allegations causes risks of 
inadve1iently missing repo1is; 3) lacks 
capability to track, categorize and que1y data 
which causes inefficiency, risks of 
ineffective oversight and response, and 
enors in data management; and 4) systems 
and data may not be secure which creates 
risks of inappropriate access, misuse of 
info1mation, inadve1ient or intentional 
ove1w riting or deleting info1mation. (There 
are a number of systems on the market and 
res can provide additional consultation on 
options.) 

OIG Training 

IHS should work with the OIG to provide 
training to employees on how to repo1i and 
document suspected abuse and/or other 
misconduct and what type of info1mation to 
include when making a refeITal to the OIG 
for review to dete1mine whether an 
investigation should be initiated. This 
training should include scenarios and past 
case examples where possible. 

Database of Required Meeting 
Minutes 

The agency should establish a shai·ed-access 
database for the storage of various types of 
meeting minutes required by the agency and 
facility bylaws. This system could be 
accessed by specific individuals at the 
service unit level, the area office, and at 
headquaiiers. Regular population of the 
system and review ensures that required 
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meetings are taking place and preserves the 
activity during those meetings. The res 
review was severely hampered by the lack 
of preserved meeting documentation. res is 
not aware of the capabilities of the new I­
Star system to house this type of 
infonnation. 

Storage and Retrieval of Electronic 
Mail 

IHS should take action to preserve employee 
electrnnic mail for a longer, specified period 
of time (e.g. ten years). e unent policies do 
not adequately address the preservation of 
emails by employees, paiticularly those 
below the Senior Executive Service level. 
Emails should be backed up on agency or 
depa1tment servers so that messages are 
easily retrieved and searchable. 

Robust Communication 

The agency should stress more robust 
communication between headquaiiers, area 
offices and service units. This 
communication should be proactive in 
nature versus reactive. This issue was 
discussed by a large number of interviewees 
during the res review. This type of 
communication is present in some ai·eas, but 
severely lacking in others. The OIG/OEI has 
also noted this issue: previous OIG work 
found that IHS organizational culture did not 
always encourage candid discussion of 
problems and communication breakdowns 
between HQ, Area Offices and facilities 
inhibited effective problem-solving. 

Clarification of Reporting 

IHS should review its website and 
coordinate with the OIG on needed changes 
to infonnation about repo1ting . It should be 
cleai· that the OIG accepts all allegations of 

wrongdoing, including patient abuse, and 
not just allegations of fraud, waste, abuse 
and mismanagement. The info1mation 
regai·ding the IHS Hotline should also be 
reviewed. In order to avoid confusion, 
consolidation of all repoliing under one OIG 
hotline number which would capture all 
info1mation should be considered. The OIG 
ah-eady has a triage system in place for this 
type of incoming infonnation. 

Limited Reporting.for Remote 
Areas 

The agency should take steps to ensure that 
adequate avenues ai·e available and 
publicized for individuals in remote areas to 
communicate info1mation or allegations of 
wrongdoing. The OIG/OEI noted that there 
ai·e several baiTiers to repo11ing by 
individuals in remote areas: lack of internet 
service, language issues, perceived power 
imbalance between medical providers and 
patients, and stigmas sunounding sexual 
abuse. 

Training of Employees Regarding 
Groominl! 

IHS should provide specific training to 
employees regai·ding the grooming process 
used by sexual perpetrators as part of their 
victimization process. Knowledge of the 
grooming process is another way that 
employees can recognize that patients or 
others may be victims of a pe1petrator inside 
the agency or within the community. 
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